THE IMPACT OF ADIPOSE TISSUE DYSFUNCTION ON CARDIOVASCULAR AND RENAL DISEASE

EDITED BY: Xiaodong Sun, Alexandre A. da Silva and Cheng-Chao Ruan PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Endocrinology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-359-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-359-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

THE IMPACT OF ADIPOSE TISSUE DYSFUNCTION ON CARDIOVASCULAR AND RENAL DISEASE

Topic Editors:

Xiaodong Sun, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, China Alexandre A. da Silva, University of Mississippi Medical Center, United States Cheng-Chao Ruan, Fudan University, China

Citation: Sun, X., da Silva, A. A., Ruan, C.-C., eds. (2022). The Impact of Adipose Tissue Dysfunction on Cardiovascular and Renal Disease. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-359-9

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: The Impact of Adipose Tissue Dysfunction on Cardiovascular and Renal Disease

Xiaodong Sun, Cheng-Chao Ruan and Alexandre A. da Silva

- 07 Prognostic Association of TERC, TERT Gene Polymorphism, and Leukocyte Telomere Length in Acute Heart Failure: A Prospective Study Yanxiu Li, lokfai Cheang, Zhongwen Zhang, Wenming Yao, Yanli Zhou, Haifeng Zhang, Yun Liu, Xiangrong Zuo, Xinli Li and Quan Cao
- 18 Relationships Between Perivascular Adipose Tissue and Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms

Tongtong Ye, Guangdong Zhang, Hangyu Liu, Junfeng Shi, Hongyan Qiu, Yongping Liu, Fang Han and Ningning Hou

26 Perirenal Adipose Tissue Inflammation: Novel Insights Linking Metabolic Dysfunction to Renal Diseases

Safaa H. Hammoud, Ibrahim AlZaim, Yusra Al-Dhaheri, Ali H. Eid and Ahmed F. El-Yazbi

43 Role of Inflammation in Vascular Disease-Related Perivascular Adipose Tissue Dysfunction

Yaozhi Chen, Zeyu Qin, Yaqiong Wang, Xin Li, Yang Zheng and Yunxia Liu

56 COVID-19 and Obesity: Role of Ectopic Visceral and Epicardial Adipose Tissues in Myocardial Injury

Adèle Lasbleiz, Bénédicte Gaborit, Astrid Soghomonian, Axel Bartoli, Patricia Ancel, Alexis Jacquier and Anne Dutour

65 Gut Microbiota in Adipose Tissue Dysfunction Induced Cardiovascular Disease: Role as a Metabolic Organ

Xinyu Yang, Xianfeng Zhang, Wei Yang, Hang Yu, Qianyan He, Hui Xu, Shihui Li, Zi'ao Shang, Xiaodong Gao, Yan Wang and Qian Tong

- **79** Association of Pericardiac Adipose Tissue With Coronary Artery Disease Mingxuan Li, Lin Qi, Yanglei Li, Shuyi Zhang, Lei Lin, Lijin Zhou, Wanlin Han, Xinkai Qu, Junfeng Cai, Maoqing Ye and Kailei Shi
- 94 The Sick Adipose Tissue: New Insights Into Defective Signaling and Crosstalk With the Myocardium
 Valmore Bermúdez, Pablo Durán, Edward Rojas, María P. Díaz, José Rivas,

Manuel Nava, Maricarmen Chacín, Mayela Cabrera de Bravo, Rubén Carrasquero, Clímaco Cano Ponce, José Luis Górriz and Luis D[°] Marco

- **109** Sestrin2 as a Potential Target for Regulating Metabolic-Related Diseases Linan Gong, Zanzan Wang, Zhenggui Wang and Zhiguo Zhang
- 119 MIA SH3 Domain ER Export Factor 3 Deficiency Prevents Neointimal Formation by Restoring BAT-Like PVAT and Decreasing VSMC Proliferation and Migration

Yu Lei, Jianfei Xu, Mengju Li, Ting Meng, Meihua Chen, Yongfeng Yang, Hongda Li, Tao Zhuang and Junli Zuo





Editorial: The Impact of Adipose Tissue Dysfunction on Cardiovascular and Renal Disease

Xiaodong Sun^{1,2,3*}, Cheng-Chao Ruan⁴ and Alexandre A. da Silva⁵

¹ Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, Weifang, China, ² Branch of Shandong Provincial Clinical Research Center for Diabetes and Metabolic Diseases, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, Weifang, China, ³ Clinical Research Center, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, Weifang, China, ⁴ Shanghai Key Laboratory of Bioactive Small Molecules, Department of Physiology and Pathophysiology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ⁵ Department of Physiology and Biophysics, Mississippi Center for Obesity Research, and Cardiorenal and Metabolic Diseases Research Center, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, United States

Keywords: abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA), PVAT, perivascular adipose tissue, obesity, vascular, vascular diseases, adipose tissue

Editorial on the Research Topic

The Impact of Adipose Tissue Dysfunction on Cardiovascular and Renal Disease

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Jeff M. P. Holly, University of Bristol, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Xiaodong Sun xiaodong.sun@wfmc.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 16 November 2021 Accepted: 14 December 2021 Published: 04 January 2022

Citation:

Sun X, Ruan C-C and da Silva AA (2022) Editorial: The Impact of Adipose Tissue Dysfunction on Cardiovascular and Renal Disease. Front. Endocrinol. 12:815894. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.815894 Obesity is considered an adverse metabolic disease with high risk of vascular complications, including cardiovascular disease (CVD) and chronic kidney disease (CKD). These obesity-related complications are strongly related to excess adipose tissue accumulation, with earlier studies centered on the impact of typical visceral versus subcutaneous adipose tissue accumulation. However, the adipose tissues around blood vessels and organs, including perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT), pericardial adipose tissue (PAT), epicardial adipose tissue (EAT) and perirenal adipose tissue (PRAT), have attracted a great deal of attention recently. Dysfunction in these "novel" adipose tissues have been associated with greater risk of CVD and CKD in obesity than in traditional visceral adipose tissue. Therefore, studies on the interactions of various adipose tissue malfunctions to metabolic-related diseases are vital for improved prevention and treatment of cardiometabolic and renal diseases. This Research Topic aimed to provide a platform for novel advances in dysfunction of various adipose tissues to identify significant contributors to metabolism-related vascular complications, especially CVD and CKD. The Research Topic represents a collection of 7 review articles and 3 original research articles ranging from basic studies to clinical trials, which provide insights into better understanding of the pathophysiology of adipose dysfunction in CVD and CKD.

PVAT, a fat pad surrounding the blood vessels, maintains normal vascular function. However, PVAT becomes dysfunctional in obesity and other pathological conditions. The review by Chen et al. summarizes recent findings regarding dysfunction and inflammation of PVAT in vascular activity, vascular aging, hypertension, atherosclerosis, diabetes and a few other pathological conditions. This review article highlights how PVAT malfunction promotes vascular diseases through stimulation of inflammatory factors and various secreted adipokines, and that anti-inflammatory therapy to mitigate PVAT inflammation may be a valuable target for future treatment of vascular diseases.

Abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAAs) are irreversible vascular diseases with high mortality rates associated with aneurysm rupture. The association between PVAT and AAA development was reviewed by Ye et al. Factors derived from PVAT are involved in all stages of AAA disease development, including inflammatory cell infiltration, the onset of oxidative stress, and matrix metalloproteinase activation. Excessive adipocyte accumulation derived from PVAT in ruptured AAA walls is closely linked with AAA progression. Through discussion of what is known about PVAT-derived factors, this review highlights the need for additional studies into identifying therapeutic drugs targeted for PVAT dysfunction to reduce AAA rupture-induced mortality.

PVAT dysfunction following vascular damage also promotes neointimal formation by releasing adipocytokines that can regulate the phenotypic switch of vascular smooth muscle cells. Original research studies by Lei et al. found that MIA3/TANGO1 regulates vascular remodeling response to injury. MIA3/ TANGO1 deficiency inhibits neointimal formation by preventing vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation/migration, ameliorating neointimal hyperplasia, and maintaining PVAT function during injury-induced vascular remodeling. MIA3/ TANGO1 may be a novel potential target for neointimal formation after vascular injury.

Given the interactions between adipose and CVD, several authors centered their work on the cross-talk between the adipose tissue surrounding the heart or myocardium (PAT or EAT) and coronary artery disease (CAD). Using a variety of bioinformatics algorithms, Li et al. highlighted potential roles of molecular alterations in PAT and its association with CAD. 147 differently expressed genes and altered predicted pathways were identified to be mainly associated with regulation of immune system and inflammatory response in PAT of patients with CAD. With the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), patients with metabolic disease and high adverse cardiovascular events attracted attention. The review by Lasbleiza et al. emphasized the harmful role of excess EAT on myocardial injury among COVID-19 patients with obesity. This inflamed EAT depot may participate in COVID-19-related cardiac injury due to its unique anatomical contact with the myocardium and its inflammatory status. The impact of adipose tissue dysfunction on CVD was also reviewed by Bermúdez et al. This review discussed how "sick" adipose tissue affects cardiac pathology, such as arterial fibrillation, coronary artery disease, and myocardial infarction. Changes in adipose tissue microenvironment and metabolic reprogramming in adipose tissue were also summarized in this article.

PRAT, a fat pad surrounding the kidney, has recently been implicated in the regulation of kidney function. In a Mini-Review, Hammoud et al. presented a general overview of new insights linking CVD and CKD, focusing on metabolic disturbances affecting the physiological function of PRAT and potential mechanisms. The review summarized PRAT regulation in various metabolic states and CKD and strengthened the vital role of PRAT, a usually neglected adipose tissue, on regulating homeostasis. The gut microbiome has also emerged as a critical regulator of host metabolism. It possesses specific impacts on systemic metabolisms and CVD. Yang et al. reviewed the role of gut microbiota and its metabolites in the development and pathogenesis of CVD caused by adipose tissue dysfunction and potential targeted therapies against undesirable gut microbiota. The authors also summarized the present state of clinical therapies for adipose tissue dysfunction targeting the gut microbiota.

Sestrin2, a highly conserved stress-induced protein, may represent a novel antioxidant target for metabolic diseases. Gong et al. include a balanced and comprehensive view of specific mechanisms of Sestrin2 actions in the development of different diseases. This review briefly introduced the potential for Sestrin2 as a clinical marker or therapeutic target. It primarily summarized the regulatory interactions between Sestrin2 and AMPK/mTOR signaling and the effects of Sestrin2 on glucose and lipid metabolism, aging and myocardial energy metabolism.

Telomere shortening and telomerase activity caused by inflammation and oxidative stress are also associated with cardiovascular risk. Li et al. investigated the telomerase RNA component (TERC), telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) gene variants, and acute heart failure (AHF) in a prospective study that enrolled 322 patients. The authors found that seven single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of TERC and TERT are independent risk factors for predicting 18-month mortality in AHF.

Overall, the articles outlined above in this Research Topic underscore the critical role of various adipose tissues dysfunction in CVD and CKD progression, and poses a timely question of whether targeting specific adipose tissue depots may become an important target for better, more efficacious approaches to prevent and/or treat CVD and CKD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81870593, 82170865).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all the authors and reviewers for their excellent contributions and insightful comments to this Research Topic.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Sun, Ruan and da Silva. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prognostic Association of TERC, TERT Gene Polymorphism, and Leukocyte Telomere Length in Acute Heart Failure: A Prospective Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiaodong Sun, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Nanhu Quan, Jilin University, China Maoqing Ye, Huashan Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University Shanghai, China

*Correspondence:

Quan Cao 2004caoquan@163.com Xinli Li xinli3267@yeah.net

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 08 January 2021 Accepted: 01 February 2021 Published: 08 March 2021

Citation:

Li Y, Cheang I, Zhang Z, Yao W, Zhou Y, Zhang H, Liu Y, Zuo X, Li X and Cao Q (2021) Prognostic Association of TERC, TERT Gene Polymorphism, and Leukocyte Telomere Length in Acute Heart Failure: A Prospective Study. Front. Endocrinol. 12:650922. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.650922 Yanxiu Li^{1†}, lokfai Cheang^{2†}, Zhongwen Zhang³, Wenming Yao², Yanli Zhou², Haifeng Zhang², Yun Liu¹, Xiangrong Zuo¹, Xinli Li^{2*} and Quan Cao^{1*}

¹ Department of Critical Care Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ² Department of Cardiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ³ Department of General Surgery, The Affiliated Jiangning Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

Background: Telomere length and telomerase are associated in development of cardiovascular diseases. Study aims to investigate the associations of TERC and TERT gene polymorphism and leukocyte telomere length (LTL) in the prognosis of acute heart failure (AHF).

Methods: Total 322 patients with AHF were enrolled and divided into death and survival group according to all-cause mortality within 18 months. Seven single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of TERC and TERT were selected. Baseline characteristics, genotype distribution and polymorphic allele frequency, and genetic model were initially analyzed. Genotypes and the LTL were determined for further analysis.

Results: Compared to carrying homozygous wild genotype, the risk of death in patients with mutated alleles of four SNPs- rs12696304(G>C), rs10936599(T>C), rs1317082 (G>A), and rs10936601(T>C) of TERC were significantly higher. The dominant models of above were independently associated with mortality. In recessive models, rs10936599 and rs1317082 of TERC, rs7726159 of TERT were independently associated with long-term mortality. Further analysis showed, in haplotype consisting with TERC - rs12696304, rs10936599, rs1317082, and rs10936601, mutant alleles CCAC and wild alleles GTGT were significant difference between groups (P<0.05). CCAC is a risk factor and GTGT is a protective factor for AHF patients. Relative LTL decreased over age, but showed no difference between groups and genotypes.

Conclusions: The SNPs of TERC and TERT are associated with the prognosis of AHF, and are the independent risk factors for predicting 18-month mortality in AHF.

Keywords: telomere-genetics, telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), genetic polymorphism, heart failure, prognosis, telomerase RNA component (TERC)

7

INTRODUCTION

Heart failure (HF) is a series of symptoms and signs caused by structural and/or functional abnormalities of the heart. Acute heart failure (AHF) is defined as a rapid onset of new or worsening of HF, which often a potentially life-threatening condition requiring immediate assessment and treatment (1). The incidence of heart failure is closely related to age and affected by the environment and the interaction of multiple genes (2). Cardiovascular disease accounted for more than 40% of the deaths for residents (3) despite the treatment advancement. Screening of high-risk patients would significantly reduce the mortality rate of patients with acute heart failure and also save medical expenses.

Aging, inflammatory response and oxidative stress are the main endogenous factors causing changes in telomere shortening and telomerase activity. Telomere shortening is associated with cardiovascular risk factors such as age, gender, smoking, sedentary lifestyle, obesity, excessive drinking, and psychological stress (4–6). In addition, atherosclerosis, essential hypertension, heart failure, coronary heart disease and other cardiovascular diseases are also accompanied by changes in telomere length and telomerase activity (7–10).

Telomeric DNA sequences of the same species are highly conserved. The length of telomere DNA gradually shortens with aging and cell division, which as a circadian clock and eventually initiate apoptosis (11, 12). Among, leukocyte telomere length (LTL) has been recognized as a clinical indicator for measuring the risk of age-related diseases. Animal studies have shown that telomere depletion is associated with apoptosis in cardiomyocytes and chronic heart failure (CHF) (13, 14). A follow-up study in CHF patients showed the shorter telomere length was associated with higher mortality and rehospitalization rate as well (15).

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) (16–18) have demonstrated that differences in telomere length (TL) between individuals may be associated with single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), of which five loci are involved in telomere biology, including chromosomes 3q26.2 (TERC), 5p15.3 (TERT), 4q32.2 (NAF1), 10q24.33 (OBFC1), 18 and 20q13.3 (RTEL1).

Telomerase is a ribonucleoprotein polymerase and composed of the telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), the telomerase RNA component (TERC), and the TERC-binding protein dyskerin, which plays a key role in the regulation of telomere length (TL). Changes in TL and telomerase activity are the potential pathological features of the above age-related conditions. In such pathological conditions, TERT and TERC are considered to participate in abnormally enhanced local or systemic oxidative stress of the telomere erosion and attrition. However, there is lack of study regarding the prognostic effect of TL in the acute setting of heart failure.

This study aims to further explore the polymorphisms of telomerase gene TERC and TERT, in the leukocyte telomere length regulation and the relation with the prognosis of acute heart failure.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Participants

This study prospectively enrolled 322 patients whom hospitalized for AHF in Cardiology Department of the First Affiliated Hospital with Nanjing Medical University from March 2012 to April 2016. Inclusion criteria were age \geq 18 years, with new-onset AHF or acute exacerbation of chronic heart failure. All patients received standard treatment after admission according to the guideline (19). Patients with malignant tumor, severe mental illness, and/or uncontrolled systemic disease were excluded. The study protocols were approved by the independent Ethics Committee (First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, Jiangsu, China). Each participant had signed informed consent. The trial was registered at http:// www.chictr.org.cn/(Trial registration: ChiCTR—ONC-12001944, Registered 5 Feb 2012, http://www.chictr.org.cn/ showprojen.aspx?proj=7604).

Data Collection and Follow-Up

Within 24 h admitted to the hospital, all patients underwent comprehensive clinical evaluation included demographics, physical examination, laboratory results, clinical data, medical history and etiology of AHF.

All venous blood samples were obtained at the admission or in the following morning and analyzed in the central laboratory of our hospital to measure the complete blood count and other biochemical markers. Transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) was used for evaluating the left ventricular systolic and diastolic function on the Vivid E9 ultrasound system (GE Medical System, United States of America).

The primary endpoint was all-cause mortality during the 18month follow up. Patients were evaluated for the primary endpoint by out-patient visit, telephone evaluation, and/or confirmation of their family or physician every 3 months. Patients were separated into survival group and death group according to the primary endpoint.

Single Nucleotide Polymorphism Selection

The genes were selected using the genome database of Chinese Han Beijing (CHB) population and review of previous relative studies literature related to association between TERC and TERT polymorphisms (20–26). 7 SNPs were selected in for further analysis including TERC (rs12696304, rs10936599, rs1317082, rs10936601, rs16847897) and TERT(rs7726159, rs2736100). The minor allele frequencies (MAF) of all the selected SNPs were greater than 5%.

Genotyping and Leukocyte Telomere Length Measurement

Genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood samples using the TIANamp Blood DNA Kit (DP318; TIANGEN, Beijing, China) and the concentration was measured by spectrometry (NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). TaqMan fluorescent probe quantitative PCR technology were used for the SNP genotyping. Based on the nucleic acid sequences of the seven selected SNPs, the allele-specific TaqMan probes were designed, synthesized and verified by Thermo Fisher Scientific. Reaction system included TaqPath ProAmp Master Mix 2.5 μ l, Assay Mix Probe [20×] 0.25 μ l, Genomic DNA/Nuclease-Free Water (ddH2O) 2.25 μ l (5 ng/ul). Genotyping were performed using ABI PRISM 7900HT Sequence Detection System 2.4 (SDS2.4) in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol.

Genotyping quality control procedures leading to SNP exclusion were call rate <90% and P<0.05 for deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE). The selected SNPs in the study were successfully genotyped with 99.68% of call rate. With 36B4 for internal control and ETV6 as primer, each LTL sample was measured using a multiplex quantitative real-time PCR method and was calculated by T/S ratios (T, telomere signal; S, single copy gene signal) (27–29).

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as the mean ± standard deviation (SD) and compared by student's t-test or one-way ANOVA for normal distribution, or expressed as median with inter-quartile range (IQR) and compared by Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis H test for skewed distribution. Categorical variables and frequency of events were reported as numbers (percentages) and compared by chi-square test. In the correlation analysis, after the logarithmic transformation of the data that skewed distribution, the Pearson method is used for the analysis. The online SHESIS software (http://analysis.bio-x.cn/ myAnalysis.php) was used to analyze the HWE, genotype, allele frequency distribution, linkage disequilibrium and SNP haplotypes (30, 31). Kaplan-Meier and multi-variable COX analysis was used to analyze the prognosis of AHF patients under different genetic models of SNPs. Correlation analysis between haplotype and AHF prognosis was performed, the P value was subjected to FDR (False Discovery Rate) correction and Bonferroni correction.

All statistical analyses were two-sided and the significance level was set to P < 0.05. When D' >0.8 and r^2 >0.33, linkage disequilibrium (LD) was considered between sites. SPSS version 19.0 statistical package (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) and Microsoft Excel were used for all statistical analyses.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

In total, 322 AHF patients were divided into death group (80 cases) and survival group (242 cases). The detail characteristics of the participants between two groups were shown in **Table 1**. There were 15 variables from the baseline characteristics (**Table 1**) were considered to be statistically significant. Variables included systolic and diastolic blood pressure, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), albumin (ALB), Serum creatinine (Scr), blood urea nitrogen (BUN), uric acid (UA), CystatinC (CysC), serum potassium (K), serum sodium (Na), hemoglobin

(HB), D-Dimer, NT-proBNP, pulmonary artery systolic pressure (PASP), and comorbidities of renal dysfunction (All P<0.05). In addition, there was no significant difference in sex distribution, treatment regimen, NYHA classification, and other comorbidities (All P>0.05).

Distribution of the Genotypes and Allele Frequencies

The distribution of genotypes and allele frequency (**Table 2**) of the seven SNPs of TERC and TERT genes were consistent with HWE in the death group and survival group of patients with acute heart failure (P>0.05), indicating sample has a population representative.

Among which the genotype distribution and polymorphic allele frequencies of the four loci of TERC gene were statistically different between the two groups (P<0.05):

rs12696304 (G/C, Hazard Ratio - HR=1.82, 95% CI: 1.25-2.63, P=0.0016);

rs10936599 (T/C, HR=1.87, 95% CI: 1.31-2.69, P=0.0006); rs1317082 (G/A, HR=1.92, 95% CI: 1.34-2.76, P=0.0004);

rs10936601 (T/C, HR=1.82, 95% CI: 1.25-2.63, P=0.0016);

The genotype distribution and polymorphic allele frequency of the other three SNPs (rs16847897, rs7726159, and rs2736100) showed no significance between groups (P>0.05).

Comparison of the Single Nucleotide Polymorphism Genotype Under Different Genetic Models

Genetic model analysis showed the genotype distribution and comparison between the death and survival groups of the seven selected SNPs of TERC and TERT genes under different genetic models are shown in **Table 3**.

- i. Both the dominant and recessive model genotype of rs10936599 (CC+TC vs. TT, HR:2.84 [1.48–5.44]; CC vs. TT+TC, OR:1.98 [1.10–3.57]) in TERC were statistically different between the death group and the survival group (P<0.05).
- ii. Both the dominant and recessive model genotype of rs1317082 (AA+GA vs. GG, HR:2.89 [1.51–5.54]; AA vs. GG+GA, HR:2.10 [1.16–3.80]) in TERC were statistically different between the death group and the survival group (P<0.05).
- iii. The dominant model genotype distribution of rs12696304 (CG+CC vs. GG, HR:2.33 [1.37–3.97]) in TERC was statistically different between the death group and the survival group (P<0.05).
- iv. The dominant model genotype distribution of rs10936601 (CC+TC vs. TT, HR:2.20 [1.30–3.74]) in TERC was statistically different between the death group and the survival group (P<0.05).
- v. The recessive model genotype distribution of rs7726159 (AA vs. CC+CA, HR:1.97 [1.07–3.63]) in TERT was statistically different between the death group and the survival group (P<0.05).

Characteristic	Totals (n=322)	Survivals (n=242)	Deaths (n=80)	Р
Age (year-old)	60.51 ± 16.24	59.62 ± 16.41	63.21 ± 15.50	0.086 ^a
Sex (F/M)	110/212	76/166	34/46	0.078 ^b
BMI (Kg/m2)	24.27 ± 4.53	24.27 ± 4.50	24.26 ± 4.65	0.982 ^a
HR (bpm)	86 ± 22	87 ± 22	85 ± 22	0.411 ^a
SBP (mmHg)	125 ± 22	128 ± 23	118 ± 17	0.000 ^a
DBP (mmHg)	78 ± 15	80 ± 16	74 ± 12	0.000 ^a
ALT (U/L)	26.70 (17.73, 46.68)	31.30 (21.80, 49.70)	24.25 (15.83, 58.13)	0.165 ^c
AST (U/L)	29.30 (22.90, 44.18)	30.70 (24.00, 43.90)	27.40 (21.70, 46.35)	0.034 ^c
ALB (g/L)	37.36 ± 4.67	37.71 ± 4.67	36.27 ± 4.52	0.020 ^a
Scr (umol/L)	87.10 (72.05, 109.95)	89.60 (76.00, 110.70)	96.95 (78.63, 137.88)	0.004 ^c
BUN (mmol/L)	7.19 (5.82, 9.54)	7.28 (6.17, 8.71)	8.49 (6.14, 10.90)	0.000 ^c
UA (mmol/L)	473.0 (382.0, 582.0)	479.0 (388.0, 576.0)	526.5 (446.0, 748.0)	0.029 ^c
CysC (mg/L)	1.31 (1.12, 1.63)	1.31 (1.10, 1.57)	1.52 (1.23, 1.77)	0.001 ^c
K (mmol/L)	3.99 ± 0.51	3.96 ± 0.48	4.09 ± 0.56	0.042 ^a
Na (mmol/L)	139.76 ± 4.09	140.19 ± 3.81	138.49 ± 4.62	0.004 ^a
Ca (mmol/L)	2.25 ± 0.14	2.25 ± 0.14	2.25 ± 0.14	0.993 ^a
HB (g/L)	133.08 ± 20.81	135.24 ± 20.08	126.55 ± 21.70	0.001 ^a
RDW (%)	14.95 ± 4.78	14.75 ± 5.35	15.54 ± 2.29	0.205 ^a
D-dimer (mg/L)	0.75 (0.30, 1.72)	0.59 (0.29, 1.58)	0.94 (0.31, 2.84)	0.001 ^c
NT-proBNP (ng/L)	1979 (1176, 4315)	1775 (1205, 2933)	2626 (1688, 6615)	0.000 ^c
cTnT (ng/L)	61.80 ± 387.34	45.82 ± 295.11	101.74 ± 556.69	0.380 ^a
CK-MB (U/L)	35.34 ± 122.90	36.27 ± 139.96	32.98 ± 61.23	0.869 ^a
TTE				
LVDd (mm)	61.53 ± 12.51	61.35 ± 11.96	62.08 ± 14.12	0.661 ^a
LVDs (mm)	48.85 ± 14.01	48.67 ± 13.52	49.39 ± 15.53	0.697 ^a
PASP (mmHg)	42.0 (31.5, 53.0)	40.0 (31.0, 48.0)	48.0 (30.5, 60.5)	0.005°
LVEF%	42.50 ± 14.81	42.43 ± 14.57	42.71 ± 15.62	0.885 ^a
NYHA				0.228 ^b
II (n%)	48 (14.9)	40 (16.5)	8 (10.0)	01220
III (n%)	181 (56.2)	137 (56.6)	44 (55.0)	
IV (n%)	93 (28.9)	65 (26.9)	28 (35.0)	
Comorbidities	00 (2010)	00 (2010)	20 (0010)	
IHD (n%)	76 (23.6)	55 (22.7)	21 (26.3)	0.545 ^b
Cardiomyopathy (n%)	130 (40.4)	101 (41.7)	29 (36.3)	0.431 ^b
VHD (n%)	86 (26.7)	63 (26.0)	23 (28.8)	0.663 ^b
PHD (n%)	23 (7.1)	17 (7.0)	6 (7.5)	1.000 ^b
Atrial fibrillation (n%)	122 (37.9)	94 (38.8)	28 (35.0)	0.596 ^b
CHD (n%)	10 (3.1)	6 (2.5)	4 (5.0)	0.273 ^b
HTN (n%)	162 (50.3)	125 (51.7)	37 (46.3)	0.273 0.440 ^b
DM (n%)	77 (23.9)	55 (22.7)	22 (27.5)	0.440 0.450 ^b
Pulmonary Infection (n%)	66 (20.5)	48 (19.8)	18 (22.5)	0.430 0.633 ^b
Renal dysfunction (n%)	20 (6.2)	10 (4.1)	10 (12.5)	0.033 0.013 ^b
Thyroid Dysfunction	20 (0.2)	10 (4.1)	10 (12.0)	0.013 0.763 ^b
	7 (2.2)	6 (2 5)	1 (1 2)	0.763*
Hyperthyroidism(n%)	()	6 (2.5)	1 (1.3)	
Hypothyroidism(n%)	1 (0.3)	1 (0.4)	0 (0)	0.064 ^b
Smoking (n%)	121 (37.6)	98 (40.5)	23 (28.8)	0.0

F, Female; M, Male; BMI, Body Mass Index; HR, Heart Rate; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; ALT, Alanine Aminotransferase; AST, Aspartate Aminotransferase; ALB, Albumin; Scr, Serum Creatinine; BUN, Blood Urea Nitrogen; UA, Uric Acid; CysC, CystatinC; HB, Hemoglobin; RDW, Red blood cell Distribution Width; NTproBNP, N-terminal prohormone of brain natriuretic peptide; cTnT, cardiac troponin T; CK-MB, Creatine kinase-MB; LVDd, Left Ventricular Diastolic Dimension; LVDs, Left Ventricular Systolic Dimension; PASP, Pulmonary Artery Systolic Pressure; LVEF, Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction; IHD, Ischemic Heart Disease; VHD, Valvular Heart Disease; PHD, Pulmonary Heart Disease; CHD; Congenital Heart Disease; HTN, Hypertension; DM, Diabetes Mellitus.

^aCalculated by unpaired t-test; ^bcalculated by Chi-square test; ^ccalculated by rank sum test.

Association Between Genetic Polymorphisms and Prognosis

To further assess the association between each selected SNP and the prognosis of acute heart failure, Kaplan-Meier curve analysis were used (**Figures 1A–G**). Results showed that the overall survival rate decreased over time.

i. For rs12696304, rs10936599, rs1317082, and rs10936601 of TERC gene, the survival rate of AHF patients carrying mutant

alleles were significantly lower than the homozygous wild alleles (P<0.05, **Figures 1A–D**).

- Under both dominant and recessive models, rs10936599
 (Figure 1B) and rs1317082 (Figure 1C) were associated with decreased survival in patients with AHF (P<0.05);
- iii. Dominant models of rs12696304 (Figure 1A) and rs10936601 (Figure 1D) were associated with decreased survival rate of AHF patients (P<0.05);

Gene	SNPs	Group		Ge	notype			H	IWE	All	ele	HR (95%CI)	χ 2	Р
			ММ	Mm	mm	χ²	Р	χ²	Р	М	m			
TERC	rs12696304	D	26(0.329)	41(0.519)	12(0.152)	10.00	0.0068	0.41	0.5244	93(0.589)	65(0.411)	1.81 (1.24–2.63)	9.75	0.0018
	G/C	S	128(0.529)	93(0.384)	21(0.087)			0.48	0.4875	349(0.721)	135(0.279)			
	rs10936599	D	13(0.163)	44(0.550)	23(0.287)	12.17	0.0023	1.1	0.2934	70(0.438)	90(0.562)	1.87 (1.31–2.69)	11.77	0.0006
	T/C	S	86(0.355)	115(0.475)	41(0.169)			0.06	0.8089	287(0.593)	197(0.407)			
	rs1317082	D	13(0.163)	44(0.550)	23(0.287)	13.10	0.0014	1.1	0.2934	70(0.438)	90(0.562)	1.92 (1.34–2.76)	12.75	0.0004
	G/A	S	87(0.360)	116(0.479)	39(0.161)			0.00	0.9744	290(0.599)	194(0.401)			
	rs10936601	D	27(0.338)	40(0.500)	13(0.163)	9.79	0.0075	0.08	0.7775	94(0.588)	66(0.412)	1.82 (1.25–2.63)	9.99	0.0016
	T/C	S	128(0.529)	93(0.384)	21(0.087)			0.48	0.4875	349(0.721)	135(0.279)			
	rs16847897	D	26(0.325)	41(0.512)	13(0.163)	0.60	0.7411	0.22	0.6368	93(0.581)	67(0.419)	0.87 (0.61-1.26)	0.53	0.4674
	C/G	S	90(0.372)	117(0.483)	35(0.145)			0.09	0.7604	297(0.614)	187(0.386)			
TERT	rs7726159	D	27(0.338)	32(0.400)	21(0.263)	5.38	0.0679	3.06	0.0804	86(0.537)	74(0.463)	1.26 (0.88–1.81)	1.64	0.201
	C/A	S	83(0.343)	122(0.504)	37(0.153)			0.51	0.4737	288(0.595)	196(0.405)			
	rs2736100	D	24(0.300)	35(0.438)	21(0.263)	3.41	0.1815	1.23	0.2683	83(0.519)	77(0.481)	0.79 (0.55–1.13)	1.63	0.2022
	A/C	S	78(0.322)	123(0.508)	41(0.169)			0.4	0.525	279(0.576)	205(0.424)			

SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; HWE, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; HR, hazard ratio; D, death group; S, survival group; M, major allele; m, minor allele.

TABLE 3 Comparison of the SNP	genotype under different gene	etic models between the death	and survival groups.
---------------------------------	-------------------------------	-------------------------------	----------------------

Gene	SNPs	Group	Domii	nance	HR (95%CI)	χ2 F		Rec	essive	HR (95%CI)	χ2	Р
			Mm + mm	ММ				mm	MM + Mm			
TERC	rs12696304	D	53(0.671)	26(0.329)	2.29 (1.34–3.90)	9.53	0.002	12(0.152)	67(0.848)	1.89 (0.88–4.03)	2.74	0.133
	G/C	S	114(0.471)	128(0.529)				21(0.087)	221(0.913)			
	rs10936599	D	67(0.838)	13(0.163)	2.84 (1.48-5.44)	10.5	0.001	23(0.287)	57(0.713)	1.98 (1.10–3.57)	5.26	0.035
	T/C	S	156(0.645)	86(0.355)				41(0.169)	201(0.831)			
	rs1317082	D	67(0.838)	13(0.163)	2.89 (1.51–5.54)	10.9	0.001	23(0.287)	57(0.713)	2.10 (1.16–3.80)	6.17	0.021
	G/A	S	155(0.640)	87(0.360)				39(0.161)	203(0.839)			
	rs10936601	D	53(0.663)	27(0.338)	2.20 (1.30-3.74)	8.83	0.003	13(0.163)	67(0.838)	2.04 (0.97-4.30)	3.65	0.062
	T/C	S	114(0.471)	128(0.529)				21(0.087)	221(0.913)			
	rs16847897	D	54(0.675)	26(0.325)	1.23 (0.72–2.10)	0.57	0.503	13(0.163)	67(0.838)	1.15 (0.57–2.30)	0.15	0.718
	C/G	S	152(0.628)	90(0.372)				35(0.145)	207(0.855)			
TERT	rs7726159	D	53(0.663)	27(0.338)	1.03 (0.60-1.75)	0.01	1.000	21(0.263)	59(0.738)	1.97 (1.07–3.63)	4.89	0.03
	C/A	S	159(0.657)	83(0.343)				37(0.153)	205(0.847)			
	rs2736100	D	56(0.700)	24(0.300)	1.11 (0.64–1.92)	0.14	0.782	21(0.263)	59(0.738)	1.75 (0.96–3.18)	3.35	0.073
	A/C	S	164(0.678)	78(0.322)				41(0.169)	201(0.831)			

SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; HR, hazard ratio; D, death group; S, survival group; M, major allele; m, minor allele.

The major/minor alleles were G/C (rs12696304), T/C (rs10936599), G/A (rs1317082), T/C (rs10936601), C/G (rs7726159), C/A (rs1317082) and A/C (rs2736100) respectively.

- iv. Recessive model of rs7726159 (Figure 1F) was associated with a decrease in survival rate in patients with AHF (P<0.05).
- v. The other two SNPs—rs16847897 (**Figure 1E**) and rs2736100 (**Figure 1G**) did not show differences in neither the models between the death group and the survival group (P>0.05).

Afterward, univariate COX regression analysis all showed significance in the five SNPs (TERC—rs12696304, rs10936599, rs1317082, rs10936601; TERT—rs7726159). Wild genotype was set as the reference genotype. The association of different genetic models and prognosis of AHF were shown in **Table 4**.

After adjusted with the 15 significant variables in the baseline characters, results showed that for rs12696304, rs10936599, rs1317082, and rs10936601 of TERC, the risk of death carrying mutation alleles were higher than those of wild homozygous genotypes, and remained as independent risk factors in AHF

patients. The dominant models of these four SNPs were all independently associated with the risk of death in AHF patients (P>0.05).

Furthermore, the recessive models of rs10936599, rs1317082 of TERC, and rs7726159 of TERT were independently associated with the risk of death in AHF patients (P>0.05).

Haplotype Analysis of Telomerase RNA Component and Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase Genes

The linkage disequilibrium (LD) analysis of five SNPs of TERC and two SNPs of TERT in AHF patients is shown in **Figure 2**. Further haplotype analysis was performed based on the results of linkage disequilibrium analysis.

The four haplotypes consisting of rs12696304 (G/C), rs10936599 (T/C), rs1317082 (G/A) and rs10936601 (T/C) sites, which the overall frequency was above 1%, showed



(D) rs10936601; (E) rs16847897; (F) rs7726159; (G) rs2736100.

statistically significant in overall haplotype distribution between the survival and death groups (P=0.0031).

The frequency of haplotype CCAC (H1) was significantly higher in the death group (OR: 1.79 [1.23–2.61], P<0.05); The frequency of haplotype GTGT (H4) was significantly lower in the death group than in the survival group (OR: 0.54 [0.38–0.78], P < 0.05). After corrected by Bonferroni or FDR method, the two haplotypes CCAC and GTGT composed of these four SNPs remained significant (P<0.05, **Table 5**).

The four haplotypes consisting of the rs7726159 (C/A) and rs2736100 (A/C) of TERT gene showed no statistical difference between the groups (P>0.05, **Table 6**).

Leukocyte Telomere Length

Correlation analysis was performed on the difference of LTL between different prognoses and genotypes. There was a significant negative correlation between the relative LTL and age of AHF patients regardless of the primary endpoint (P<0.001,

TABLE 4	COX regression	analysis of	different	genetic	models.
---------	----------------	-------------	-----------	---------	---------

	Genoty	pe	χ²	HR (95% <i>CI</i>)	Р
rs12696304	Codominance	GG	_	1.0(ref.)	_
		CC	8.16	3.35(1.46-7.66)	0.004
		CG	8.96	2.65(1.40-5.02)	0.003
	Dominance	GG	_	1.0(ref.)	_
		CC+CG	10.82	2.79(1.52-5.16)	0.00
	Recessive	GG+CG	-	1.0(ref.)	_
		CC	-	_	0.071
rs10936599	Codominance	Π	_	1.0(ref.)	_
		CC	11.1	4.98(1.94-12.79)	0.001
		TC	6.95	3.27(1.36-7.89)	0.008
	Dominance	TT	-	1.0(ref.)	_
		CC+TC	9.05	3.72(1.58-8.74)	0.003
	Recessive	TT+TC	-	1.0(ref.)	_
		CC	5.9	2.07(1.15-3.72)	0.015
rs1317082	Codominance	GG	-	1.0(ref.)	_
		AA	12.39	5.35(2.10-13.63)	0
		GA	6.17	3.05(1.27-7.37)	0.013
	Dominance	GG	-	1.0(ref.)	_
		AA+GA	8.76	3.63(1.55-8.51)	0.003
	Recessive	GG+GA	-	1.0(ref.)	-
		AA	8.35	2.35(1.32-4.18)	0.004
rs10936601	Codominance	Π	-	1.0(ref.)	-
		CC	6.58	3.07(1.30-7.23)	0.01
		TC	10.81	3.01(1.56-5.79)	0.00
	Dominance	TT	-	1.0(ref.)	-
		CC+TC	11.91	3.02(1.61-5.66)	0.001
	Recessive	TT+TC	_	1.0(ref.)	-
		CC	-	-	0.16
rs7726159	Codominance	CC	-	1.0(ref.)	-
		AA	6.82	2.69(1.28-5.65)	0.009
		CA	0.68	1.32(0.69-2.53)	0.409
	Dominance	CC	-	1.0(ref.)	-
		AA + CA	-	-	0.12
	Recessive	CC + CA	-	1.0(ref.)	-
		AA	4.47	1.96(1.05-3.65)	0.034

Adjusted with systolic and diastolic blood pressure, aspartate aminotransferase, albumin, Serum creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, uric acid, cystatinC, serum potassium, serum sodium, hemoglobin, D-Dimer, NT-proBNP, pulmonary artery systolic pressure, and comorbidity of renal dysfunction. **Figure 3**), and no significant correlation with the clinical baseline (P>0.05, **Appendix 1**). Moreover, there was no significant difference had found in the research SNPs and their genotypes (P>0.05, **Appendix 2**).

DISCUSSION

Previous studies showed that telomerase, in addition to its nuclearspecific telomere elongation, also has extranuclear non-telomere elongation. TERT as the catalysis subunit of telomerase can regulate the level of mitochondrial reactive oxygen (32, 33). The telomere length or telomerase gene TERC and TERT polymorphisms were correlated with age, the morbidity of tumors and chronic cardiovascular diseases (34-42). These past studies were mostly regarding in chronic development diseases, and the results usually showed correlation of TL, SNPs and the morbidity of these chronic conditions. On the other hand, an underlying mechanism of decreased or stayed LT in acute settings (43). The acute stress on the heart induces compensatory mechanisms aimed at preserving TL by upregulating TERT. Despite increases in TERT, TL decreased or stayed the same in early phrase. As the heart disease progresses, however, these mechanisms become attenuated and then exhausted, leading to telomere attrition and overt cardiac failure.

To further explore the prognostic values of seven TERC and TERT genes single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), and leukocyte telomere length (LTL) in AHF. By using both SNP and haplotype analysis method, we analyzed the relationship between TERC and TERT gene polymorphisms and the prognosis AHF from the perspective of epigenetics, avoiding the false negative or false positive results that might be caused by analyzing a single site.

Our results showed the genotypes rs12696304 (G>C), rs10936599 (T>C), rs1317082 (G>A), and rs10936601 (T>C)



TABLE 5	Comparison	of haplotypes	with TERC gene
---------	------------	---------------	----------------

	Haplotypes	Combinations	Deaths(freq)	Survivals(freq)	χ²	Р	HR (95%CI)	Pb	P _f
TERC	H ₁	CCAC	62.97(0.400)	132.99(0.275)	9.219	0.0024	1.79 (1.23–2.61)	0.0096	0.0096
	H ₂	CCAT	2.03(0.013)	0.75(0.002)	3.587	0.0583	8.32 (0.97-71.67)	0.2332	0.1166
	H ₃	GCAT	22.47(0.147)	59.51(0.123)	0.462	0.4969	1.20 (0.71-2.02)	1.9876	0.6625
	H_4	GTGT	68.50(0.428)	284.48(0.588)	10.826	0.001	0.54 (0.38-0.78)	0.004	0.001
	Global P	-	158	484	11.527	0.0031	-	-	

Haplotypes were in the order of rs12696304(G/C), rs10936599(T/C), rs1317082(G/A) and rs10936601(T/C), respectively.

HR, Hazard Ratio; Pb, Bonferroni adjusted P-values; Pf, False Discovery Rate corrected P-values.

	Haplotypes	Combinations	Deaths(freq)	Survivals(freq)	χ²	Р	HR (95%CI)	Pb	Pf
TERT	H ₁	AA	7.41(0.046)	10.44(0.022)	2.73	0.0986	2.20 (0.84–5.75)	0.3944	0.3944
	H ₂	AC	66.59(0.416)	185.56(0.383)	0.543	0.4611	1.15 (0.80-1.65)	1.8444	0.9222
	H ₃	CA	75.59(0.472)	268.56(0.555)	3.284	0.07	0.72 (0.50-1.03)	0.28	0.0933
	H ₄	CC	10.41(0.065)	19.44(0.040)	1.685	0.1943	1.66 (0.77-3.61)	0.7772	0.1943
	Global P	_	160	484	6.12	0.106	_	_	

Haplotypes were in the order of rs7726159(C/A) and rs2736100(A/C), respectively.

HR, Hazard Ratio; Pb, Bonferroni adjusted P-values; Pf, False Discovery Rate corrected P-values.



of TERC were the independent risk factors for death in AHF patients after 18 months follow-up, which suggesting these sites can be used to assess the prognosis of patients with AHF.

Haplotype analysis revealed a linkage disequilibrium between the four SNPs above (rs12696304, rs10936599, rs1317082, and rs10936601). The haplotype CCAC consisted of the mutant alleles and the haplotype GTGT consisted of the wild-type alleles of these four SNPs were significant differences between the death group and survival group. Haplotype CCAC is a risk haplotype for patients with AHF, and haplotype GTGT is a protective factor for patients with AHF.

Although the other three selected SNPs did not showed significance between groups; further analysis in the recessive model for rs7726159 of TERT were found related to the prognosis of patients as well. The results of TL analysis showed that there were no significant differences between groups in LTL regarding all genotypes of the seven SNPs in TERC and TERT.

Combined with our results of haplotype analysis, the mechanism might be different in the acute setting of disease. The biological functions and its prognostic influence might not be related directly to LTL, and may be related to its regulation mechanism besides telomere elongation of telomerase. The telomere length shortens in the effects of endogenous factors and attenuates cardiometabolism (44). In AHF, the wild genotype might provide physiological effects in protective regulation pathways by enhanced telomerase activity acting on telomeres. On the other hand, mutant genotype lost the effects and tend to be more susceptible of the endogenous factors, therefore demonstrated a higher mortality.

Although the underlying mechanisms remain to be systematically investigated, this study offers the prognostic factor of AHF from a molecular biology perspective—the effects of TERC and TERT gene polymorphisms in patients with AHF. Within the selected SNPs, there were five SNPs of TERC and TERT genes showed a significant correlation to the prognosis of AHF. These five SNPs are all located in the non-coding region, where rs10936599 is located in the 5'UTR region, and the remaining four SNPs (rs12696304, rs1317082, rs10936601, and rs7726159) are located in the intron region. The variation of TERC or TERT gene may affect the transcription process, resulting in changing the expression level of the corresponding protein, which may eventually affect the progression of AHF.

Studies showed that LTL and adipose tissue was highly correlated (45). As smoking, sedentary lifestyle, and obesity are also factors associated with an increased burden of inflammation. Similar to TL, adipose tissue are also associated with adverse cardiometabolic risk factors, and often exhibits proinflammatory and prooxidative metabolic changes (46-48), which might associated to the direct damaging effects of adipose tissue on telomeres and the mediation through the expression of corresponding genes, such as TERT and TERC. On the other hand, adipose tissues showed various regulatory effects on cardiovascular system. Among, epicardial adipose tissue (EAT) regulates physiological and pathophysiological processes in the heart. Although not investigated in our study, our findings provide fundamental knowledge regarding TL and AHF; adipose tissue, especially epicardial adipose tissue, might be involved in these pathological mechanisms. TL and telomerase may be attributed to these regulations of metabonomics in adipocyte.

In addition, this study also has certain limitations. Firstly, the study was a single-center study with a relatively small sample size, which needs a larger cohort to further verify the correlation of the above SNPs and the prognosis of AHF patients. Secondly, the biological functions of the above positive SNPs in AHF are still unclear. Lastly, our study SNPs only included limited sites. Further researches regarding wider genome and the association with adipose tissue in heart failure are needed.

CONCLUSION

The results suggest a potential association between TERC, TERT gene variants and AHF. It provided a valuable prognostic information and will better elucidate the genetic and telomeric mechanisms of patients with acute heart failure. Further genomics and lipidomics investigations are needed.

REFERENCES

- Kurmani S, Squire I. Acute Heart Failure: Definition, Classification and Epidemiology. *Curr Heart Fail Rep* (2017) 14(5):385–92. doi: 10.1007/ s11897-017-0351-y
- Morita H, Seidman J. Seidman CE.Genetic causes of human heart failure. J Clin Invest (2005) 115(3):518–26. doi: 10.1172/JCI24351
- Chengxing S, Junbo G. Epidemic of Cardiovascular Disease in China Current Perspective and Prospects for the Future. *Circulation* (2018) 138:342–4. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.033484
- Zhu H, Belcher M, van der Harst P. Healthy aging and disease: role for telomere biology? *Clin Sci (Lond)* (2011) 120(10):427–40. doi: 10.1042/CS20100385

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital, Nanjing Medical University. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL participated in the design of the research and drafted the manuscript. IC participated in the design and is a major contributor in writing the manuscript. ZZ participated in the analyses. WY and HZ performed the analysis and interpretation of the study statistic design. YZ, YL, and XZ supervised the study program and method feasibility. QC and XL contributed to the conception and design of the research, and performed critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study received grant support from the Twelve-Fifth National Key Technology R&D Program (2011BAI11B08) and Jiangsu Province Technology Alliance of Cardiovascular Disease (KFSN201401).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021. 650922/full#supplementary-material

- Andrew T, Aviv A, Falchi M, Surdulescu GL, Gardner JP, Lu X, et al. Mapping genetic loci that determine leukocyte telomere length in a large sample of unselected female sibling pairs. *Am J Hum Genet* (2006) 78(3):480–6. doi: 10.1086/500052
- Benetos A, Okuda K, Lajemi M, Kimura M, Thomas F, Skurnick J, et al. Telomere length as an indicator of biological aging: the gender effect and relation with pulse pressure and pulse wave velocity. *Hypertension* (2001) 37 (2 Pt 2):381–5. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.37.2.381
- Mukherjee M, Brouilette S, Stevens S, Shetty KR, Samani NJ. Association of shorter telomeres with coronary artery disease in Indian subjects. *Heart* (2009) 95(8):669–73. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2008.150250
- 8. Willeit P, Willeit J, Brandstätter A, Ehrlenbach S, Mayr A, Gasperi A, et al. Cellular aging reflected by leukocyte telomere length predicts advanced

atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease risk. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2010) 30(8):1649–56. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.205492

- 9. von Zglinicki T, Serra V, Lorenz M, Saretzki G, Lenzen-Grossimlighaus R, Gessner R, et al. Steinhagen-Thiessen E.Short telomeres in patients with vascular dementia: an indicator of low antioxidative capacity and a possible risk factor? *Lab Invest* (2000) 80(11):1739–47. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3780184
- Matthews C, Gorenne I, Scott S, Figg N, Kirkpatrick P, Ritchie A, et al. Vascular smooth muscle cells undergo telomere-based senescence in human atherosclerosis: effects of telomerase and oxidative stress. *Circ Res* (2006) 99 (2):156–64. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000233315.38086.bc
- Bairley RC, Guillaume G, Vega LR, Friedman KL. A mutation in the catalytic subunit of yeast telomerase alters primer-template alignment while promoting processivity and protein-DNA binding. *J Cell Sci* (2011) 124(Pt 24):4241–52. doi: 10.1242/jcs.090761
- Blackburn EH. Switching and signaling at the telomere. *Cell* (2001) 106 (6):661–73. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(01)00492-5
- Leri A, Franco S, Zacheo A, Barlucchi L, Chimenti S, Limana F, et al. Ablation of telomerase and telomere loss leads to cardiac dilatation and heart failure associated with p53 upregulation. *EMBO J* (2003) 22(1):131–9. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg013
- Oh H, Wang SC, Prahash A, Sano M, Moravec CS, Taffet GE, et al. Telomere attrition and Chk2 activation in human heart failure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2003) 100(9):5378–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0836098100
- van der Harst P, de Boer RA, Samani NJ, Wong LS, Huzen J, Codd V, et al. Telomere length and outcome in heart failure. *Ann Med* (2010) 42(1):36–44. doi: 10.3109/07853890903321567
- 16. Pooley KA, Bojesen SE, Weischer M, Nielsen SF, Thompson D, Amin Al Olama A, et al. A genome-wide association scan (GWAS) for mean telomere length within the COGS project: identified loci show little association with hormone-related cancer risk. *Hum Mol Genet* (2013) 22(24):5056–64. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt355
- Prescott J, Kraft P, Chasman DI, Savage SA, Mirabello L, Berndt SI, et al. Genome-wide association study of relative telomere length. *PloS One* (2011) 6 (5):e19635. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019635
- Mangino M, Hwang SJ, Spector TD, Hunt SC, Kimura M, Fitzpatrick AL, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis points to CTC1 and ZNF676 as genes regulating telomere homeostasis in humans. *Hum Mol Genet* (2012) 21:5385–94. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds382
- Chinese Society of Cardiology of Chinese Medical Association and Editorial Board of Chinese Journal of Cardiology. Guideline for diagnosis and treatment of heart failure 2014. *Zhonghua Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi* (2014) 42(2):98–122. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0253–3758.2014.02.004
- 20. Shen Q, Zhang Z, Yu L, Cao L, Zhou D, Kan M, et al. Common variants near TERC are associated with leukocyte telomere length in the Chinese Han population. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2011) 19(6):721–3. doi: 10.1038/ ejhg.2011.4
- Ding H, Yan F, Zhou LL, Ji XH, Gu XN, Tang ZW, et al. Association between previously identified loci affecting telomere length and coronary heart disease (CHD) in Han Chinese population. *Clin Interv Aging* (2014) 9:857–61. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S60760
- Brouilette SW, Moore JS, McMahon AD, Thompson JR, Ford I, Shepherd J, et al. Telomere length, risk of coronary heart disease, and statin treatment in the West of Scotland Primary Prevention Study: a nested case-control study. *Lancet* (2007) 369(9556):107–14. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60071-3
- Denham J, Nelson CP, O'Brien BJ, Nankervis SA, Denniff M, Harvey JT, et al. Longer leukocyte telomeres are associated with ultra-endurance exercise independent of cardiovascular risk factors. *PloS One* (2013) 8(7):e69377. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069377
- 24. Mwasongwe S, Gao Y, Griswold M, Wilson JG, Aviv A, Reiner AP, et al. Leukocyte telomere length and cardiovascular disease in African Americans: The Jackson Heart Study. *Atherosclerosis* (2017) 266:41–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2017.09.016
- 25. Zhang S, Ji G, Liang Y, Zhang R, Shi P, Guo D, et al. Polymorphisms in Telomere Length Associated TERC and TERT predispose for Ischemic Stroke in a Chinese Han population. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:40151. doi: 10.1038/ srep40151
- 26. Paik JK, Kang R, Cho Y, Shin MJ. Association between Genetic Variations Affecting Mean Telomere Length and the Prevalence of Hypertension and

Coronary Heart Disease in Koreans. Clin Nutr Res (2016) 5(4):249-60. doi: 10.7762/cnr.2016.5.4.249

- Fyhrquist F, Saijonmaa O, Strandberg T. The roles of senescence and telomere shortening in cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2013) 10(5):274–83. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2013.30
- Gabriel S, Ziaugra I, Tabbaa D. SNP genotyping using the Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX platform. *Curr Protoc Hum Genet* (2009) Chapter 2: Unit 2.12. doi: 10.1002/0471142905.hg0212s60
- Cawthon RM. Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. Nucleic Acids Res (2002) 30(10):e47. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.10.e47
- Shi YY, He L. SHEsis, a powerful software platform for analyses of linkage disequilibrium, haplotype construction, and genetic association at polymorphism loci. *Cell Res* (2005) 15(2):97–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.cr.7290272
- 31. Li Z, Zhang Z, He Z, Tang W, Li T, Zeng Z, et al. A partition-ligationcombination-subdivision EM algorithm for haplotype inference with multiallelic markers: update of the SHEsis. *Cell Res* (2009) 19(4):519–23. doi: 10.1038/cr.2009.33. http://analysis.bio-x.cn.
- 32. Sarek G, Marzec P, Margalef P, Boulton SJ. Molecular basis of telomere dysfunction in human genetic diseases. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2015) 22 (11):867–74. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.3093
- Saretzki G. Extra-telomeric functions of human telomerase: cancer, mitochondria and oxidative stress. *Curr Pharm Des* (2014) 20(41):6386– 403. doi: 10.2174/1381612820666140630095606
- Chang ACY, Blau HM. Short telomeres A hallmark of heritable cardiomyopathies. *Differentiation* (2018) 100:31-6. doi: 10.1016/ j.diff.2018.02.001
- Sharifi-Sanjani M, Oyster NM, Tichy ED, Bedi KC Jr, Harel O, Margulies KB, et al. Cardiomyocyte-Specific Telomere Shortening is a Distinct Signature of Heart Failure in Humans. J Am Heart Assoc (2017) 6(9):e005086. doi: 10.1161/ JAHA.116.005086
- 36. De Meyer T, Nawrot T, Bekaert S, De Buyzere ML, Rietzschel ER, Andrés V. Telomere Length as Cardiovascular Aging Biomarker: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol (2018) 72(7):805–13. doi: 10.1016/ j.jacc.2018.06.014
- Cui G, Sun J, Zhang L, Li R, Wang Y, Cianflone K, et al. Lack of causal relationship between leukocyte telomere length and coronary heart disease. *Atherosclerosis* (2014) 233(2):375–80. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.01.008
- Hoshide S. Role of telomere length in interindividual variation in cardiovascular protection in hypertensive patients. *Circ J* (2014) 78 (8):1828–9. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.01.008
- Al Khaldi R, Mojiminiyi O, AlMulla F, Abdella N. Associations of TERC Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms with Human Leukocyte Telomere Length and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *PloS One* (2015) 10(12):e0145721. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0145721
- Perez-Rivera JA, Pabon-Osuna P, Cieza-Borrella C, Duran-Bobin O, Martin-Herrero F, Gonzalez-Porras JR, et al. Effect of telomere length on prognosis in men with acute coronary syndrome. *Am J Cardiol* (2014) 113(3):418–21. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.10.009
- Huzen J, van der Harst P, de Boer RA, Lesman-Leegte I, Voors AA, van Gilst WH, et al. Telomere length and psychological well-being in patients with chronic heart failure. *Age Ageing* (2010) 39(2):223–7. doi: 10.1093/ageing/ afp256
- 42. van der Harst P, van der Steege G, de Boer RA, Voors AA, Hall AS, Mulder MJ, et al. MERIT-HF Study Group. Telomere length of circulating leukocytes is decreased in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2007) 49 (13):1459–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.01.027
- Booth SA, Charchar FJ. Cardiac telomere length in heart development, function, and disease. *Physiol Genomics* (2017) 49(7):368–84. doi: 10.1152/ physiolgenomics.00024.2017
- D'Mello MJ, Ross SA, Briel M, Anand SS, Gerstein H, Paré G. Association between shortened leukocyte telomere length and cardiometabolic outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* (2015) 8(1):82– 90. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.113.000485
- 45. Lakowa N, Trieu N, Flehmig G, Lohmann T, Schön MR, Dietrich A, et al. Telomere length differences between subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue in humans. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2015) 457(3):426–32. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.12.122

- Mangge H, Renner W, Almer G, Gruber HJ, Zelzer S, Moeller R, et al. Subcutaneous adipose tissue distribution and telomere length. *Clin Chem Lab* Med (2019) 57(9):1358–63. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2018-0801
- Liu J, Fox CS, Hickson DA, May WD, Hairston KG, Carr JJ, et al. Impact of abdominal visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue on cardiometabolic risk factors: the Jackson Heart Study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95(12):5419– 26. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-1378
- Rønn PF, Andersen GS, Lauritzen T, Christensen DL, Aadahl M, Carstensen B, et al. Abdominal visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue and associations with cardiometabolic risk in Inuit, Africans and Europeans: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open* (2020) 10(9):e038071. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-038071

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Li, Cheang, Zhang, Yao, Zhou, Zhang, Liu, Zuo, Li and Cao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Relationships Between Perivascular Adipose Tissue and Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms

Tongtong Ye^{1,2†}, Guangdong Zhang^{1†}, Hangyu Liu³, Junfeng Shi^{1,2}, Hongyan Qiu^{1,2}, Yongping Liu^{1,2}, Fang Han^{4*} and Ningning Hou^{1*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, Weifang, China, ² Clinical Research Center, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, Weifang, China, ³ Department of Ophthalmology, Weifang Eye Hospital, Weifang, China, ⁴ Department of Pathology, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, Weifang, China

Abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAAs) are typically asymptomatic, and there is a high

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cheng-Chao Ruan, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Yi Fu, Peking University, China Zebei Zhang, Shanghai Institute of Hypertension, China

*Correspondence:

Ningning Hou ningning.hou@wfmc.edu.cn Fang Han fyhanfang@wfmc.edu.cn

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 May 2021 Accepted: 25 May 2021 Published: 14 June 2021

Citation:

Ye T, Zhang G, Liu H, Shi J, Qiu H, Liu Y, Han F and Hou N (2021) Relationships Between Perivascular Adipose Tissue and Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. Front. Endocrinol. 12:704845. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.704845 mortality rate associated with aneurysm rupture. AAA pathogenesis involves extracellular matrix degradation, vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype switching, inflammation, and oxidative stress. There is increasing evidence of excessive adipocyte accumulation in ruptured AAA walls. These excessive numbers of adipocytes in the vascular wall have been closely linked with AAA progression. Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT), a unique type of adipose tissue, can be involved in adipocyte accumulation in the AAA wall. PVAT produces various chemokines and adipocytokines around vessels to maintain vascular homeostasis through paracrine and autocrine mechanisms in normal physiological conditions. Nevertheless, PVAT loses its normal function and promotes the progression of vascular diseases in pathological conditions. There is evidence of significantly reduced AAA diameter in vessel walls of removed PVAT. There is a need to highlight the critical roles of cytokines, cells, and microRNA derived from PVAT in the regulation of AAA development. PVAT may constitute an important therapeutic target for the prevention and treatment of AAAs. In this review, we discuss the relationship between PVAT and AAA development; we also highlight the potential for PVAT-derived factors to serve as a therapeutic target in the treatment of AAAs.

Keywords: abdominal aortic aneurysm, perivascular adipose tissue, obesity, vascular, vascular diseases

INTRODUCTION

Aortic aneurysms are irreversible, permanent manifestations of local vasodilation that can be either thoracic or abdominal; most comprise abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAAs) (1). AAAs are pathological dilations that are 1.5-fold larger than the normal aortic diameter. There is increasing evidence of excessive adipocyte accumulation in ruptured AAA walls (2). These excessive numbers of adipocytes in the vascular wall are derived from perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT); they have been closely linked with AAA progression (3). PVAT, a unique type of adipose tissue, surrounds most blood vessels (4). Recently, PVAT has attracted considerable interest in the context of vascular diseases. The fundamental regulatory role of PVAT in vascular physiology and dysfunction has been reported to affect both dilated and atherosclerotic aortic diseases (5–7).

PVAT and Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms

Additionally, PVAT can secrete various substances, thus promoting expansion of the AAA wall; AAA diameter in the vascular wall has been shown to significantly decrease upon removal of PVAT (8). However, the underlying mechanism by which PVAT contributes to AAAs is unclear. In this review, we focus on PVAT-derived cytokines in the pathophysiological progression of AAAs. Moreover, we highlight the potential for PVAT-derived factors to serve as a therapeutic target in the treatment of AAAs.

CHARACTERISTICS OF AAA

AAAs can occur in any portion of the inferior phrenic aorta, although they frequently occur in the infrarenal abdominal aorta (9). Most AAAs are small and become increasingly prominent over time. Moreover, the risk of rupture increases with increasing aneurysm diameter (10). Age, increased smoking frequency, family history of AAAs, and a high-fat diet have been associated with AAA expansion (11); this type of change is characterized by progressive expansion and weakening of the three layers of the abdominal aorta (i.e., intima, media, and adventitia). The intima is composed of a layer of endothelial cells upon connective tissue, the media comprises vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) embedded in structural proteins, and the adventitia comprises fibroblasts and collagen fibers (12). Damage to any layer of the abdominal aorta will promote AAA progression, frequently leading to rupture-related mortality. This pathological progression involves extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation, vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype switching, inflammation, and oxidative stress. (Figure 1) (13-16). AAAs cause more than 15,000 deaths annually in the United States; approximately 25% of patients with aortic rupture

can achieve prolonged survival by undergoing surgery (16–18). Currently, AAAs cannot be treated with medication; treatment is limited to surgical repair to prevent disastrous rupture. However, this treatment does not provide substantial benefits to patients with small AAAs (19). Thus, there is a need to develop new therapies to reduce the risk of AAA rupture.

CHARACTERISTICS OF PVAT

PVAT is a metabolically hyperactive tissue that surrounds many large blood vessels except the cerebral vasculature. Typical PVAT includes adipocytes, microvasculature, stromal cells, and inflammatory cells; the specific phenotype depends on anatomical location and varies markedly due to pathogenesis (20). PVAT contains both white and brown adipose tissue. White adipose tissue (WAT) stores energy in the form of triacylglycerols, which can be mobilized through lipolysis during energy expenditure or increased fasting. Additionally, WAT can secrete various hormones, cytokines, and enzymes. These substances derived from WAT are essential to biological processes such as inflammation, metabolism, and vascular homeostasis (21, 22). In contrast, brown adipose tissue (BAT) can generate heat through intracellular lipolysis and the activity of uncoupling protein 1. Intracellular lipolysis produces fatty acids as thermogenic substrates, while uncoupling protein 1 interrupts electron transport during the generation of adenosine triphosphate within the cristae-dense mitochondria in BAT (20, 23). The compositions of WAT and BAT in PVAT vary throughout the human body. PVAT contains mainly BAT in the thoracic aorta and mainly WAT in the abdominal aorta (6, 24, 25). In normal physiological conditions, PVAT releases vasoactive molecules (e.g., hydrogen peroxide, angiotensin, adiponectin,



hydrogen sulfide, and nitric oxide) to attenuate agonist-induced vasoconstriction (26–28). Conversely, PVAT in pathological conditions promotes inflammation and oxidative stress; inhibits the release of vasoprotective adipocyte-derived relaxing factors; and increases the secretion of paracrine factors such as resistin, leptin, cytokines [e.g., tumor necrosis factor α and interleukin (IL)-6] and chemokines [regulated upon activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted (i.e., RANTES) and monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1] (24, 29, 30). These substances usually contribute to increased incidence of metabolic disease (e.g., obesity, diabetes, and aging), thereby promoting PVAT dysfunction and AAA progression (7, 31). Thus, PVAT has a close relationship with AAAs.

CELLULAR AND MOLECULAR CONTACT BETWEEN DYSFUNCTIONAL PVAT AND AAA PATHOLOGY

There is increasing evidence that dysfunctional PVAT influences AAA progression. This dysfunction involves inflammatory cells (e.g., lymphocyte, macrophages and neutrophil) infiltration and migration from the PVAT to the vascular wall; these cells generate reactive oxygen species to promote elastic arterial stiffness. Furthermore, PVAT can regulate neointimal formation through cytokines that promote VSMC phenotype switching, outer membrane inflammation, and neovascularization. Thus, PVATderived biologically active substances may participate in each stage of AAA pathogenesis; targeting these substances may aid in AAA mitigation (**Table 1** and **Figure 2**).

PVAT-Derived Biological Substances in AAAs

In the vascular walls of AAAs, inflammatory cytokines such as MCP-1 and C-reactive protein (CRP) are present at increased levels during pathological conditions (48). Both of these cytokines contribute to elastic arterial stiffness by promoting leukocyte and macrophage adhesion and migration into the vessel wall, leading to VSMC proliferation. These cytokines are secreted at high levels in PVAT (49), where they promote neointimal hyperplasia with macrophage infiltration and vasa

vasorum proliferation after vascular damage (32, 33), thereby accelerating aneurysm formation.

Upregulation of MMPs, produced by inflammatory cells and VSMCs, are the basis of AAA pathogenesis. MMPs increase the expression levels of inflammatory substances, which disrupt critical components of ECM (e.g., elastin and collagen fibers) (50-52). ECM degradation by proteolytic enzymes, mainly MMP-2 and MMP-9, reportedly promotes AAA progression (34, 35). Notably, MMP-2 and MMP-9 expression levels are elevated by PVAT-mediated angiopoietin-like protein 2 (Angptl2) (16). Angptl2-deficient mice showed reduced AAA progression compared with wild-type mice; in particular, Angptl2-deficient mice exhibited smaller aneurysms, less vascular structural destruction, and lower MMP expression levels (53). Additionally, Tian et al. constructed wild-type mice with PVAT derived from transgenic mice expressing Angptl2 in adipose tissue; these modified wild-type mice exhibited more frequent neointimal hyperplasia after endovascular injury, compared with wild-type mice that underwent transplantation of wild-type tissue (36). These studies demonstrate that MMP inhibition in PVAT may reduce AAA size, suggesting that AAA progression can be controlled by adjusting PVAT-derived MMPs (54).

Furthermore, although PVAT-derived factors are beneficial in normal physiological conditions, long-term enhancement in pathological conditions may promote disease progression. Platelet-derived growth factor-D (PDGF-D) and vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF) can repair damaged blood vessels, but both contribute to AAA formation. PDGF receptors are widely expressed in cells of the cardiovascular system, including fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells, and pericytes. PDGF-D signaling has important implications in fibrosis, neovascularization, atherosclerosis, and restenosis (55). A transcriptomics analysis revealed that PDGF-D was strongly expressed in PVAT from obese mice; inhibiting PDGF-D function significantly reduced AAA incidence. The experiment demonstrated that adipocyte-specific PDGF-D transgenic mice were more likely to exhibit AAA formation, accompanied by adventitial fibrosis and inflammation (37). Furthermore, Zhang et al. reported that PDGF-D stimulates the transforming growth factor-beta/small mother against decapentaplegic (i.e., Smad) pathway, thereby mediating AAA formation during obesity

Factors	Official full name	Function in AAA	Reference
CRP	C-reactive protein	neointimal hyperplasia	(32, 33)
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1	neointimal hyperplasia	(32, 33)
MMPs	matrix metalloproteinases	ECM degradation	(34, 35)
Angptl2	angiopoietin-like protein 2	neointimal hyperplasia	(36)
PDGF-D	platelet-derived growth factor-D	adventitial inflammation and fibrosis	(37)
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factors	adventitial neovascularization	(16)
leptin		vascular remodeling	(38)
T cells	T lymphocytes	Inflammation response	(39-42)
PROK2	Prokineticin 2	inflammation and immune-related processes	(43, 44)
MAP4K1	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase kinase 1	inflammation and immune-related processes	(43, 44)
stromal cells		vascular remodeling	(45, 46)
EVs miR-221-3p	extracellular vesicle microRNA-221-3p	VSMC phenotypic switching	(47)

TADLE 1 | Summany of DVAT dorived factors



(37, 56). These studies showed that PVAT-derived PDGF-D has a vital role in AAAs. Importantly, PDGF-D stimulates the release of VEGF-A by fibroblasts (57). VEGF-A overexpression in PVAT facilitates adventitial neovascularization; VEGF-A is elevated in aneurysms, compared with non-aneurysmal aortae (16). The inhibition of VEGF-A expression may reduce AAA incidence (58). These findings suggested that PVAT-derived VEGF also has a vital role in AAAs. Therefore, overexpression of PVAT-derived growth factors could contribute to AAA progression by promoting adventitial inflammation.

Leptin is a robustly secreted adipokine with a secretion level directly proportionate to adipocyte size; leptin is closely involved with AAAs (59). Leptin is reportedly increased 60-fold in PVAT from obese mice, and PVAT-derived leptin was twofold greater in AAAs than in normal aortae (60). Chronic elevation of leptin could lead to vasoconstriction and VSMC phenotypic switching (61); both of these changes could accelerate exacerbate vascular remodeling and promote AAA progression (38). Additionally, PVAT-derived leptin participates in AAA pathogenesis through the IL-18 signaling pathway, which involves the IL-18 receptor and NaCl co-transporter (62, 63). Leptin can increase the expression levels of IL-18, IL-18 receptor, and NaCl cotransporter; deletions of these receptors reduced AAA growth (63). These findings suggest that PVAT-derived biological substances contribute to AAA progression.

PVAT-Derived Immune Cells in AAAs

Immune cells from PVAT are also implicated in AAA pathogenesis. T cells are the main leukocyte subset in AAAs.

Activated T cells promote the release of pro-inflammatory factors derived from macrophages in AAA models, and their greatest accumulations occur in PVAT (39). Notably, T cells are highly activated in PVAT/vascular walls, and the degree of T-cell infiltration into PVAT is strongly associated with AAA size (39-42). Furthermore, the innate immune signaling molecule CD14 has a vital role in the adventitial recruitment of macrophage precursors, which lead to AAAs; CD14 is reportedly upregulated in PVAT-conditioned medium from an AAA model *in vivo* and *in vitro* (31, 64). Thus, PVAT is a reservoir of T cells and may be critical for modulating the underlying inflammation of AAA (42).

Weighted correlation network analysis showed that prokineticin 2 (PROK2) and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase kinase 1 (MAP4K1) were hub genes in dilated PVAT samples, where they mediated AAA pathogenesis (43, 65). PROK2 is upregulated in granulocytes and macrophages within inflamed tissue; it reportedly exhibits sevenfold upregulation at AAA rupture sites (66). Furthermore, MAP4K1 expression is increased by T and B cells. Both of these proteins regulate inflammation and immune processes, such as inflammatory cell adhesion, cytokine release, and immune cell activation (43, 44). However, specific mechanisms underlying PVAT-derived gene function in AAAs remain unknown; analysis of these genes may provide promising AAA treatments.

PVAT-Derived Stromal Cells in AAAs

Perivascular adipose tissue-derived stromal cells (PVADSCs) also participate in AAA formation (5, 67). Adipose tissue-derived

stromal cells (ADSCs) are mesenchymal stem cells in essence. Cultured populations of ADSCs contain fibroblast colonyforming units and a proportion of clonable self-renewing cells, but will quit proliferating at less than 20 passages. Thus, it to be more appropriate to use ADSCs (stroma) than the term stem cells for ADSCs (68). PVADSCs can be distinguished into several cell lines under specific culture conditions, including endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, osteoblasts, and adipocytes (69-71). This capability is particularly robust in young PVADSCs, but is weak in aged cells. Aged PVADSCs show decreased differentiation or aberrant secretion of adipokines and cytokines, which leads to reduction of their protective effects against vascular lesions. These changes could initiate myofibroblast proliferation and migration, followed by neointimal induction (45). Moreover, PVADSCs from AAA patients displayed enhanced senescence manifestation. This manifestation contains increased decreased proliferation, migration ability, mitochondrial fusion, reactive oxygen species production, and decreased mitochondrial membrane potential, which all contribute to AAA formation (46).

PVAT-Derived Extracellular Vesicle miRNAs in AAAs

Multiple types of PVADSCs can be induced by the transfection of microRNA (miRNA) mimics (72). Based on gene set enrichment analysis, the respective expression levels of miR-27b-3p and miR-221-3p in plasma were 1.6-fold and 1.9-fold higher in patients with AAAs than in healthy controls (73). Additionally, miR-221-3p is highly expressed in obese PVATderived extracellular vesicles (EVs). PVAT-derived EVs containing miRNAs communicate intercellular messages in AAA pathogenesis (74, 75). Obese mice reportedly secrete large quantities of EVs containing miRNA, which induce inflammatory reactions in PVAT and VSMC phenotype switching in the abdominal aorta. In the context of obesityassociated inflammation, PVAT-derived miR-221-3p could trigger early vascular remodeling (47). Therefore, efforts to target PVAT-derived EVs could provide novel therapeutic approaches for AAAs.

PVAT-TARGETING THERAPY

The only effective therapy against large AAAs or symptomatic aneurysms is open surgery or endovascular repair; however, this provides no clear benefits with respect to small AAAs. Current research regarding drugs and cells aims to identify novel effective therapeutic and preventive strategies for AAAs. Given the roles of MMPs in AAA weakening and rupture, MMPs are considered reliable targets. Some wide-spectrum MMP inhibitors have been developed as therapeutic agents for cancer; however, no trials have shown improved overall survival, and MMP inhibitors can have severe side effects (76). However, a subset of MMP inhibitors may have better effects. In particular, MMP12 is significantly increased in AAAs while peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor γ agonist could reduce MMP12 levels, thus reducing the inflammatory and oxidative statuses of PVAT (77). Furthermore, MMP-targeted imaging can be used to predict AAA progression and rupture risk. Selective MMP12 inhibitors based on 99mTc-labeled radiotracers have the potential for detecting AAA biology and predicting AAA outcome; thus, single photon emission computed tomography imaging research may be useful regarding AAAs (78).

Additionally, some experiments have been conducted to treat AAAs by VEGF or its receptor inhibition (79). VEGF-induced PVAT cell differentiation downregulates protein kinase C epsilon and p21-activated kinase 1 phosphorylation, thus negatively regulating vascular progenitor differentiation (80). Reductions of VEGF signaling-related angiogenesis have been performed to treat AAAs in mice (81). For example, anti-VEGF-A monoclonal antibody suppresses aneurysm development, while receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib limits AAA initiation and progression (79). These findings indicate that VEGF and its receptors have therapeutic potential.

Regenerative medicine has achieved clear therapeutic effects in various cardiovascular diseases, including AAAs. PVADSCs, as immunomodulatory cells, inhibit the activation of T lymphocytes and repolarize the phenotype of M1 macrophages to M2. PVADSCs can differentiate to functional SMC-like cells, but inhibit SMC apoptosis. In addition, PVADSCs produce essential ECM components such as collagen, elastin, and laminin. Experiments involving transplantation of cultured PVADSCs into a mouse vein graft model suggested that PVADSCs promote VSMC differentiation, thereby contributing to vascular remodeling. PVADSCs inhibits high mobility group box 1 release, leading to reductions of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-17) and protection against AAA formation (82). PVADSCs can maintain a multipotent phenotype and are easily cultured, providing a promising treatment for small AAA (68). Thus, regenerative medicine is a compelling long-term approach for preventing AAA formation. It should be noted that the targeted therapies cannot eradicate the disease, but delay its progression in the initial stages. Therefore, it can only be applied at an early stage of illness. The exact effects still need to be supported by clinical studies.

CONCLUSION

In pathological conditions, PVAT becomes dysfunctional and has a vital role in AAA formation. PVAT-derived factors participate in all stages of pathological AAA formation, including inflammatory cell infiltration, oxidative stress onset, matrix metalloproteinase activation, and VSMC phenotype switching. Thus, PVAT may be a useful new target for the development of AAA therapeutic drugs. Notably, most studies thus far have used *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of AAAs. However, AAA formation in humans is a chronic process. Moreover, the mechanisms that connect PVAT-derived factors and AAAs remain unclear. Additional studies are needed to identify the mechanisms that contribute to AAA inhibition, thus alleviating the risk of AAA rupture-induced mortality and preventing AAA formation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NH and FH: Conceptualization, Writing - Review & Editing. TY and GZ: Methodology, Software, Visualization, Writing - Original Draft. Other authors: Software. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Wolinsky H, Glagov S. Comparison of Abdominal and Thoracic Aortic Medial Structure in Mammals. Deviation of Man From the Usual Pattern. *Circ Res* (1969) 25:677–86. doi: 10.1161/01.res.25.6.677
- Kugo H, Zaima N, Tanaka H, Mouri Y, Yanagimoto K, Hayamizu K, et al. Adipocyte in Vascular Wall Can Induce the Rupture of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. Sci Rep (2016) 6:31268. doi: 10.1038/srep31268
- Kugo H, Zaima N, Tanaka H, Hashimoto K, Miyamoto C, Sawaragi A, et al. Pathological Analysis of the Ruptured Vascular Wall of Hypoperfusioninduced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Animal Model. J Oleo Sci (2017) 66:499–506. doi: 10.5650/jos.ess16219
- Rajsheker S, Manka D, Blomkalns AL, Chatterjee TK, Stoll LL, Weintraub NL. Crosstalk Between Perivascular Adipose Tissue and Blood Vessels. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2010) 10:191–6. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2009.11.005
- Brown NK, Zhou Z, Zhang J, Zeng R, Wu J, Eitzman DT, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Vascular Function and Disease: A Review of Current Research and Animal Models. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2014) 34:1621– 30. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303029
- Gil-Ortega M, Somoza B, Huang Y, Gollasch M, Fernández-Alfonso MS. Regional Differences in Perivascular Adipose Tissue Impacting Vascular Homeostasis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 26:367–75. doi: 10.1016/ j.tem.2015.04.003
- Queiroz M, Sena CM. Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Age-Related Vascular Disease. Ageing Res Rev (2020) 59:101040. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101040
- Kugo H, Moriyama T, Zaima N. The Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in the Appearance of Ectopic Adipocytes in the Abdominal Aortic Aneurysmal Wall. *Adipocyte* (2019) 8:229–39. doi: 10.1080/21623945.2019.1636625
- 9. Jongkind V, Yeung KK, Akkersdijk GJ, Heidsieck D, Reitsma JB, Tangelder GJ, et al. Juxtarenal Aortic Aneurysm Repair. *J Vasc Surg* (2010) 52:760–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2010.01.049
- Glimåker H, Holmberg L, Elvin A, Nybacka O, Almgren B, Björck CG, et al. Natural History of Patients With Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *Eur J Vasc Surg* (1991) 5:125–30. doi: 10.1016/s0950-821x(05)80675-9
- Sakalihasan N, Michel JB, Katsargyris A, Kuivaniemi H, Defraigne JO, Nchimi A, et al. Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2018) 4:34. doi: 10.1038/s41572-018-0030-7
- Ruddy JM, Jones JA, Spinale FG, Ikonomidis JS. Regional Heterogeneity Within the Aorta: Relevance to Aneurysm Disease. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg (2008) 136:1123–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.06.027
- Ailawadi G, Moehle CW, Pei H, Walton SP, Yang Z, Kron IL, et al. Smooth Muscle Phenotypic Modulation Is an Early Event in Aortic Aneurysms. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* (2009) 138:1392–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.07.075
- Kuivaniemi H, Ryer EJ, Elmore JR, Tromp G. Understanding the Pathogenesis of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther* (2015) 13:975– 87. doi: 10.1586/14779072.2015.1074861
- Mao N, Gu T, Shi E, Zhang G, Yu L, Wang C. Phenotypic Switching of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells in Animal Model of Rat Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* (2015) 21:62–70. doi: 10.1093/ icvts/ivv074
- Horimatsu T, Kim HW, Weintraub NL. The Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Non-atherosclerotic Vascular Disease. *Front Physiol* (2017) 8:969. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00969
- Alcorn HG, Wolfson SKJr, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Kuller LH, O'Leary D. Risk Factors for Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in Older Adults Enrolled in The Cardiovascular Health Study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (1996) 16:963– 70. doi: 10.1161/01.atv.16.8.963

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from National Natural Science Foundation of China (81870593), Natural Science Foundation of Shandong Province (ZR2020MH106), Shandong Province Higher Educational Science and Technology Program for Youth Innovation (2020KJL004).

- Lederle FA, Johnson GR, Wilson SE, Ballard DJ, Jordan WDJr, Blebea J, et al. Rupture Rate of Large Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in Patients Refusing or Unfit for Elective Repair. *JAMA* (2002) 287:2968–72. doi: 10.1001/ jama.287.22.2968
- Yoshimura K, Morikage N, Nishino-Fujimoto S, Furutani A, Shirasawa B, Hamano K. Current Status and Perspectives on Pharmacologic Therapy for Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *Curr Drug Targets* (2018) 19:1265–75. doi: 10.2174/1389450119666171227223331
- Saxton SN, Clark BJ, Withers SB, Eringa EC, Heagerty AM. Mechanistic Links Between Obesity, Diabetes, and Blood Pressure: Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue. *Physiol Rev* (2019) 99:1701–63. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00034.2018
- Coelho M, Oliveira T, Fernandes R. Biochemistry of Adipose Tissue: An Endocrine Organ. Arch Med Sci (2013) 9:191–200. doi: 10.5114/aoms. 2013.33181
- 22. Huang N, Mao EW, Hou NN, Liu YP, Han F, Sun XD. Novel Insight Into Perirenal Adipose Tissue: A Neglected Adipose Depot Linking Cardiovascular and Chronic Kidney Disease. *World J Diabetes* (2020) 11:115–25. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v11.i4.115
- Hildebrand S, Stümer J, Pfeifer A. PVAT and Its Relation to Brown, Beige, and White Adipose Tissue in Development and Function. *Front Physiol* (2018) 9:70. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00070
- Padilla J, Jenkins NT, Vieira-Potter VJ, Laughlin MH. Divergent Phenotype of Rat Thoracic and Abdominal Perivascular Adipose Tissues. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2013) 304:R543–52. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu. 00567.2012
- 25. Bar A, Kieronska-Rudek A, Proniewski B, Suraj-Prażmowska J, Czamara K, Marczyk B, et al. *In Vivo* Magnetic Resonance Imaging-Based Detection of Heterogeneous Endothelial Response in Thoracic and Abdominal Aorta to Short-Term High-Fat Diet Ascribed to Differences in Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Mice. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2020) 9:e016929. doi: 10.1161/ JAHA.120.016929
- Sun X, Hou N, Han F, Guo Y, Hui Z, Du G, et al. Effect of High Free Fatty Acids on the Anti-Contractile Response of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Rat Aorta. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2013) 63:169–74. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.07.018
- 27. Hou N, Liu Y, Han F, Wang D, Hou X, Hou S, et al. Irisin Improves Perivascular Adipose Tissue Dysfunction *via* Regulation of the Heme oxygenase-1/adiponectin Axis in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2016) 99:188–96. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.09.005
- Xia N, Li H. The Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Obesity-Induced Vascular Dysfunction. Br J Pharmacol (2017) 174:3425–42. doi: 10.1111/ bph.13650
- Chang L, Milton H, Eitzman DT, Chen YE. Paradoxical Roles of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Atherosclerosis and Hypertension. *Circ J* (2013) 77:11–8. doi: 10.1253/circj.cj-12-1393
- Nosalski R, Guzik TJ. Perivascular Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Vascular Disease. Br J Pharmacol (2017) 174:3496–513. doi: 10.1111/bph.13705
- Chatterjee TK, Stoll LL, Denning GM, Harrelson A, Blomkalns AL, Idelman G, et al. Proinflammatory Phenotype of Perivascular Adipocytes: Influence of High-Fat Feeding. *Circ Res* (2009) 104:541–9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 108.182998
- 32. Manka D, Chatterjee TK, Stoll LL, Basford JE, Konaniah ES, Srinivasan R, et al. Transplanted Perivascular Adipose Tissue Accelerates Injury-Induced Neointimal Hyperplasia: Role of Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2014) 34:1723–30. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA. 114.303983
- 33. Chen JY, Zhu XL, Liu WH, Xie Y, Zhang HF, Wang X, et al. C-Reactive Protein Derived From Perivascular Adipose Tissue Accelerates Injury-

Induced Neointimal Hyperplasia. J Transl Med (2020) 18:68. doi: 10.1186/ s12967-020-02226-x

- 34. Annabi B, Shédid D, Ghosn P, Kenigsberg RL, Desrosiers RR, Bojanowski MW, et al. Differential Regulation of Matrix Metalloproteinase Activities in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. J Vasc Surg (2002) 35:539–46. doi: 10.1067/ mva.2002.121124
- 35. Pearce WH, Shively VP. Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm as a Complex Multifactorial Disease: Interactions of Polymorphisms of Inflammatory Genes, Features of Autoimmunity, and Current Status of Mmps. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2006) 1085:117–32. doi: 10.1196/annals.1383.025
- 36. Tian Z, Miyata K, Tazume H, Sakaguchi H, Kadomatsu T, Horio E, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Secreted Angiopoietin-Like Protein 2 (Angptl2) Accelerates Neointimal Hyperplasia After Endovascular Injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2013) 57:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.01.004
- Zhang ZB, Ruan CC, Lin JR, Xu L, Chen XH, Du YN, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Derived PDGF-D Contributes to Aortic Aneurysm Formation During Obesity. *Diabetes* (2018) 67:1549–60. doi: 10.2337/db18-0098
- Li H, Wang YP, Zhang LN, Tian G. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Derived Leptin Promotes Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotypic Switching via p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase in Metabolic Syndrome Rats. *Exp Biol Med* (Maywood) (2014) 239:954–65. doi: 10.1177/1535370214527903
- Xiong W, Zhao Y, Prall A, Greiner TC, Baxter BT. Key Roles of CD4+ T Cells and IFN-Gamma in the Development of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in a Murine Model. J Immunol (2004) 172:2607–12. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 172.4.2607
- Ocana E, Bohórquez JC, Pérez-Requena J, Brieva JA, Rodríguez C. Characterisation of T and B Lymphocytes Infiltrating Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. *Atherosclerosis* (2003) 170:39–48. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9150(03) 00282-x
- Galle C, Schandené L, Stordeur P, Peignois Y, Ferreira J, Wautrecht JC, et al. Predominance of Type 1 CD4+ T Cells in Human Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2005) 142:519–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2005.02938.x
- 42. Sagan A, Mikolajczyk TP, Mrowiecki W, MacRitchie N, Daly K, Meldrum A, et al. T Cells are Dominant Population in Human Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms and Their Infiltration in the Perivascular Tissue Correlates With Disease Severity. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1979. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01979
- Chen S, Yang D, Lei C, Li Y, Sun X, Chen M, et al. Identification of Crucial Genes in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm by WGCNA. *PeerJ* (2019) 7:e7873. doi: 10.7717/peerj.7873
- 44. Giannini E, Lattanzi R, Nicotra A, Campese AF, Grazioli P, Screpanti I, et al. The Chemokine Bv8/prokineticin 2 is Up-Regulated in Inflammatory Granulocytes and Modulates Inflammatory Pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2009) 106:14646–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903720106
- 45. Antonopoulos AS, Sanna F, Sabharwal N, Thomas S, Oikonomou EK, Herdman L, et al. Detecting Human Coronary Inflammation by Imaging Perivascular Fat. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9:eaal2658. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. aal2658
- 46. Huang X, Zhang H, Liang X, Hong Y, Mao M, Han Q, et al. Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Isolated From Patients With Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Exhibit Senescence Phenomena. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2019) 2019:1305049. doi: 10.1155/2019/1305049
- Li X, Ballantyne LL, Yu Y, Funk CD. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Derived Extracellular Vesicle miR-221-3p Mediates Vascular Remodeling. FASEB J (2019) 33:12704–22. doi: 10.1096/fj.201901548R
- Furusho A, Aoki H, Ohno-Urabe S, Nishihara M, Hirakata S, Nishida N, et al. Involvement of B Cells, Immunoglobulins, and Syk in the Pathogenesis of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. J Am Heart Assoc (2018) 7:e007750. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.007750
- Omar A, Chatterjee TK, Tang Y, Hui DY, Weintraub NL. Proinflammatory Phenotype of Perivascular Adipocytes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2014) 34:1631–6. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303030
- Sakalihasan N, Limet R, Defawe OD. Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. Lancet (2005) 365:1577–89. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66459-8
- Van Lint P, Libert C. Chemokine and Cytokine Processing by Matrix Metalloproteinases and its Effect on Leukocyte Migration and Inflammation. *J Leukoc Biol* (2007) 82:1375–81. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0607338

- 52. Lindeman JH, Abdul-Hussien H, Schaapherder AF, Van Bockel JH, Von der Thüsen JH, Roelen DL, et al. Enhanced Expression and Activation of Pro-Inflammatory Transcription Factors Distinguish Aneurysmal From Atherosclerotic Aorta: IL-6- and IL-8-dominated Inflammatory Responses Prevail in the Human Aneurysm. *Clin Sci (Lond)* (2008) 114:687–97. doi: 10.1042/CS20070352
- Tazume H, Miyata K, Tian Z, Endo M, Horiguchi H, Takahashi O, et al. Macrophage-Derived Angiopoietin-Like Protein 2 Accelerates Development of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2012) 32:1400–9. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.247866
- Kurobe H, Hirata Y, Matsuoka Y, Sugasawa N, Higashida M, Nakayama T, et al. Protective Effects of Selective Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonist Against Aortic Aneurysm Progression in a Novel Murine Model. *J Surg Res* (2013) 185:455–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.05.002
- Folestad E, Kunath A, Wågsäter D. PDGF-C and PDGF-D Signaling in Vascular Diseases and Animal Models. *Mol Aspects Med* (2018) 62:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2018.01.005
- 56. Gallo EM, Loch DC, Habashi JP, Calderon JF, Chen Y, Bedja D, et al. Angiotensin II-Dependent Tgf-β Signaling Contributes to Loeys-Dietz Syndrome Vascular Pathogenesis. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:448–60. doi: 10.1172/JCI69666
- Cadamuro M, Brivio S, Mertens J, Vismara M, Moncsek A, Milani C, et al. Platelet-Derived Growth Factor-D Enables Liver Myofibroblasts to Promote Tumor Lymphangiogenesis in Cholangiocarcinoma. *J Hepatol* (2019) 70:700– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.12.004
- Kaneko H, Anzai T, Takahashi T, Kohno T, Shimoda M, Sasaki A, et al. Role of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A in Development of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *Cardiovasc Res* (2011) 91:358–67. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr080
- Fain JN, Madan AK, Hiler ML, Cheema P, Bahouth SW. Comparison of the Release of Adipokines by Adipose Tissue, Adipose Tissue Matrix, and Adipocytes From Visceral and Subcutaneous Abdominal Adipose Tissues of Obese Humans. *Endocrinology* (2004) 145:2273–82. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-1336
- Police SB, Thatcher SE, Charnigo R, Daugherty A, Cassis LA. Obesity Promotes Inflammation in Periaortic Adipose Tissue and Angiotensin II-Induced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2009) 29:1458–64. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.192658
- Zeidan A, Purdham DM, Rajapurohitam V, Javadov S, Chakrabarti S, Karmazyn M. Leptin Induces Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Hypertrophy Through Angiotensin II- and Endothelin-1-Dependent Mechanisms and Mediates Stretch-Induced Hypertrophy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2005) 315:1075–84. doi: 10.1124/jpet.105.091561
- Wang J, Sun C, Gerdes N, Liu C, Liao M, Liu J, et al. Interleukin 18 Function in Atherosclerosis is Mediated by the Interleukin 18 Receptor and the Na-Cl Co-Transporter. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:820–6. doi: 10.1038/nm.3890
- Liu CL, Ren J, Wang Y, Zhang X, Sukhova GK, Liao M, et al. Adipocytes Promote Interleukin-18 Binding to Its Receptors During Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Formation in Mice. *Eur Heart J* (2020) 41:2456–68. doi: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ehz856
- 64. Blomkalns AL, Gavrila D, Thomas M, Neltner BS, Blanco VM, Benjamin SB, et al. CD14 Directs Adventitial Macrophage Precursor Recruitment: Role in Early Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Formation. J Am Heart Assoc (2013) 2: e000065. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.112.000065
- 65. Chen S, Yang D, Liu B, Chen Y, Ye W, Chen M, et al. Identification of Crucial Genes Mediating Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Pathogenesis Based on Gene Expression Profiling of Perivascular Adipose Tissue by WGCNA. Ann Transl Med (2021) 9:52. doi: 10.21037/atm-20-3758
- 66. Choke E, Cockerill GW, Laing K, Dawson J, Wilson WR, Loftus IM, et al. Whole Genome-Expression Profiling Reveals a Role for Immune and Inflammatory Response in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Rupture. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2009) 37:305–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2008.11.017
- 67. Ruan CC, Ge Q, Li Y, Li XD, Chen DR, Ji KD, et al. Complement-Mediated Macrophage Polarization in Perivascular Adipose Tissue Contributes to Vascular Injury in Deoxycorticosterone Acetate-Salt Mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2015) 35:598–606. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304927
- Parvizi M, Harmsen MC. Therapeutic Prospect of Adipose-Derived Stromal Cells for the Treatment of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *Stem Cells Dev* (2015) 24:1493–505. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0517

- Silva FJ, Holt DJ, Vargas V, Yockman J, Boudina S, Atkinson D, et al. Metabolically Active Human Brown Adipose Tissue Derived Stem Cells. Stem Cells (2014) 32:572–81. doi: 10.1002/stem.1595
- Bhumiratana S, Bernhard JC, Alfi DM, Yeager K, Eton RE, Bova J, et al. Tissue-Engineered Autologous Grafts for Facial Bone Reconstruction. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8:343ra83. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad5904
- Rivera-Gonzalez GC, Shook BA, Andrae J, Holtrup B, Bollag K, Betsholtz C, et al. Skin Adipocyte Stem Cell Self-Renewal Is Regulated by a PDGFA/ AKT-Signaling Axis. Cell Stem Cell (2016) 19:738–51. doi: 10.1016/ j.stem.2016.09.002
- 72. Gu W, Nowak WN, Xie Y, Le Bras A, Hu Y, Deng J, et al. Single-Cell RNA-Sequencing and Metabolomics Analyses Reveal the Contribution of Perivascular Adipose Tissue Stem Cells to Vascular Remodeling. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2019) 39:2049–66. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA. 119.312732
- 73. Plana E, Gálvez L, Medina P, Navarro S, Fornés-Ferrer V, Panadero J, et al. Identification of Novel Microrna Profiles Dysregulated in Plasma and Tissue of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Patients. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21:4600. doi: 10.3390/ijms21134600
- 74. Valadi H, Ekström K, Bossios A, Sjöstrand M, Lee JJ, Lötvall JO. Exosome-Mediated Transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a Novel Mechanism of Genetic Exchange Between Cells. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) 9:654–9. doi: 10.1038/ncb1596
- Deng ZB, Poliakov A, Hardy RW, Clements R, Liu C, Liu Y, et al. Adipose Tissue Exosome-Like Vesicles Mediate Activation of Macrophage-Induced Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* (2009) 58:2498–505. doi: 10.2337/db09-0216
- Hu J, Van den Steen PE, Sang QX, Opdenakker G. Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors as Therapy for Inflammatory and Vascular Diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2007) 6:480–98. doi: 10.1038/nrd2308
- Chen JY, Wu YP, Li CY, Jheng HF, Kao LZ, Yang CC, et al. Pparγ Activation Improves the Microenvironment of Perivascular Adipose Tissue and Attenuates Aortic Stiffening in Obesity. J BioMed Sci (2021) 28:22. doi: 10.1186/s12929-021-00720-y

- Gona K, Toczek J, Ye Y, Sanzida N, Golbazi A, Boodagh P, et al. Hydroxamate-Based Selective Macrophage Elastase (Mmp-12) Inhibitors and Radiotracers for Molecular Imaging. J Med Chem (2020) 63:15037–49. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c01514
- 79. Xu B, Iida Y, Glover KJ, Ge Y, Wang Y, Xuan H, et al. Inhibition of VEGF (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor)-A or its Receptor Activity Suppresses Experimental Aneurysm Progression in the Aortic Elastase Infusion Model. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2019) 39:1652–66. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA. 119.312497
- Galli D, Carubbi C, Masselli E, Corradi D, Dei Cas A, Nouvenne A, et al. Pkce Is a Negative Regulator of PVAT-Derived Vessel Formation. *Exp Cell Res* (2015) 330:277–86. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.11.011
- Wang L, Wu H, Xiong L, Liu X, Yang N, Luo L, et al. Quercetin Downregulates Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression and HIF-10/Vegf Signaling-Related Angiogenesis in a Mouse Model of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *BioMed Res Int* (2020) 2020:9485398. doi: 10.1155/2020/9485398
- Sharma AK, Salmon MD, Lu G, Su G, Pope NH, Smith JR, et al. Mesenchymal Stem Cells Attenuate Nadph Oxidase-Dependent High Mobility Group Box 1 Production and Inhibit Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2016) 36:908–18. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.307373

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Ye, Zhang, Liu, Shi, Qiu, Liu, Han and Hou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Perirenal Adipose Tissue Inflammation: Novel Insights Linking Metabolic Dysfunction to Renal Diseases

Safaa H. Hammoud¹, Ibrahim AlZaim^{2,3}, Yusra Al-Dhaheri⁴, Ali H. Eid^{5,6} and Ahmed F. El-Yazbi^{2,7,8*}

¹ Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Faculty of Pharmacy, Beirut Arab University, Beirut, Lebanon,
 ² Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Faculty of Medicine, American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon,
 ³ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, American University of Beirut, Beirut, Lebanon,
 ⁴ Department of Biology, United Arab Emirates University, Al-Ain, United Arab Emirates, ⁵ Department of Basic Medical Sciences, College of Medicine, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar, ⁶ Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Research Unit, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar, ⁷ Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt, ⁸ Faculty of Pharmacy, Alalamein International University, Alalamein, Egypt

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiaodong Sun, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Lannie O'Keefe, Victoria University, Australia Yimin Jia, Nanjing Agricultural University, China Guiting Lin, University of California, San Francisco, United States

*Correspondence:

Ahmed F. El-Yazbi ahmed.fawzy.aly@alexu.edu.eg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 09 May 2021 Accepted: 19 July 2021 Published: 02 August 2021

Citation:

Hammoud SH, AlZaim I, Al-Dhaheri Y, Eid AH and El-Yazbi AF (2021) Perirenal Adipose Tissue Inflammation: Novel Insights Linking Metabolic Dysfunction to Renal Diseases. Front. Endocrinol. 12:707126. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.707126 A healthy adipose tissue (AT) is indispensable to human wellbeing. Among other roles, it contributes to energy homeostasis and provides insulation for internal organs. Adipocytes were previously thought to be a passive store of excess calories, however this view evolved to include an endocrine role. Adipose tissue was shown to synthesize and secrete adipokines that are pertinent to glucose and lipid homeostasis, as well as inflammation. Importantly, the obesity-induced adipose tissue expansion stimulates a plethora of signals capable of triggering an inflammatory response. These inflammatory manifestations of obese AT have been linked to insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes, and proposed to evoke obesity-induced comorbidities including cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). A growing body of evidence suggests that metabolic disorders, characterized by AT inflammation and accumulation around organs may eventually induce organ dysfunction through a direct local mechanism. Interestingly, perirenal adipose tissue (PRAT), surrounding the kidney, influences renal function and metabolism. In this regard, PRAT emerged as an independent risk factor for chronic kidney disease (CKD) and is even correlated with CVD. Here, we review the available evidence on the impact of PRAT alteration in different metabolic states on the renal and cardiovascular function. We present a broad overview of novel insights linking cardiovascular derangements and CKD with a focus on metabolic disorders affecting PRAT. We also argue that the confluence among these pathways may open several perspectives for future pharmacological therapies against CKD and CVD possibly by modulating PRAT immunometabolism.

Keywords: perirenal adipose tissue, chronic kidney disease, cardiovascular disease, metabolic dysfunction, adipose tissue inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Adipose tissue (AT) is an active cellular complex that includes three different cellular types: white, brown, and beige adipocytes where extensive molecular, physiological and metabolic heterogeneity among different adipose depots exists (1-3). The main characteristic of white adipose tissue (WAT) is the large unilocular lipid droplet occupying most of the adipocyte volume. WAT functions as an excess lipid store in the form of triglycerides and secretes free fatty acids (FFA) to fulfill metabolic demands. Importantly, WAT regulates metabolic homeostasis by the synthesis and secretion of adipokines (4). Brown adipose tissue (BAT) is characterized by dispersed pockets of multilocular adipocytes and is rich in mitochondria. The main function of BAT is to dissipate energy through uncoupled respiration, that is mainly mediated by uncoupling protein-1 (UCP-1) (5). All of these AT depots are well vascularized, innervated by nerve structures, and contain preadipocytes, pericytes and immune cells (6). Recently, extensive research has uncovered the crucial role of AT depots. Not only does the physiological function of AT involve the maintenance of local and general homeostasis, via endocrine and paracrine activity, but also AT may contribute to the pathogenesis of many diseases (7-9). In this respect, the involvement of several fat depots was identified; perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) is involved in the pathogenesis of hypertension (10) and epicardial AT is associated with atherosclerosis and coronary diseases (11).

Perirenal AT (PRAT) is yet another metabolically active AT depot. PRAT harbors an endocrine and paracrine role synthesizing and secreting adipokines pertinent to glucose and lipid homeostasis as well as inflammation (12). Interestingly, evidence shows that PRAT may influence the function and metabolism of the renal and cardiovascular system. Here, we summarize the recent findings regarding PRAT origin, structure and anatomical characteristics. We elaborate on the involvement of PRAT in different pathological conditions presenting new insights linking cardiovascular and renal diseases with a focus on metabolic disorders. An argument that the confluence exists among the pathways controlling metabolism and inflammation is made. This knowledge may represent a keystone for future novel approaches in metabolic, renal, and cardiovascular therapy and may open several perspectives in the field of PRAT immunometabolism.

PERIRENAL ADIPOSE TISSUE: ANATOMY, HISTOLOGY, AND ORIGINS

PRAT, a fat depot in the retroperitoneal space surrounding the kidney, was previously believed to act as mechanical support to the kidneys (13). However, recent studies highlighted that not only PRAT has an essential role in regulating kidney function but is also involved with cardiovascular system control. Anatomical studies have confirmed that PRAT exhibits an extensive blood supply, lymphatic channels, and neuronal innervation (14–16). Due to its interaction with renal blood vessels and possible

exertion of physical hemodynamic effect, PRAT is believed to modulate the renal context in a manner analogous to that of PVAT in controlling blood pressure (17, 18).

The arterial blood supply to PRAT is derived from branches of the left colic, lower adrenal, renal, lumbar and ovarian/ testicular arteries. This generates an abundant anastomosing capillary network supplying PRAT with oxygen and nutrients (19). Thus, PRAT is very well vascularized and is richly innervated (15, 20).

Although studies on the origin of PRAT are limited, emerging transcriptomic data provide insights into the unique nature of PRAT (2). Recent observations on PRAT adipogenesis revealed that preadipocytes are negative for endothelial markers (21). Indeed, human PRAT has been demonstrated to be a hybrid visceral AT, analogous to subcutaneous AT, and distinct from other visceral depots (2). Nevertheless, PRAT exhibits agedependent molecular and morphological alterations. In human embryos, PRAT-derived adipocyte progenitors differentiated in vitro exhibit similar features of BAT including PRDM16 and UCP1 expression, as well as a comparable mitochondrion copy number, gene expression patterns, and oxygen consumption rates (22). In newborns, PRAT predominantly consists of brown adipocytes with a thin layer of WAT, which exhibit an agedependent, progressive regression, such that adult PRAT appears to be predominantly white with dispersed pockets of multilocular adipocytes (23, 24). However, recent studies have shown that adult PRAT comprises spatially-distinct populations of dormant unilocular and multilocular UCP1-expressing adipocytes (21, 24-26). While unilocular UCP1-expressing adipocytes are evenly distributed within PRAT, multilocular UCP1-expressing adipocytes are located around the adrenal gland, in areas containing a higher number of sympathetic nerve endings (21). These two types of AT are associated with preadipocytes, mesenchymal stem cells, and several inflammatory cells (12). PRAT arises as a focal point in regenerative medicine, it is considered a depot for mesenchymal stem cells which manifest the ability to differentiate into adipocyte, osteogenic, chondrogenic and epithelial lineage (27). BAT progenitor cells are present in PRAT regardless of specific location (21). About 30% of PRAT population expresses UCP-1, the majority being multilocular and about 20% of them exhibiting a unilocular phenotype (21, 25).

The variability in PRAT morphology is also genderdependent, PRAT is much more developed in males than females (28). Computed tomography measurements of PRAT were carried out in 123 individuals where males had higher PRAT volume than females at a comparable waist circumference (28). Another study confirmed the gender variability in PRAT thickness and volume compared to waist circumference (29). Gender based discrepancies are also reflected in the histological pattern of PRAT. BAT in PRAT has higher expression levels of UCP-1 in females than males (30). In cold weather, PRAT can show higher levels of BAT (25). The increase in browning capacity after cold exposure in females can be observed as heat is rapidly dispersed throughout the body and is attributed to the abundance of renal blood supply. Moreover, stronger browning capacity in females is associated with specific characteristics of mesenchymal cells of PRAT and to a much lesser extent related to hormonal interventions (30). These findings are confirmed by a study on a murine model showing that Y-chromosome suppresses BAT UCP-1 expression (31).

When compared to other typical visceral AT, PRAT is more active in energy metabolism, synthesis, and secretion of several adipokines and inflammatory cytokines (12). PRAT manifests an immunoregulatory phenotype in response to several inflammatory cytokines as interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β), interferon (IFN), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) which could be targeted in antiinflammatory therapy (27). These cytokines produced can regulate kidney function through paracrine or endocrine pathways. PRAT contributes to a decrease in kidney function in hypertensive individuals regardless of their body mass index (32). Furthermore, PRAT increases in prediabetic and diabetic patients and is associated with lower glomerular filtration rates in diabetic individuals (17, 18). This represents a potential immunomodulatory mechanism that could be targeted in different aspects of inflammatory conditions, tissue injuries (27), CVD and renal dysfunction.

PERIRENAL ADIPOSE TISSUE PHYSIOLOGY

Sympathetic Innervation

The autonomic nervous system is a key regulator of cardiovascular as well as energy homeostasis (33–35). The sympathovagal balance is essential in maintaining proper regulation of the cardiovascular and metabolic activity. Studies in human and experimental models indicate that sympathetic overflow induces hypertension (36, 37) and targeted end-organ damage (38, 39). Sympathetic nerve overactivity is detected in various tissues in obesity. Increased renal sympathetic nerve activity is reported in obese individuals and can be assessed by kidney norepinephrine spillover (40). Moreover, the sympathetic innervation regulates thermogenesis and energy liberation by innervating both the brown and white adipose pools (41–43).

The autonomic innervation into PRAT is functionally active (**Figure 1**). Indeed, the activation of afferent signals in the PRAT induces an increase in renal sympathetic activity (44). The afferent nerves in the adipocytes controlling the sympathetic outflow are referred to as an adipose afferent reflex (AAR) that modulates local homeostasis regulating energy balance and lipolysis (45–47). The activation of this sympatho-excitatory reflex in PRAT, AAR, can elevate sympathetic nerve activity and blood pressure (48, 49). The effect of the sympathetic innervation was even greater in hypertensive rat models or following a high fat diet (48, 49). Additionally, PRAT through AAR could regulate the sympathetic flow and therefore the cardiovascular system (50). Nevertheless, the function of the primary afferent neurons innervating PRAT remains unclear, further studies are essential to clarify the constituents of this pathway and the possible pathogenesis involved.

Given that PRAT thermogenic activation is essentially downstream of adrenergic stimulation, the inhibition of the sympathetic nervous system in obese rats by carotid baroreceptor stimulation not only alleviated metabolic derangements and insulin resistance, but also reduced PRAT mass and adipocyte hypertrophy, among other depots, by modulating the AMPK/ PPAR α/γ pathway (51). This was associated with a reduction of plasma and PRAT norepinephrine levels and an augmentation of acetylcholine levels (51). Moreover, rebalancing the autonomic nervous system by irradiating carotid baroreceptors in obese rats ameliorated metabolic dysfunction (52). This was associated with a restoration of norepinephrine and acetylcholine levels in PRAT, among other adipose depots, which rectified the AMPK/PPAR α/γ pathway originally altered in obese rats (52). Although both interventions altered UCP-1 expression in BAT, neither altered UCP-1 expression in PRAT (51, 52). Nevertheless, it was demonstrated that systemic catecholamine excess in paraganglioma patients enhanced the prevalence of activated brown adipocytes in PRAT (53). Additionally, it was shown that high-fat diets as well as low protein, high carbohydrate diets induced PRAT browning that is associated with an upregulation of UCP-1, PRDM16, as well as β -AR expression (9, 54). Moreover, β_3 -AR activation in HFD-fed obese rats not only enhanced FFA influx into PRAT, but also its utilization, observations similar to those in rats fed a low protein, high carbohydrate diet (54, 55). As PRAT represents a heterogenous and unique adipose depot, contrasting data emanating from these studies must be interpreted cautiously, and depending on the context. Nevertheless, the function of the primary afferent neurons innervating PRAT remains unclear, further studies are essential to clarify the constituents of this pathway and the possible pathogenesis involved.

Humoral Regulation-Adipokines

Adipokines encompass a group of endocrine proteins synthesized and released by adipose tissues functioning as regulators of the immune system and metabolism including insulin sensitivity and energy balance (56). These properties of adipokines are linked to metabolic dysfunction, CVD, and type 2 diabetes mellitus pathogenesis (57, 58). PRAT is highly active in adipokine synthesis as well as several pro-inflammatory cytokines (12, 59). PRAT secreted adipokines could affect the function of adjacent organs including the kidneys. Moreover, adipokines released into the systemic circulation could regulate CVS function (60, 61).

Leptin, an adipocyte-derived hormone, is a major regulator of hunger, energy homeostasis, and endocrine function (62). Circulating leptin increases in obesity through Janus kinase signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway (63). Hyperleptinemia exacerbates atrial fibrosis and atrial fibrillation, as well as impaired glucose intolerance in obese mice (64, 65). Moreover, hyperleptinemia is associated with hypertension in obese men (66). Leptin injection into PRAT in rats stimulated the AAR without affecting the systemic sympathetic activity, highlighting that PRAT could directly regulate cardiovascular function (50). Moreover, in a rat model of metabolic syndrome (MetS), PRAT-derived leptin exacerbates the proliferation of glomerular endothelial cells by activating the MAPK pathway (67). Increased leptin synthesis in PRAT induced higher leptin concentrations in kidneys increasing the proliferation of glomerular endothelial cells through a cross-talk between the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) and leptin pathway, an effect that was reversed following the blockade of either RAS or leptin pathways (67). Therefore, aside from its systemic role,



PRAT-derived leptin could directly affect endothelial cells and regulate RAS thereby affecting blood pressure as well.

Adiponectin is the most abundant adipokine in the human serum showing unique insulin-sensitizing, anti-inflammatory, cardioprotective, and antiapoptotic actions (60, 68). Adiponectin modulates metabolism; low levels of circulating adiponectin are linked to type 2 diabetes, atherosclerosis, and CVDs (69–71). Moreover, the activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta (PPAR δ) increases adiponectin secretion from PRAT, which exerts a protective effect on the renal tubular epithelial cells (72). The high salt diet-induced PPAR δ activity inhibits sodium-glucose cotrasporter-2 (SGLT2) which promotes natriuresis and glycosuria. In diabetic states, patients show reduced natriuresis in patients with uncontrolled hyperglycemia is correlated with low adiponectin levels. As a result, a distinctive role of adiponectin is revealed in regulating sodium and glucose homeostasis *via* SGLT2 in kidney tubules, a mechanism that is found to be impaired in diabetes (72).

Renin-Angiotensin System

The renin-angiotensin system (RAS) is a crucial regulator of energy metabolism, having a major role in several metabolic disorders including obesity and insulin resistance (73). RAS modulates adipocyte function, glucose, and triglyceride metabolism as well as lipolysis (74, 75). The expression of all components of the RAS, including angiotensin II (Ang II) and angiotensin 1-7 (Ang 1-7) and their receptors, have been recognized in adipocytes implying the involvement of local RAS in regulating AT function (74, 76). Recent studies have revealed the counteractive role of Ang II and Ang1-7 in regulating various functions of adipocytes (77).

Divergent findings have been reported assessing the regulation of RAS in AT depending on the type of adipose pool and different models studied [reviewed in (78)]. In rodents, the local angiotensinogen synthesis in AT is increased following increases in food intake. In this model, angiotensinogen induced local Ang II synthesis, promoting AT growth (79). Moreover, in mice, the accumulation of AT is correlated with higher blood pressure an effect that is thought to be mediated *via* an increase in Ang II secretion from AT (80). In humans, Ang II has antiadipogenic effects in preadipocytes (81, 82). On the other hand, in obese hypertensive individuals, Ang II is increased highlighting a link between RAS and insulin resistance (83). In line, other clinical studies reported an increase in RAS components in obese individuals (84–87). Indeed, the local genetic expression of RAS in adipocytes of obese individuals is elevated (78, 88–91).

Recent studies showed that during adipogenesis, both Ang II production and Ang II type 1 receptor (AT_1R) are upregulated (92). The stimulation of AT_1R promotes leptin secretion in human adipocytes, an effect mediated *via* extracellular-signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2-dependent (Erk1/2) pathway (93). The stimulation of AT_1R in AT induces the production of several pro-inflammatory cytokines (94), which in turn stimulate the apoptosis of BAT and inhibit the browning of WAT (95). However, the blockade of AT1R curbs lipid accumulation and reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation in adipocytes. This was associated with increases in adiponectin and apelin and a decrease in the TNF- α , renin, and visfatin (92, 96).

On the other hand, Ang 1-7 pathway opposes the Ang II-AT₁R signaling, as it stimulates lipolysis and glucose uptake in the adipose pools and suppresses oxidative stress (97, 98). The activation of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) *in vivo* reduces AT deposition (99). Ang 1-7 administration to rats on a high-fat diet was found to increase ACE2 expression and reduce AT accumulation (100). More studies on rats verified the previous results, in which Ang1-7 lipolytic effects were reduced *via* blockade of Mas receptors with a PI3K inhibitor (97). Nevertheless, blockers of AT₁R and AT₂R *in vitro* did not provoke changes in the Ang1-7 function.

PRAT fat deposition is presumed to activate RAS through compression of blood vessels, lymphatic system, and ureters, which leads to the development of hypertension, atherosclerosis and kidney dysfunction (101, 102). Low concentrations of Ang II increase adipocyte differentiation of human preadipocytes isolated from PRAT (103). Moreover, in states of metabolic dysfunction inflammatory cytokines derived from PRAT could be involved in nephrotoxicity (9, 104). The increase in PRAT inflammation in diabetic mice was reduced following Ang1-7 treatment. Additionally, Ang1-7 counteracted ROS production in PRAT (104). The functional significance of PRAT production of RAS components is an area of intense investigation, it could reveal a link between metabolic dysfunction, CVD, and CKD.

PERIRENAL ADIPOSE TISSUE INFLAMMATION AND METABOLIC COMPLICATIONS

Mechanisms Governing Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Thermogenesis

Metabolic homeostasis is governed by balanced, intricate, and opposing processes promoting energy acquisition and energy

expenditure in order to maintain basal metabolic rates (105). An imbalance of such processes, exemplified by an increased energy acquisition due to caloric excess, is thought to drive early metabolic dysfunction, eventually culminating in the emergence of insulin resistance and its accompanying derangements such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and CVD (106). Indeed, excessive caloric intake induces hyperinsulinemia, which drives adipocyte hypertrophy, promoting the diametric expansion of the AT beyond the diffusion potential of oxygen (107-109). WAT exhibits a decreased blood supply during hypertrophic remodeling resulting in a local hypoxic state. This is accompanied by an increased adipocyte oxygen consumption that is not made up for by proper compensatory vascularization, which triggers hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha (HIF-1 α) expression and causes adipocyte death and subsequent inflammation (108). Indeed, hypoxia induces the release of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines and angiogenic and fibrotic factors from adipocytes, favoring AT dysfunction and immune cell infiltration (61). Hypoxia-triggered expression of HIF-1 α induces NF- κ B-mediated cytokine production including IL-1 β , which signals for the recruitment of circulating immune cells, causing an imbalance between homeostatic AT-resident immune cells and infiltrating proinflammatory immune cells (61, 110). Therefore, obesity is considered a state of chronic lowgrade inflammation, in which infiltrating immune cells contribute to the hypoxic phenotype and to insulin resistance (111, 112). Additionally, hypoxia-induced AT dysfunction is associated with an extensive lipolytic activity and free fatty acids (FFA) release, promoting endoplasmic reticulum stress and adipocyte apoptosis (113, 114). In response to adipocyte death, the AT initiates a self-limiting reparative response by which infiltrating macrophages encircle apoptotic adipocytes creating histologically-distinguishable crown-like structures (61, 115). These macrophages aberrantly generate toxic ROS and nitric oxide (NO), which further damage neighboring cells, promoting tissue fibrosis (61). As the injurious signal persists, the chronic stimulation of myofibroblasts and immune cells exacerbates tissue damage, eventually leading to extracellular matrix remodeling, tissue fibrosis, and AT dysfunction (116).

There exists extensive heterogeneity among different adipose depots and among the adipocytes of a given depot itself, resulting in differential, depot-specific susceptibilities to inflammation (1-3). A long standing subcategorization of adipose depots differentiates between WAT and BAT. WAT comprises unilocular adipocytes that specialize in energy storage and adipokine secretion while BAT comprises mitochondria-rich, multilocular adipocytes that specialize in energy dissipation through non-shivering thermogenesis (5). Nonshivering thermogenesis encompasses intricate thermogenic pathways that are thought to occur downstream of β_3 -adrenergic receptors (β_3 -ARs), and in response to stimuli that enhance local sympathetic discharge including cold exposure and high fat diet consumption (5, 117, 118). These latter stimuli promote WAT browning, a phenomenon by which white adipocytes gain thermogenic potential, transforming into brown-like beige adipocytes. Emerging evidence implicates different thermogenic pathways downstream of β_3 -ARs, that drive the thermogenic

potential of brown and beige adipocytes. The most efficient and quantitatively significant thermogenic effector is the inner mitochondrial membrane protein, UCP-1. UCP-1 is a fatty acid/ H⁺ symporter that uncouples mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation from the production of ATP (5). Moreover, the activation of β_3 -ARs induces lipolysis, increasing the levels of FFA, which further enhances UCP-1 activity. Nevertheless, it was shown that UCP-1 is dispensable for cold-induced and dietinduced thermogenesis (119). It was therefore hypothesized that less-efficient thermogenic pathways contribute to adaptive thermogenesis, the most prominent of which is creatine futile cycling (120). Creatine futile cycling, that is the phosphorylation of creatine by creatine kinase B and its subsequent futile hydrolysis, appears to take place in UCP-1-positive and UCP1-negative adipocytes (121, 122). Importantly, blocking creatine cycling in adipocytes either by impairing its endogenous biosynthesis or its transport, promotes diet-induced obesity and cold-intolerance in mice (123-125). Alternative thermogenic pathways also include lipolysis/re-esterification cycling that mediates adaptive thermogenesis based on the ATP demand of triacylglycerol synthesis, calcium cycling that is mediated by the SR/ER calcium ATPase pump and phospholamban, and the UCP1-independent proton leak by the mitochondrial ADP/ATP carrier that is initiated at high membrane potentials (5). Importantly, UCP1-dependent and UCP1-independent uncoupling of mitochondrial respiration from ATP production is linked to aberrant increases in the mitochondrial oxygen consumption rates and oxygen demand, thus possibly exacerbating AT hypoxia in states of metabolic dysfunction (7-9, 126–128).

Mechanisms Linking Perirenal Adipose Tissue Thermogenesis and Inflammation

Several studies have shown that an augmentation of central adiposity in overweight and obese individuals is associated with an increased PRAT mass, and that PRAT mass independently associates with insulin resistance and lower HDL-cholesterol levels (129). Moreover, PRAT thickness is associated with cardiovascular risk factors in a sexdependent manner, where significant associations exist between increased PRAT thickness and fasting plasma glucose level, metabolic syndrome, and waist circumference in men, and only fasting plasma glucose level in women (130). Nevertheless, such observations cannot be merely explained by an increased PRAT mass. Recent mechanistic investigations possibly link PRAT thermogenesis and inflammation to renal dysfunction early in the course of metabolic disease (9). Although it could be inferred from clinical observations linking reduced PRAT browning to hypertension and metabolic dysfunction that PRAT browning holds therapeutic benefits, recent evidence in non-obese, prediabetic rats, links PRAT thermogenesis to localized inflammation, impairing renovascular function early in the course of metabolic disease (9, 131).

Indeed, increased UCP1 expression is consistently reported in different animal models of diet-induced obesity, a phenotype that is enhanced by the increased abundance of long chain fatty acids pertinent to these models (132, 133). Such an increased expression level of UCP1 drives diet-induced thermogenesis and is associated with increased levels of oxygen consumption (134). This is of particular relevance to adipose depots with inherently low expression levels of UCP1, such as the PRAT, in which diet-induced thermogenesis produces profound bioenergetic and inflammatory alterations (9). Indeed, PRAT inflammation and enhanced oxidative stress in prediabetic rats were associated with elevated glomerular filtration rate (GFR) accompanied by mild proteinuria in the absence of hypertension, hyperglycemia, obesity, and systemic inflammation (9). These rats exhibited an acutely increased production of ROS in PRAT which is suggested to have enhanced UCP-1 activity and mitochondrial respiration uncoupling (9, 135). Importantly, PRAT of HFD-fed rats exhibited an enhanced expression of UCP-1 which is thought to exacerbate local hypoxia and increase HIF-1 α expression in the hypertrophied tissue by driving the aberrant consumption of oxygen. While studies of the PRAT UCP1 expression profile are scarce, the available evidence shows alteration of UCP1 expression in PRAT adipocytes in disease conditions such as hypertension and renal cell carcinoma (131, 136). In this context, mechanistic parallels can be drawn to PVAT, an intrinsically hybrid tissue harboring brown adipocytes, in which an increased UCP-1 expression exacerbates local hypoxia leading to AT dysfunction and inflammation and subsequent vascular derangements (8, 137). It was therefore suggested that UCP-1 may serve as a therapeutic target in select adipose depots to mitigate cardiovascular and renovascular derangements associated with early phases of metabolic dysfunction (61, 137). This is of particular relevance as the upregulation of PRAT UCP-1 expression and the excessive uncoupling of mitochondrial respiration not only deteriorated kidney function but were also associated with altered expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers supportive of renal epithelial to mesenchymal transition (9).

Additionally, it was shown that PRAT altered adipokine profile and enhanced oxidative stress, inflammation, and fibrosis may partly explain the high risk of cardiovascular events observed in patients with primary aldosteronism or hypercortisolism (138, 139). In patients with aldosterone-producing and cortisol-producing adenomas, PRAT expressed significantly higher levels of IL-6 and TNF- α as well as fibrotic markers in comparison to normotensive individuals and patients with essential hypertension (138, 139). These observations are supported by in vitro experiments showing that aldosterone treatment of isolated human PRAT stromovascular cells, mouse 3T3-L1, and brown preadipocytes induces the expression of IL-6 and markers of inflammation and fibrosis (138). Additionally, the expression level of NADPH oxidase 4 (NOX4) significantly increased, while that of hemoxygenase-1 (HO-1) and nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) significantly decreased in PRAT of patients with cortisol-producing adenoma (139). Indeed, dexamethasone treatment of pre-differentiated stromovascular cells, mouse 3T3-L1, and brown preadipocytes induces marked fibrosis and adipogenesis (139). Moreover, it was shown that dexamethasone treatment in adrenalectomized rats promotes hyperplastic PRAT expansion that is associated with an increased expression and dehydrogenase activity of 11 β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1, an NADPH-dependent cortisone reductase (140). Moreover, hypercortisolism in patients with active Cushing's syndrome induced PRAT adipocyte hypertrophy, that was associated

with an increased macrophage infiltration, and augmented leptin and reduced adiponectin levels (141). Additionally, PRAT brown adipocytes were shown to be active in states of secondary hyperaldosteronism, such as in patients with pheochromocytoma (142). Nevertheless, the inflammatory landscape of PRAT in these patients was not assessed. However, it could be inferred from these studies that states of hyperaldosteronism and hypercortisolism drive both PRAT inflammation and increased UCP-1 indicating that possible cross-talks between both mechanisms plausibly exist.

PERIRENAL ADIPOSE TISSUE AND RENAL DISEASES

PRAT and Chronic Kidney Disease: A Possible Correlation

The strong correlation between body mass index and higher risk of chronic kidney disease (CKD) was first reported in 1974 and was found to be greatly associated with an increase in proteinuria (143). Patients with a high body mass index had a higher risk of CKD compared to lean individuals independent of age (144). Moreover, urinary albumin excretion was also elevated in obese patients who are neither hypertensive nor diabetic (145). Indeed, CKD is an independent complication of obesity; a metabolic profile identified as obesity-related glomerulopathy or obesityrelated kidney disease (146, 147). Several studies highlighted the association between increased visceral adiposity, and particularly increased PRAT mass and volume, and determinants of metabolic and CV disease as well as kidney dysfunction (129, 148). Excess PRAT has also been associated with metabolic anomalies including insulin resistance, abnormal fasting blood glucose levels, hypertriglycemia, and higher uric acid excretion in urine in patients with CKD (129, 148).

Given the intimate relation between PRAT and the kidney, either due to their spatial proximity or due to their common innervation and vascularization, PRAT expansion, dysfunction, and inflammation are thought to have a pronounced impact on renal function (149, 150). PRAT thickness is increased in patients with MetS, which is accompanied by increases in oxidative stress and renal microvascular proliferation (151). PRAT expansion secondary to obesity contributes to kidney dysfunction irrespective of obesity (12, 32). This is in line with the observation that abdominal obesity was strongly associated with CKD compared to overall obesity (152, 153), where an increasing body of evidence has suggested that PRAT thickness is positively associated with visceral adiposity and waist circumference (145, 154). In this regard, excess PRAT was associated with a higher risk for CKD and could be used as a predictor for reduced GFR (145, 155, 156) and higher incidence of proteinuria in obese/overweight individuals (144, 157). A positive correlation was consistently found between PRAT thickness and microalbuminuria in obese patients (145, 156). Importantly, excessive PRAT inflammation is believed to exacerbate renal vascular and endothelial damage (12, 59, 158, 159). Moreover, it was recently shown that PRAT exhibits an age-dependent inflammatory signature that is characterized by an increased peri-organ recruitment of macrophages and

inflammatory natural killer (NK) cells in the vascular stromal fraction that was associated with a deleterious impact on the microenvironment of renal transplants (160, 161). Nevertheless, another study failed to arrive at such association, where PRAT inflammation did not correlate with the reduced early renal graft function observed in obese kidney donors (162). Based on the previous findings, excess PRAT could be considered an independent predictor of CKD. Additionally, the ultrasound evaluation of PRAT is now proposed as a parameter that might be useful for early assessment of obesity-induced renal dysfunction (145).

Possible Mechanisms

The detailed mechanisms by which PRAT initiates and exacerbates chronic renal injury have not been completely elucidated, but several pathways are postulated (Figure 2 and Table 1). First, the accumulation of PRAT on the kidney may result in a direct obstruction of renal parenchyma and vessels. This might induce increases in sodium reabsorption and higher blood pressure as a consequence in addition to alterations in kidney function in obese patients (24). The firm encapsulation of the kidney could further increase the interstitial hydrostatic pressure and reduce renal blood flow (149, 167). Consequently, the increase is sodium absorption leads to a decreased sodium chloride delivery to the macula densa resulting in lower resistance in afferent arterioles which leads to increased GFR and altered RAS (167-170). All of these processes including an increase in interstitial hydrostatic pressure, stimulation of renin release, glomerular filtration and sodium tubular reabsorption accelerate renal disease progression eventually leading to GFR reduction (24, 148, 149). Recently, a study on hypertensive individuals has reported a decline in GFR that was correlated to an increase in PRAT specifically among other visceral AT depot regardless of gender (32). As a consequence of GFR reduction, high uric acid and triglycerides were correlated with PRAT thickness in patients with CKD (24, 148).

Second, chronic inflammation due to the increase in FFA production is the hallmark of obesity and therefore can also be associated with modulation of PRAT function. Indeed, the increased volume of PRAT is positively associated with overproduction of FFA (145). Metabolites of FFA have a direct renal lipotoxic effect and are directly correlated with albuminuria (145, 171). Levels of FFA in renal venous blood were significantly higher than those in the jugular vein, this indicates the involvement of PRAT in kidney damage through direct intercellular signaling pathways (163). The excessive release of FFA by PRAT could directly impair endothelial function by enhancing the oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin and uncoupling of endothelial nitric oxide (NO) synthase, leading to the production of L-arginine or superoxide instead of NO (172). The reduced NO synthesis could lead to a compensatory mechanism synthesizing vascular endothelial growth factor, leading to a greater albumin leak from the glomerulus (172). Furthermore, FFA-induced renal lipotoxicity could exacerbate chronic inflammation by increasing the metabolism of intracellular fatty acids (171).

Third, excess PRAT can affect renal function through a local or systemic secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators which may



FIGURE 2 | The emerging role of PRAT in renal and cardiovascular homeostatic function. Metabolic dysfunction triggers PRAT deposition and inflammation leading to alterations in cardiovascular and renal function, triggering nephrotoxicity and cardiovascular diseases. CIMT, carotid intima-media thickness; CVD, cardiovascular disease; FFA, free fatty acid; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; IL-1β, interleukin-1 beta; NO, nitric oxide; RAS, renin angiotensin system; TNFα, tumor necrosis factor alpha; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

influence the kidney function in a paracrine manner (12, 21, 170, 173). In obese swine, excess PRAT secretes tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) which impairs renal endothelial function (158). This could be also related to the loss of NO as discussed previously. Moreover, the expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) in PRAT was increased in high-fat diet-induced obese mouse model (165). PAI-1 is shown to contribute to macrophage mediated inflammation, extracellular matrix accumulation and thus diabetic nephropathy. The genetic deletion or the inhibition of PAI-1 reduced PRAT inflammation, renal histological lesions and abated renal fibrosis (165). Excessive PRAT secretion of TNF- α and leptin could trigger renal fibrosis in murine models (29, 174, 175). Leptin exacerbates vascular remodeling and glomerular proliferation *via* activation of the p38 MAPK pathway (67). Concomitantly, TNF- α induces direct renal endothelial

dysfunction thus modulating GFR (67, 158). Leptin secretion could also stimulate the sympathetic nervous activity *via* altering the proopiomelanocortin-melanocortin 4 receptor pathway in the central nervous system (160). Interestingly, our recent study on non-obese prediabetic rats has shown that a localized PRAT inflammation, presenting as higher IL-1 β expression, evoked renal structural and functional deterioration associated with an altered renovascular endothelial function (9). Importantly, a recent study reported a direct correlation between age and inflammatory profile of donor-derived stromal vascular fraction of PRAT (PRAT-SVF), expressed by a local recruitment of NK cells. These NK cells are associated with NKG2D receptor activation and encodes for INF γ , indicating that NK cells derived could be involved in the proinflammatory pathway leading to renal dysfunction in elderly patients with transplants (160).

TABLE 1 | Main findings of studies linking perirenal adipose tissue to renal disorders.

Main finding	Possible mechanism	Conducted on	Reference
PRAT is associated with increased urinary albumin excretion	Low adiponectin and elevated leptin levels trigger pathways augmenting renal inflammatory and oxidative stress leading to renal vascular dysfunction causing increased urinary albumin excretion	obese rats	(163)
PRAT promotes renal arterial endothelial dysfunction	Accumulation of PRAT showed increases in inflammation and oxidative stress, which triggered renal endothelial dysfunction via TNF- α acting in a paracrine manner.	Pigs with obesity and metabolic derangements	(158)
PRAT accumulation was correlated with a decline in GFR	-	Hypertensive patients	(32)
PRAT thickness was negatively correlated with GFR	-	Diabetic patients	(164)
PRAT-derived leptin has a detrimental effect on the kidney	PRAT hypertrophy induces an increase in leptin expression that is accompanied by an imbalance in the expression of the Ang II–AT ₁ R and ACE2–Ang(1–7)–Mas receptor axes. This promotes glomerular endothelial cells proliferation by activating p38 MAPK pathway.	Rats with metabolic syndrome	(67)
PRAT inflammation and macrophage infiltration are linked to high fat diet induced nephropathy	Expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) in PRAT was increased. PAI-1 contributes to macrophage mediated inflammation, extracellular matrix accumulation and thus diabetic nephropathy.	Obese mouse model	(165)
Localized PRAT inflammation evoked renal impairment in early course of metabolic deterioration	The paracrine effects of PRAT inflammation, presented as higher $IL-1\beta$ expression, lead to renovascular endothelial dysfunction, hyperfiltration, renal cortical inflammation and proteinuria.	Non-obese prediabetic rats	(9)
PRAT Inflammation exacerbates diabetic nephropathy.	Ang1-7 supplementation to these mice not only reduced renal mesangial expansion and urinary albumin secretion, but also ameliorated renal fibrosis and PRAT oxidative stress and inflammation mainly through the attenuation of NOX-mediated ROS production.	<i>db/db</i> mice	(166)
Excessive perirenal adiposity may constitute an independent prognostic factor of kidney malfunction	Inducing the heme oxygenase system in diabetic fat rats reduced PRAT adiposity, macrophage infiltration, and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6.	Zucker-diabetic fatty rats	(159)

Additionally, as both obesity, diabetic nephropathy, and primary hypertension are associated with an enhanced activity of the RAS, it becomes plausible that the enhanced activity of this system in PRAT and in the adrenal gland participates in the pathogenesis of obesityassociated hypertension and diabetic nephropathy, particularly through Ang II-mediated PRAT dysfunction (101, 102). The inhibition of ACE in a uninephrectomized rat model of chronic renal dysfunction prevented PRAT mass accumulation and led to the emergence of multilocular thermogenic adipocytes (176). Indeed, it was shown that Ang1-7 counteracts the detrimental effects of Ang II on diabetic nephropathy in db/db mice (166). Ang1-7 supplementation to these mice not only reduced renal mesangial expansion and urinary albumin secretion, but also renal fibrosis and PRAT oxidative stress and inflammation mainly through the attenuation of NOX-mediated ROS production (166). Nevertheless, it remains unclear whether Ang1-7 reduced renal dysfunction by virtue of its ameliorative effect on PRAT inflammatory and oxidative status. Moreover, such mechanisms contributing to diabetic nephropathy were shown in Zucker-diabetic fatty rats (159). Inducing the heme oxygenase system in these rats reduced PRAT adiposity, macrophage infiltration, and the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 (159). Moreover, the hemin-mediated enhancement of the heme oxygenase system in PRAT reduced the proinflammatory M1 macrophage polarization while inducing the anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage polarization. These effects were accompanied by reduced renal damage and fibrosis and enhanced kidney function. As these models exhibit extensive damage that is associated with diabetes, the dissection of a causality relationship between PRAT inflammation and renal dysfunction remains marginally possible. Another study in non-diabetic, high fat diet-fed rats highlighted PRAT association with increased urinary albumin excretion due to renal vascular dysfunction caused by the activation of renal inflammatory and oxidative stress augmenting pathways (163). Nevertheless, the inflammatory condition of PRAT was not assessed and thus these observations were attributed to increased visceral adiposity, and particularly increased PRAT mass. However, it was shown in non-obese prediabetic rats that subtle PRAT inflammation induces pronounced kidney dysfunction in isolation of hyperglycemia and systemic inflammation (9). It therefore becomes plausible that PRAT inflammation in the setting of metabolic dysfunction might precede renal manifestations of the disease.

PRAT thickness could aggravate renal anomalies due to metabolic dysfunction such as abnormal insulin serum levels, high glucose or triglycerides and uric acid, all of which are reported in patients with CKD (129). Additionally, excess PRAT is detected in patients with calcium phosphate apatite or uric acid nephrolithiasis (177). However, future research into analyzing the detailed mechanism is warranted.

RENAL DISEASES AND CARDIOVASCULAR DYSFUNCTION: CARDIORENAL SYNDROME

A strong relationship exists between the heart and kidney where the proper function of one depends on the other. Cardiorenal syndrome is defined as 'disorders of the heart and kidney whereby acute or chronic dysfunction in one organ may induce acute or chronic dysfunction of the other' ultimately leading to failure of both organs (178). CKD is strongly associated with CVD, it has been reported that patients with advanced kidney disease are at high risk of CVD mortality and morbidity (179). Recent studies reported a 40-50% cardiovascular mortality rate in patients with advanced and end-stage CKD compared to 26% in patients with normal kidney function (180, 181). Nonetheless, the correction of the classical cardiovascular risk factors, including hypertension, diabetes, and dyslipidemia, in patients with CKD was not sufficient in neutralizing the impact of CKD on cardiovascular risk (182). It is also now being recognized that patients with early stages of CKD also suffer from a high risk of cardiovascular events (183) possibly implicating a role for PRAT inflammation in this observations. Consistent with these observations, CKD is now considered an independent risk factor for CVD (184). It is also worth mentioning that patients with CKD are more likely to die from CVD rather than terminal end-stage kidney disease (185).

PERIRENAL ADIPOSE TISSUE AND CARDIOVASCULAR DYSFUNCTION

Obesity and specifically visceral fat accumulation are actively involved in the pathogenesis of CVDs including hypertension (186) and coronary heart diseases (CHD) (187). Abdominal obesity has a close association with MetS and CVD (188). Excess visceral AT poses a high risk for dyslipidemia, hypertension and cardiorenal disorders (189). Studies have shown that risk of CVDs is more closely related to visceral fat volume, including PRAT, compared to subcutaneous AT (130, 148, 190). However, surgical lipectomy of abdominal AT depots was not effective in improving metabolic function or reducing CVD risk (191). Therefore, a need exists to identify other AT pools in which certain interventions could lower the risk of developing CVDs. Notably, recent findings have identified PRAT specifically as an emerging risk for CVD independent of metabolic profile (190) (**Figure 2** and **Table 2**).

Hypertension is a common manifestation of CVD and is even associated with a higher risk of all-cause mortality (198). Hypertension increases the risk of myocardial infarction, congestive heart diseases, and stroke (12). Proper control of blood pressure is fundamental in CVD treatment and prevention of further complications. There is a linear relationship between hypertension and obesity, around 60-76% of obese individuals have hypertension (199). Indeed, PRAT thickness is positively correlated with blood pressure in obese and overweight patients (190). In obese individuals, PRAT thickness is considered as an integral parameter defining both the risk for developing arterial hypertension and chronic renal disease (192). Twenty-four hours mean diastolic blood pressure was reported to be a dependent variable of PRAT and aldosterone production independent of metabolic parameters (190). Similar results were reported in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome, a positive correlation between PRAT thickness and blood pressure in patients was documented (193). Excessive PRAT accumulation compresses the kidney, increase RAS sodium reabsorption, and induce hypertension (149, 168). There is evidence that PRAT could directly regulate the cardiovascular system through an amplified afferent signals by the AAR, resulting in an increase in the renal sympathomimetic outflow (200). PRAT hypertrophy activates macrophage infiltration and proinflammatory cytokine release that adversely affect systemic vascular function (201). Altogether, these results suggest that PRAT has a direct role in controlling blood pressure, however; further studies are recommended to assess the detailed mechanistic pathway behind this phenomenon.

Additionally, atherosclerosis is a key factor in inducing CVDs and a leading cause of morbidity and mortality (202). Carotid intima-media thickness (CIMT) assessment is considered as a marker of subclinical atherosclerosis (203) and is therefore used to determine the risk of CVDs in clinical trials (204). Indices of atherosclerosis including body weight, waist circumference can predict CHD. Alterations in AT metabolism underlie atherosclerosis and thus CHD (205). More specifically, clinical studies reported that body fat distribution has a significant correlation with the severity of CHD without any clinical evidence of CVD. Compared to other fat depots, PRAT thickness had the highest partial correlation coefficient with CVD, highlighting the contribution of PRAT in early cardiovascular changes in males and females (12). Notably, excess PRAT is positively correlated with indices that predict atherosclerosis as CIMT, waist to height and waist to hip ratio, waist circumference, and abdominal height (194). A thickness level of 0.26 cm of PRAT, measured using abdominal ultrasound, was found to determine the presence of sub-clinical atherosclerosis (194). Moreover, in HIVinfected patients, having a high risk of CVD, similar results were obtained. Patients with HIV and visceral adiposity exhibited high

TABLE 2	Main findings	of studies linking	perirenal adipose	tissue to	cardiovascular	disorders.
---------	---------------	--------------------	-------------------	-----------	----------------	------------

Main finding	Targeted population and references
PRAT accumulation was correlated with higher blood pressure, which was also dependent on urinary concentrations of aldosterone independent of metabolic parameters.	Obese and overweight individuals (190)
A significant direct correlation between PRAT thickness and hypertension	Hypertensive and non-hypertensive obese individuals (192) Patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (193)
PRAT thickness has shown to be significantly correlated with indices that predict atherosclerosis. PRAT thickness was associated with atherosclerosis specifically intima-media thickness of the common carotid artery	Male and female subjects (194) Male subjects (195) HIV-infected patients (196)
PRAT was associated with diverse metabolic and cardiovascular risk factors including carotid intima-media thickness	Asymptomatic prepubertal Caucasian children (197)
PRAT thickness and intima-media thickness of the common carotid artery. This implies the association of PRAT thickness and atherosclerosis in these individuals (196). Importantly, the correlation between PRAT and CIMT was even detected in children (197). Being readily available, abdominal ultrasound can easily measure PRAT thickness and therefore a prompt initiation of action to mitigate or prevent atherosclerosis and control CVD can be achieved.

Considering the above-mentioned associations, excess PRAT contributes to alterations in vascular and metabolic functions associated with CVD. PRAT is also potentially related to epicardial fat, both having mesothelial layers enriched with WAT progenitors that produce adipocytes (129). The coexistence of metabolic dysfunction, hypertension, and inflammation impacts end organ function gradually initiating a cascade of events that exacerbate CVD making it more resistant to treatment. These findings confirm the suggested hypothesis that excess PRAT is a risk factor of CVDs and a predictor for cardiac dysfunction.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVE AND POSSIBLE TREATMENT

Proper understanding of the molecular alterations regulating AT dysfunction could identify therapeutic targets to promote healthy AT expansion, hence preserving renal and cardiovascular function. AT dysfunction is the central mechanism for the development of complications related to obesity and metabolic diseases; therefore, most of the therapeutic approaches to mitigate AT dysfunction are related to indices of obesity (206). Interventions targeting AT dysfunction rely on a foundation of lifestyle modification including low caloric intake, suitable exercise, and fasting (207). Pharmacological tools and surgeries could be implemented to help the patients reach their health goals (207). As the potential harmful effects of excessive PRAT accumulation in renal and cardiovascular diseases were outlined, targeting PRAT inflammation emerges as a potential approach to combat the complex mechanisms implicated in CKD and CVDs.

Bariatric surgery is an effective intervention in controlling type 2 diabetes, dyslipidemia and quality of life of morbidly obese patients (208). Ricci et al. (192) showed that bariatric surgery could significantly decrease PRAT as well as blood pressure in morbidly obese patients. Moreover, as previously mentioned, PRAT is capable of reactivating dormant BAT into active BAT by cold exposure or stimulation of β_3 - adrenergic receptors. This property represents a promising strategy to combat AT inflammatory conditions leading to metabolic diseases (25, 55).

Possible pharmacological interventions include several drug classes. Beyond their lipid-lowering effects, statins, 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors, were found to have anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidant and anti-proliferative properties (209). Statins also increase adiponectin levels, protect the endothelium and reduce urinary albumin excretion rate in patients with diabetes (210, 211). Pravastatin treatment for 6 months in patients with documented coronary artery diseases significantly increase serum adiponectin concentration (212). Higher adiponectin levels following statin

treatment improves endothelial function (213), inhibit vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation (214, 215), and modulate vascular inflammatory cascades (216, 217). Despite these findings, to date no data link statin treatment with changes in the PRAT depot, however one could speculate a beneficial role of statins in PRAT dysfunction.

Other pharmacological tools to modulate PRAT inflammation are anti-diabetic drugs namely, metformin and pioglitazone. A twoweek treatment with non-hypoglycemic doses of either drug was shown to ameliorate PRAT inflammation in pre-diabetic rats on mild hypercaloric diet. Interestingly, treatment reversed the deterioration of renal function triggered by 12 weeks of a mild hypercaloric feeding (9). Interestingly, a recent study showed treatment with a sodium/ glucose co-transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitor reduced urinary albumin excretion and glomerular cell proliferation in high-fat fed mice, which was accompanied with decreased PRAT inflammation and leptin production (218). Indeed, the impact of SGLT2 inhibitors on PRAT inflammation is proposed to proceed through the activation of AMPK/Sirt1 pathway and potential restoration of autophagy (219). Moreover, short-term treatment with glucagon-like peptide receptor agonists was shown to reduce PRAT thickness and improve renovascular function in diabetic patients (220). Specifically, liraglutide treatment reduced perirenal adipocyte size in diabetic mice (221). Nevertheless, identifying specific drugs to target PRAT accumulation or inflammation require further investigation and research.

CONCLUSION

This era is marked by major changes in the traditional perception of AT physiological and metabolic function. The proximity of PRAT to the kidney makes its specific anatomical and morphological features relevant to renal function and general homeostasis. In this context, regardless of the small size of PRAT compared to visceral or subcutaneous AT, the effect of the adipokines and cytokines secreted broadens the impact of PRAT in maintaining metabolic, renal, and cardiovascular homeostasis. The data concerning the unique nature and pathophysiology of PRAT is limited, but studies are underway to unveil the potential molecular factors involved in PRAT function opening promising perspectives in developing appropriate therapeutic and preventive approaches.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SH and IA participated in literature review and screening and contributed to manuscript writing. SH wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AE and YA helped inn overseeing and coordinating the work and participated in manuscript draft review. AE-Y developed the idea, supervised the work, reviewed and modified manuscript draft, and provided research funding support. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by AUB-Faculty of Medicine Medical Practice Plan Grant #320148 and an AUB President Collaborative Research Stimulus Grant to AE-Y.

REFERENCES

- Corvera S. Cellular Heterogeneity in Adipose Tissues. Annu Rev Physiol (2021) 83:257–78. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-031620-095446
- Schleinitz D, Krause K, Wohland T, Gebhardt C, Linder N, Stumvoll M, et al. Identification of Distinct Transcriptome Signatures of Human Adipose Tissue From Fifteen Depots. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2020) 28(12):1714–25. doi: 10.1038/s41431-020-0681-1
- Sierra Rojas JX, García-San Frutos M, Horrillo D, Lauzurica N, Oliveros E, Carrascosa JM, et al. Differential Development of Inflammation and Insulin Resistance in Different Adipose Tissue Depots Along Aging in Wistar Rats: Effects of Caloric Restriction. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2016) 71(3):310– 22. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv117
- Giralt M, Villarroya F. White, Brown, Beige/Brite: Different Adipose Cells for Different Functions? *Endocrinology* (2013) 154(9):2992–3000. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1403
- Chouchani ET, Kazak L, Spiegelman BM. New Advances in Adaptive Thermogenesis: UCP1 and Beyond. *Cell Metab* (2019) 29(1):27–37. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.11.002
- Hildebrand S, Stümer J, Pfeifer A. PVAT and its Relation to Brown, Beige, and White Adipose Tissue in Development and Function. *Front Physiol* (2018) 9:70. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00070
- Schaffer JE. Lipotoxicity: When Tissues Overeat. Curr Opin Lipidol (2003) 14(3):281–7. doi: 10.1097/00041433-200306000-00008
- Elkhatib MAW, Mroueh A, Rafeh RW, Sleiman F, Fouad H, Saad EI, et al. Amelioration of Perivascular Adipose Inflammation Reverses Vascular Dysfunction in a Model of Nonobese Prediabetic Metabolic Challenge: Potential Role of Antidiabetic Drugs. *Transl Res* (2019) 214:121–43. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2019.07.009
- Hammoud SH, AlZaim I, Mougharbil N, Koubar S, Eid AH, Eid AA, et al. Peri-Renal Adipose Inflammation Contributes to Renal Dysfunction in a non-Obese Prediabetic Rat Model: Role of Anti-Diabetic Drugs. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2021) 186:114491. doi: 10.1016/ j.bcp.2021.114491
- Stieber C, Malka K, Boucher JM, Liaw L. Human Perivascular Adipose Tissue as a Regulator of the Vascular Microenvironment and Diseases of the Coronary Artery and Aorta. J Cardiol Cardiovasc Sci (2019) 3(4):10–5. doi: 10.29245/2578-3025/2019/4.1174
- Liu Z, Wang S, Wang Y, Zhou N, Shu J, Stamm C, et al. Association of Epicardial Adipose Tissue Attenuation With Coronary Atherosclerosis in Patients With a High Risk of Coronary Artery Disease. *Atherosclerosis* (2019) 284:230–6. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2019.01.033
- Liu BX, Sun W, Kong XQ. Perirenal Fat: A Unique Fat Pad and Potential Target for Cardiovascular Disease. *Angiology* (2019) 70(7):584–93. doi: 10.1177/0003319718799967
- Marx WJ, Patel SK. Renal Fascia: Its Radiographic Importance. Urology (1979) 13(1):1–7. doi: 10.1016/0090-4295(79)90002-5
- Kim JH, Han EH, Jin ZW, Lee HK, Fujimiya M, Murakami G, et al. Fetal Topographical Anatomy of the Upper Abdominal Lymphatics: Its Specific Features in Comparison With Other Abdominopelvic Regions. *Anat Rec* (*Hoboken*) (2012) 295(1):91–104. doi: 10.1002/ar.21527
- Czaja K, Kraeling R, Klimczuk M, Franke-Radowiecka A, Sienkiewicz W, Lakomy M. Distribution of Ganglionic Sympathetic Neurons Supplying the Subcutaneous, Perirenal and Mesentery Fat Tissue Depots in the Pig. *Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars)* (2002) 62(4):227–34.
- 16. Hausman GJ. Anatomical and Enzyme Histochemical Differentiation of Adipose Tissue. *Int J Obes* (1985) 9 Suppl 1:1–6.
- Notohamiprodjo M, Goepfert M, Will S, Lorbeer R, Schick F, Rathmann W, et al. Renal and Renal Sinus Fat Volumes as Quantified by Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Subjects With Prediabetes, Diabetes, and Normal Glucose Tolerance. *PloS One* (2020) 15(2):e0216635. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0216635
- Spit KA, Muskiet MHA, Tonneijck L, Smits MM, Kramer MHH, Joles JA, et al. Renal Sinus Fat and Renal Hemodynamics: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. *Magma* (2020) 33(1):73–80. doi: 10.1007/s10334-019-00773-z
- Hamer DW, Santer RM. Anatomy and Blood Supply of the Coeliac-Superior Mesenteric Ganglion Complex of the Rat. *Anat Embryol (Berl)* (1981) 162 (3):353–62. doi: 10.1007/BF00299978

- Shoja MM, Tubbs RS, Loukas M, Shokouhi G, Ghabili K, Agutter PS. The Sub-Peritoneal Arterial Plexus of Sir William Turner. Ann Anat (2010) 192 (4):194–8. doi: 10.1016/j.aanat.2010.05.001
- Jespersen NZ, Feizi A, Andersen ES, Heywood S, Hattel HB, Daugaard S, et al. Heterogeneity in the Perirenal Region of Humans Suggests Presence of Dormant Brown Adipose Tissue That Contains Brown Fat Precursor Cells. *Mol Metab* (2019) 24:30–43. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2019.03.005
- Wu NN, Zhang CH, Lee HJ, Ma Y, Wang X, Ma XJ, et al. Brown Adipogenic Potential of Brown Adipocytes and Peri-Renal Adipocytes From Human Embryo. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:39193. doi: 10.1038/srep39193
- Grigoraş A, Balan RA, Căruntu I-D, Giuşcă SE, Lozneanu L, Avadanei RE, et al. Perirenal Adipose Tissue—Current Knowledge and Future Opportunities. J Clin Med (2021) 10(6):1291. doi: 10.3390/jcm10061291
- Huang N, Mao EW, Hou NN, Liu YP, Han F, Sun XD. Novel Insight Into Perirenal Adipose Tissue: A Neglected Adipose Depot Linking Cardiovascular and Chronic Kidney Disease. World J Diabetes (2020) 11(4):115–25. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v11.i4.115
- 25. Efremova A, Senzacqua M, Venema W, Isakov E, Di Vincenzo A, Zingaretti MC, et al. A Large Proportion of Mediastinal and Perirenal Visceral Fat of Siberian Adult People is Formed by UCP1 Immunoreactive Multilocular and Paucilocular Adipocytes. J Physiol Biochem (2020) 76(2):185–92. doi: 10.1007/s13105-019-00721-4
- Svensson PA, Lindberg K, Hoffmann JM, Taube M, Pereira MJ, Mohsen-Kanson T, et al. Characterization of Brown Adipose Tissue in the Human Perirenal Depot. Obes (Silver Spring) (2014) 22(8):1830–7. doi: 10.1002/oby.20765
- Baer PC, Koch B, Hickmann E, Schubert R, Cinatl JJr., Hauser IA, et al. Isolation, Characterization, Differentiation and Immunomodulatory Capacity of Mesenchymal Stromal/Stem Cells From Human Perirenal Adipose Tissue. *Cells* (2019) 8(11):1–17. doi: 10.3390/cells8111346
- Eisner BH, Zargooshi J, Berger AD, Cooperberg MR, Doyle SM, Sheth S, et al. Gender Differences in Subcutaneous and Perirenal Fat Distribution. *Surg Radiol Anat* (2010) 32(9):879–82. doi: 10.1007/s00276-010-0692-7
- Favre G, Grangeon-Chapon C, Raffaelli C, François-Chalmin F, Iannelli A, Esnault V. Perirenal Fat Thickness Measured With Computed Tomography is a Reliable Estimate of Perirenal Fat Mass. *PloS One* (2017) 12(4):e0175561. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175561
- van den Beukel JC, Grefhorst A, Hoogduijn MJ, Steenbergen J, Mastroberardino PG, Dor FJ, et al. Women Have More Potential to Induce Browning of Perirenal Adipose Tissue Than Men. Obes (Silver Spring) (2015) 23(8):1671–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.21166
- Chen J, Chen JK, Nagai K, Plieth D, Tan M, Lee TC, et al. EGFR Signaling Promotes Tgfbeta-Dependent Renal Fibrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2012) 23 (2):215–24. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2011070645
- 32. Geraci G, Zammuto MM, Mattina A, Zanoli L, Geraci C, Granata A, et al. Para-Perirenal Distribution of Body Fat is Associated With Reduced Glomerular Filtration Rate Regardless of Other Indices of Adiposity in Hypertensive Patients. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) (2018) 20(10):1438–46. doi: 10.1111/jch.13366
- Esler M, Straznicky N, Eikelis N, Masuo K, Lambert G, Lambert E. Mechanisms of Sympathetic Activation in Obesity-Related Hypertension. *Hypertension* (2006) 48(5):787–96. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000242642.42177.49
- 34. Messina G, De Luca V, Viggiano A, Ascione A, Iannaccone T, Chieffi S, et al. Autonomic Nervous System in the Control of Energy Balance and Body Weight: Personal Contributions. *Neurol Res Int* (2013) 2013:639280. doi: 10.1155/2013/639280
- Young HM, Cane KN, Anderson CR. Development of the Autonomic Nervous System: A Comparative View. Auton Neurosci (2011) 165(1):10– 27. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2010.03.002
- Grassi G, Biffi A, Seravalle G, Trevano FQ, Dell'Oro R, Corrao G, et al. Sympathetic Neural Overdrive in the Obese and Overweight State. *Hypertension* (2019) 74 (2):349–58. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.12885
- Hall JE, da Silva AA, do Carmo JM, Dubinion J, Hamza S, Munusamy S, et al. Obesity-Induced Hypertension: Role of Sympathetic Nervous System, Leptin, and Melanocortins. J Biol Chem (2010) 285(23):17271–6. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R110.113175
- Mancia G, Grassi G, Giannattasio C, Seravalle G. Sympathetic Activation in the Pathogenesis of Hypertension and Progression of Organ Damage. *Hypertension* (1999) 34(4 Pt 2):724–8. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.34.4.724

- Messerli FH, Williams B, Ritz E. Essential Hypertension. Lancet (2007) 370 (9587):591–603. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61299-9
- Grassi G, Mark A, Esler M. The Sympathetic Nervous System Alterations in Human Hypertension. *Circ Res* (2015) 116(6):976–90. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.303604
- Zeng W, Pirzgalska RM, Pereira MM, Kubasova N, Barateiro A, Seixas E, et al. Sympathetic Neuro-Adipose Connections Mediate Leptin-Driven Lipolysis. *Cell* (2015) 163(1):84–94. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.055
- Cao Q, Jing J, Cui X, Shi H, Xue B. Sympathetic Nerve Innervation is Required for Beigeing in White Fat. *Physiol Rep* (2019) 7(6):e14031. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14031
- Sipe LM, Yang C, Ephrem J, Garren E, Hirsh J, Deppmann CD. Differential Sympathetic Outflow to Adipose Depots is Required for Visceral Fat Loss in Response to Calorie Restriction. *Nutr Diabetes* (2017) 7(4):e260. doi: 10.1038/nutd.2017.13
- 44. Shi Z, Chen WW, Xiong XQ, Han Y, Zhou YB, Zhang F, et al. Sympathetic Activation by Chemical Stimulation of White Adipose Tissues in Rats. *J Appl Physiol (1985)* (2012) 112(6):1008–14. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 01164.2011
- Bartness TJ, Shrestha YB, Vaughan CH, Schwartz GJ, Song CK. Sensory and Sympathetic Nervous System Control of White Adipose Tissue Lipolysis. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) 318(1-2):34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2009.08.031
- Niijima A. Afferent Signals From Leptin Sensors in the White Adipose Tissue of the Epididymis, and Their Reflex Effect in the Rat. J Auton Nerv Syst (1998) 73(1):19–25. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1838(98)00109-X
- Xiong XQ, Chen WW, Han Y, Zhou YB, Zhang F, Gao XY, et al. Enhanced Adipose Afferent Reflex Contributes to Sympathetic Activation in Diet-Induced Obesity Hypertension. *Hypertension* (2012) 60(5):1280–6. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.112.198002
- 48. Ding L, Kang Y, Dai HB, Wang FZ, Zhou H, Gao Q, et al. Adipose Afferent Reflex is Enhanced by Tnfα in Paraventricular Nucleus Through NADPH Oxidase-Dependent ROS Generation in Obesity-Related Hypertensive Rats. *J Transl Med* (2019) 17(1):256. doi: 10.1186/s12967-019-2006-0
- Dalmasso C, Leachman JR, Osborn JL, Loria AS. Sensory Signals Mediating High Blood Pressure via Sympathetic Activation: Role of Adipose Afferent Reflex. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2020) 318(2):R379–89. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00079.2019
- Tanida M, Iwashita S, Ootsuka Y, Terui N, Suzuki M. Leptin Injection Into White Adipose Tissue Elevates Renal Sympathetic Nerve Activity Dose-Dependently Through the Afferent Nerves Pathway in Rats. *Neurosci Lett* (2000) 293(2):107–10. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(00)01490-7
- Cao Q, Zhang J, Yu Q, Wang J, Dai M, Zhang Y, et al. Carotid Baroreceptor Stimulation in Obese Rats Affects White and Brown Adipose Tissues Differently in Metabolic Protection. J Lipid Res (2019) 60(7):1212–24. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M091256
- 52. Cao Q, Liu L, Hu Y, Jiang N, Wang Y, Chen J, et al. Irradiation of Carotid Baroreceptor With Low-Intensity Pulsed Ultrasound Exerts Different Metabolic Protection in Perirenal, Epididymal White Adipose Tissue and Interscapular Brown Adipose Tissue of Obese Rats. *FASEB J* (2020) 34 (11):15431–47. doi: 10.1096/fj.202001550R
- 53. Puar T, van Berkel A, Gotthardt M, Havekes B, Hermus AR, Lenders JW, et al. Genotype-Dependent Brown Adipose Tissue Activation in Patients With Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101(1):224–32. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-3205
- 54. Pereira MP, Ferreira LAA, da Silva FHS, Christoffolete MA, Metsios GS, Chaves VE, et al. A Low-Protein, High-Carbohydrate Diet Increases Browning in Perirenal Adipose Tissue But Not in Inguinal Adipose Tissue. Nutrition (2017) 42:37–45. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2017.05.007
- 55. Warner A, Kjellstedt A, Carreras A, Böttcher G, Peng XR, Seale P, et al. Activation of β3-Adrenoceptors Increases *in Vivo* Free Fatty Acid Uptake and Utilization in Brown But Not White Fat Depots in High-Fat-Fed Rats. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 311(6):E901–10. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00204.2016
- Mancuso P. The Role of Adipokines in Chronic Inflammation. Immunotargets Ther (2016) 5:47–56. doi: 10.2147/ITT.S73223
- Herold J, Kalucka J. Angiogenesis in Adipose Tissue: The Interplay Between Adipose and Endothelial Cells. *Front Physiol* (2020) 11:624903. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2020.624903

- Janochova K, Haluzik M, Buzga M. Visceral Fat and Insulin Resistance -What We Know? *BioMed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub* (2019) 163(1):19–27. doi: 10.5507/bp.2018.062
- Chau YY, Bandiera R, Serrels A, Martínez-Estrada OM, Qing W, Lee M, et al. Visceral and Subcutaneous Fat Have Different Origins and Evidence Supports a Mesothelial Source. *Nat Cell Biol* (2014) 16(4):367–75. doi: 10.1038/ncb2922
- Lau WB, Ohashi K, Wang Y, Ogawa H, Murohara T, Ma XL, et al. Role of Adipokines in Cardiovascular Disease. Circ J (2017) 81(7):920–8. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-17-0458
- AlZaim I, Hammoud SH, Al-Koussa H, Ghazi A, Eid AH, El-Yazbi AF. Adipose Tissue Immunomodulation: A Novel Therapeutic Approach in Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2020) 7:602088. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.602088
- Triantafyllou GA, Paschou SA, Mantzoros CS. Leptin and Hormones: Energy Homeostasis. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2016) 45(3):633– 45. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2016.04.012
- Yadav A, Kataria MA, Saini V, Yadav A. Role of Leptin and Adiponectin in Insulin Resistance. *Clin Chim Acta* (2013) 417:80–4. doi: 10.1016/ j.cca.2012.12.007
- 64. Fukui A, Ikebe-Ebata Y, Kondo H, Saito S, Aoki K, Fukunaga N, et al. Hyperleptinemia Exacerbates High-Fat Diet-Mediated Atrial Fibrosis and Fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol (2017) 28(6):702–10. doi: 10.1111/ jce.13200
- Pretz D, Le Foll C, Rizwan MZ, Lutz TA, Tups A. Hyperleptinemia as a Contributing Factor for the Impairment of Glucose Intolerance in Obesity. *FASEB J* (2021) 35(2):e21216. doi: 10.1096/fj.202001147R
- 66. Galletti F, D'Elia L, De Palma D, Russo O, Barba G, Siani A, et al. Hyperleptinemia is Associated With Hypertension, Systemic Inflammation and Insulin Resistance in Overweight But Not in Normal Weight Men. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis (2012) 22(3):300–6. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2011.05.007
- 67. Li H, Li M, Liu P, Wang Y, Zhang H, Li H, et al. Telmisartan Ameliorates Nephropathy in Metabolic Syndrome by Reducing Leptin Release From Perirenal Adipose Tissue. *Hypertension* (2016) 68(2):478–90. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.07008
- Turer AT, Scherer PE. Adiponectin: Mechanistic Insights and Clinical Implications. *Diabetologia* (2012) 55(9):2319–26. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2598-x
- Díez JJ, Iglesias P. The Role of the Novel Adipocyte-Derived Protein Adiponectin in Human Disease: An Update. *Mini Rev Med Chem* (2010) 10(9):856–69. doi: 10.2174/138955710791608325
- Ukkola O, Santaniemi M. Adiponectin: A Link Between Excess Adiposity and Associated Comorbidities? J Mol Med (Berl) (2002) 80(11):696–702. doi: 10.1007/s00109-002-0378-7
- La Russa D, Marrone A, Mandalà M, Macirella R, Pellegrino D. Antioxidant/ Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Caloric Restriction in an Aged and Obese Rat Model: The Role of Adiponectin. *Biomedicines* (2020) 8(12):1–10. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines8120532
- Zhao Y, Gao P, Sun F, Li Q, Chen J, Yu H, et al. Sodium Intake Regulates Glucose Homeostasis Through the Pparδ/Adiponectin-Mediated SGLT2 Pathway. *Cell Metab* (2016) 23(4):699–711. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.02.019
- Santos SH, Braga JF, Mario EG, Pôrto LC, Rodrigues-Machado Mda G, Murari A, et al. Improved Lipid and Glucose Metabolism in Transgenic Rats With Increased Circulating Angiotensin-(1-7). Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2010) 30(5):953–61. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.200493
- 74. Dünner N, Quezada C, Berndt FA, Cánovas J, Rojas CV. Angiotensin II Signaling in Human Preadipose Cells: Participation of ERK1,2-Dependent Modulation of Akt. *PloS One* (2013) 8(10):e75440. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0075440
- Yvan-Charvet L, Quignard-Boulangé A. Role of Adipose Tissue Renin-Angiotensin System in Metabolic and Inflammatory Diseases Associated With Obesity. *Kidney Int* (2011) 79(2):162–8. doi: 10.1038/ki.2010.391
- 76. Menikdiwela KR, Ramalingam L, Rasha F, Wang S, Dufour JM, Kalupahana NS, et al. Autophagy in Metabolic Syndrome: Breaking the Wheel by Targeting the Renin-Angiotensin System. *Cell Death Dis* (2020) 11(2):87. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-2275-9
- 77. Santos RA, Ferreira AJ, Verano-Braga T, Bader M. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2, Angiotensin-(1-7) and Mas: New Players of the Renin-

Angiotensin System. J Endocrinol (2013) 216(2):R1-17. doi: 10.1530/JOE-12-0341

- Engeli S, Schling P, Gorzelniak K, Boschmann M, Janke J, Ailhaud G, et al. The Adipose-Tissue Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System: Role in the Metabolic Syndrome? *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2003) 35(6):807–25. doi: 10.1016/S1357-2725(02)00311-4
- Hainault I, Nebout G, Turban S, Ardouin B, Ferré P, Quignard-Boulangé A. Adipose Tissue-Specific Increase in Angiotensinogen Expression and Secretion in the Obese (Fa/Fa) Zucker Rat. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2002) 282(1):E59–66. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.2002.282.1.E59
- Barton M, Carmona R, Morawietz H, d'Uscio LV, Goettsch W, Hillen H, et al. Obesity is Associated With Tissue-Specific Activation of Renal Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme *in Vivo*: Evidence for a Regulatory Role of Endothelin. *Hypertension* (2000) 35(1 Pt 2):329–36. doi: 10.1161/ 01.HYP.35.1.329
- Schling P, Schäfer T. Human Adipose Tissue Cells Keep Tight Control on the Angiotensin II Levels in Their Vicinity. J Biol Chem (2002) 277 (50):48066–75. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M204058200
- Crandall DL, Busler DE, McHendry-Rinde B, Groeling TM, Kral JG. Autocrine Regulation of Human Preadipocyte Migration by Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2000) 85(7):2609–14. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.7.6678
- Katovich MJ, Pachori A. Effects of Inhibition of the Renin-Angiotensin System on the Cardiovascular Actions of Insulin. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2000) 2(1):3–14. doi: 10.1046/j.1463-1326.2000.00044.x
- Bloem LJ, Manatunga AK, Tewksbury DA, Pratt JH. The Serum Angiotensinogen Concentration and Variants of the Angiotensinogen Gene in White and Black Children. J Clin Invest (1995) 95(3):948–53. doi: 10.1172/JCI117803
- Cooper R, Forrester T, Ogunbiyi O, Muffinda J. Angiotensinogen Levels and Obesity in Four Black Populations. ICSHIB Investigators. J Hypertens (1998) 16(5):571–5. doi: 10.1097/00004872-199816050-00003
- Goodfriend TL, Kelley DE, Goodpaster BH, Winters SJ. Visceral Obesity and Insulin Resistance are Associated With Plasma Aldosterone Levels in Women. *Obes Res* (1999) 7(4):355–62. doi: 10.1002/j.1550-8528. 1999.tb00418.x
- Umemura S, Nyui N, Tamura K, Hibi K, Yamaguchi S, Nakamaru M, et al. Plasma Angiotensinogen Concentrations in Obese Patients. *Am J Hypertens* (1997) 10(6):629–33. doi: 10.1016/S0895-7061(97)00053-8
- van Harmelen V, Elizalde M, Ariapart P, Bergstedt-Lindqvist S, Reynisdottir S, Hoffstedt J, et al. The Association of Human Adipose Angiotensinogen Gene Expression With Abdominal Fat Distribution in Obesity. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* (2000) 24(6):673–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0801217
- Van Harmelen V, Ariapart P, Hoffstedt J, Lundkvist I, Bringman S, Arner P. Increased Adipose Angiotensinogen Gene Expression in Human Obesity. *Obes Res* (2000) 8(4):337–41. doi: 10.1038/oby.2000.40
- Gorzelniak K, Engeli S, Janke J, Luft FC, Sharma AM. Hormonal Regulation of the Human Adipose-Tissue Renin-Angiotensin System: Relationship to Obesity and Hypertension. J Hypertens (2002) 20(5):965–73. doi: 10.1097/ 00004872-200205000-00032
- Faloia E, Gatti C, Camilloni MA, Mariniello B, Sardu C, Garrapa GG, et al. Comparison of Circulating and Local Adipose Tissue Renin-Angiotensin System in Normotensive and Hypertensive Obese Subjects. J Endocrinol Invest (2002) 25(4):309–14. doi: 10.1007/BF03344010
- Hung WW, Hsieh TJ, Lin T, Chou PC, Hsiao PJ, Lin KD, et al. Blockade of the Renin-Angiotensin System Ameliorates Apelin Production in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* (2011) 25(1):3–12. doi: 10.1007/s10557-010-6274-4
- Skurk T, van Harmelen V, Blum WF, Hauner H. Angiotensin II Promotes Leptin Production in Cultured Human Fat Cells by an ERK1/2-Dependent Pathway. Obes Res (2005) 13(6):969–73. doi: 10.1038/oby.2005.113
- Frigolet ME, Torres N, Tovar AR. The Renin-Angiotensin System in Adipose Tissue and its Metabolic Consequences During Obesity. J Nutr Biochem (2013) 24(12):2003–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2013.07.002
- Nisoli E, Briscini L, Giordano A, Tonello C, Wiesbrock SM, Uysal KT, et al. Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha Mediates Apoptosis of Brown Adipocytes and Defective Brown Adipocyte Function in Obesity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2000) 97(14):8033–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.14.8033

- Simons PJ, van den Pangaart PS, Aerts JM, Boon L. Pro-Inflammatory Delipidizing Cytokines Reduce Adiponectin Secretion From Human Adipocytes Without Affecting Adiponectin Oligomerization. J Endocrinol (2007) 192(2):289–99. doi: 10.1677/JOE-06-0047
- Oh YB, Kim JH, Park BM, Park BH, Kim SH. Captopril Intake Decreases Body Weight Gain via Angiotensin-(1-7). Peptides (2012) 37(1):79–85. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2012.06.005
- Than A, Leow MK, Chen P. Control of Adipogenesis by the Autocrine Interplays Between Angiotensin 1-7/Mas Receptor and Angiotensin II/AT1 Receptor Signaling Pathways. J Biol Chem (2013) 288(22):15520–31. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.459792
- 99. de Macedo SM, Guimarares TA, Guimarares TA, Andrade JMO, Andrade JM, Guimaraes ALS, et al. Angiotensin Converting Enzyme 2 Activator (DIZE) Modulates Metabolic Profiles in Mice, Decreasing Lipogenesis. Protein Pept Lett (2015) 22(4):332–40. doi: 10.2174/ 0929866522666150209125401
- 100. Santos SH, Andrade JM, Fernandes LR, Fernandes LR, Sinisterra RDM, Sinisterra RD, et al. Oral Angiotensin-(1-7) Prevented Obesity and Hepatic Inflammation by Inhibition of Resistin/TLR4/MAPK/NF-κb in Rats Fed With High-Fat Diet. *Peptides* (2013) 46:47–52. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides. 2013.05.010
- 101. Cabandugama PK, Gardner MJ, Sowers JR. The Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone System in Obesity and Hypertension: Roles in the Cardiorenal Metabolic Syndrome. *Med Clin North Am* (2017) 101(1):129– 37. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2016.08.009
- 102. Schütten MT, Houben AJ, de Leeuw PW, Stehouwer CD. The Link Between Adipose Tissue Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System Signaling and Obesity-Associated Hypertension. *Physiology* (2017) 32(3):197–209. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00037.2016
- 103. Sarzani R, Marcucci P, Salvi F, Salvi F, Bordicchia M, Bordicchia M, et al. Angiotensin II Stimulates and Atrial Natriuretic Peptide Inhibits Human Visceral Adipocyte Growth. Int J Obes (Lond) (2008) 32(2):259–67. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803724
- 104. Mori J, Patel VB, Ramprasath T, Alrob OA, DesAulniers J, Scholey JW, et al. Angiotensin 1–7 Mediates Renoprotection Against Diabetic Nephropathy by Reducing Oxidative Stress, Inflammation, and Lipotoxicity. Am J Physiology-Renal Physiol (2014) 306(8):F812–21. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00655.2013
- Pillon NJ, Loos RJ, Marshall SM, Zierath JR. Metabolic Consequences of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes: Balancing Genes and Environment for Personalized Care. *Cell* (2021) 184(6):1530–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.02.012
- 106. Chait A, den Hartigh LJ. Adipose Tissue Distribution, Inflammation and its Metabolic Consequences, Including Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2020) 7:1–41. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.00022
- Santoro A, McGraw TE, Kahn BB. Insulin Action in Adipocytes, Adipose Remodeling, and Systemic Effects. *Cell Metab* (2021) 33(4):748–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2021.03.019
- 108. Lee YS, J-w K, Osborne O, Sasik R, Schenk S, Chen A, et al. Increased Adipocyte O2 Consumption Triggers HIF-1α, Causing Inflammation and Insulin Resistance in Obesity. *Cell* (2014) 157(6):1339–52. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2014.05.012
- 109. Pedersen DJ, Guilherme A, Danai LV, Heyda L, Matevossian A, Cohen J, et al. A Major Role of Insulin in Promoting Obesity-Associated Adipose Tissue Inflammation. *Mol Metab* (2015) 4(7):507–18. doi: 10.1016/ j.molmet.2015.04.003
- Kane H, Lynch L. Innate Immune Control of Adipose Tissue Homeostasis. Trends Immunol (2019) 40(9):857–72. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.07.006
- 111. Choe SS, Huh JY, Hwang IJ, Kim JI, Kim JB. Adipose Tissue Remodeling: Its Role in Energy Metabolism and Metabolic Disorders. *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*) (2016) 7:30. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2016.00030
- 112. Engin A. The Pathogenesis of Obesity-Associated Adipose Tissue Inflammation. Obes lipotoxicity (2017) 960:221-45. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-48382-5_9
- 113. Legrand-Poels S, Esser N, L'homme L, Scheen A, Paquot N, Piette J. Free Fatty Acids as Modulators of the NLRP3 Inflammasome in Obesity/Type 2 Diabetes. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2014) 92(1):131–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2014.08.013
- 114. Morigny P, Houssier M, Mouisel E, Langin D. Adipocyte Lipolysis and Insulin Resistance. *Biochimie* (2016) 125:259-66. doi: 10.1016/ j.biochi.2015.10.024

- Kuroda M, Sakaue H. Adipocyte Death and Chronic Inflammation in Obesity. J Med Invest (2017) 64(3.4):193–6. doi: 10.2152/jmi.64.193
- 116. Crewe C, An YA, Scherer PE. The Ominous Triad of Adipose Tissue Dysfunction: Inflammation, Fibrosis, and Impaired Angiogenesis. J Clin Invest (2017) 127(1):74–82. doi: 10.1172/JCI88883
- 117. Hussain MF, Roesler A, Kazak L. Regulation of Adipocyte Thermogenesis: Mechanisms Controlling Obesity. FEBS J (2020) 287(16):3370–85. doi: 10.1111/febs.15331
- Cannon B, Nedergaard J. What Ignites UCP1? Cell Metab (2017) 26(5):697–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.10.012
- Roesler A, Kazak L. UCP1-Independent Thermogenesis. *Biochem J* (2020) 477(3):709–25. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20190463
- Kazak L, Cohen P. Creatine Metabolism: Energy Homeostasis, Immunity and Cancer Biology. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2020) 16(8):421–36. doi: 10.1038/ s41574-020-0365-5
- 121. Rahbani JF, Roesler A, Hussain MF, Samborska B, Dykstra CB, Tsai L, et al. Creatine Kinase B Controls Futile Creatine Cycling in Thermogenic Fat. *Nature* (2021) 590(7846):480–5. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03221-y
- 122. Bertholet AM, Kazak L, Chouchani ET, Bogaczyńska MG, Paranjpe I, Wainwright GL, et al. Mitochondrial Patch Clamp of Beige Adipocytes Reveals UCP1-Positive and UCP1-Negative Cells Both Exhibiting Futile Creatine Cycling. *Cell Metab* (2017) 25(4):811–22.e4. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2017.03.002
- 123. Kazak L, Chouchani ET, Jedrychowski MP, Erickson BK, Shinoda K, Cohen P, et al. A Creatine-Driven Substrate Cycle Enhances Energy Expenditure and Thermogenesis in Beige Fat. *Cell* (2015) 163(3):643–55. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.09.035
- 124. Kazak L, Chouchani ET, Lu GZ, Jedrychowski MP, Bare CJ, Mina AI, et al. Genetic Depletion of Adipocyte Creatine Metabolism Inhibits Diet-Induced Thermogenesis and Drives Obesity. *Cell Metab* (2017) 26(4):660–71. e3. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.08.009
- 125. Kazak L, Rahbani JF, Samborska B, Lu GZ, Jedrychowski MP, Lajoie M, et al. Ablation of Adipocyte Creatine Transport Impairs Thermogenesis and Causes Diet-Induced Obesity. *Nat Metab* (2019) 1(3):360–70. doi: 10.1038/ s42255-019-0035-x
- 126. Shabalina IG, Petrovic N, de Jong JM, Kalinovich AV, Cannon B, Nedergaard J. UCP1 in Brite/Beige Adipose Tissue Mitochondria is Functionally Thermogenic. *Cell Rep* (2013) 5(5):1196–203. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2013.10.044
- 127. Vijgen GHEJ, Sparks LM, Bouvy ND, Schaart G, Hoeks J, van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, et al. Increased Oxygen Consumption in Human Adipose Tissue From the "Brown Adipose Tissue" Region. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(7):E1230–E4. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1348
- 128. Schneider K, Valdez J, Nguyen J, Vawter M, Galke B, Kurtz TW, et al. Increased Energy Expenditure, Ucp1 Expression, and Resistance to Diet-Induced Obesity in Mice Lacking Nuclear Factor-Erythroid-2-Related Transcription Factor-2 (Nrf2). J Biol Chem (2016) 291(14):7754–66. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.673756
- 129. Manno C, Campobasso N, Nardecchia A, Triggiani V, Zupo R, Gesualdo L, et al. Relationship of Para- and Perirenal Fat and Epicardial Fat With Metabolic Parameters in Overweight and Obese Subjects. *Eat Weight Disord* (2019) 24(1):67–72. doi: 10.1007/s40519-018-0532-z
- 130. Roever L, Resende ES, Veloso FC, Diniz AL, Penha-Silva N, Casella-Filho A, et al. Perirenal Fat and Association With Metabolic Risk Factors: The Uberlândia Heart Study. *Med (Baltimore)* (2015) 94(38):e1105. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000001105
- 131. Li X, Liu J, Wang G, Yu J, Sheng Y, Wang C, et al. Determination of UCP1 Expression in Subcutaneous and Perirenal Adipose Tissues of Patients With Hypertension. *Endocrine* (2015) 50(2):413–23. doi: 10.1007/s12020-015-0572-3
- Fromme T, Klingenspor M. Uncoupling Protein 1 Expression and High-Fat Diets. Am J Physiol Regulatory Integr Comp Physiol (2011) 300(1):R1–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00411.2010
- Fedorenko A, Lishko PV, Kirichok Y. Mechanism of Fatty-Acid-Dependent UCP1 Uncoupling in Brown Fat Mitochondria. *Cell* (2012) 151(2):400–13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.09.010
- 134. Luijten IHN, Feldmann HM, Gv E, Cannon B, Nedergaard J. In the Absence of UCP1-Mediated Diet-Induced Thermogenesis, Obesity is Augmented

Even in the Obesity-Resistant 129S Mouse Strain. Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab (2019) 316(5):E729–E40. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00020.2019

- Chouchani ET, Kazak L, Jedrychowski MP, Lu GZ, Erickson BK, Szpyt J, et al. Mitochondrial ROS Regulate Thermogenic Energy Expenditure and Sulfenylation of UCP1. *Nature* (2016) 532(7597):112–6. doi: 10.1038/ nature17399
- Li X, Wang G, Liu J, Ding G. Increased UCP1 Expression in the Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Patients With Renal Cell Carcinoma. Oncol Rep (2019) 42 (5):1972–80. doi: 10.3892/or.2019.7306
- 137. Rafeh R, Viveiros A, Oudit GY, El-Yazbi AF. Targeting Perivascular and Epicardial Adipose Tissue Inflammation: Therapeutic Opportunities for Cardiovascular Disease. *Clin Sci* (2020) 134(7):827–51. doi: 10.1042/ CS20190227
- 138. Wu C, Zhang H, Zhang J, Xie C, Fan C, Zhang H, et al. Inflammation and Fibrosis in Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Patients With Aldosterone-Producing Adenoma. *Endocrinology* (2018) 159(1):227–37. doi: 10.1210/ en.2017-00651
- 139. Wu C, Zhang H, Zhang J, Zhang H, Zeng Y, Fang S, et al. Increased Oxidative Stress, Inflammation and Fibrosis in Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Patients With Cortisol-Producing Adenoma. *Adipocyte* (2019) 8(1):347–56. doi: 10.1080/21623945.2019.1690834
- 140. Ahmad F, Soelaiman IN, Ramli ES, Hooi TM, Suhaimi FH. Histomorphometric Changes in the Perirenal Adipocytes of Adrenalectomized Rats Treated With Dexamethasone. *Clinics (Sao Paulo)* (2011) 66(5):849–53. doi: 10.1590/S1807-59322011000500023
- 141. Roerink S, Wagenmakers M, Langenhuijsen JF, Ballak DB, Rooijackers HMM, d'Ancona FC, et al. Increased Adipocyte Size, Macrophage Infiltration, and Adverse Local Adipokine Profile in Perirenal Fat in Cushing's Syndrome. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2017) 25(8):1369–74. doi: 10.1002/oby.21887
- 142. Nagano G, Ohno H, Oki K, Kobuke K, Shiwa T, Yoneda M, et al. Activation of Classical Brown Adipocytes in the Adult Human Perirenal Depot is Highly Correlated With PRDM16-EHMT1 Complex Expression. *PloS One* (2015) 10(3):e0122584. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0122584
- Weisinger JR, Kempson RL, Eldridge FL, Swenson RS. The Nephrotic Syndrome: A Complication of Massive Obesity. Ann Intern Med (1974) 81 (4):440–7. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-81-4-440
- 144. Ejerblad E, Fored CM, Lindblad P, Fryzek J, McLaughlin JK, Nyrén O. Obesity and Risk for Chronic Renal Failure. J Am Soc Nephrol (2006) 17 (6):1695–702. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005060638
- 145. Sun X, Han F, Miao W, Hou N, Cao Z, Zhang G. Sonographic Evaluation of Para- and Perirenal Fat Thickness is an Independent Predictor of Early Kidney Damage in Obese Patients. *Int Urol Nephrol* (2013) 45(6):1589–95. doi: 10.1007/s11255-013-0404-4
- 146. Othman M, Kawar B, El Nahas AM. Influence of Obesity on Progression of non-Diabetic Chronic Kidney Disease: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *Nephron Clin Pract* (2009) 113(1):c16–23. doi: 10.1159/000228071
- 147. Hsu CY, McCulloch CE, Iribarren C, Darbinian J, Go AS. Body Mass Index and Risk for End-Stage Renal Disease. Ann Intern Med (2006) 144(1):21–8. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-144-1-200601030-00006
- 148. D'Marco L, Salazar J, Cortez M, Salazar M, Wettel M, Lima-Martínez M, et al. Perirenal Fat Thickness is Associated With Metabolic Risk Factors in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney Res Clin Pract* (2019) 38 (3):365–72. doi: 10.23876/j.krcp.18.0155
- 149. Hall JE, do Carmo JM, da Silva AA, Wang Z, Hall ME. Obesity, Kidney Dysfunction and Hypertension: Mechanistic Links. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2019) 15(6):367–85. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0145-4
- 150. Hall JE, Mouton A, da Silva AA, Omoto ACM, Wang Z, Li X, et al. Obesity, Kidney Dysfunction and Inflammation: Interactions in Hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res* (2020) 117(8):1859–76. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa336
- 151. Li Z, Woollard JR, Wang S, Korsmo MJ, Ebrahimi B, Grande JP, et al. Increased Glomerular Filtration Rate in Early Metabolic Syndrome is Associated With Renal Adiposity and Microvascular Proliferation. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2011) 301(5):F1078–87. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00333.2011
- 152. Pinto-Sietsma SJ, Navis G, Janssen WM, de Zeeuw D, Gans RO, de Jong PE. A Central Body Fat Distribution is Related to Renal Function Impairment, Even in Lean Subjects. Am J Kidney Dis (2003) 41(4):733–41. doi: 10.1016/ S0272-6386(03)00020-9

- 153. Bonnet F, Marre M, Halimi JM, Stengel B, Lange C, Laville M, et al. [Larger Waist Circumference is a Predictive Factor for the Occurrence of Microalbuminuria in a non-Diabetic Population]. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss (2006) 99(7-8):660-2.
- 154. Kawasaki S, Aoki K, Hasegawa O, Numata K, Tanaka K, Shibata N, et al. Sonographic Evaluation of Visceral Fat by Measuring Para- and Perirenal Fat. J Clin Ultrasound (2008) 36(3):129–33. doi: 10.1002/jcu.20426
- 155. Foster MC, Hwang SJ, Porter SA, Massaro JM, Hoffmann U, Fox CS. Fatty Kidney, Hypertension, and Chronic Kidney Disease: The Framingham Heart Study. *Hypertension* (2011) 58(5):784–90. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.175315
- 156. Harper W, Clement M, Goldenberg R, Hanna A, Main A, Retnakaran R, et al. Pharmacologic Management of Type 2 Diabetes. *Can J Diabetes* (2013) 37 Suppl 1:S61–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2013.01.021
- 157. Klausen KP, Parving HH, Scharling H, Jensen JS. Microalbuminuria and Obesity: Impact on Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2009) 71(1):40–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2008.03427.x
- 158. Ma S, Zhu XY, Eirin A, Woollard JR, Jordan KL, Tang H, et al. Perirenal Fat Promotes Renal Arterial Endothelial Dysfunction in Obese Swine Through Tumor Necrosis Factor-α. J Urol (2016) 195(4 Pt 1):1152–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.juro.2015.08.105
- 159. Ndisang JF, Jadhav A, Mishra M. The Heme Oxygenase System Suppresses Perirenal Visceral Adiposity, Abates Renal Inflammation and Ameliorates Diabetic Nephropathy in Zucker Diabetic Fatty Rats. *PloS One* (2014) 9(1): e87936. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087936
- 160. Boissier R, François P, Gondran Tellier B, Meunier M, Lyonnet L, Simoncini S, et al. Perirenal Adipose Tissue Displays an Age-Dependent Inflammatory Signature Associated With Early Graft Dysfunction of Marginal Kidney Transplants. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:445. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00445
- 161. Králová Lesná I, Poledne R, Fronek J, Králová A, Sekerková A, Thieme F, et al. Macrophage Subsets in the Adipose Tissue Could be Modified by Sex and the Reproductive Age of Women. *Atherosclerosis* (2015) 241(1):255–8. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.03.018
- 162. Thieme F, Janousek L, Fronek J, Kralova A, Cejkova S, Kralova Lesna I, et al. The Effect of Ectopic Fat on Graft Function After Living Kidney Transplantation. *Physiol Res* (2015) 64(Suppl 3):S411-7. doi: 10.33549/ physiolres.933181
- 163. Hou N, Han F, Wang M, Huang N, Zhao J, Liu X, et al. Perirenal Fat Associated With Microalbuminuria in Obese Rats. *Int Urol Nephrol* (2014) 46(4):839–45. doi: 10.1007/s11255-014-0656-7
- 164. Fang Y, Xu Y, Yang Y, Liu C, Zhao D, Ke J. The Relationship Between Perirenal Fat Thickness and Reduced Glomerular Filtration Rate in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. J Diabetes Res (2020) 2020:6076145. doi: 10.1155/ 2020/6076145
- 165. Liu Y, Wang L, Luo M, Chen N, Deng X, He J, et al. Inhibition of PAI-1 Attenuates Perirenal Fat Inflammation and the Associated Nephropathy in High-Fat Diet-Induced Obese Mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2019) 316(2):E260–e7. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00387.2018
- 166. Mori J, Patel VB, Ramprasath T, Alrob OA, DesAulniers J, Scholey JW, et al. Angiotensin 1-7 Mediates Renoprotection Against Diabetic Nephropathy by Reducing Oxidative Stress, Inflammation, and Lipotoxicity. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2014) 306(8):F812–21. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00655.2013
- 167. Hall JE, Crook ED, Jones DW, Wofford MR, Dubbert PM. Mechanisms of Obesity-Associated Cardiovascular and Renal Disease. Am J Med Sci (2002) 324(3):127–37. doi: 10.1097/00000441-200209000-00003
- Hall ME, do Carmo JM, da Silva AA, Juncos LA, Wang Z, Hall JE. Obesity, Hypertension, and Chronic Kidney Disease. *Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis* (2014) 7:75–88. doi: 10.2147/IJNRD.S39739
- 169. Rea DJ, Heimbach JK, Grande JP, Textor SC, Taler SJ, Prieto M, et al. Glomerular Volume and Renal Histology in Obese and non-Obese Living Kidney Donors. *Kidney Int* (2006) 70(9):1636–41. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5001799
- 170. Montani JP, Carroll JF, Dwyer TM, Antic V, Yang Z, Dulloo AG. Ectopic Fat Storage in Heart, Blood Vessels and Kidneys in the Pathogenesis of Cardiovascular Diseases. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* (2004) 28 Suppl 4: S58–65. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802858
- 171. Adeosun SO, Gordon DM, Weeks MF, Moore KH, Hall JE, Hinds TDJr., et al. Loss of Biliverdin Reductase-a Promotes Lipid Accumulation and Lipotoxicity in Mouse Proximal Tubule Cells. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2018) 315(2):F323–f31. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00495.2017

- 172. Sun X, Yu Y, Han L. High FFA Levels Related to Microalbuminuria and Uncoupling of VEGF-NO Axis in Obese Rats. *Int Urol Nephrol* (2013) 45 (4):1197–207. doi: 10.1007/s11255-013-0428-9
- 173. Katsiki N, Athyros VG, Mikhailidis DP. Abnormal Peri-Organ or Intra-Organ Fat (Apifat) Deposition: An Underestimated Predictor of Vascular Risk? *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* (2016) 14(5):432-41. doi: 10.2174/ 1570161114666160722112738
- 174. Guo G, Morrissey J, McCracken R, Tolley T, Liapis H, Klahr S. Contributions of Angiotensin II and Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha to the Development of Renal Fibrosis. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2001) 280(5):F777–85. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.2001.280.5.F777
- 175. Tarzi RM, Cook HT, Jackson I, Pusey CD, Lord GM. Leptin-Deficient Mice are Protected From Accelerated Nephrotoxic Nephritis. Am J Pathol (2004) 164(2):385–90. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63128-8
- 176. Zhao HL, Sui Y, Guan J, He L, Zhu X, Fan RR, et al. Fat Redistribution and Adipocyte Transformation in Uninephrectomized Rats. *Kidney Int* (2008) 74 (4):467–77. doi: 10.1038/ki.2008.195
- 177. Lama DJ, Safiullah S, Yang A, Okhunov Z, Landman J, Clayman RV. Three-Dimensional Evaluation of Perirenal Fat Volume in Patients With Nephrolithiasis. Urolithiasis (2018) 46(6):535–41. doi: 10.1007/s00240-018-1047-9
- García-Carrasco A, Izquierdo-Lahuerta A, Medina-Gómez G. The Kidney-Heart Connection in Obesity. *Nephron* (2021) 13:1–5. doi: 10.1159/ 000515419
- 179. Perk J, De Backer G, Gohlke H, Graham I, Reiner Z, Verschuren M, et al. European Guidelines on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (Version 2012). The Fifth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (Constituted by Representatives of Nine Societies and by Invited Experts). *Eur Heart J* (2012) 33(13):1635–701. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs092
- 180. Thompson S, James M, Wiebe N, Hemmelgarn B, Manns B, Klarenbach S, et al. Cause of Death in Patients With Reduced Kidney Function. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(10):2504–11. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014070714
- 181. Webster AC, Nagler EV, Morton RL, Masson P. Chronic Kidney Disease. Lancet (2017) 389(10075):1238–52. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32064-5
- 182. Vanholder R, Argilés A, Baurmeister U, Brunet P, Clark W, Cohen G, et al. Uremic Toxicity: Present State of the Art. Int J Artif Organs (2001) 24 (10):695–725. doi: 10.1177/039139880102401004
- 183. Manjunath G, Tighiouart H, Ibrahim H, MacLeod B, Salem DN, Griffith JL, et al. Level of Kidney Function as a Risk Factor for Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Outcomes in the Community. J Am Coll Cardiol (2003) 41 (1):47–55. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(02)02663-3
- 184. Briasoulis A, Bakris GL. Chronic Kidney Disease as a Coronary Artery Disease Risk Equivalent. *Curr Cardiol Rep* (2013) 15(3):340. doi: 10.1007/ s11886-012-0340-4
- Menon V, Gul A, Sarnak MJ. Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney Int* (2005) 68(4):1413–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00551.x
- Booth JN3rd, Li J, Zhang L, Chen L, Muntner P, Egan B. Trends in Prehypertension and Hypertension Risk Factors in US Adults: 1999-2012. *Hypertension* (2017) 70 (2):275–84. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.09004
- 187. Ades PA, Savage PD. Obesity in Coronary Heart Disease: An Unaddressed Behavioral Risk Factor. *Prev Med* (2017) 104:117–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.ypmed.2017.04.013
- Saklayen MG. The Global Epidemic of the Metabolic Syndrome. Curr Hypertens Rep (2018) 20(2):12. doi: 10.1007/s11906-018-0812-z
- 189. Piché ME, Tchernof A, Després JP. Obesity Phenotypes, Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Diseases. *Circ Res* (2020) 126(11):1477–500. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.120.316101
- 190. De Pergola G, Campobasso N, Nardecchia A, Triggiani V, Caccavo D, Gesualdo L, et al. Para- and Perirenal Ultrasonographic Fat Thickness is Associated With 24-Hours Mean Diastolic Blood Pressure Levels in Overweight and Obese Subjects. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord* (2015) 15:108. doi: 10.1186/s12872-015-0101-6
- 191. Fabbrini E, Tamboli RA, Magkos F, Marks-Shulman PA, Eckhauser AW, Richards WO, et al. Surgical Removal of Omental Fat Does Not Improve Insulin Sensitivity and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Obese Adults. *Gastroenterology* (2010) 139(2):448–55. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.04.056

- 192. Ricci MA, Scavizzi M, Ministrini S, De Vuono S, Pucci G, Lupattelli G. Morbid Obesity and Hypertension: The Role of Perirenal Fat. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) (2018) 20(10):1430–7. doi: 10.1111/jch.13370
- 193. Sahin SB, Durakoglugil T, Ayaz T, Sahin OZ, Durakoglugil E, Sumer F, et al. Evaluation of Para- and Perirenal Fat Thickness and its Association With Metabolic Disorders in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. *Endocr Pract* (2015) 21 (8):878–86. doi: 10.4158/EP14435.OR
- Okeahialam BN, Sirisena AI, Ike EE, Chagok NM. Ultrasound Assessed Peri-Renal Fat: An Index of Sub-Clinical Atherosclerosis. *Am J Cardiovasc Dis* (2020) 10(5):564–8.
- 195. Kortelainen ML, Särkioja T. Extent and Composition of Coronary Lesions and Degree of Cardiac Hypertrophy in Relation to Abdominal Fatness in Men Under 40 Years of Age. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (1997) 17 (3):574–9. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.17.3.574
- 196. Grima P, Guido M, Zizza A, Chiavaroli R. Sonographically Measured Perirenal Fat Thickness: An Early Predictor of Atherosclerosis in HIV-1-Infected Patients Receiving Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy? J Clin Ultrasound (2010) 38(4):190–5. doi: 10.1002/jcu.20664
- 197. Bassols J, Martínez-Calcerrada JM, Prats-Puig A, Carreras-Badosa G, Xargay-Torrent S, Lizarraga-Mollinedo E, et al. Perirenal Fat is Related to Carotid Intima-Media Thickness in Children. Int J Obes (Lond) (2018) 42 (4):641–7. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2017.236
- 198. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 138 Hospitalized Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. Jama (2020) 323(11):1061–9. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2020.1585
- 199. Bramlage P, Pittrow D, Wittchen HU, Kirch W, Boehler S, Lehnert H, et al. Hypertension in Overweight and Obese Primary Care Patients is Highly Prevalent and Poorly Controlled. Am J Hypertens (2004) 17(10):904–10. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2004.05.017
- 200. Xiong XQ, Chen WW, Zhu GQ. Adipose Afferent Reflex: Sympathetic Activation and Obesity Hypertension. Acta Physiol (Oxf) (2014) 210 (3):468–78. doi: 10.1111/apha.12182
- 201. Ghaben AL, Scherer PE. Adipogenesis and Metabolic Health. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2019) 20(4):242–58. doi: 10.1038/s41580-018-0093-z
- Libby P, Buring JE, Badimon L, Hansson GK, Deanfield J, Bittencourt MS, et al. Atherosclerosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2019) 5(1):56. doi: 10.1038/ s41572-019-0106-z
- 203. Yang CW, Guo YC, Li CI, Liu CS, Lin CH, Liu CH, et al. Subclinical Atherosclerosis Markers of Carotid Intima-Media Thickness, Carotid Plaques, Carotid Stenosis, and Mortality in Community-Dwelling Adults. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2020) 17(13):1–14. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17134745
- 204. Willeit P, Tschiderer L, Allara E, Reuber K, Seekircher L, Gao L, et al. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness Progression as Surrogate Marker for Cardiovascular Risk: Meta-Analysis of 119 Clinical Trials Involving 100 667 Patients. Circulation (2020) 142(7):621–42. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046361
- 205. Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2017 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2017) 135(10):e146–603. doi: 10.1161/ CIR.000000000000491
- 206. Longo M, Zatterale F, Naderi J, Parrillo L, Formisano P, Raciti GA, et al. Adipose Tissue Dysfunction as Determinant of Obesity-Associated Metabolic Complications. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(9):1–23. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20092358
- 207. Tchang BG, Saunders KH, Igel LI. Best Practices in the Management of Overweight and Obesity. *Med Clin N Am* (2021) 105(1):149–74. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2020.08.018
- Beamish AJ, Olbers T, Kelly AS, Inge TH. Cardiovascular Effects of Bariatric Surgery. Nat Rev Cardiol (2016) 13(12):730–43. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2016.162
- 209. Khan T, Hamilton MP, Mundy DI, Chua SC, Scherer PE. Impact of Simvastatin on Adipose Tissue: Pleiotropic Effects in Vivo. Endocrinology (2009) 150(12):5262–72. doi: 10.1210/en.2009-0603

- Kim Y, Park CW. Mechanisms of Adiponectin Action: Implication of Adiponectin Receptor Agonism in Diabetic Kidney Disease. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(7):1–12. doi: 10.3390/ijms20071782
- 211. Tonolo G, Melis MG, Formato M, Angius MF, Carboni A, Brizzi P, et al. Additive Effects of Simvastatin Beyond its Effects on LDL Cholesterol in Hypertensive Type 2 Diabetic Patients. *Eur J Clin Invest* (2000) 30(11):980–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2362.2000.00735.x
- 212. Sakamoto K, Sakamoto T, Ogawa H. The Effect of 6 Months of Treatment With Pravastatin on Serum Adiponection Concentrations in Japanese Patients With Coronary Artery Disease and Hypercholesterolemia: A Pilot Study. *Clin Ther* (2006) 28(7):1012–21. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2006.07.001
- 213. Deng G, Long Y, Yu YR, Li MR. Adiponectin Directly Improves Endothelial Dysfunction in Obese Rats Through the AMPK-Enos Pathway. Int J Obes (Lond) (2010) 34(1):165–71. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2009.205
- 214. Arita Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Maeda K, Kuriyama H, Okamoto Y, et al. Adipocyte-Derived Plasma Protein Adiponectin Acts as a Platelet-Derived Growth Factor-BB-Binding Protein and Regulates Growth Factor-Induced Common Postreceptor Signal in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell. *Circulation* (2002) 105(24):2893–8. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000018622.84402.FF
- 215. Wang Y, Lam KS, Xu JY, Lu G, Xu LY, Cooper GJ, et al. Adiponectin Inhibits Cell Proliferation by Interacting With Several Growth Factors in an Oligomerization-Dependent Manner. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(18):18341–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M501149200
- 216. Nomura S, Shouzu A, Omoto S, Inami N, Shimazu T, Satoh D, et al. Effects of Pitavastatin on Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 in Hyperlipidemic Patients. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* (2009) 20(6):440–7. doi: 10.1097/ MBC.0b013e32832e0618
- 217. Wanders D, Plaisance EP, Judd RL. Pharmacological Effects of Lipid-Lowering Drugs on Circulating Adipokines. World J Diabetes (2010) 1 (4):116–28. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v1.i4.116
- 218. Okuma H, Mori K, Nakamura S, Sekine T, Ogawa Y, Tsuchiya K. Ipragliflozin Ameliorates Diabetic Nephropathy Associated With Perirenal Adipose Expansion in Mice. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(14):7329. doi: 10.3390/ ijms22147329
- Packer M. Mitigation of the Adverse Consequences of Nutrient Excess on the Kidney: A Unified Hypothesis to Explain the Renoprotective Effects of Sodium-Glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitors. *Am J Nephrol* (2020) 51 (4):289–93. doi: 10.1159/000506534
- 220. Morano S, Romagnoli E, Filardi T, Nieddu L, Mandosi E, Fallarino M, et al. Short-Term Effects of Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 (GLP-1) Receptor Agonists on Fat Distribution in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: An Ultrasonography Study. *Acta Diabetologica* (2015) 52(4):727–32. doi: 10.1007/s00592-014-0710-z
- 221. Chen J, Zhao H, Ma X, Zhang Y, Lu S, Wang Y, et al. GLP-1/GLP-1R Signaling in Regulation of Adipocyte Differentiation and Lipogenesis. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2017) 42(3):1165–76. doi: 10.1159/000478872

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Hammoud, AlZaim, Al-Dhaheri, Eid and El-Yazbi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Role of Inflammation in Vascular Disease-Related Perivascular Adipose Tissue Dysfunction

Yaozhi Chen¹, Zeyu Qin², Yaqiong Wang³, Xin Li¹, Yang Zheng^{1*} and Yunxia Liu^{1*}

¹ Center for Cardiovascular Medicine, First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China, ² Department of Respiratory Medicine, First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China, ³ Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China

Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) is the connective tissue around most blood vessels throughout the body. It provides mechanical support and maintains vascular homeostasis in a paracrine/endocrine manner. Under physiological conditions, PVAT has antiinflammatory effects, improves free fatty acid metabolism, and regulates vasodilation. In pathological conditions, PVAT is dysfunctional, secretes many anti-vasodilator factors, and participates in vascular inflammation through various cells and mediators; thus, it causes dysfunction involving vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells. Inflammation is an important pathophysiological event in many vascular diseases, such as vascular aging, atherosclerosis, and hypertension. Therefore, the pro-inflammatory crosstalk between PVAT and blood vessels may comprise a novel therapeutic target for the prevention and treatment of vascular diseases. In this review, we summarize findings concerning PVAT function and inflammation in different pathophysiological backgrounds, focusing on the secretory functions of PVAT and the crosstalk between PVAT and vascular inflammation in terms of vascular aging, atherosclerosis, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and other diseases. We also discuss anti-inflammatory treatment for potential vascular diseases involving PVAT.

Keywords: perivascular adipose tissue, vascular diseases, inflammation, endocrine, crosstalk

INTRODUCTION

The vascular system is a highly branched network lined with endothelial cells (ECs) and vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), which can provide oxygen and nutrition for tissues. The regulation of vascular function in response to changing metabolic needs is essential for the maintenance of normal tissue and organ functions; it is also important for health preservation and disease prevention (1). Vascular diseases caused by vascular injury and dysfunction are among the top five causes of death among non-communicable diseases worldwide; these diseases influence various other diseases, such as heart diseases, nervous system diseases, and metabolic disorders (2). Vascular homeostasis is regulated by many factors, among which perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) plays an important role in the pathogenesis of vascular diseases.

PVAT, which surrounds most blood vessels (except cerebral vessels) (3), is a connective tissue composed of adipocytes, preadipocytes, mesenchymal stem cells, fibroblasts, inflammatory cells

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiaodong Sun, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Tianpeng Zheng, Guilin Medical University, China Xuan Li, University of Mississippi Medical Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Yunxia Liu yunxial19@mails.jlu.edu.cn Yang Zheng zhengyang@jlu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 17 May 2021 Accepted: 21 July 2021 Published: 11 August 2021

Citation:

Chen Y, Qin Z, Wang Y, Li X, Zheng Y and Liu Y (2021) Role of Inflammation in Vascular Disease-Related Perivascular Adipose Tissue Dysfunction. Front. Endocrinol. 12:710842. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.710842 (macrophages, lymphocytes, and eosinophils), vascular cells, and nerves; these cells form adipose tissue microvasculature (4). PVAT is characterized by a reduced degree of differentiation, compared with classical visceral fat (PVAT more closely resembles preadipocytes); moreover, it exhibits a tendency to release proinflammatory factors and growth factors (5). Because of the anatomical characteristics of its adjacent vessel walls, PVAT provides mechanical support in the vascular system, particularly during adjacent tissue contraction. Furthermore, PVAT releases various factors, including adipokines and cytokines/chemokines. Through paracrine/endocrine mechanisms, these factors can directly diffuse or reach the vascular endothelial layer through blood vessels or a network of small mediators that connects the middle laver and lower adventitia. Additionally, these factors regulate vascular tension, cell proliferation, and cell migration; exhibit considerable influence on vascular homeostasis and function; and demonstrate both protective and harmful effects on the vascular system, according to pathophysiological characteristics present in the tissue microenvironment.

Under physiological conditions, PVAT has anti-inflammatory effects, improves free fatty acid metabolism, and regulates vasodilation. However, in the event of vascular pathology, PVAT increases in volume and becomes dysfunctional. This leads to changes in cell composition and molecular characteristics, as well as extensive secretion of pro-inflammatory and anti-vasodilation factors; it also promotes the infiltration of inflammatory immune cells and local oxidative stress, triggering vascular wall "from the outside to the inside" pathological signal, thereby causing VSMC and EC dysfunction (6, 7). The specific mechanisms and characteristics of PVAT dysfunction may differ among vascular diseases, despite important similarities with respect to inflammation characteristics. Inflammation is also an important pathophysiological event in vascular aging, atherosclerosis, hypertension, diabetes mellitus (DM), and other vascular diseases (8, 9). Therefore, the proinflammatory crosstalk between PVAT and blood vessels may comprise a novel therapeutic target for the prevention and treatment of vascular diseases. In this review, we summarize the latest findings regarding PVAT function and inflammation in various

pathophysiological contexts and discuss anti-inflammatory treatments for potential PVAT-related vascular diseases.

SECRETORY FUNCTIONS OF PVAT

PVAT is considered an important endocrine tissue for the maintenance of intravascular stability. Although most inflammation in PVAT is attributed to infiltration by macrophages and T cells, PVAT-related regulation of vascular function depends largely on its secretory functions (Figure 1). Dysfunctional adipocytes themselves exhibit pro-inflammatory phenotypes and may play important roles in triggering and spreading inflammation within PVAT (10). Similar to other adipose tissues, PVAT secretes many adipose tissue-specific adipokines, chemokines, and growth factors; these directly affect the functions of adjacent blood vessels in a paracrine manner and can also reach the lumens of adjacent blood vessels, then have various downstream effects. PVAT affects tension and endothelial functions throughout the vascular bed in a vascular secretion manner, thus triggering and coordinating the infiltration of inflammatory cells (e.g., T cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, B cells, and NK cells) (11).

Under physiological conditions, PVAT mainly secretes antiinflammatory adipokines, such as adiponectin (APN), omentin, fibroblast growth factor-21 (FGF-21), and nitric oxide (NO) (**Figure 1A**). In the context of vascular dysfunction, PVAT mostly produces and releases pro-inflammatory adipokines, such as leptin, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1, also known as CCL2), RANTES (Chemokine C-C motif ligand 5, CCL5), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β); all of these factors can directly affect VSMCs and ECs, thus triggering and coordinating vascular inflammation (**Figure 1B**) (5, 9).

PVAT and Anti-Inflammatory Cytokines

Under physiological conditions, PVAT releases various antiinflammatory factors, including APN. The main biological



functions of APN include promotion of fatty acid biosynthesis and inhibition of gluconeogenesis in liver, enhancement of glucose uptake in skeletal muscle, improvement of systemic insulin resistance, and prevention of systemic atherosclerosis by increasing fatty acid oxidation (12).

The effects of APN-mediated anti-inflammatory action on vascular function have been elucidated in multiple vascular diseases. Compared with mice that were fed a regular chow diet, the anti-contractile effect of PVAT was significantly reduced in non-endothelial aortic rings in mice that were fed a high-fat diet, partly because of reduced APN release from PVAT, associated with AMPK dysfunction and/or PVAT inflammation (13-16). APN expression is reportedly downregulated in desoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA)-salt hypertensive mice because of complement activation in PVAT; this effect can be reversed by macrophage depletion (17). Transplanted PVAT exhibits reduced expression of APN, thereby aggravating endothelial dysfunction through an inflammatory response (18). Exogenous APN can restore aortic anti-contractile activity of adult male offspring in mice exposed to gestational intermittent hypoxia (19). Upregulation of the heme oxygenase-1/APN axis in PVAT mediates anti-contractility-related Irisin improvement in the thoracic aorta of obese mice (15, 20). Chronic APN therapy can inhibit chemokine and pro-inflammatory adipokine expression patterns in PVAT in both aged rats and rats that were fed a high-fat diet, thus improving endothelial dysfunction in these models (21). PVAT around the coronary artery, collectively classified as epicardial adipose tissue (EAT), is closely related to the occurrence and development of coronary atherosclerotic lesions, as well as plaque stability. Angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2)-knockout mice that were fed a high-fat diet exhibited increased EAT inflammation; this was associated with decreased cardiac APN, decreased AMPK phosphorylation, increased cardiac steatosis and lipotoxicity, and myocardial insulin resistance, which exacerbated cardiac functional damage (22). In EAT from patients with coronary heart disease (CHD), the levels of APN decreased, while the levels of IL-6, TNF-α, and Toll-like receptor 4 increased. APN administration has been shown to prevent atherosclerosis by reducing the production of TNF- α in macrophages and reactive oxygen species (ROS) in endothelial cells; it also increases endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis (23). Samples from humans indicate that type 2 diabetes (T2DM) is closely related to hypoadiponectin, suggesting that the APN signaling pathway can serve as a new route for vascular protection in blood vessels and PVAT. However, the molecular mechanism by which APN reduces vascular inflammation remains unclear. Inhibition of nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-KB) signaling (which regulates several pro-inflammatory genes) and its transcription factors may be another mechanism by which APN alleviates vascular dysfunction (24).

Omentin (also known as intelectin-1, lactoferrin receptor, or endothelial lectin) has a positive effect on vascular inflammation. By inhibiting the thioredoxin-interacting protein/nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-like receptor family pyrin domain-containing 3 signaling pathway, omentin can reduce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF-α, IL-6, and IL-1 β) and increase the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., APN and IL-10) in obese mouse adipose tissue, as well as macrophages co-cultured with lipopolysaccharides (25, 26). The anti-contractile effect of PVAT in a physiological environment was lost in patients with T2DM, although it partially recovered after treatment with omentin-1, the main cyclic forms of omentin (27). Furthermore, omentin-1 treatment significantly improved the pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidant PVAT phenotype (i.e., through reduction of C-reactive protein and nitrotyrosine levels), suggesting that omentin-1 could improve endothelial dysfunction in T2DM patients by improving dysfunction PVAT; it also has the potential to treat T2DMrelated vascular complications (28). In patients with atrial fibrillation and valvular heart diseases, the expression of omentin was downregulated in EAT and right atrial appendage tissue (29). Importantly, the expression of omentin in EAT was lower in patients with CHD than in patients without CHD; the expression of omentin in EAT was lower around stenotic segments of coronary artery than around non-stenotic segments (30). However, another study showed that, compared with the control group, the expression of omentin in EAT increased in patients with CHD, despite reduction of its circulating level; this finding suggested that omentin may play a local role in the development of CHD (31).

FGF-21, a member of the fibroblast growth factor family, is an important endocrine regulator that mainly acts through induction of weight loss and management of insulin signaling, as well as management of glucose and lipid metabolism (32). It also has important anti-inflammatory roles in various tissues/ cells, such as obese adipose tissue, cardiac tissue, and macrophages (33–37). FGF-21 gene expression was reportedly reduced in EAT from patients with multivessel CHD associated with T2DM (38), while FGF-21 expression was enhanced in EAT from patients undergoing cardiac surgery, suggesting that FGF-21 has a protective effect against cardiac surgery-related inflammation (39). Therefore, anti-inflammatory pathways related to PVAT may comprise novel targets for the prevention and treatment of various vascular diseases.

PVAT and Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines

Leptin is another rich adipokine released by adipose tissue (including PVAT), which was the first adipokine reported in the literature. Under physiological conditions, leptin mainly relies on hypothalamus and sympathetic nerve signaling to reduce appetite, increase energy consumption, and regulate glucose homeostasis, independent of insulin (40). Leptin resistance is associated with the development of hypertension and insulin resistance (40), and inflammation is an important contributor to leptin resistance (41). Classically, leptin is regarded as a pro-inflammatory cytokine, which has structural homology with other cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 (41, 42). Leptin plays a direct role in inflammation by inducing monocytes, leukocytes, and macrophages to produce IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-12; thus, it increases the production and migration of ROS in monocytes, as well as the production of chemokine ligands by macrophages (42, 43).

In obese sedentary mice, PVAT ring-deficient mice exhibited lower levels of circulating glucose, insulin, resistin, leptin, and TNF-a; they also demonstrated abnormal endothelial function in thoracic aorta (44). The reduction of leptin expression in PVAT may inhibit neointimal hyperplasia and vascular remodeling by inhibiting monocyte migration and VSMC proliferation (45). Gene expression profiling showed that the expression levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, and leptin in patients with CHD were significantly higher in PVAT around the coronary artery than in PVAT inside the thoracic artery (46). In addition, data from patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting indicated that the leptin-inflammation-fibrosis-hypoxia axis plays a key role in coronary atherosclerosis pathogenesis. Compared with PVAT surrounding the anti-atherosclerotic internal mammary artery, leptin expression was significantly increased in "cardiac" PVAT surrounding the aortic root and coronary arteries (C-PVAT). This increased expression was accompanied by more obvious angiogenesis and inflammation, indicating significant increases in the numbers of platelets, endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1-positive vessels, and CD68-positive macrophages, as well as greater degrees of fibrosis and hypoxia, which may lead to an enhanced coronary atherosclerotic plaque load (47). Increased expression levels of hypoxia inducible factor-1 α and Fos-like antigen 2 were observed in C-PVAT; these factors reportedly enhance leptin gene transcription (47). The findings thus far suggest that PVAT plays an important role in promoting vascular inflammation through leptin secretion.

Notably, adipocytes and macrophages in PVAT also secrete large amounts of TNF- α ; these levels are higher in obese animals and people than in lean animals and lean people. TNF- α induces aortic intima-media thickening through PVAT inflammation (48). TNF- α has pro-inflammatory effects and can promote the production of other pro-inflammatory factors (e.g., IL-6, leptin, and resistin). Furthermore, MCP-1 produced by adipocytes has been identified as a potential factor for macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue (49, 50). The increased expression levels of MCP-1 and TNF- α in transplanted PVAT tissue can aggravate endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis in distant vessels by enhancing the inflammatory response (18). In addition, RANTES (produced by T cells, macrophages, VSMCs, ECs,and PVAT adipocytes (51-53)) is a key factor for leukocyte recruitment to sites of inflammation or infection (54). Increased RANTES expression levels in hypertensive PVAT induce T-cell chemotaxis and vascular accumulation of T cells that express RANTES receptors (55). In addition, PVAT secretes free fatty acids, resistin, visfatin, and other pro-inflammatory adipokines, which participate in the occurrence and development of vascular diseases (56-58).

ROLES OF PVAT IN VASCULAR DISEASE

Morphological, structural, and functional changes of PVAT have been investigated in major vascular lesions associated with vascular diseases such as vascular aging, atherosclerosis, hypertension, and DM-related vascular dysfunction (**Table 1**).

Vascular Aging

Aging is an independent risk factor for vascular diseases. Vascular aging is mainly characterized by blood vessel-related structural changes and dysfunction that increase with age, which culminate in age-related vascular diseases (112–114). In such diseases, the vascular wall exhibits a pro-inflammatory microenvironment associated with low-grade perivascular inflammation, which is characterized by increased secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, as well as enhanced infiltration of immune cells (4). These changes promote vascular dysfunction, hinder cell metabolism, increase cell apoptosis, and contribute to the onset of vascular diseases (115). In this context, PVAT is a key factor that affects vascular and perivascular inflammation during aging (**Table 1**).

There is increasing evidence that age can affect PVAT morphology and function, increase PVAT-related inflammation, and affect the corresponding vascular activity. In rats, aging reportedly attenuated the anti-contractile effect of PVAT around the thoracic aorta, while reducing the amount of brown adipose tissue-like PVAT (59). In the mesenteric arteries of SHRSP.Z-Leprfa/IzmDmcr rats (SHRSP.ZF) with metabolic syndrome, vascular dysfunction is compensated by a PVATdependent mechanism, which disappears with age (60). Compared with young C57BL/6JRj mice, middle-aged mice showed more PVAT hypertrophy (61); furthermore, the mean single adipocyte area in PVAT was significantly increased, while the expression level of protein inhibitor of activated signal transducer and activators of transcription 1 (a key negative regulator of inflammation) was decreased. These effects may contribute to age-related vascular diseases (61).

With increasing age, resident stromal cells in PVAT (PVASCs) exhibit decreasing differentiation ability, which contributes to neointimal hyperplasia and vascular remodeling after PVAT transplantation into carotid artery. This may be caused by the loss of PGC1 α in aged PVASCs, which can be improved by overexpression of PGC1 α (62). Senescence-accelerated prone mice (SAMP8), a mouse model of aging, shows vascular dysfunction associated with hypertension and cognitive decline (116). Compared with control senescence-accelerated resistant mice (SAMR1), aged SAMP8 mice reportedly demonstrated the lack of an anti-vasoconstrictive effect of PVAT; they also exhibited increased tunica media thickness, decreased APN expression, and enhanced expression levels of vascular markers of inflammation (e.g., endothelin-1, inducible nitric oxide synthase, and cyclooxygenase 2) (63).

Arterial stiffness is an inevitable result of aging. Local PVAT homeostasis, especially inflammation in PVAT, is associated with the development of age-related arterial stiffness. Loss of functional PVAT can enhance arterial stiffness in aging mice; furthermore, aged C57BL/6J mice that were fed a high-fat diet demonstrated significant induction of PVAT hypertrophy and enhancement of arterial stiffness. This change is related to the low level of mitoNEET expression in PVAT, which increases the expression of pro-inflammatory genes (64). In addition, older arteries are more susceptible to obesity-induced aging, compared with younger arteries (65). Aging aggravates obesity-induced

TABLE 1 | Central roles of PVAT inflammation in vascular diseases.

	Vessels	PVAT	Reference
Vascular aging	 Increased tunica media thickness Increased oxidative stress and inflammation (ET-1, iNOS, COX2) VSMCs proliferation Increased perivascular fibrosis Increased arterial stiffness 	 PVAT was hypertrophic and the average area of single adipocyte was significantly increased The differentiation ability of PVASCs decreased Increased proinflammatory mediators (TNF-α, IL-6, eotaxin, MIP-1α, MCP-1 and RANTES) Reduction of ant-inflammatory mediators (APN) The function of anti- vasoconstriction is weakened The infiltration of macrophages and natural killer cells 	(59–68)
Atherosclerosis	 The infiltration of macrophages, T cells and dendritic cells increased Plaque volume increased, internal lipid increased, high macrophage density and fibrin deposition Increased proinflammatory mediators Increased perivascular inflammation 	 The size of adipocytes was smaller and the oble differentiation phenotype was less Increased proinflammatory mediators (TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β, MCP-1, resistin, and osteoprotegerin) Reduction of ant-inflammatory mediators (APN) The infiltration of macrophages, T cells and dendritic cells increased B-1 cells and their secretion of anti-atherosclerotic IgM decrease 	(10, 18, 69–77) (67, 78–86)
Hypertension	 Increased proinflammatory mediators (MCP-1, RANTES and MIP-1α) Endothelial dysfunction Increased vascular tone Systolic and diastolic blood pressure increased vascular hypertrophy and fibrosis Increased perivascular inflammation 	 The function of anti- vasoconstriction is weakened Decreased production of vasodilator factor Increased angiotensin II secretion Increased proinflammatory mediators (IFN-γ, RANTES, C3, C5a, MCP-1, TNF-α, IL-6, MIP-1α) Reduction of ant-inflammatory mediators (APN) The infiltration of macrophages, T cells and dendritic cells increased The number of eosinophils decreased 	(17, 55, 68, 72, 87–97)
Diabetes mellitus related vascular dysfunction	 Increased insulin resistance Impaired vasodilation and vascular remodeling mediated by insulin The adhesion ability of endothelial cells to lymphocytes increased 	 PVAT phenotype changed to pro-inflammatory, pro oxidative and pro vasoconstrictive state Increased infiltration of M1 macrophages and dendritic cells Overproduction of proinflammatory cytokines(IFN-γ, TNF-α, and IL-6) Reduction of anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10 and APN) 	(98–102)
Abdominal aortic aneurysm	 Recruitment of inflammatory cells (macrophages, lymphocytes, and mast cells) in vascular wall Increased expression of perivascular inflammatory factors Enhanced leukocyte- fibroblast interaction in adventitia Migration and proliferation of adventitial fibroblasts increased 	 Increased PVAT deposition Co-localization of PVAT inflammation and abdominal aortic aneurysm Increased gene expression of proinflammatory factors (IL-8, PTPRC, LCK, and CCL5) Decreased expression of anti-inflammatory PPARγ 	(103–111)

The table lists changes in PVAT and vascular inflammation during the onset of vascular aging, atherosclerosis, hypertension, diabetes mellitus-related vascular dysfunction and abdominal aortic aneurysm (note that the anti-atherosclerotic effects of healthy PVAT are not listed). ET-1, endothelin-1; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; COX2, cyclooxygenase 2; VSMCs, vascular smooth muscle cells; PVASCs, resident stromal cells in PVAT; APN, adiponectin; PTPRC, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type C; LCK, lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase; PPARy, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma.

PVAT inflammation, promotes secretion of pro-inflammatory factors by PVAT (including cytokines such as TNF α and IL-6, as well as chemokines such as eotaxin and MIP-1 α), and reduces APN secretion, thus increasing vascular oxidative stress and inflammation in a paracrine manner, and stimulating VSMC proliferation (65, 66).

The effect of PVAT on vascular senescence depends on its secretion, as well as the presence of inflammatory cells. Studies in humans have shown that age and body mass index are associated with the density of CD68-positive macrophages in PVAT (67). In spontaneously hypertensive rats, aging is associated with increased numbers of infiltrating leukocytes, macrophages, and natural killer cells in PVAT, accompanied by gradual elevation of blood pressure. Dual pharmacological inhibition of Nox1 and

NOX4 increases blood pressure and leads to the accumulation of immune cells in PVAT. These effects are related to increased expression levels of MCP-1 and RANTES in PVAT, which lead to enhancement of perivascular fibrosis and acceleration of vascular aging (68). Overall, the existing evidence shows that PVAT mediates changes associated with vascular aging by enhancing infiltration of multiple inflammatory cells and release of various pro-inflammatory factors.

Atherosclerosis

Vascular diseases (e.g., myocardial infarction and cerebral infarction) are often caused by atherosclerosis, a vascular disease with robust inflammation, which is characterized by the accumulation of lipids, diseased cells, and necrotic debris.

Proinflammatory leukocytes and cytokines play important roles in various stages of atherosclerotic plaque formation (117). There is increasing evidence that perivascular inflammation contributes to multiple stages of atherosclerosis; notably, PVAT plays an important role in triggering adventitial inflammation in atherosclerosis. Furthermore, PVAT promotes atherosclerosis in basic vessels through "from the outside to the inside" signal transduction. However, PVAT exhibits a nonuniform role in the development of atherosclerosis. PVAT may have dual effects (i.e., both pro- and anti-atherosclerosis), which may influence balance in the local environment.

Healthy PVAT plays a protective role in regulating metabolism, inflammation, and function in nearby blood vessels. Healthy PVAT may contain immune cells that impede the development of atherosclerosis (118). The absence of PVAT can lead to enhanced macrophage infiltration and increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production in the aortic perivascular area, thus exacerbating vascular inflammation and atherosclerotic lesions in aortic wall tissue (119). In addition, PVAT is the main source of aortaassociated B lymphocytes. Many of these B cells belong to the anti-atherosclerotic B-1 subgroup; IgM secreted by this subgroup of B cells can reduce the effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by M1 macrophages. Notably, the ratio of B-1/B-2 cells is reportedly 10-fold higher in PVAT than in spleen or bone marrow, indicating an important anti-inflammatory effect of PVAT (120).

The number of B-1 cells secreting anti-atherosclerotic IgM is reportedly reduced in PVAT from apolipoprotein E-/- (ApoE-/-) mice, which significantly aggravates atherosclerosis in the aorta and coronary artery (69). A systemic endocrine mechanism also mediates the anti-atherosclerotic effect of PVAT. The transplantation of PVAT from thoracic aorta of wild mice was able to reduce the atherosclerotic plaque size in suprarenal aorta of ApoE-/- mice that were fed a high-cholesterol diet. This antiatherosclerotic effect was mediated by a transforming growth factor- β 1-induced anti-inflammatory response, which may involve alternatively activated macrophages (121). In addition, APN derived from PVAT can inhibit carotid collar-induced carotid atherosclerosis by promoting macrophage autophagy (122).

In the context of chronic hyperthermia, PVAT dysfunction exacerbates atherosclerosis and increases the risk of plaque rupture. In dysfunctional PVAT, the secretion of anti-inflammatory factors (e.g., APN) is decreased, while the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines is increased; thus, the distribution of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory immune cells is unbalanced. These changes lead to the enhancement of local inflammation, aggravating the development of atherosclerosis (**Table 1**).

Pathological conditions (such as altered expression of angiotensin II [Ang II] or pro-atherosclerotic factors) increase the dedifferentiation of PVAT adipocytes (70, 71). In larger vessels associated with atherosclerosis, adipocytes in PVAT are usually smaller and exhibit a less differentiated phenotype (10, 72, 73). Inflammation in PVAT and adventitia occurs prior to endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerotic plaque formation (74). In human aorta, PVAT accumulates in sites where atherosclerosis can easily form, while inflammatory cells concentrate in PVAT at the edge of adventitia and secrete chemokines that can attract monocytes and T cells to the adventitial interface, suggesting that PVAT promotes vascular inflammation (75). Compared with non-diseased aorta, inflammatory cells exhibited significantly increased infiltration in PVAT around atherosclerotic aorta (123). During the onset of atherosclerosis in ApoE-/- mice, macrophages, T cells, and dendritic cells were recruited into the adventitia and PVAT (75, 76), in a manner influenced by age (75). In addition, compared with subcutaneous adipose tissue transplantation in mice, carotid artery transplantation of PVAT reportedly causes large lipid rich atherosclerotic lesions in thoracic aorta, as well as high macrophage density and fibrin deposition. The inhibition of leukocyte ligand P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 may provide a therapeutic method to reduce the effects of PVAT inflammation on atherosclerosis (77). PVAT expansion and inflammation in obesity can remotely induce endothelial dysfunction and aggravate atherosclerosis. Transplantation of PVAT from the abdominal aorta of mice that were fed a high-fat diet promoted inflammation (increased expression of TNF- α and MCP-1; decreased expression of APN), endothelial dysfunction, and atherosclerosis in thoracic aorta, suggesting that enhanced inflammation is the potential mechanism by which PVAT exhibits a distal vascular effect (18).

Data from human samples showed that the densities of B lymphocytes and macrophages in PVAT around atherosclerotic plaque increased with plaque size; the corresponding inflammation increased with increasing coronary artery occlusion (67). The number of macrophages in PVAT was also associated with the number of immune cells in plaque (78–80). In addition, the density of macrophages was higher in PVAT near unstable plaque than in PVAT near the stable plaque. The inflammation was stronger in PVAT near stenotic sites and acute lesions than in adipose tissue distant from lesions, in the absence of atherosclerosis (67).

Pro-atherosclerotic mediators derived from dysfunctional PVAT may comprise another mechanism underlying human vascular atherosclerosis (81). Analysis of dysfunctional PVAT has revealed upregulated expression of pro-inflammatory genes, as well as downregulated expression of anti-inflammatory adiponectin (82-84). EAT from patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting showed significantly higher levels of chemokines (MCP-1) and pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α), compared with levels in subcutaneous adipose tissue from the same patients (84). Furthermore, the expression of antiinflammatory APN was significantly lower in EAT samples from patients with severe coronary atherosclerosis than in EAT samples from patients without coronary atherosclerosis (83), suggesting an inflammation imbalance in PVAT from patients with atherosclerosis. The colocalization of macrophages and resistin (an adipokine that can enhance endothelial cell permeability in vitro) in human PVAT indicates that PVAT may participate in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis through various mechanisms (82, 85). Osteoprotegerin, a member of the TNF-related family, is associated with atherosclerotic progression and increased instability; its expression is strongly upregulated in human perivascular adipocytes (124).

Importantly, vascular wall-associated inflammation also affects the dynamic balance of PVAT. In the presence of coronary artery inflammation and atherosclerosis, the release of pro-inflammatory mediators from the vascular wall to the surrounding PVAT leads to altered adipocyte differentiation and intracellular lipid formation, which greatly influences cardiovascular diagnosis and contributes to distinctive imaging findings (86). Noninvasive detection of PVAT can provide structural information and distinguish unstable atherosclerotic lesions. In postmortem studies of human patients, atherosclerotic plaque size and complex lipid core composition were positively associated with PVAT volume and macrophage infiltration (79). Because PVAT inflammation is related to disordered adipocyte differentiation and reduced lipid content in adipocytes, Antonopoulos et al. examined the perivascular CT fat attenuation index (FAI), a water to fat ratio index with good sensitivity and specificity in the differential diagnosis of PVAT inflammation (86). Importantly, they found that the perivascular FAI was greater in unstable plaque than in stable plaque; it was greatest near inflamed coronary arteries. PVAT imaging can provide spatial location information regarding the human coronary arteritis microenvironment, which enables early identification of high-risk plaques and may facilitate further treatment.

Hypertension

Inflammation is an important factor involved in hypertension, which involves high blood pressure and can cause both end organ damage and dysfunction (125, 126). The main site of initial inflammation in hypertension is reportedly within PVAT and the PVAT/adventitia boundary (55, 127). Inflammation leads to the loss of the anti-contractile effect of PVAT, potentially because of adipose tissue dysfunction (128). The production of vasodilators derived from PVAT adipocytes decreases during inflammation, while pro-inflammatory adipokines increasingly infiltrate into the adjacent vascular system (5); these changes enhance vascular inflammation and vascular resistance (68). PVAT inflammation leads to vascular dysfunction in the context of hypertension. Various inflammatory cells participate in this process, which is mediated by a series of cytokines and chemokines; for example, interferon-yis produced by CD8+ cells infiltrating PVAT (55, 87), RANTES mediates the infiltration of T cells into perivascular space (55), and complement C5a mediates decreased APN production (17). These inflammation-related changes exacerbate the proinflammatory crosstalk and dysfunction between PVAT and hypertensive vessels (Table 1).

The infiltration and activation of macrophages dispersed in PVAT are important contributing factors in hypertension-related inflammation. The expression of complement C3 is reportedly increased in PVAT from DOCA-salt hypertensive mice (88), resulting in increased expression of pro-inflammatory M1 macrophage phenotype markers and decreased expression of anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage phenotype markers. Bone marrow-specific C3 deficiency significantly improved DOCAsalt–induced hypertensive vascular hypertrophy and fibrosis (89). Further studies in DOCA-salt hypertensive mice showed that the recruitment of macrophages in PVAT promotes complement activation, induces perivascular inflammation, and increases the production of TNF- α , thereby causing APN downregulation. This is a potential risk factor for hypertension-related vascular inflammation and injury (17), which may be particularly important when considering treatment methods for hypertensionrelated vascular injury. Moreover, in mice with spontaneous hypertension induced by perilipin-1 deletion, PVAT exhibited reduced APN expression, whereas it exhibited enhanced expression of MCP-1, TNF- α , and IL-6; additionally, the anticontractile effect of PVAT was lost. These effects were associated with an increased pro-inflammatory response, as well as higher systolic and diastolic blood pressures in aorta (90).

Increased activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAS) is an important factor in hypertension pathogenesis. With the exception of renin, almost all components of the RAS system are expressed in PVAT, implying key roles in the regulation of hypertension-related perivascular inflammation (72, 129). Lee et al. found that the release of PVAT-derived relaxing factor (PVATRF) from PVAT in spontaneously hypertensive rats was significantly reduced, while the release of Ang II was enhanced (91). In Ang II-induced hypertensive mice, the numbers of leukocytes, T cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells in PVAT were significantly increased (55, 92). In those mice, Ang II significantly increased the expression levels of MCP-1, RANTES, and macrophage inflammatory protein 1α (MIP-1 α , also known as CCL3) in aorta and PVAT. Furthermore, the activation of angiotensin type 1 receptor (AT1 receptor) in PVAT promotes vascular inflammation and endothelial dysfunction (93, 94). Aldosterone may directly promote a pro-inflammatory phenotype in PVAT. Macrophage infiltration and increased C5a expression were detected in adipose tissue from patients with aldosterone-secreting adenoma; these findings were associated with decreased APN expression (17).

Hypertension was more common in obese individuals than in lean individuals. The progress of hypertension is related to the immune response of adipose tissue (130). The antivasoconstrictive properties of healthy PVAT are eliminated in obesity, resulting in increased arterial tension, which is a key mechanism of obesity-related hypertension and vascular dysfunction. Macrophage infiltration in PVAT plays a key role in obesity-related hypertension (95). In mice that were fed a high-fat diet, macrophages accumulated in fat PVAT around the thoracic aorta or mesenteric artery. The absence of class A1 scavenger receptor, a key pattern recognition receptor that regulates macrophage activity, can stimulate the excessive production of vascular endothelial growth factor B in macrophages from PVAT and aorta, increase the accumulation of endothelial lipid in obese mice, and promote obesity-induced elevation of blood pressure (95). Eosinophil-deficient ∆dblGATA-1 mice reportedly lack the anti-contractile function of PVAT and show elevated blood pressure (96). Notably, Withers et al. demonstrated that obesity is accompanied by a significant decrease in the number of eosinophils present in PVAT, which may lead to a loss of its anti-contractile function (97). This effect was restored by replenishment using purified

eosinophils in vessels with intact PVAT or by the use of IL-33 to restore the number of eosinophils in PVAT (96, 97). These findings suggest that PVAT releases an eosinophil-derived soluble anti-contractile factor. This factor is dependent on B3 adrenoceptor activity and independent of other downstream signaling pathways (e.g., APN and nitric oxide) mediated by immune cells (97). Thus, targeting the number of eosinophils in PVAT may constitute a novel method for the treatment of obesity-related hypertension.

Diabetes Mellitus-Related Vascular Dysfunction

The progression of DM eventually involves the development of chronic vascular complications and associated cardiovascular diseases; this cardiovascular disease progression is the leading cause of death in diabetic patients worldwide (131). Endothelial dysfunction is the initial vascular defect in DM; it is associated with DM-related macrovascular and microvascular complications (e.g., coronary heart disease, stroke, peripheral vascular disease, diabetic retinopathy, and kidney disease), which represent the main health burden in patients with DM (132). Inflammation is a major pathophysiological process that mediates DM-related endothelial dysfunction. PVAT is presumed to serve as a mechanistic link between T2DM and vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis (133).

In the context of DM, high glucose stimulation induces PVAT transition to a pro-inflammatory (increased CRP, CCL2, and CD36), pro-oxidant, and vasoconstrictive phenotype (98, 99). PVAT inflammation can promote insulin resistance in the vascular system, resulting in impaired insulin-mediated vasodilation and vascular remodeling and subsequent onset of vascular diseases (99). PVAT obtained from obese db/db mice greatly impaired insulin-mediated vasodilation of the resistance artery in muscle, while PVAT obtained from nonobese mice promoted vasodilation of this artery (100). Furthermore, obesity and the expansion of PVAT in db/db mice cause elimination of insulin-stimulated vasodilation and recovery by blocking inflammation through inhibition of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathway, thus indicating a key role for inflammation in PVAT (100).

Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA)

Inflammatory cell recruitment to aortic media, macrophage activation, and pro-inflammatory molecule production are important mechanisms involved in AAA (134), which contribute to gradual thinning of the aortic media and adventitia (135). Analysis of samples from human patients has shown that AAAs are surrounded by abundant PVAT (103), and the density of PVAT is higher around the aneurysm sac in patients with aortic aneurysm than in healthy neck tissue, suggesting that the deposition of PVAT is related to AAA pathophysiology (104). Overall, PVAT plays a pro-inflammatory role in the development of AAA.

Genome-wide expression profiling has revealed colocalization of PVAT inflammation with AAA, suggesting that biological changes in PVAT may be functionally associated with AAA pathogenesis (105). Changes in PVAT phenotype and function initiate inflammatory signals, stimulating the recruitment and activation of immune cells; the soluble factors produced by immune cells cause matrix degradation, leading to the initiation and progression of AAA (105). PVAT samples from AAA patients showed increased expression of various proinflammatory genes, including IL-8, protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type C, lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine, and CCL5, accompanied by decreased expression of anti-inflammatory genes (e.g., peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma) and increased degradation of extracellular matrix (106). Furthermore, adipose tissue from AAA patients can induce inflammation in healthy VSMCs from control patients, resulting in increased expression of genes involved in aneurysm formation (106). Studies in animal models have shown that PVAT-derived pro-inflammatory factors accelerate the recruitment of macrophages, lymphocytes, and mast cells in the vascular wall (93). Deletion of the AT1a receptor gene in PVAT attenuated AAA development and gelatinolytic activity, as well as the accumulation of macrophages in abdominal aorta and adipose tissue; it also contributed to macrophage polarization from a pro-inflammatory state to an anti-inflammatory state. In addition, obesity-related PVAT dysfunction reportedly promotes Ang II-induced aortic aneurysm formation by secreting plateletderived growth factor-D (PDGF-D). Leukocyte-fibroblast interactions in adventitia enhance the recruitment and activation of local monocytes, leading to aortic aneurysm and aortic dissection (107, 108); PDGF-D stimulates the migration and proliferation of adventitial fibroblasts, as well as the expression of pro-inflammatory factors. Notably, adipocytespecific PDGF-D transgenic mice were more likely to form aortic aneurysm after Ang II infusion, accompanied by increased adventitial inflammation and fibrosis (109). Although multiple studies have shown that macrophages are the key inflammatory cells mediating the formation of AAA (110), immunophenotypic analysis of advanced AAA samples infiltrating the largest expansion site demonstrated that T cells (rather than macrophages) are the main leukocyte subset in AAA; their greatest accumulation occurs in perivascular tissues such as PVAT (111). This discrepancy may be related to differences in AAA stages between studies. However, these findings clearly indicate that inflammation in PVAT and aortic wall contributes to the pathophysiology of AAA; these proposed pathways of inflammatory induction can reveal new therapeutic targets for AAA.

CONCLUSION

PVAT dysfunction is one of the main risk factors for cardiovascular diseases; PVAT is particularly important because of its close proximity to the vascular wall. Therefore, the importance of PVAT in regulating cardiovascular complications cannot be ignored. Further mechanistic research is needed; however, immune dysfunction (i.e., increased presence of pro-inflammatory mediators, rather than anti-inflammatory mediators) and subsequent chronic inflammation play key roles. Crosstalk between PVAT and vascular system occurs in both directions, and it has important roles in vascular homeostasis and disease. In particular, inflammation leads to PVAT dysfunction through inflammatory cells and various proinflammatory factors, thereby exacerbating altered vasodilation, while enhancing vasoconstriction and vascular remodeling; these changes contribute to vascular aging, atherosclerosis, hypertension, and other vascular diseases. In animal and human studies, PVAT dysfunction has been shown to cause various inflammatory vascular diseases, and vascular inflammation is associated with changes in PVAT phenotype; these findings can help to identify vulnerable vascular lesions. Although the mechanism is not entirely clear, the existing evidence shows that PVAT inflammation is a strictly regulated process that occurs in the early stage of vascular disease, which can serve as a valuable target for future treatment. Therefore, further research is needed to explore whether PVAT can be targeted in novel treatments for vascular diseases.

In addition, PVAT-related secretory factors (e.g., adipokines, hormones, and other factors) have important effects on many

REFERENCES

- Potente M, Carmeliet P. The Link Between Angiogenesis and Endothelial Metabolism. Annu Rev Physiol (2017) 79:43–66. doi: 10.1146/annurevphysiol-021115-105134
- Arokiasamy P, Uttamacharya, Kowal P, Capistrant BD, Gildner TE, Thiele E, et al. Chronic Noncommunicable Diseases in 6 Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Findings From Wave 1 of the World Health Organization's Study on Global Ageing and Adult Health (SAGE). *Am J Epidemiol* (2017) 185 (6):414–28. doi: 10.1093/aje/kww125
- Gil-Ortega M, Somoza B, Huang Y, Gollasch M, Fernandez-Alfonso MS. Regional Differences in Perivascular Adipose Tissue Impacting Vascular Homeostasis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 26(7):367–75. doi: 10.1016/ j.tem.2015.04.003
- Queiroz M, Sena CM. Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Age-Related Vascular Disease. Ageing Res Rev (2020) 59:101040. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101040
- Nosalski R, Guzik TJ. Perivascular Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Vascular Disease. Br J Pharmacol (2017) 174(20):3496–513. doi: 10.1111/bph.13705
- Hu H, Garcia-Barrio M, Jiang ZS, Chen YE, Chang L. Roles of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Hypertension and Atherosclerosis. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2021) 34(9):736–49. doi: 10.1089/ars.2020.8103
- Han F, Zhang Y, Shao M, Mu Q, Jiao X, Hou N, et al. C1q/TNF-Related Protein 9 Improves the Anti-Contractile Effects of Perivascular Adipose Tissue via the AMPK-eNOS Pathway in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2018) 45(1):50–7. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681.12851
- Guzik TJ, Mangalat D, Korbut R. Adipocytokines Novel Link Between Inflammation and Vascular Function? J Physiol Pharmacol (2006) 57 (4):505–28.
- Guzik TJ, Marvar PJ, Czesnikiewicz-Guzik M, Korbut R. Perivascular Adipose Tissue as a Messenger of the Brain-Vessel Axis: Role in Vascular Inflammation and Dysfunction. J Physiol Pharmacol (2007) 58(4):591–610.
- Chatterjee TK, Stoll LL, Denning GM, Harrelson A, Blomkalns AL, Idelman G, et al. Proinflammatory Phenotype of Perivascular Adipocytes: Influence of High-Fat Feeding. *Circ Res* (2009) 104(4):541–9. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.108.182998
- Landecho MF, Tuero C, Valenti V, Bilbao I, de la Higuera M, Fruhbeck G. Relevance of Leptin and Other Adipokines in Obesity-Associated Cardiovascular Risk. *Nutrients* (2019) 11(11):2664. doi: 10.3390/ nu11112664
- Choi HM, Doss HM, Kim KS. Multifaceted Physiological Roles of Adiponectin in Inflammation and Diseases. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21 (4):1219. doi: 10.3390/ijms21041219
- 13. Almabrouk TAM, White AD, Ugusman AB, Skiba DS, Katwan OJ, Alganga H, et al. High Fat Diet Attenuates the Anticontractile Activity of Aortic

aspects of the vascular system. PVAT dysfunction promotes the dedifferentiation of perivascular adipocytes, such that they no longer serve as lipid storage cells; in contrast, they become metabolically active synthetic tissues, produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and play key roles in cardiovascular disease-related inflammation (5). Overall, extensive analysis of various adipokines is needed to clearly distinguish the physiological and therapeutic effects of these adipokines in the context of vascular dysfunction.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL and YZ designed the manuscript and wrote part of it, while YC wrote most of it. ZQ revised and corrected the manuscript, and YW and XL completed the design and drawing of figure and table. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

PVAT via a Mechanism Involving AMPK and Reduced Adiponectin Secretion. Front Physiol (2018) 9:51. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00051

- Han F, Li K, Pan R, Xu W, Han X, Hou N, et al. Calycosin Directly Improves Perivascular Adipose Tissue Dysfunction by Upregulating the Adiponectin/ AMPK/eNOS Pathway in Obese Mice. *Food Funct* (2018) 9(4):2409–15. doi: 10.1039/C8FO00328A
- Hou N, Liu Y, Han F, Wang D, Hou X, Hou S, et al. Irisin Improves Perivascular Adipose Tissue Dysfunction via Regulation of the Heme Oxygenase-1/Adiponectin Axis in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2016) 99:188–96. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.09.005
- 16. Han F, Hou N, Liu Y, Huang N, Pan R, Zhang X, et al. Liraglutide Improves Vascular Dysfunction by Regulating a cAMP-Independent PKA-AMPK Pathway in Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Obese Mice. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2019) 120:109537. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.109537
- Ruan CC, Ma Y, Ge Q, Li Y, Zhu LM, Zhang Y, et al. Complement-Mediated Inhibition of Adiponectin Regulates Perivascular Inflammation and Vascular Injury in Hypertension. *FASEB J* (2017) 31(3):1120–9. doi: 10.1096/fj.201600780R
- Horimatsu T, Patel AS, Prasad R, Reid LE, Benson TW, Zarzour A, et al. Remote Effects of Transplanted Perivascular Adipose Tissue on Endothelial Function and Atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* (2018) 32(5):503–10. doi: 10.1007/s10557-018-6821-y
- Badran M, Yassin BA, Lin DTS, Kobor MS, Ayas N, Laher I. Gestational Intermittent Hypoxia Induces Endothelial Dysfunction, Reduces Perivascular Adiponectin and Causes Epigenetic Changes in Adult Male Offspring. J Physiol (2019) 597(22):5349–64. doi: 10.1113/JP277936
- Hou N, Du G, Han F, Zhang J, Jiao X, Sun X. Irisin Regulates Heme Oxygenase-1/Adiponectin Axis in Perivascular Adipose Tissue and Improves Endothelial Dysfunction in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2017) 42(2):603–14. doi: 10.1159/000477864
- Sena CM, Pereira A, Fernandes R, Letra L, Seica RM. Adiponectin Improves Endothelial Function in Mesenteric Arteries of Rats Fed a High-Fat Diet: Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue. *Br J Pharmacol* (2017) 174(20):3514– 26. doi: 10.1111/bph.13756
- Patel VB, Mori J, McLean BA, Basu R, Das SK, Ramprasath T, et al. ACE2 Deficiency Worsens Epicardial Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Cardiac Dysfunction in Response to Diet-Induced Obesity. *Diabetes* (2016) 65 (1):85–95. doi: 10.2337/db15-1425
- Zhou Y, Wei Y, Wang L, Wang X, Du X, Sun Z, et al. Decreased Adiponectin and Increased Inflammation Expression in Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Coronary Artery Disease. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2011) 10:2. doi: 10.1186/ 1475-2840-10-2
- 24. Wang X, Chen Q, Pu H, Wei Q, Duan M, Zhang C, et al. Adiponectin Improves NF-KappaB-Mediated Inflammation and Abates Atherosclerosis

Progression in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice. Lipids Health Dis (2016) 15:33. doi: 10.1186/s12944-016-0202-y

- Zhou H, Zhang Z, Qian G, Zhou J. Omentin-1 Attenuates Adipose Tissue Inflammation via Restoration of TXNIP/NLRP3 Signaling in High-Fat Diet-Induced Obese Mice. Fundam Clin Pharmacol (2020) 34(6):721–35. doi: 10.1111/fcp.12575
- Wang J, Gao Y, Lin F, Han K, Wang X. Omentin-1 Attenuates Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-Induced U937 Macrophages Activation by Inhibiting the TLR4/MyD88/NF-kappaB Signaling. Arch Biochem Biophys (2020) 679:108187. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2019.108187
- Zhou Y, Zhang B, Hao C, Huang X, Li X, Huang Y, et al. Omentin-A Novel Adipokine in Respiratory Diseases. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 19(1):73. doi: 10.3390/ijms19010073
- Leandro A, Queiroz M, Azul L, Seica R, Sena CM. Omentin: A Novel Therapeutic Approach for the Treatment of Endothelial Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetes. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2021) 162:233–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2020.10.021
- Chen Y, Liu F, Han F, Lv L, Tang CE, Xie Z, et al. Omentin-1 Is Associated With Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Cardiac Valve Disease. BMC Cardiovasc Disord (2020) 20(1):214. doi: 10.1186/s12872-020-01478-1
- Du Y, Ji Q, Cai L, Huang F, Lai Y, Liu Y, et al. Association Between Omentin-1 Expression in Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue and Coronary Atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2016) 15:90. doi: 10.1186/s12933-016-0406-5
- 31. Harada K, Shibata R, Ouchi N, Tokuda Y, Funakubo H, Suzuki M, et al. Increased Expression of the Adipocytokine Omentin in the Epicardial Adipose Tissue of Coronary Artery Disease Patients. *Atherosclerosis* (2016) 251:299–304. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.07.003
- Fisher FM, Maratos-Flier E. Understanding the Physiology of FGF21. Annu Rev Physiol (2016) 78:223–41. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021115-105339
- 33. Wang WF, Li SM, Ren GP, Zheng W, Lu YJ, Yu YH, et al. Recombinant Murine Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 Ameliorates Obesity-Related Inflammation in Monosodium Glutamate-Induced Obesity Rats. *Endocrine* (2015) 49(1):119–29. doi: 10.1007/s12020-014-0433-5
- 34. Wang N, Zhao TT, Li SM, Sun X, Li ZC, Li YH, et al. Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 Exerts its Anti-Inflammatory Effects on Multiple Cell Types of Adipose Tissue in Obesity. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2019) 27(3):399–408. doi: 10.1002/oby.22376
- 35. Zhang J, Cheng Y, Gu J, Wang S, Zhou S, Wang Y, et al. Fenofibrate Increases Cardiac Autophagy via FGF21/SIRT1 and Prevents Fibrosis and Inflammation in the Hearts of Type 1 Diabetic Mice. Clin Sci (Lond) (2016) 130(8):625–41. doi: 10.1042/CS20150623
- Wang N, Li JY, Li S, Guo XC, Wu T, Wang WF, et al. Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 Regulates Foam Cells Formation and Inflammatory Response in Ox-LDL-Induced THP-1 Macrophages. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2018) 108:1825–34. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.09.143
- Yu Y, He J, Li S, Song L, Guo X, Yao W, et al. Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 (FGF21) Inhibits Macrophage-Mediated Inflammation by Activating Nrf2 and Suppressing the NF-kappaB Signaling Pathway. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2016) 38:144–52. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2016.05.026
- Haberka M, Machnik G, Kowalowka A, Biedron M, Skudrzyk E, Regulska-Ilow B, et al. Epicardial, Paracardial, and Perivascular Fat Quantity, Gene Expressions, and Serum Cytokines in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease and Diabetes. *Pol Arch Intern Med* (2019) 129(11):738–46. doi: 10.20452/pamw.14961
- 39. Kotulak T, Drapalova J, Kopecky P, Lacinova Z, Kramar P, Riha H, et al. Increased Circulating and Epicardial Adipose Tissue mRNA Expression of Fibroblast Growth Factor-21 After Cardiac Surgery: Possible Role in Postoperative Inflammatory Response and Insulin Resistance. *Physiol Res* (2011) 60(5):757–67. doi: 10.33549/physiolres.932134
- Katsiki N, Mikhailidis DP, Banach M. Leptin, Cardiovascular Diseases and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2018) 39(7):1176–88. doi: 10.1038/aps.2018.40
- Gruzdeva O, Borodkina D, Uchasova E, Dyleva Y, Barbarash O. Leptin Resistance: Underlying Mechanisms and Diagnosis. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* (2019) 12:191–8. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S182406
- Lee MW, Lee M, Oh KJ. Adipose Tissue-Derived Signatures for Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes: Adipokines, Batokines and MicroRNAs. J Clin Med (2019) 8(6):854. doi: 10.3390/jcm8060854

- Gainsford T, Willson TA, Metcalf D, Handman E, McFarlane C, Ng A, et al. Leptin can Induce Proliferation, Differentiation, and Functional Activation of Hemopoietic Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1996) 93(25):14564–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.25.14564
- Sousa AS, Sponton ACS, Trifone CB, Delbin MA. Aerobic Exercise Training Prevents Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction in Thoracic Aorta of Obese Mice. *Front Physiol* (2019) 10:1009. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2019.01009
- Mori K, Tsuchiya K, Nakamura S, Miyachi Y, Shiba K, Ogawa Y, et al. Ipragliflozin-Induced Adipose Expansion Inhibits Cuff-Induced Vascular Remodeling in Mice. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2019) 18(1):83. doi: 10.1186/ s12933-019-0886-1
- 46. Lu D, Wang W, Xia L, Xia P, Yan Y. Gene Expression Profiling Reveals Heterogeneity of Perivascular Adipose Tissues Surrounding Coronary and Internal Thoracic Arteries. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) (2017) 49 (12):1075–82. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmx113
- 47. Drosos I, Chalikias G, Pavlaki M, Kareli D, Epitropou G, Bougioukas G, et al. Differences Between Perivascular Adipose Tissue Surrounding the Heart and the Internal Mammary Artery: Possible Role for the Leptin-Inflammation-Fibrosis-Hypoxia Axis. *Clin Res Cardiol* (2016) 105(11):887–900. doi: 10.1007/s00392-016-0996-7
- Moe KT, Naylynn TM, Yin NO, Khairunnisa K, Allen JC, Wong MC, et al. Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha Induces Aortic Intima-Media Thickening *via* Perivascular Adipose Tissue Inflammation. *J Vasc Res* (2013) 50(3):228–37. doi: 10.1159/000350542
- Kanda H, Tateya S, Tamori Y, Kotani K, Hiasa K, Kitazawa R, et al. MCP-1 Contributes to Macrophage Infiltration Into Adipose Tissue, Insulin Resistance, and Hepatic Steatosis in Obesity. J Clin Invest (2006) 116 (6):1494–505. doi: 10.1172/JCI26498
- Chan CT, Moore JP, Budzyn K, Guida E, Diep H, Vinh A, et al. Reversal of Vascular Macrophage Accumulation and Hypertension by a CCR2 Antagonist in Deoxycorticosterone/Salt-Treated Mice. *Hypertension* (2012) 60(5):1207–12. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.112.201251
- Mateo T, Abu Nabah YN, Abu Taha M, Mata M, Cerda-Nicolas M, Proudfoot AE, et al. Angiotensin II-Induced Mononuclear Leukocyte Interactions With Arteriolar and Venular Endothelium Are Mediated by the Release of Different CC Chemokines. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(9):5577–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.9.5577
- Krensky AM, Ahn YT. Mechanisms of Disease: Regulation of RANTES (CCL5) in Renal Disease. Nat Clin Pract Nephrol (2007) 3(3):164–70. doi: 10.1038/ncpneph0418
- Surmi BK, Hasty AH. The Role of Chemokines in Recruitment of Immune Cells to the Artery Wall and Adipose Tissue. *Vascul Pharmacol* (2010) 52(1-2):27–36. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2009.12.004
- Marques RE, Guabiraba R, Russo RC, Teixeira MM. Targeting CCL5 in Inflammation. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* (2013) 17(12):1439–60. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2013.837886
- 55. Mikolajczyk TP, Nosalski R, Szczepaniak P, Budzyn K, Osmenda G, Skiba D, et al. Role of Chemokine RANTES in the Regulation of Perivascular Inflammation, T-Cell Accumulation, and Vascular Dysfunction in Hypertension. *FASEB J* (2016) 30(5):1987–99. doi: 10.1096/fj.201500088R
- Molica F, Morel S, Kwak BR, Rohner-Jeanrenaud F, Steffens S. Adipokines at the Crossroad Between Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease. *Thromb Haemost* (2015) 113(3):553–66. doi: 10.1160/TH14-06-0513
- Sun X, Hou N, Han F, Guo Y, Hui Z, Du G, et al. Effect of High Free Fatty Acids on the Anti-Contractile Response of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Rat Aorta. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2013) 63:169–74. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.07.018
- Huang N, Mao EW, Hou NN, Liu YP, Han F, Sun XD. Novel Insight Into Perirenal Adipose Tissue: A Neglected Adipose Depot Linking Cardiovascular and Chronic Kidney Disease. World J Diabetes (2020) 11 (4):115–25. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v11.i4.115
- 59. Gomez-Serrano M, Camafeita E, Lopez JA, Rubio MA, Breton I, Garcia-Consuegra I, et al. Differential Proteomic and Oxidative Profiles Unveil Dysfunctional Protein Import to Adipocyte Mitochondria in Obesity-Associated Aging and Diabetes. *Redox Biol* (2017) 11:415–28. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2016.12.013
- 60. Kagota S, Maruyama-Fumoto K, Iwata S, Shimari M, Koyanagi S, Shiokawa Y, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Enhanced Vasodilation in Metabolic

Syndrome Rats by Apelin and N-Acetyl(-)L-Cysteine-Sensitive Factor(s). Int J Mol Sci (2018) 20(1):106. doi: 10.3390/ijms20010106

- 61. Schutz E, Gogiraju R, Pavlaki M, Drosos I, Georgiadis GS, Argyriou C, et al. Age-Dependent and -Independent Effects of Perivascular Adipose Tissue and Its Paracrine Activities During Neointima Formation. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 21(1):282. doi: 10.3390/ijms21010282
- Pan XX, Ruan CC, Liu XY, Kong LR, Ma Y, Wu QH, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Derived Stromal Cells Contribute to Vascular Remodeling During Aging. Aging Cell (2019) 18(4):e12969. doi: 10.1111/acel.12969
- 63. Agabiti-Rosei C, Favero G, De Ciuceis C, Rossini C, Porteri E, Rodella LF, et al. Effect of Long-Term Treatment With Melatonin on Vascular Markers of Oxidative Stress/Inflammation and on the Anticontractile Activity of Perivascular Fat in Aging Mice. *Hypertens Res* (2017) 40(1):41–50. doi: 10.1038/hr.2016.103
- Chang L, Zhao X, Garcia-Barrio M, Zhang J, Eugene Chen Y. MitoNEET in Perivascular Adipose Tissue Prevents Arterial Stiffness in Aging Mice. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* (2018) 32(5):531–9. doi: 10.1007/s10557-018-6809-7
- 65. Bailey-Downs LC, Tucsek Z, Toth P, Sosnowska D, Gautam T, Sonntag WE, et al. Aging Exacerbates Obesity-Induced Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Mice: A Paracrine Mechanism Contributing to Vascular Redox Dysregulation and Inflammation. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2013) 68(7):780–92. doi: 10.1093/gerona/ gls238
- 66. Barandier C, Montani JP, Yang Z. Mature Adipocytes and Perivascular Adipose Tissue Stimulate Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation: Effects of Aging and Obesity. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2005) 289(5):H1807– 13. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01259.2004
- Farias-Itao DS, Pasqualucci CA, Nishizawa A, da Silva LFF, Campos FM, Bittencourt MS, et al. B Lymphocytes and Macrophages in the Perivascular Adipose Tissue Are Associated With Coronary Atherosclerosis: An Autopsy Study. J Am Heart Assoc (2019) 8(24):e013793. doi: 10.1161/JAHA. 119.013793
- Nosalski R, Mikolajczyk T, Siedlinski M, Saju B, Koziol J, Maffia P, et al. Nox1/4 Inhibition Exacerbates Age Dependent Perivascular Inflammation and Fibrosis in a Model of Spontaneous Hypertension. *Pharmacol Res* (2020) 161:105235. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105235
- Srikakulapu P, Upadhye A, Drago F, Perry HM, Bontha SV, McSkimming C, et al. Chemokine Receptor-6 Promotes B-1 Cell Trafficking to Perivascular Adipose Tissue, Local IgM Production and Atheroprotection. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:636013. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.636013
- Tomono Y, Iwai M, Inaba S, Mogi M, Horiuchi M. Blockade of AT1 Receptor Improves Adipocyte Differentiation in Atherosclerotic and Diabetic Models. *Am J Hypertens* (2008) 21(2):206–12. doi: 10.1038/ ajh.2007.50
- Iwai M, Tomono Y, Inaba S, Kanno H, Senba I, Mogi M, et al. AT2 Receptor Deficiency Attenuates Adipocyte Differentiation and Decreases Adipocyte Number in Atherosclerotic Mice. Am J Hypertens (2009) 22(7):784–91. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2009.85
- 72. Galvez-Prieto B, Bolbrinker J, Stucchi P, de Las Heras AI, Merino B, Arribas S, et al. Comparative Expression Analysis of the Renin-Angiotensin System Components Between White and Brown Perivascular Adipose Tissue. *J Endocrinol* (2008) 197(1):55–64. doi: 10.1677/JOE-07-0284
- 73. Chang L, Villacorta L, Li R, Hamblin M, Xu W, Dou C, et al. Loss of Perivascular Adipose Tissue on Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-Gamma Deletion in Smooth Muscle Cells Impairs Intravascular Thermoregulation and Enhances Atherosclerosis. *Circulation* (2012) 126 (9):1067–78. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.104489
- 74. Skiba DS, Nosalski R, Mikolajczyk TP, Siedlinski M, Rios FJ, Montezano AC, et al. Anti-Atherosclerotic Effect of the Angiotensin 1-7 Mimetic AVE0991 Is Mediated by Inhibition of Perivascular and Plaque Inflammation in Early Atherosclerosis. Br J Pharmacol (2017) 174(22):4055–69. doi: 10.1111/ bph.13685
- 75. Moos MP, John N, Grabner R, Nossmann S, Gunther B, Vollandt R, et al. The Lamina Adventitia Is the Major Site of Immune Cell Accumulation in Standard Chow-Fed Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2005) 25(11):2386–91. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000187470.31662.fe
- 76. Galkina E, Kadl A, Sanders J, Varughese D, Sarembock IJ, Ley K. Lymphocyte Recruitment Into the Aortic Wall Before and During

Development of Atherosclerosis is Partially L-Selectin Dependent. J Exp Med (2006) 203(5):1273–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.20052205

- 77. Ohman MK, Luo W, Wang H, Guo C, Abdallah W, Russo HM, et al. Perivascular Visceral Adipose Tissue Induces Atherosclerosis in Apolipoprotein E Deficient Mice. *Atherosclerosis* (2011) 219(1):33–9. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.07.012
- Tavora F, Kutys R, Li L, Ripple M, Fowler D, Burke A. Adventitial Lymphocytic Inflammation in Human Coronary Arteries With Intimal Atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Pathol* (2010) 19(3):e61–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.carpath.2009.02.001
- Verhagen SN, Vink A, van der Graaf Y, Visseren FL. Coronary Perivascular Adipose Tissue Characteristics Are Related to Atherosclerotic Plaque Size and Composition. A Post-Mortem Study. *Atherosclerosis* (2012) 225(1):99– 104. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.08.031
- Kralova Lesna I, Tonar Z, Malek I, Maluskova J, Nedorost L, Pirk J, et al. Is the Amount of Coronary Perivascular Fat Related to Atherosclerosis? *Physiol Res* (2015) 64(Suppl 3):S435–43. doi: 10.33549/physiolres.933151
- Mazzotta C, Basu S, Gower AC, Karki S, Farb MG, Sroczynski E, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Ischemic Heart Disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2021) 41(3):1239-50. doi: 10.1161/ ATVBAHA.120.315865
- 82. Baker AR, Silva NF, Quinn DW, Harte AL, Pagano D, Bonser RS, et al. Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue Expresses a Pathogenic Profile of Adipocytokines in Patients With Cardiovascular Disease. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2006) 5:1. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-5-1
- Iacobellis G, Pistilli D, Gucciardo M, Leonetti F, Miraldi F, Brancaccio G, et al. Adiponectin Expression in Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue *In Vivo* Is Lower in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease. *Cytokine* (2005) 29 (6):251–5. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2004.11.002
- Mazurek T, Zhang L, Zalewski A, Mannion JD, Diehl JT, Arafat H, et al. Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue Is a Source of Inflammatory Mediators. *Circulation* (2003) 108(20):2460–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000099542.57313.C5
- Langheim S, Dreas L, Veschini L, Maisano F, Foglieni C, Ferrarello S, et al. Increased Expression and Secretion of Resistin in Epicardial Adipose Tissue of Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2010) 298(3):H746–53. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00617.2009
- Antonopoulos AS, Sanna F, Sabharwal N, Thomas S, Oikonomou EK, Herdman L, et al. Detecting Human Coronary Inflammation by Imaging Perivascular Fat. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9(398):eaal2658. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aal2658
- Kossmann S, Schwenk M, Hausding M, Karbach SH, Schmidgen MI, Brandt M, et al. Angiotensin II-Induced Vascular Dysfunction Depends on Interferon-Gamma-Driven Immune Cell Recruitment and Mutual Activation of Monocytes and NK-Cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2013) 33(6):1313–9. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.301437
- Ruan CC, Zhu DL, Chen QZ, Chen J, Guo SJ, Li XD, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Derived Complement 3 Is Required for Adventitial Fibroblast Functions and Adventitial Remodeling in Deoxycorticosterone Acetate-Salt Hypertensive Rats. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2010) 30 (12):2568–74. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.215525
- Ruan CC, Ge Q, Li Y, Li XD, Chen DR, Ji KD, et al. Complement-Mediated Macrophage Polarization in Perivascular Adipose Tissue Contributes to Vascular Injury in Deoxycorticosterone Acetate-Salt Mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2015) 35(3):598–606. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA. 114.304927
- Zou L, Wang W, Liu S, Zhao X, Lyv Y, Du C, et al. Spontaneous Hypertension Occurs With Adipose Tissue Dysfunction in Perilipin-1 Null Mice. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2016) 1862(2):182–91. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbadis.2015.10.024
- Lee YC, Chang HH, Chiang CL, Liu CH, Yeh JI, Chen MF, et al. Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Derived Methyl Palmitate in Vascular Tone Regulation and Pathogenesis of Hypertension. *Circulation* (2011) 124 (10):1160–71. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.027375
- 92. Mikolajczyk TP, Nosalski R, Skiba DS, Koziol J, Mazur M, Justo-Junior AS, et al. 1,2,3,4,6-Penta-O-Galloyl-Beta-D-Glucose Modulates Perivascular Inflammation and Prevents Vascular Dysfunction in Angiotensin II-Induced Hypertension. *Br J Pharmacol* (2019) 176(12):1951–65. doi: 10.1111/bph.14583

- Sakaue T, Suzuki J, Hamaguchi M, Suehiro C, Tanino A, Nagao T, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor Promotes Vascular Inflammation and Aneurysm Formation. *Hypertension* (2017) 70 (4):780–9. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.09512
- Kagota S, Maruyama-Fumoto K, Shimari M, McGuire JJ, Shinozuka K. Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor Antagonist Azilsartan Restores Vascular Reactivity Through a Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Independent Mechanism in Rats With Metabolic Syndrome. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* (2019) 33(5):501– 9. doi: 10.1007/s10557-019-06900-1
- Zhu X, Wang Y, Zhu L, Zhu Y, Zhang K, Wang L, et al. Class A1 Scavenger Receptor Prevents Obesity-Associated Blood Pressure Elevation Through Suppressing Overproduction of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor B in Macrophages. *Cardiovasc Res* (2021) 117(2):547–60. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvaa030
- 96. Saxton SN, Whitley AS, Potter RJ, Withers SB, Grencis R, Heagerty AM. Interleukin-33 Rescues Perivascular Adipose Tissue Anticontractile Function in Obesity. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol (2020) 319(6): H1387-H97. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00491.2020
- Withers SB, Forman R, Meza-Perez S, Sorobetea D, Sitnik K, Hopwood T, et al. Eosinophils Are Key Regulators of Perivascular Adipose Tissue and Vascular Functionality. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:44571. doi: 10.1038/srep44571
- Azul L, Leandro A, Boroumand P, Klip A, Seica R, Sena CM. Increased Inflammation, Oxidative Stress and a Reduction in Antioxidant Defense Enzymes in Perivascular Adipose Tissue Contribute to Vascular Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetes. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2020) 146:264–74. doi: 10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2019.11.002
- 99. Ganbaatar B, Fukuda D, Shinohara M, Yagi S, Kusunose K, Yamada H, et al. Empagliflozin Ameliorates Endothelial Dysfunction and Suppresses Atherogenesis in Diabetic Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice. Eur J Pharmacol (2020) 875:173040. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173040
- 100. Meijer RI, Bakker W, Alta CL, Sipkema P, Yudkin JS, Viollet B, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue Control of Insulin-Induced Vasoreactivity in Muscle Is Impaired in Db/Db Mice. *Diabetes* (2013) 62(2):590–8. doi: 10.2337/db11-1603
- 101. Qiu T, Li M, Tanner MA, Yang Y, Sowers JR, Korthuis RJ, et al. Depletion of Dendritic Cells in Perivascular Adipose Tissue Improves Arterial Relaxation Responses in Type 2 Diabetic Mice. *Metabolism* (2018) 85:76–89. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.03.002
- 102. Wang J, Polaki V, Chen S, Bihl JC. Exercise Improves Endothelial Function Associated With Alleviated Inflammation and Oxidative Stress of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Type 2 Diabetic Mice. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2020) 2020:8830537. doi: 10.1155/2020/8830537
- 103. Folkesson M, Vorkapic E, Gulbins E, Japtok L, Kleuser B, Welander M, et al. Inflammatory Cells, Ceramides, and Expression of Proteases in Perivascular Adipose Tissue Adjacent to Human Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. J Vasc Surg (2017) 65(4):1171–9 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2015.12.056
- 104. Dias-Neto M, Meekel JP, van Schaik TG, Hoozemans J, Sousa-Nunes F, Henriques-Coelho T, et al. High Density of Periaortic Adipose Tissue in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2018) 56(5):663– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2018.07.008
- 105. Piacentini L, Werba JP, Bono E, Saccu C, Tremoli E, Spirito R, et al. Genome-Wide Expression Profiling Unveils Autoimmune Response Signatures in the Perivascular Adipose Tissue of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2019) 39(2):237–49. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.311803
- 106. Meekel JP, Dias-Neto M, Bogunovic N, Conceicao G, Sousa-Mendes C, Stoll GR, et al. Inflammatory Gene Expression of Human Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2021) 61 (6):1008–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jvssci.2020.11.011
- 107. Tieu BC, Lee C, Sun H, Lejeune W, Recinos A 3rd, Ju X, et al. An Adventitial IL-6/MCP1 Amplification Loop Accelerates Macrophage-Mediated Vascular Inflammation Leading to Aortic Dissection in Mice. J Clin Invest (2009) 119 (12):3637–51. doi: 10.1172/JCI38308
- 108. Anzai A, Shimoda M, Endo J, Kohno T, Katsumata Y, Matsuhashi T, et al. Adventitial Cxcl1/G-CSF Expression in Response to Acute Aortic Dissection Triggers Local Neutrophil Recruitment and Activation Leading to Aortic Rupture. *Circ Res* (2015) 116(4):612–23. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304918
- 109. Zhang ZB, Ruan CC, Lin JR, Xu L, Chen XH, Du YN, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Derived PDGF-D Contributes to Aortic Aneurysm

Formation During Obesity. *Diabetes* (2018) 67(8):1549-60. doi: 10.2337/ db18-0098

- Blomkalns AL, Gavrila D, Thomas M, Neltner BS, Blanco VM, Benjamin SB, et al. CD14 Directs Adventitial Macrophage Precursor Recruitment: Role in Early Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Formation. J Am Heart Assoc (2013) 2 (2):e000065. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.112.000065
- 111. Sagan A, Mikolajczyk TP, Mrowiecki W, MacRitchie N, Daly K, Meldrum A, et al. T Cells Are Dominant Population in Human Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms and Their Infiltration in the Perivascular Tissue Correlates With Disease Severity. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1979. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2019.01979
- 112. Paneni F, Diaz Cañestro C, Libby P, Lüscher TF, Camici GG. The Aging Cardiovascular System: Understanding It at the Cellular and Clinical Levels. J Am Coll Cardiol (2017) 69(15):1952–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.01.064
- 113. Liu Y, Du X, Huang Z, Zheng Y, Quan N. Sestrin 2 Controls the Cardiovascular Aging Process via an Integrated Network of Signaling Pathways. Ageing Res Rev (2020) 62:101096. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101096
- 114. Sun W, Wang Y, Zheng Y, Quan N. The Emerging Role of Sestrin2 in Cell Metabolism, and Cardiovascular and Age-Related Diseases. Aging Dis (2020) 11(1):154–63. doi: 10.14336/AD.2019.0320
- 115. Ungvari Z, Tarantini S, Donato AJ, Galvan V, Csiszar A. Mechanisms of Vascular Aging. Circ Res (2018) 123(7):849-67. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.118.311378
- 116. Butterfield DA, Poon HF. The Senescence-Accelerated Prone Mouse (SAMP8): A Model of Age-Related Cognitive Decline With Relevance to Alterations of the Gene Expression and Protein Abnormalities in Alzheimer's Disease. *Exp Gerontol* (2005) 40(10):774–83. doi: 10.1016/ j.exger.2005.05.007
- Libby P. Inflammation in Atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2012) 32(9):2045–51. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179705
- 118. Ahmadieh S, Kim HW, Weintraub NL. Potential Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Modulating Atherosclerosis. *Clin Sci (Lond)* (2020) 134 (1):3–13. doi: 10.1042/CS20190577
- 119. Xiong W, Zhao X, Villacorta L, Rom O, Garcia-Barrio MT, Guo Y, et al. Brown Adipocyte-Specific PPARgamma (Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma) Deletion Impairs Perivascular Adipose Tissue Development and Enhances Atherosclerosis in Mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2018) 38(8):1738–47. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.311367
- 120. Srikakulapu P, Upadhye A, Rosenfeld SM, Marshall MA, McSkimming C, Hickman AW, et al. Perivascular Adipose Tissue Harbors Atheroprotective IgM-Producing B Cells. *Front Physiol* (2017) 8:719. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2017.00719
- 121. Terada K, Yamada H, Kikai M, Wakana N, Yamamoto K, Wada N, et al. Transplantation of Periaortic Adipose Tissue Inhibits Atherosclerosis in Apoe(-/-) Mice by Evoking TGF-Beta1-Mediated Anti-Inflammatory Response in Transplanted Graft. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2018) 501(1):145–51. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.04.196
- 122. Li C, Wang Z, Wang C, Ma Q, Zhao Y. Perivascular Adipose Tissue-Derived Adiponectin Inhibits Collar-Induced Carotid Atherosclerosis by Promoting Macrophage Autophagy. *PloS One* (2015) 10(5):e0124031. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0124031
- 123. Henrichot E, Juge-Aubry CE, Pernin A, Pache JC, Velebit V, Dayer JM, et al. Production of Chemokines by Perivascular Adipose Tissue: A Role in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2005) 25 (12):2594–9. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000188508.40052.35
- 124. Chatterjee TK, Aronow BJ, Tong WS, Manka D, Tang Y, Bogdanov VY, et al. Human Coronary Artery Perivascular Adipocytes Overexpress Genes Responsible for Regulating Vascular Morphology, Inflammation, and Hemostasis. *Physiol Genomics* (2013) 45(16):697–709. doi: 10.1152/ physiolgenomics.00042.2013
- 125. McMaster WG, Kirabo A, Madhur MS, Harrison DG. Inflammation, Immunity, and Hypertensive End-Organ Damage. Circ Res (2015) 116 (6):1022–33. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303697
- 126. Xiao L, Harrison DG. Inflammation in Hypertension. *Can J Cardiol* (2020) 36(5):635–47. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2020.01.013
- Harrison DG, Guzik TJ, Lob HE, Madhur MS, Marvar PJ, Thabet SR, et al. Inflammation, Immunity, and Hypertension. *Hypertension* (2011) 57 (2):132–40. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.163576

- Oriowo MA. Perivascular Adipose Tissue, Vascular Reactivity and Hypertension. Med Princ Pract (2015) 24(Suppl 1):29–37. doi: 10.1159/000356380
- 129. Nguyen Dinh Cat A, Touyz RM. A New Look at the Renin-Angiotensin System–Focusing on the Vascular System. *Peptides* (2011) 32(10):2141–50. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2011.09.010
- DeMarco VG, Aroor AR, Sowers JR. The Pathophysiology of Hypertension in Patients With Obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2014) 10(6):364–76. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2014.44
- Naveed A, Farrukh L, Sana MK, Naveed B, Randhawa FA. Pharmacological Primary Prevention of Diabetes Mellitus Type II: A Narrative Review. *Cureus* (2020) 12(8):e10033. doi: 10.7759/cureus.10033
- 132. Einarson TR, Acs A, Ludwig C, Panton UH. Prevalence of Cardiovascular Disease in Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Literature Review of Scientific Evidence From Across the World in 2007-2017. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2018) 17(1):83. doi: 10.1186/s12933-018-0728-6
- Calabro P, Yeh ET. Obesity, Inflammation, and Vascular Disease: The Role of the Adipose Tissue as an Endocrine Organ. *Subcell Biochem* (2007) 42:63– 91. doi: 10.1007/1-4020-5688-5_3
- Hellenthal FA, Buurman WA, Wodzig WK, Schurink GW. Biomarkers of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Progression. Part 2: Inflammation. Nat Rev Cardiol (2009) 6(8):543–52. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2009.102

135. Gurung R, Choong AM, Woo CC, Foo R, Sorokin V. Genetic and Epigenetic Mechanisms Underlying Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotypic Modulation in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21 (17):6334. doi: 10.3390/ijms21176334

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chen, Qin, Wang, Li, Zheng and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





COVID-19 and Obesity: Role of Ectopic Visceral and Epicardial Adipose Tissues in Myocardial Injury

Adèle Lasbleiz^{1,2}, Bénédicte Gaborit^{1,2}, Astrid Soghomonian¹, Axel Bartoli^{3,4}, Patricia Ancel², Alexis Jacquier^{3,4} and Anne Dutour^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Metabolic Diseases and Nutrition, Pôle ENDO, APHM, Marseille, France, ² Aix Marseille Univ, INSERM, INRAE, C2VN, Marseille, France, ³ Aix Marseille Univ, CNRS, CRMBM, Marseille, France, ⁴ Department of Medical Imaging, Hôpital Universitaire Timone APHM, Marseille, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cheng-Chao Ruan, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Xiaoxiang Yan, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Wai San Cheang, University of Macau, China

> *Correspondence: Anne Dutour Anne.DUTOUR@ap-hm.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 17 June 2021 Accepted: 27 July 2021 Published: 16 August 2021

Citation:

Lasbleiz A, Gaborit B, Soghomonian A, Bartoli A, Ancel P, Jacquier A and Dutour A (2021) COVID-19 and Obesity: Role of Ectopic Visceral and Epicardial Adipose Tissues in Myocardial Injury. Front. Endocrinol. 12:726967. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.726967 In March 2020, the WHO declared coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), a global pandemic. Obesity was soon identified as a risk factor for poor prognosis, with an increased risk of intensive care admissions and mechanical ventilation, but also of adverse cardiovascular events. Obesity is associated with adipose tissue, chronic low-grade inflammation, and immune dysregulation with hypertrophy and hyperplasia of adipocytes and overexpression of pro-inflammatory cytokines. However, to implement appropriate therapeutic strategies, exact mechanisms must be clarified. The role of white visceral adipose tissue, increased in individuals with obesity, seems important, as a viral reservoir for SARS-CoV-2 via angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors. After infection of host cells, the activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines creates a setting conducive to the "cytokine storm" and macrophage activation syndrome associated with progression to acute respiratory distress syndrome. In obesity, systemic viral spread, entry, and prolonged viral shedding in already inflamed adipose tissue may spur immune responses and subsequent amplification of a cytokine cascade, causing worse outcomes. More precisely, visceral adipose tissue, more than subcutaneous fat, could predict intensive care admission; and lower density of epicardial adipose tissue (EAT) could be associated with worse outcome. EAT, an ectopic adipose tissue that surrounds the myocardium, could fuel COVID-19-induced cardiac injury and myocarditis, and extensive pneumopathy, by strong expression of inflammatory mediators that could diffuse paracrinally through the vascular wall. The purpose of this review is to ascertain what mechanisms may be involved in unfavorable prognosis among COVID-19 patients with obesity, especially cardiovascular events, emphasizing the harmful role of excess ectopic adipose tissue, particularly EAT.

Keywords: epicardial adipose tissue, COVID-19, obesity, cardiac injury, adipose tissue, ectopic fat, inflammation, immunity

INTRODUCTION

Since December 2019, a global pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), first reported in Wuhan, China, has been raging (1). Obesity, whose prevalence is rising worldwide, is currently a major public health issue. It was soon recognized as a risk factor for worse outcomes of COVID-19 (2), including the occurrence of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), but also adverse cardiovascular events in up to 28% of hospitalized patients (3). The role of ectopic fat depots, especially increased amounts of epicardial adipose tissue (EAT), has drawn interest in the COVID-19 setting because this cardiac adiposity could fuel critical illness in patients with obesity. The purpose of this review is to ascertain what mechanisms may be involved in the unfavorable prognosis of COVID-19 patients with obesity, especially cardiovascular events, emphasizing the harmful role of excess ectopic adipose tissue, particularly EAT.

COVID-19 PATHOGENESIS-KEY POINTS

The mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 viral transmission and pathogenesis are now better understood and may explain why some patients appear to be at greater risk of severe forms. SARS-CoV-2 infects the host cells by binding of the viral spike (S) proteins, present on the viral envelope, to cellular angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors and then by employing cellular serine protease TMPRSS2 for S protein priming and plasma membrane fusion (4). This enables endocytosis of the virion and entry of the viral genome into the host cell cytoplasm, followed by endosomal acidification, viral replication, and shedding of virion particles (5). Type II alveolar cells, kidney cells, myocardial cells, nasal, ileum, esophagus epithelial cells, pancreatic cells, and, interestingly, adipocytes (6-8) have been identified with high ACE2 expression and could increase SARS-CoV-2 infection and replication as demonstrated in a mouse model and HeLa cells (9, 10). Infection results in cell apoptosis, which triggers the activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. It has been demonstrated that SARS-CoV-2-infected patients, especially those requiring admission to intensive care units (ICUs), have large amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines than healthy patients without SARS-CoV-2 infection (11). One of the mechanisms explaining rapid disease progression could be the "cytokine storm", a dysregulated, excessive systemic cytokine release (12). Studies have shown that serum levels of IL-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α), granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), interferon-y-inducible protein 10 (IP-10), monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), or macrophage inflammatory protein 1- α , among others, are higher in patients with severe conditions (i.e., requiring transfer to an ICU or mechanical ventilation or who died) than in other infected patients (13, 14). Obesity is known to be associated with a state of chronic low-grade inflammation that might be a risk factor for developing a cytokine storm form during COVID-19 disease.

OBESITY: A RISK FACTOR FOR BAD COVID-19 OUTCOMES

Obesity is increasing worldwide and is today clearly recognized as a critical risk factor for various infections, post-infection complications, and mortality from severe infection (15, 16). In particular, since the 2009 influenza A H1N1 outbreak, patients with obesity have been found to be at greater risk of severe disease and have needed more mechanical ventilation (17, 18). During the COVID-19 pandemic, poor prognostic factors have emerged such as male sex, older age, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and the presence of prior cardiovascular or respiratory disease. These factors were associated with a greater risk of developing critical or fatal conditions (2, 19). Obesity was also soon recognized as an independent risk factor associated with worse outcomes (20, 21). The United Kingdom was the first to reveal in March 2020, through a report from the Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre (ICNARC), that twothirds of patients who developed serious or fatal complications following infection were overweight or obese. A US study including 5,700 patients hospitalized in New York City for COVID-19 reported that the prevalence of obesity in recovered patients was twice that in the population around the hospital (41.7% vs. 22%) (22). A pooled meta-analysis including 19 studies showed that individuals with obesity were 113% more at risk of hospitalization (p < 0.0001) (23). This was confirmed by another study including 45,650 participants from nine countries worldwide and showing an odds ratio of 2.36 (95%CI: 1.37, 4.07, *P* = 0.002) for hospitalization, and 2.63 (95%CI: 1.32, 5.25, *P* = 0.006) for invasive mechanical ventilation support (24). It has also been shown that individuals with obesity are more likely to be managed in ICUs with a need for orotracheal intubation for mechanical ventilation especially if patients are young (23, 25-27). In CORONADO, a multicentric French study of COVID-19 infection in hospitalized patients with diabetes, body mass index (BMI) was the only pre-admission criterion associated with orotracheal intubation and death at D7 especially in patients younger than 75 years (28, 29). In a French cohort of 5,795 patients hospitalized for COVID-19 infection, obesity doubled mortality in all age groups (30).

ECTOPIC FAT AND ADIPOSE TISSUE DYSFUNCTION: KEY ELEMENTS IN THE COMPLICATIONS OF OBESITY

Regional distribution of adipose tissue and the development of ectopic fat are major determinants of metabolic and cardiovascular diseases (31, 32). Dysfunction of subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) limits its expandability and leads to ectopic fat deposition.

Adipose Tissue Dysfunction

During weight gain, adipose tissue undergoes multiple structural and cellular remodeling processes (33) leading to a dysfunctional

tissue. Firstly, during chronic positive energy balance, mature adipocytes expand, becoming hypertrophic to store more fat. If this extra energy is not used, cell numbers increase in adipose tissue, which then becomes hyperplastic (34). Hyperplastic and hypertrophic adipocytes are often hypoxic, partly explaining the development of inflammation (35). Secondly, hypoxia also induces the production of HIF-1 α , which in turn leads to a potent profibrotic transcriptional program with extracellular matrix (ECM) component accumulation, leading to fibrosis and adipose tissue dysfunction (36, 37). Concurrently, immune cells infiltrate the adipose tissue, and pro-inflammatory cytokines are overexpressed (33). Under lean conditions, high M2/M1 ratio, eosinophils, and regulatory T cells, which secrete IL-4/IL-13 and IL-10, lead to an anti-inflammatory phenotype. In obesity, activation of several stress pathways such as endoplasmic reticulum stress, oxidative stress, and inflammasome (38), but also hypoxia, induces a shift in innate immunity and lymphoid cells and a modification of macrophagic signature with a rapid shift in polarization toward an M1 phenotype, associated with adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance (35, 39, 40). A chronic low-grade inflammation state is therefore mainly explained by immune cell imbalance in dysfunctional adipose tissue. Stressed adipocytes release free fatty acids (FFAs) and secrete chemokines that lead to inflammatory immune cell infiltration secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines (41). Intestinal microbiota dysbiosis can also trigger inflammation by activation of immunesignaling pathways (42). The dysfunction of SAT leads to the release of FFAs to peripheral organs and ectopic fat deposition such as EAT.

Epicardial Adipose Tissue and Cardiovascular Risk

In the last decade, it has been demonstrated that ectopic fat depots localized around the heart contribute to the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease, independently of other visceral depots (43, 44). EAT is an ectopic fat depot located between the myocardium and the visceral pericardium in close contact with coronary vessels (45). With no fascia separating the tissues, local interaction and cellular crosstalk between myocytes and adipocytes can occur. EAT is an extremely active endocrine organ with a high capacity for releasing and taking up FFAs. It is thought that EAT has protective functions as a mechanical shock absorber against pulse waves, a regulator of FFA homeostasis, and, in a more recent work, a thermogenic factor (46-49). It is a major source of adipokines, chemokines, and cytokines, interacting paracrinally or vasocrinally with vascular cells or myocytes (44). Expression and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-1 β , MCP-1, TNF- α , etc.) have been found to be higher in EAT than in subcutaneous fat (50), partly by the upregulation of nuclear factor κB (NF-κB) and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK). It was hypothesized to accentuate vascular inflammation, plaque instability via apoptosis (TNF- α), and neovascularization (MCP-1).

Using a pangenomic and unbiased lipidomic approach, we previously reported that EAT has a specific transcriptomic and

lipidomic signature particularly enriched in inflammation, extracellular matrix remodeling, immune signaling, thrombosis, beiging, coagulation, apoptosis, and lipotoxic pathways with an enrichment in ceramides, diglycerides, and monoglycerides compared with SAT, especially in patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) (47, 51). Furthermore, we previously demonstrated that human EAT secretome induced marked fibrosis of myocardial atria through the secretion of adipo-fibrokines, such as activin A (52). Activin A was shown to be enhanced in patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction and was abundantly expressed in EAT of type 2 diabetes (T2D) patients with obesity (53).

EAT thickness, volume, and density can be assessed by various imaging techniques such as echocardiography (54), computed tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (55). Higher EAT volume and lower density were associated with coronary calcification and serum levels of plaque inflammatory markers (56). EAT has been shown to be associated with CAD and the occurrence of major adverse cardiovascular events in many studies (57-60). It is correlated with the extent and severity of CAD, chest pain, unstable angina, and coronary flow reserve (61, 62) and could be a marker of the atherosclerotic burden even in asymptomatic patients (63, 64). EAT may also play a role in the development of atrial fibrillation (AF) (65) by infiltration of adipocytes in the atrial myocardium, mechanical effect on left atrial pressure stretch and wall stress, fibrosis, and inflammation, which can lead to structural and electrical remodeling and cardiac automatic system activation (44).

Obesity thus leads to an increase in ectopic fat deposition, particularly at the epicardial level, which may partly explain the increase in adverse cardiovascular events in this condition. Moreover, the pro-inflammatory phenotype of adipose tissue makes this organ a target for further immune amplification by external pathogens, such as SARS-CoV-2. In the current context of COVID-19 infection, we will see how dysfunction of the adipose tissue leads to a higher risk of severe-form COVID-19.

DYSFUNCTIONAL ADIPOSE TISSUE IN OBESITY: A KEY TO UNDERSTANDING BAD OUTCOMES DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Immune and Metabolic Derangement as a Possible Link to Worse Outcomes in Obesity

It has been demonstrated that host cell entry of SARS-CoV-2 depending on ACE2 receptors and overexpression of human ACE2 can increase viral infection and replication. Some studies have demonstrated that the expression of ACE2 in adipocytes is higher than that in the lungs, which can act as an important viral reservoir (7, 66). Experimental studies on mice showed an increased expression of ACE2 in adipocytes in case of a high-fat diet (67). In obesity, excess adipose tissue may thus increase SARS-CoV-2 infection and accessibility to the tissue, leading to

an increased viral systemic spread, entry, and prolonged viral shedding (68), as seen during the influenza A epidemic. After infection of host cells, the recruitment of pro-inflammatory cytokines and impaired lymphocyte T cells culminates in a cytokine storm associated with progression to ARDS and multi-organ failure (13). In severe respiratory forms, patients with COVID-19 infection showed macrophage activation syndrome. There is a depletion of lymphocytes CD4 and CD8 (69) but a higher ratio of pro-inflammatory Th17 cells and high secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-2, IL-6, and TNF- α (70, 71). In obesity, dysfunctional hypertrophic adipocytes overproduce pro-inflammatory cytokines, leading to a chronic lowgrade inflammation state. This in turn causes metabolic and immune derangement, making a cytokine storm more likely (72). The dysfunction of an adaptative immune system with increased pro-inflammatory LTCD4⁺ and impaired T-cell function could also increase this risk. In this regard, the PD-1/ PDL-1 immune checkpoint could increase within the visceral adipose tissue (VAT) of individuals with obesity. PD-1 is expressed by T cells and interacts with receptor PDL-1 to inhibit cytotoxic T cell responses. A recent study showed that T cells of individuals with obesity increased PD-1 expression, leading to T-cell exhaustion and dysfunction (73). During severe COVID-19, the number of TCD4⁺ and TCD8⁺ is also reduced, and expression of PD-1 is increased (74). Interestingly, Alzaid et al. observed particularly low levels of cytotoxic CD8⁺ lymphocytes and increased monocyte size and monocytopenia restricted to classical CD14^{Hi} CD16⁻ monocytes, which were specifically associated with severe COVID-19 in patients with T2D requiring intensive care (75). Monocyte loss was accompanied by morphological alteration and a hyperinflammatory expression profile consistent with the type 1 interferon pathway (IL-6, IL-8, CCL2, and INFB-1). This particular immunophenotype could be a clue to a better understanding of the increased risk of severe forms in individuals with obesity by the escape of SARS-CoV-2 from lysis.

More recently, a significant increase in IL-1 β level in plasma was reported in COVID-19 patients (11), suggesting that the NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain-containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome might be involved in the pathogenesis of infection and lung injury. NLRP3 is a multiprotein complex present in macrophages, dendritic cells, and other non-immune cells. The activation of NLRP3 as a pivotal component of the innate immune system plays a critical role in the host defense but is also associated with metabolic and inflammatory conditions (76). During SARS-CoV-2 infection, the intense and rapid stimulation of immune system response could trigger activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome pathway and the release of its products including IL-6 and IL-1 β (77), which could be involved in maintaining inflammation. Viral infection could potentiate this underlying systemic inflammatory state, which could partly explain worse outcomes in obese patients (78).

It has also been demonstrated that individuals with obesity display white adipose tissue depot in large airway walls, proportionally to BMI, which could lead to airway thickening, immune cell infiltration, and then tissue damage and fibrosis in the lungs (79, 80). Also found in the lungs, lipofibroblasts, adipose-like cells composed of lipid droplets and located in the alveolar interstitium, could transdifferentiate to myofibroblasts and lead to pulmonary fibrosis (5, 7).

There would then be a higher expression of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 in lung epithelial cells from individuals with obesity than in those without, as demonstrated *in vitro* (81).

These conditions could be another basis for the elevated occurrence of ARDS in obese individuals with obesity.

These different elements partly explain the role of adipose visceral tissue in critical COVID-19 infection, as a viral reservoir and by increasing immune responses with consequences for cytokine cascade amplification and severe forms of the disease. VAT and EAT could be markers of severity, and recent studies also show that it could be implicated in myocardial injury.

Visceral Adipose Tissue and Epicardial Adipose Tissue as Markers of Myocardial Injury

Cardiac complications have been reported in 28% of patients hospitalized for COVID-19 infection (3, 82, 83). Myocardial injury and myocarditis with elevated troponin occurs in 7%-17% of hospitalized patients and are associated with an increased risk of adverse outcomes (84, 85). Acute myocarditis represents a significant diagnostic challenge because of its varied clinical presentations and risk of worse outcomes such as heart failure. Changes in electrocardiograms, elevated cardiac biomarkers, and impaired cardiac function should be considered as alerts pointing to acute myocarditis (86). Remarkably, no culprit injury was found in 40% of patients with COVID-19 presenting ST-elevation myocardial infarction (87), which could be promoted by hypercoagulability, endothelial dysfunction, microvascular damage, hypoxia-induced injury, myocarditis, or systemic inflammatory cytokine storm syndrome. In several studies, cardiac troponin I level was found to be associated with more severe disease and mortality, making myocardial damage a prognostic factor (88, 89). Furthermore, dysrhythmias linked to hypoxia, inflammatory stress, and therapeutics affect up to 17% of hospitalized patients (90, 91). Finally, some studies report that heart failure may be present in 23% of patients hospitalized for COVID-19, half of whom had no history of hypertension or cardiovascular disease.

The mechanisms of these cardiac events are not fully clarified, and ectopic fat and EAT could be important triggers of their development. More than just BMI, several reports have shown that VAT volume measured by CT is associated with critical illness in patients with COVID-19 entailing hospitalization (92), intensive care need, or death (93–96). According to Favre et al., a visceral fat area ≥128.5 cm² was the best predictive value for severe COVID-19 (93). Further, EAT, known to be strongly correlated with VAT, has been associated with the occurrence of cardiac events in COVID-19 infection.

CT imaging of the EAT allows adipose tissue inflammation to be characterized by quantifying CT threshold attenuation.

The group of Iacobellis showed that density of EAT, reflecting inflammatory changes, significantly increased with increasing COVID-19 severity compared to discharged patients (97). Furthermore, EAT mean attenuation was negatively correlated to high-sensitivity troponin T levels and peripheral oxygen saturation (97). Another international multicenter study on 109 patients showed that volume and attenuation of EAT measured by CT was associated with extent of pneumonia and were independent predictors of clinical deterioration or death (98). This study used a fully automated three-dimensional measurement of EAT and demonstrated that EAT volume can predict clinical deterioration or death independently of clinical factors such as age, diabetes, hypertension, or smoking history (99). This suggests the importance of automated measurement of EAT for COVID-19 risk stratification. An increased EAT volume was associated with lung dysfunction even in healthy individuals (100), and the close proximity of EAT to the pulmonary circulation could enable direct diffusion of inflammatory mediators. According to Wei et al., EAT volume appeared to be an independent predictor of myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19 (OR = 3.06) with a maximal cutoff value of 137.1 cm² (89) after adjustment for age, weight, history of cardiovascular disease, and dyslipidemia. This work performed in a large cohort of 400 patients from six Chinese hospitals clearly indicates that EAT volume enlargement may predict the development of myocardial injury. However, the cutoff needs to be evaluated in ethnically diverse cohorts. Furthermore, EAT was significantly higher in severe cases of COVID-19 groups, i.e., with signs of respiratory distress (101). In a recent study, Iacobellis et al. showed that on 427 infected patients, use of dexamethasone reduced EAT attenuation (102). EAT could therefore also serve as a therapeutic target for antiinflammatory treatment. All these studies indicate that EAT volume and inflammation itself are associated with COVID-19 severity and adverse cardiac events.

The mechanisms of these cardiac events are not fully elucidated, and EAT could be a clue to understanding them. First, epicardial fat cells seemed to express higher levels of ACE2 than subcutaneous fat cells, which could make them a viral reservoir in COVID-19 infection. A study on EAT and SAT biopsies from 43 patients who underwent open-heart surgery identified higher levels of ACE2 (p < 0.05) but lower ADAM-17 (p < 0.001), with its cleavage enzyme in EAT compared with subcutaneous fat. Obesity and T2D exacerbated this difference in patients with cardiovascular disease (103). In an animal study, ACE2 was upregulated in murine EAT in association with highfat diet. Loss of ACE2 in knock-out diet-induced-obesity (ACE2KO-DIO) mice increased macrophage polarization to a pro-inflammatory phenotype and EAT inflammation compared with wild-type and control diet mice. The same study showed that in human EAT from obese patients with heart failure, ACE2 was increased and was also associated with pro-inflammatory macrophage phenotype compared with lean patients (104, 105). Voluminous and hypervascularized EAT in individuals with obesity could facilitate viral spread, immune response, and greater pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion. Volume of EAT was positively correlated with inflammatory biomarkers during COVID-19 infection in a study of 100 patients (106), with a significant positive mild association with neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio (r = 0.33, p = 0.001) and platelet-to-



FIGURE 1 | Impact of obesity and inflammation of epicardial adipose tissue on COVID-19 outcome. CVD, cardiovascular disease; EAT, epicardial adipose tissue; OSA, obstructive sleep apnea; T2D, type 2 diabetes.

lymphocyte ratio (r = 0.25, p = 0.01) but a negative correlation with lymphocyte-to-C-reactive protein (CRP) ratio (r = -0.25, p = 0.02). Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 are expressed at higher levels in EAT of individuals with obesity linked to a reduction of inotropic effect and cardiac function resulting in hypoxia and systemic myocardial inflammatory response (43). By taking advantage of more ACE2-binding sites, which ultimately lead to an augmented inflammatory signaling cascade, EAT inflammation could contribute to myocardial complications, such as myocarditis or cardiomyocyte dysfunction (107), and then heart failure. Furthermore, it has recently been shown that EAT adipocytes can release exosomes that can enter cardiac cells via endocytosis (105). This suggests numerous mechanisms by which EAT could impair cardiac function, particularly via the transfer of microRNAs from EAT to the myocardium and could help mediate SARS-CoV-2 entry into the heart, causing direct cardiac effects.

COVID-19 thus induces an immune-mediated inflammatory response, and EAT may transduce this inflammation to the heart. It can be implicated in COVID-19 myocarditis by its contiguity with the myocardium and its pro-inflammatory secretome reaching the myo-pericardium directly by the vasa vasorum and paracrinally (108–110).

EAT thus contributes to bad outcomes during COVID-19 infection. We and others have shown that EAT significantly responds to drugs targeting the fat (44). EAT not only is a marker of inflammation, but it can be a target to anti-inflammatory treatment. Further studies on the impact of COVID treatment on EAT volume and inflammation are needed.

All these elements are summarized in Figure 1.

REFERENCES

- Guan W-J, Ni Z-Y, Hu Y, Liang W-H, Ou C-Q, He J-X, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med (2020) 382:1708–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2002032
- Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and Important Lessons From the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak in China: Summary of a Report of 72 314 Cases From the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. *JAMA* (2020) 323:1239–42. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.2648
- Guo T, Fan Y, Chen M, Wu X, Zhang L, He T, et al. Cardiovascular Implications of Fatal Outcomes of Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Cardiol* (2020) 5:1–8. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1017
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. *Cell* (2020) 181:271– 80.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- Pasquarelli-do-Nascimento G, Braz-de-Melo HA, Faria SS, Santos I de O, Kobinger GP, Magalhães KG. Hypercoagulopathy and Adipose Tissue Exacerbated Inflammation May Explain Higher Mortality in COVID-19 Patients With Obesity. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2020) 11:530. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00530
- Zou X, Chen K, Zou J, Han P, Hao J, Han Z. Single-Cell RNA-Seq Data Analysis on the Receptor ACE2 Expression Reveals the Potential Risk of Different Human Organs Vulnerable to 2019-Ncov Infection. *Front Med* (2020) 14(2):185–92. doi: 10.1007/s11684-020-0754-0
- Kruglikov IL, Scherer PE. The Role of Adipocytes and Adipocyte-Like Cells in the Severity of COVID-19 Infections. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2020) 28:1187– 90. doi: 10.1002/oby.22856

CONCLUSION

Obesity is a major risk factor for COVID-19. Identifying patients with obesity who are at high risk of ICU need is crucial. Multiple studies have demonstrated that ectopic fat accumulation, especially EAT, is a major driver of COVID-19 severity in such patients. This unique potentially inflamed EAT depot may play a direct role in COVID-19 cardiac injury, acting as a fuel through its specific anatomical contact with the myocardium and its inflammatory status. Large studies with systematic evaluation of EAT volume and CT scan attenuation together with evaluation of pulmonary involvement are needed. Deep learning algorithms leading to new fully automated three-dimensional methods for the measurement of EAT will help improve clinical risk stratification.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization, AD and BG. Writing—original draft preparation, AL, AB, PA, AS, AD, and BG. Writing—review and editing, AJ, AD, and BG. Supervision, AD and BG. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

GIRCI (Groupement interrégional de recherche clinique et d'innovation) Méditerranée VALO-DATA 2020.

- Müller JA, Groß R, Conzelmann C, Krüger J, Merle U, Steinhart J, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Infects and Replicates in Cells of the Human Endocrine and Exocrine Pancreas. *Nat Metab* (2021) 3:149–65. doi: 10.1038/s42255-021-00347-1
- Yang X-H, Deng W, Tong Z, Liu Y-X, Zhang L-F, Zhu H, et al. Mice Transgenic for Human Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 Provide a Model for SARS Coronavirus Infection. *Comp Med* (2007) 57:450–9.
- Zhou P, Yang X-L, Wang X-G, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, et al. A Pneumonia Outbreak Associated With a New Coronavirus of Probable Bat Origin. *Nature* (2020) 579:270–3. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical Features of Patients Infected With 2019 Novel Coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet* (2020) 395:497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- 12. Fajgenbaum DC, June CH. Cytokine Storm. N Engl J Med (2020) 383:2255–73. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra2026131
- Mehta P, McAuley DF, Brown M, Sanchez E, Tattersall RS, Manson JJ. HLH Across Speciality Collaboration, UK. COVID-19: Consider Cytokine Storm Syndromes and Immunosuppression. *Lancet* (2020) 395:1033–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30628-0
- Ulhaq ZS, Soraya GV. Interleukin-6 as a Potential Biomarker of COVID-19 Progression. *Med Mal Infect* (2020) 50:382–3. doi: 10.1016/j.medmal. 2020.04.002
- Falagas ME, Kompoti M. Obesity and Infection. Lancet Infect Dis (2006) 6:438–46. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70523-0
- Frydrych LM, Bian G, O'Lone DE, Ward PA, Delano MJ. Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Drive Immune Dysfunction, Infection Development, and Sepsis Mortality. J Leukoc Biol (2018) 104:525–34. doi: 10.1002/ JLB.5VMR0118-021RR

- Van Kerkhove MD, Vandemaele KAH, Shinde V, Jaramillo-Gutierrez G, Koukounari A, Donnelly CA, et al. Risk Factors for Severe Outcomes Following 2009 Influenza A (H1N1) Infection: A Global Pooled Analysis. *PloS Med* (2011) 8:e1001053. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001053
- Díaz E, Rodríguez A, Martin-Loeches I, Lorente L, Del Mar Martín M, Pozo JC, et al. Impact of Obesity in Patients Infected With 2009 Influenza a (H1N1). *Chest* (2011) 139:382–6. doi: 10.1378/chest.10-1160
- Zheng Z, Peng F, Xu B, Zhao J, Liu H, Peng J, et al. Risk Factors of Critical & Mortal COVID-19 Cases: A Systematic Literature Review and Meta-Analysis. J Infect (2020) 81:e16–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.04.021
- Zhou Y, Chi J, Lv W, Wang Y. Obesity and Diabetes as High-Risk Factors for Severe Coronavirus Disease 2019 (Covid-19). *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2020) 37(2):e3377. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3377
- Pietri L, Giorgi R, Bégu A, Lojou M, Koubi M, Cauchois R, et al. Excess Body Weight Is an Independent Risk Factor for Severe Forms of COVID-19. *Metabolism* (2021) 117:154703. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2021.154703
- Richardson S, Hirsch JS, Narasimhan M, Crawford JM, McGinn T, Davidson KW, et al. Presenting Characteristics, Comorbidities, and Outcomes Among 5700 Patients Hospitalized With COVID-19 in the New York City Area. *JAMA* (2020) 323:2052–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.6775
- Popkin BM, Du S, Green WD, Beck MA, Algaith T, Herbst CH, et al. Individuals With Obesity and COVID-19: A Global Perspective on the Epidemiology and Biological Relationships. *Obes Rev* (2020) 21:e13128. doi: 10.1111/obr.13128
- Huang Y, Lu Y, Huang Y-M, Wang M, Ling W, Sui Y, et al. Obesity in Patients With COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Metabolism* (2020) 113:154378. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154378
- Simonnet A, Chetboun M, Poissy J, Raverdy V, Noulette J, Duhamel A, et al. High Prevalence of Obesity in Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) Requiring Invasive Mechanical Ventilation. Obes (Silver Spring) (2020) 28:1195–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.22831
- Anderson MR, Geleris J, Anderson DR, Zucker J, Nobel YR, Freedberg D, et al. Body Mass Index and Risk for Intubation or Death in SARS-CoV-2 Infection. Ann Intern Med (2020) 174(6):886. doi: 10.7326/M20-3214
- Kass DA, Duggal P, Cingolani O. Obesity Could Shift Severe COVID-19 Disease to Younger Ages. *Lancet* (2020) 395:1544–5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31024-2
- Smati S, Tramunt B, Wargny M, Caussy C, Gaborit B, Vatier C, et al. Relationship Between Obesity and Severe COVID-19 Outcomes in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: Results From the CORONADO Study. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2021) 23:391–403. doi: 10.1111/dom.14228
- Cariou B, Hadjadj S, Wargny M, Pichelin M, Al-Salameh A, Allix I, et al. Phenotypic Characteristics and Prognosis of Inpatients With COVID-19 and Diabetes: The CORONADO Study. *Diabetologia* (2020) 63:1500–15. doi: 10.1007/s00125-020-05180-x
- Czernichow S, Beeker N, Rives-Lange C, Guerot E, Diehl J-L, Katsahian S, et al. Obesity Doubles Mortality in Patients Hospitalized for Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 in Paris Hospitals, France: A Cohort Study on 5,795 Patients. Obes (Silver Spring) (2020) 28:2282–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.23014
- Després J-P, Lemieux I. Abdominal Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome. Nature (2006) 444:881–7. doi: 10.1038/nature05488
- Després J-P. Body Fat Distribution and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: An Update. Circulation (2012) 126:1301–13. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.067264
- Unamuno X, Gómez-Ambrosi J, Rodríguez A, Becerril S, Frühbeck G, Catalán V. Adipokine Dysregulation and Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Human Obesity. *Eur J Clin Invest* (2018) 48:e12997. doi: 10.1111/eci.12997
- Haczeyni F, Bell-Anderson KS, Farrell GC. Causes and Mechanisms of Adipocyte Enlargement and Adipose Expansion. *Obes Rev* (2018) 19:406–20. doi: 10.1111/obr.12646
- Castoldi A, Naffah de Souza C, Câmara NOS, Moraes-Vieira PM. The Macrophage Switch in Obesity Development. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:637. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00637
- Sun K, Tordjman J, Clément K, Scherer PE. Fibrosis and Adipose Tissue Dysfunction. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18:470–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.06.016
- Divoux A, Clément K. Architecture and the Extracellular Matrix: The Still Unappreciated Components of the Adipose Tissue. *Obes Rev* (2011) 12: e494–503. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00811.x

- Hotamisligil GS. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and the Inflammatory Basis of Metabolic Disease. *Cell* (2010) 140:900–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.034
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity Induces a Phenotypic Switch in Adipose Tissue Macrophage Polarization. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:175–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- Dalmas E, Clément K, Guerre-Millo M. Defining Macrophage Phenotype and Function in Adipose Tissue. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32:307–14. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2011.04.008
- Xu L, Kitade H, Ni Y, Ota T. Roles of Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors in Obesity-Associated Insulin Resistance and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Biomolecules* (2015) 5:1563–79. doi: 10.3390/biom5031563
- Cox AJ, West NP, Cripps AW. Obesity, Inflammation, and the Gut Microbiota. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2015) 3:207–15. doi: 10.1016/ S2213-8587(14)70134-2
- Iacobellis G. Local and Systemic Effects of the Multifaceted Epicardial Adipose Tissue Depot. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2015) 11:363-71. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2015.58
- 44. Gaborit B, Sengenes C, Ancel P, Jacquier A, Dutour A. Role of Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Health and Disease: A Matter of Fat? *Compr Physiol* (2017) 7:1051–82. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c160034
- Iacobellis G, Bianco AC. Epicardial Adipose Tissue: Emerging Physiological, Pathophysiological and Clinical Features. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 22:450–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2011.07.003
- Rabkin SW. Epicardial Fat: Properties, Function and Relationship to Obesity. Obes Rev (2007) 8:253–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2006.00293.x
- 47. Gaborit B, Venteclef N, Ancel P, Pelloux V, Gariboldi V, Leprince P, et al. Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue has a Specific Transcriptomic Signature Depending on Its Anatomical Peri-Atrial, Peri-Ventricular, or Peri-Coronary Location. *Cardiovasc Res* (2015) 108:62–73. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvv208
- Silaghi A, Achard V, Paulmyer-Lacroix O, Scridon T, Tassistro V, Duncea I, et al. Expression of Adrenomedullin in Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue: Role of Coronary Status. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2007) 293:E1443– 50. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00273.2007
- Sacks HS, Fain JN, Bahouth SW, Ojha S, Frontini A, Budge H, et al. Adult Epicardial Fat Exhibits Beige Features. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98: E1448–55. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1265
- Mazurek T, Zhang L, Zalewski A, Mannion JD, Diehl JT, Arafat H, et al. Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue Is a Source of Inflammatory Mediators. *Circulation* (2003) 108:2460–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000099542.57313.C5
- 51. Barchuk M, Dutour A, Ancel P, Svilar L, Miksztowicz V, Lopez G, et al. Untargeted Lipidomics Reveals a Specific Enrichment in Plasmalogens in Epicardial Adipose Tissue and a Specific Signature in Coronary Artery Disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2020) 40:986–1000. doi: 10.1161/ ATVBAHA.120.313955
- 52. Venteclef N, Guglielmi V, Balse E, Gaborit B, Cotillard A, Atassi F, et al. Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue Induces Fibrosis of the Atrial Myocardium Through the Secretion of Adipo-Fibrokines. *Eur Heart J* (2015) 36:795–805a. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht099
- 53. Greulich S, Maxhera B, Vandenplas G, de Wiza DH, Smiris K, Mueller H, et al. Secretory Products From Epicardial Adipose Tissue of Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Induce Cardiomyocyte Dysfunction. *Circulation* (2012) 126:2324–34. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.039586
- Iacobellis G, Assael F, Ribaudo MC, Zappaterreno A, Alessi G, Di Mario U, et al. Epicardial Fat From Echocardiography: A New Method for Visceral Adipose Tissue Prediction. *Obes Res* (2003) 11:304–10. doi: 10.1038/ oby.2003.45
- 55. Mahajan R, Kuklik P, Grover S, Brooks AG, Wong CX, Sanders P, et al. Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance of Total and Atrial Pericardial Adipose Tissue: A Validation Study and Development of a 3 Dimensional Pericardial Adipose Tissue Model. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson (2013) 15:73. doi: 10.1186/ 1532-429X-15-73
- 56. Goeller M, Achenbach S, Marwan M, Doris MK, Cadet S, Commandeur F, et al. Epicardial Adipose Tissue Density and Volume Are Related to Subclinical Atherosclerosis, Inflammation and Major Adverse Cardiac Events in Asymptomatic Subjects. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr (2018) 12:67–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jcct.2017.11.007

- 57. Mancio J, Azevedo D, Saraiva F, Azevedo AI, Pires-Morais G, Leite-Moreira A, et al. Epicardial Adipose Tissue Volume Assessed by Computed Tomography and Coronary Artery Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2018) 19:490–7. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jex314
- Greif M, Becker A, von Ziegler F, Lebherz C, Lehrke M, Broedl UC, et al. Pericardial Adipose Tissue Determined by Dual Source CT Is a Risk Factor for Coronary Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2009) 29:781– 6. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.180653
- 59. Mohar DS, Salcedo J, Hoang KC, Kumar S, Saremi F, Erande AS, et al. Epicardial Adipose Tissue Volume as a Marker of Coronary Artery Disease Severity in Patients With Diabetes Independent of Coronary Artery Calcium: Findings From the CTRAD Study. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2014) 106:228–35. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.08.021
- Spearman JV, Renker M, Schoepf UJ, Krazinski AW, Herbert TL, De Cecco CN, et al. Prognostic Value of Epicardial Fat Volume Measurements by Computed Tomography: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Eur Radiol* (2015) 25:3372–81. doi: 10.1007/s00330-015-3765-5
- 61. Otaki Y, Hell M, Slomka PJ, Schuhbaeck A, Gransar H, Huber B, et al. Relationship of Epicardial Fat Volume From Noncontrast CT With Impaired Myocardial Flow Reserve by Positron Emission Tomography. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr (2015) 9:303–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcct.2015.03.005
- 62. Sade LE, Eroglu S, Bozbaş H, Ozbiçer S, Hayran M, Haberal A, et al. Relation Between Epicardial Fat Thickness and Coronary Flow Reserve in Women With Chest Pain and Angiographically Normal Coronary Arteries. *Atherosclerosis* (2009) 204:580–5. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2008.09.038
- 63. Yerramasu A, Dey D, Venuraju S, Anand DV, Atwal S, Corder R, et al. Increased Volume of Epicardial Fat Is an Independent Risk Factor for Accelerated Progression of Sub-Clinical Coronary Atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* (2012) 220:223–30. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.09.041
- Bachar GN, Dicker D, Kornowski R, Atar E. Epicardial Adipose Tissue as a Predictor of Coronary Artery Disease in Asymptomatic Subjects. Am J Cardiol (2012) 110:534–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.04.024
- 65. Friedman DJ, Wang N, Meigs JB, Hoffmann U, Massaro JM, Fox CS, et al. Pericardial Fat Is Associated With Atrial Conduction: The Framingham Heart Study. J Am Heart Assoc (2014) 3:e000477. doi: 10.1161/ JAHA.113.000477
- Al-Benna S. Association of High Level Gene Expression of ACE2 in Adipose Tissue With Mortality of COVID-19 Infection in Obese Patients. Obes Med (2020) 19:100283. doi: 10.1016/j.obmed.2020.100283
- Gupte M, Boustany-Kari CM, Bharadwaj K, Police S, Thatcher S, Gong MC, et al. ACE2 Is Expressed in Mouse Adipocytes and Regulated by a High-Fat Diet. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2008) 295:R781–788. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00183.2008
- Maier HE, Lopez R, Sanchez N, Ng S, Gresh L, Ojeda S, et al. Obesity Increases the Duration of Influenza A Virus Shedding in Adults. *J Infect Dis* (2018) 218:1378–82. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy370
- 69. Qin C, Zhou L, Hu Z, Zhang S, Yang S, Tao Y, et al. Dysregulation of Immune Response in Patients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *Clin Infect Dis* (2020) (15):762–8. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa248
- Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Netea MG, Rovina N, Akinosoglou K, Antoniadou A, Antonakos N, et al. Complex Immune Dysregulation in COVID-19 Patients With Severe Respiratory Failure. *Cell Host Microbe* (2020) 27:992–1000.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.04.009
- Chen G, Wu D, Guo W, Cao Y, Huang D, Wang H, et al. Clinical and Immunological Features of Severe and Moderate Coronavirus Disease 2019. *J Clin Invest* (2020) 130:2620–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI137244
- 72. Mirsoian A, Bouchlaka MN, Sckisel GD, Chen M, Pai C-CS, Maverakis E, et al. Adiposity Induces Lethal Cytokine Storm After Systemic Administration of Stimulatory Immunotherapy Regimens in Aged Mice. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211:2373–83. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140116
- Wang Z, Aguilar EG, Luna JI, Dunai C, Khuat LT, Le CT, et al. Paradoxical Effects of Obesity on T Cell Function During Tumor Progression and PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade. *Nat Med* (2019) 25:141–51. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0221-5
- 74. Diao B, Wang C, Tan Y, Chen X, Liu Y, Ning L, et al. Reduction and Functional Exhaustion of T Cells in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Front Immunol (2020) 11:827. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00827

- 75. Alzaid F, Julla J-B, Diedisheim M, Potier C, Potier L, Velho G, et al. Monocytopenia, Monocyte Morphological Anomalies and Hyperinflammation Characterise Severe COVID-19 in Type 2 Diabetes. *EMBO Mol Med* (2020) 12:e13038. doi: 10.15252/emmm.202013038
- 76. López-Reyes A, Martinez-Armenta C, Espinosa-Velázquez R, Vázquez-Cárdenas P, Cruz-Ramos M, Palacios-Gonzalez B, et al. NLRP3 Inflammasome: The Stormy Link Between Obesity and COVID-19. Front Immunol (2020) 11:570251. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.570251
- Freeman TL, Swartz TH. Targeting the NLRP3 Inflammasome in Severe COVID-19. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1518. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01518
- Barra NG, Henriksbo BD, Anhê FF, Schertzer JD. The NLRP3 Inflammasome Regulates Adipose Tissue Metabolism. *Biochem J* (2020) 477:1089–107. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20190472
- Elliot JG, Donovan GM, Wang KCW, Green FHY, James AL, Noble PB. Fatty Airways: Implications for Obstructive Disease. *Eur Respir J* (2019) 54 (6):1900857. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00857-2019
- Kruger P, Saffarzadeh M, Weber ANR, Rieber N, Radsak M, von Bernuth H, et al. Neutrophils: Between Host Defence, Immune Modulation, and Tissue Injury. *PloS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1004651. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004651
- Al Heialy S, Hachim MY, Senok A, Gaudet M, Abou Tayoun A, Hamoudi R, et al. Regulation of Angiotensin- Converting Enzyme 2 in Obesity: Implications for COVID-19. *Front Physiol* (2020) 11:555039. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2020.555039
- Katz JN, Sinha SS, Alviar CL, Dudzinski DM, Gage A, Brusca SB, et al. COVID-19 and Disruptive Modifications to Cardiac Critical Care Delivery: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol (2020) 76:72–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.04.029
- Long B, Brady WJ, Koyfman A, Gottlieb M. Cardiovascular Complications in COVID-19. Am J Emerg Med (2020) 38:1504–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2020.04.048
- Chen C, Zhou Y, Wang DW. SARS-CoV-2: A Potential Novel Etiology of Fulminant Myocarditis. *Herz* (2020) 45(3):230–2. doi: 10.1007/s00059-020-04909-z
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical Course and Risk Factors for Mortality of Adult Inpatients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *Lancet* (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Siripanthong B, Nazarian S, Muser D, Deo R, Santangeli P, Khanji MY, et al. Recognizing COVID-19-Related Myocarditis: The Possible Pathophysiology and Proposed Guideline for Diagnosis and Management. *Heart Rhythm* (2020) 17:1463–71. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2020.05.001
- Stefanini GG, Montorfano M, Trabattoni D, Andreini D, Ferrante G, Ancona M, et al. ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction in Patients With COVID-19: Clinical and Angiographic Outcomes. *Circulation* (2020) 141:2113–6. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.047525
- Tersalvi G, Vicenzi M, Calabretta D, Biasco L, Pedrazzini G, Winterton D. Elevated Troponin in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019: Possible Mechanisms. J Card Fail (2020) 26:470–5. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2020.04.009
- Wei Z-Y, Qiao R, Chen J, Huang J, Wang W-J, Yu H, et al. Pre-Existing Health Conditions and Epicardial Adipose Tissue Volume: Potential Risk Factors for Myocardial Injury in COVID-19 Patients. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2020) 7:585220. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.585220
- Chen T, Wu D, Chen H, Yan W, Yang D, Chen G, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 113 Deceased Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019: Retrospective Study. *BMJ* (2020) 368:m1091. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1091
- Driggin E, Madhavan MV, Bikdeli B, Chuich T, Laracy J, Biondi-Zoccai G, et al. Cardiovascular Considerations for Patients, Health Care Workers, and Health Systems During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Am Coll Cardiol (2020) 75:2352–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.03.031
- Chandarana H, Dane B, Mikheev A, Taffel MT, Feng Y, Rusinek H. Visceral Adipose Tissue in Patients With COVID-19: Risk Stratification for Severity. *Abdom Radiol (NY)* (2021) 46:818–25. doi: 10.1007/s00261-020-02693-2
- 93. Favre G, Legueult K, Pradier C, Raffaelli C, Ichai C, Iannelli A, et al. Visceral Fat Is Associated to the Severity of COVID-19. *Metabolism* (2021) 115:154440. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154440
- Pediconi F, Rizzo V, Schiaffino S, Cozzi A, Della Pepa G, Galati F, et al. Visceral Adipose Tissue Area Predicts Intensive Care Unit Admission in COVID-19 Patients. Obes Res Clin Pract (2021) 15:89–92. doi: 10.1016/j.orcp.2020.12.002

- 95. Watanabe M, Caruso D, Tuccinardi D, Risi R, Zerunian M, Polici M, et al. Visceral Fat Shows the Strongest Association With the Need of Intensive Care in Patients With COVID-19. *Metabolism* (2020) 111:154319. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154319
- 96. Petersen A, Bressem K, Albrecht J, Thieß H-M, Vahldiek J, Hamm B, et al. The Role of Visceral Adiposity in the Severity of COVID-19: Highlights From a Unicenter Cross-Sectional Pilot Study in Germany. *Metabolism* (2020) 110:154317. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154317
- Iacobellis G, Secchi F, Capitanio G, Basilico S, Schiaffino S, Boveri S, et al. Epicardial Fat Inflammation in Severe COVID-19. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2020) 28:2260–2. doi: 10.1002/oby.23019
- Grodecki K, Lin A, Razipour A, Cadet S, McElhinney PA, Chan C, et al. Epicardial Adipose Tissue Is Associated With Extent of Pneumonia and Adverse Outcomes in Patients With COVID-19. *Metabolism* (2021) 115:154436. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154436
- Commandeur F, Goeller M, Razipour A, Cadet S, Hell MM, Kwiecinski J, et al. Fully Automated CT Quantification of Epicardial Adipose Tissue by Deep Learning: A Multicenter Study. *Radiol Artif Intell* (2019) 1:e190045. doi: 10.1148/ryai.2019190045
- 100. Hickson DA, Liu J, Bidulescu A, Burchfiel CM, Taylor HA, Petrini MF. Pericardial Fat Is Associated With Impaired Lung Function and a Restrictive Lung Pattern in Adults: The Jackson Heart Study. *Chest* (2011) 140:1567–73. doi: 10.1378/chest.11-0258
- 101. Deng M, Qi Y, Deng L, Wang H, Xu Y, Li Z, et al. Obesity as a Potential Predictor of Disease Severity in Young COVID-19 Patients: A Retrospective Study. Obesity (2020) 28:1815–25. doi: 10.1002/oby.22943
- Iacobellis G, Malavazos AE, Basilico S, Tresoldi S, Rinaldo RF, Dubini C, et al. Epicardial Fat Inflammation Response to COVID-19 Therapies. *Obes* (*Silver Spring*) (2021). doi: 10.1002/oby.23232
- 103. Couselo-Seijas M, Almengló CM, Agra-Bermejo R, Luis Fernandez Á, Alvarez E, González-Juanatey JR, et al. Higher ACE2 Expression Levels in Epicardial Cells Than Subcutaneous Stromal Cells From Patients With Cardiovascular Disease: Diabetes and Obesity as Possible Enhancer. Eur J Clin Invest (2020) 51(5):e13463. doi: 10.1111/eci.13463
- 104. Patel VB, Mori J, McLean BA, Basu R, Das SK, Ramprasath T, et al. ACE2 Deficiency Worsens Epicardial Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Cardiac Dysfunction in Response to Diet-Induced Obesity. *Diabetes* (2016) 65:85–95. doi: 10.2337/db15-0399

- 105. Flinn B, Royce N, Gress T, Chowdhury N, Santanam N. Dual Role for Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 in Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Infection and Cardiac Fat. Obes Rev (2021) 22:e13225. doi: 10.1111/obr.13225
- 106. Abrishami A, Eslami V, Baharvand Z, Khalili N, Saghamanesh S, Zarei E, et al. Epicardial Adipose Tissue, Inflammatory Biomarkers and COVID-19: Is There a Possible Relationship? *Int Immunopharmacol* (2021) 90:107174. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2020.107174
- 107. Zhao L. Obesity Accompanying COVID-19: The Role of Epicardial Fat. Obesity (2020) 28:1367–7. doi: 10.1002/oby.22867
- Malavazos AE, Goldberger JJ, Iacobellis G. Does Epicardial Fat Contribute to COVID-19 Myocardial Inflammation? *Eur Heart J* (2020) 41:2333. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa471
- 109. Kim I-C, Han S. Epicardial Adipose Tissue: Fuel for COVID-19-Induced Cardiac Injury? *Eur Heart J* (2020) 41(24):2334–5. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehaa474
- 110. Iacobellis G, Malavazos AE, Ferreira T. COVID-19 Rise in Younger Adults With Obesity: Visceral Adiposity Can Predict the Risk. Obes (Silver Spring) (2020) 28:1795. doi: 10.1002/oby.22951

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Lasbleiz, Gaborit, Soghomonian, Bartoli, Ancel, Jacquier and Dutour. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Gut Microbiota in Adipose Tissue Dysfunction Induced Cardiovascular Disease: Role as a Metabolic Organ

Xinyu Yang^{1,2†}, Xianfeng Zhang^{3†}, Wei Yang¹, Hang Yu², Qianyan He⁴, Hui Xu², Shihui Li¹, Zi'ao Shang¹, Xiaodong Gao¹, Yan Wang^{2*} and Qian Tong^{1*}

¹ Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, First Affiliated Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China, ² Institute of Materia Medica, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China, ³ Department of Neurosurgery, First Affiliated Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China, ⁴ Department of Neurology, First Affiliated Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiaodong Sun, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Lu Cai, University of Louisville, United States Xu Chen, University of Mississippi Medical Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Qian Tong tongqian@jlu.edu.cn Yan Wang wangyan@imm.ac.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 29 July 2021 Accepted: 23 August 2021 Published: 06 September 2021

Citation:

Yang X, Zhang X, Yang W, Yu H, He Q, Xu H, Li S, Shang Z, Gao X, Wang Y and Tong Q (2021) Gut Microbiota in Adipose Tissue Dysfunction Induced Cardiovascular Disease: Role as a Metabolic Organ. Front. Endocrinol. 12:749125. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.749125 The gut microbiome has emerged as a key regulator of host metabolism. Accumulating evidence has indicated that the gut microbiota is involved in the development of various human diseases. This association relies on the structure and metabolites of the gut microbiota. The gut microbiota metabolizes the diet ingested by the host into a series of metabolites, including short chain fatty acids, secondary bile acids, trimethylamine N-oxide, and branched-chain amino acids, which affects the physiological processes of the host by activating numerous signaling pathways. In this review, we first summarize the various mechanisms through which the gut microbiota influences adipose tissue dysfunction and metabolic processes that subsequently cause cardiovascular diseases, highlighting the complex interactions between gut microbes, their metabolites, and the metabolic activity of the host. Furthermore, we investigated the current status of clinical therapies for adipose tissue dysfunction directed at the gut microbiota. Finally, we discuss the challenges that remain to be addressed before this field of research can be translated to everyday clinical practice.

Keywords: gut microbiota, adipose tissue dysfunction, molecular endocrinology, cardiovascular disease(s), gut dysbiosis

65

Abbreviations: ANGPTL2, Angiopoietin-Like Protein 2; ATD, Adipose Tissue Dysfunction; BAs, Bile Acids; BCAAs, Branched-Chain Amino Acids; BMI, Body Mass Index; BS, Bariatric Surgery; CA, Cholic Acid; CDCA, Chenodeoxycholic Acid; CVDs, Cardiovascular Diseases; CYP7A1, Cholesterol 7 α -Hydroxylase; DCA, Deoxycholic Acid; FGF15, Fibroblast Growth Factor 15; FMO, Flavin Monooxygenase; FMT, Fecal Microbiota Transplantation; FXR, Farnesol Nucleus Receptor; GC, Gas Chromatography; GUDCA, Glycoursodeoxycholic Acid; HDAC, Histone Deacetylase; HFD, High-Fat Diet; IL, Interleukin; LBP, Lipopolysaccharide Binding Protein; LC, Liquid Chromatography; LCA, Lithocholic Acid; LPS, Lipopolysaccharide; MAMPs, Microbial-Associated Molecular Patterns; MD2, Myeloid Differentiation Protein 2; MS, Mass Spectrometry; mTORC1, mammalian Target Of Rapamycin Complex 1; MYD88, Myeloid Differentiation Primary Response 88; NGS, Next Generation Sequencing; NO, Nitric Oxide; PKC ϵ , Protein Kinase C ϵ ; PXR, Pregnane X Receptors; RBP-4, Retinol Binding Protein 4; RYGB, Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass; S1PR2, Sphingosine-1 Phosphate Receptor 2; SAT, Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue; SCFAs, Short-Chain Fatty Acids; sFAs, saturated Fatty Acids; SG, Sleeve Gastrectomy; SGLT1, Sodium Glucose Cotransporter-1; T2D, Type 2 Diabetes; TGF- β , Transforming Growth Factor β ; TGR5, Takeda G Protein-Coupled Receptor-5; TLR, Toll-Like Receptor; TMA, Trimethylamine; TMAO, Trimethylamine-N-Oxide; TNF- α , Tumor Necrosis Factor α ; VAT, Visceral Adipose Tissue; VFA, Volatile Fatty Acids; 16S rRNA, 16S ribosomal RNA.

1 INTRODUCTION

Obesity is a major global health concern. There is a general consensus that obesity increases the risk of cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). By far the most widely accepted measure of obesity is the body mass index (BMI), a simple calculation based on an individual's weight in kilograms divided by the square of their height in meters (kg/m²) (1). A high BMI has been associated with shorter life expectancy (2), which is mainly due to increased risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D), hypertension, dyslipidemia, and CVD (3). The Global Burden of Disease study group estimated that elevated BMI values were responsible for 4 million deaths in 2015, with two thirds of this number attributed to CVDs (4). However, it has been pointed out that the BMI alone cannot fully identify patients at highrisk of CVDs. Wildman et al. (5) found that a substantial proportion, approximately 50% of overweight individuals and 30% of obese individuals, are free from any obvious signs of metabolic or cardiovascular complications. Furthermore, CVDs are also common in people with normal BMI, which suggests BMI is a highly heterogeneous indicator. That is because BMI is an overall indicator related only to height and weight, which does not take body composition into account. At an individual level, BMI can neither distinguish between fat and lean tissue nor determine fat distribution, function, and associated risk factors (1).

Adipose tissue dysfunction (ATD) or "adiposopathy" is a relatively recent concept and is thought to be more closely associated with CVDs than the BMI (6). In the past, the adipose tissue was thought to be relatively inert and its only function was as a storage depot for excess energy in the form of triglycerides and to build up or break down excess lipid into free fatty acids and glycerol based on the metabolic needs of the body. However, growing research suggests that adipose organs are considered to be quite active tissues with metabolic functions and are involved in crosstalk between multiple organ systems (7).

In recent years, a significant number of studies have been conducted investigating the role of gut microbiota in various endocrine and immune diseases, such as obesity, diabetes, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, allergies, and CVDs (8, 9). There has been much literature summarizing the relationship between gut microbiota and CVDs, involving a wide range of gut microbiota metabolites and their endocrine functions in vivo (10, 11). To date, the gut microbiota is considered a novel endocrine organ that effects many metabolic activities in the host. In this review, we provide a brief review of the gut microbiota and its metabolites, and describe the endocrine roles and molecular mechanisms involving the gut microbiota and metabolites in various aspects of ATD-induced CVDs. Finally, we also briefly review the treatment of various aspects of ATD-induced CVDs targeting the gut microbiota and thus, provide guidance for future research in the emerging field of the gut microbiome associated with the development of metabolic diseases in humans.

2 ADIPOSE TISSUE DYSFUNCTION

This concept of ATD further details the phenotype of obese patients. ATD consists of 2 aspects: abnormalities in fat distribution and abnormalities in the characteristics of adipose tissue, which are both highly related to CVDs (**Figure 1**).

Fat distribution abnormalities refer to the excessive accumulation of visceral adipose tissue (VAT), or fat storage in the intraperitoneal and retroperitoneal spaces, and deposition of ectopic fat, fat stores in body locations where fat is not physiologically stored such as the liver, pancreas, heart, and skeletal muscle. Normally, adipose tissue accumulates in subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT, 80-90%) (12) and the main depots of SAT are the abdominal, subscapular (on the upper back), and gluteal and femoral areas (13, 14). The SAT depot is located under the skin and does not communicate with internal organs. It is considered as a normal physiological buffer for excess energy intake with little threat to cardiovascular health (15). Conversely, through excessive energy intake, sex hormones levels (16), use of glucocorticoids (17), genetic make-up (18), and epigenetic mechanism (19), fat tends to store in the intraperitoneal and retroperitoneal areas, and in locations where it is not physiologically stored such as the liver, pancreas, heart, and skeletal muscle, which has been defined as VAT. Ross et al. (20) found that individuals matched for abdominal SAT with low or high VAT levels had different levels of glucose tolerance, whereas those matched for VAT had similar glucose tolerance testing with high and low SAT. This study indicated that SAT may not be a risk factor for metabolic diseases, whereas VAT and ectopic fat accumulation was causally related with insulin levels. In addition, several studies have reported positive associations of excess VAT accumulation with cardiovascular risk factors, CVDs and allcause mortality (21-23). Furthermore, adipose tissue accumulation at special ectopic sites such as the pericardium or epicardium also results in increased CVD risk (24).

Another aspect of ATD involves abnormalities in the characteristics of adipose tissue. Adipocytes typically constitute the majority of the cellular content of adipose tissue. Adipocytes are surrounded by fibrous connective tissue, collagen, nerves, and blood vessels. Despite its location, the metabolic activity of adipose tissue is also a determinant of ATD-induced CVDs. Features of dysfunctional adipose tissue include impaired adipose tissue expandability and adipogenesis (20), as well as hypertrophy and altered lipid metabolism by fat cells. Most importantly, macrophage infiltration can be observed in ATD and initiates a vicious cycle of inflammatory response (25), leading to polarization of macrophages toward a proinflammatory phenotype (M1-polarized), which can activate inflammatory pathways and impair insulin signaling (26). In addition, adipokines, the bioactive compounds which are synthesized in the adipose tissue and released into circulation, can be dysregulated in ATD. This dysregulation is a prominent hallmark of ATD (27). Expression of pro-inflammatory adipokines such as leptin, tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α),



interleukin-6(IL-6), interleukin-8(IL-18), retinol binding protein 4, lipocalin 2, and angiopoietin-like protein 2 far exceeds that of anti-inflammatory factors such as adiponectin, IL-10, and nitric oxide (NO). The imbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in favor of pro-inflammatory ones leads to insulin resistance, systematic inflammation, oxidative stress, atherothrombosis and eventually, CVDs (28). However, systemic inflammation probably involves a complex network of signals interconnecting several organs. The causal relationship between systemic inflammation and adipose tissue inflammation is currently controversial. In summary, ATD increases cardiovascular risk through adipose tissue ectopic accumulation and dysregulation of adipokines in adipose tissue.

3 GUT MICROBIOTA AND METABOLITES

3.1 Gut Microbiota - an Endocrine Organ

The term gut microbiota describes the commensal microbial species in the gastrointestinal tract (29). Trillions of microbial cells including bacteria, fungi, archaea, and viruses are harbored in the human intestine, which act as an essential and complicated part of our healthy physiological ecosystem. With a bacterial load of more than 10^{14} (30), the genome carried by the gut microbiota outnumbers human genome by 100 times (31). More than 90% of the taxa of the gut microbiota in adults is constituted by two major bacterial phyla, Bacteroidetes or Firmicutes, with a lower abundance of Actinobacteria, Cyanobacteria, Fusobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Verrumicrobia (32). Collectively, these bacteria make up the most complex and diverse ecosystem in human gut. Although the composition of gut bacteria is remarkably similar at the phylum level and a core of bacterial genera is present in the majority of adult hosts, there is huge variability at a subspecies level. The human gut microbiome is also highly dynamic and can be dramatically altered by age, antibiotic use, host genetics, chronic dietary patterns, and other environmental exposures (31, 33, 34).

Gut microbiome plays a predominant role in training and maturation of the host immune system (35), vitamin synthesis, resistance to colonization by or overgrowth of pathogenic microorganisms, deconjugation of bile acids (BAs) (36), and energy harvest through fermentation of indigestible carbohydrates (37). With this huge microbiome, diversity at the subspecies level, it is not surprising that the gut microbiota has a significant influence on the biological activity of the host. Indeed, the gut microbiota plays an important role in the regulation of metabolic activities of the human body, which is mainly achieved through its metabolites (38).

The Merriam-Webster dictionary defines an endocrine organ as follows: "producing secretions that are distributed in the body by way of the bloodstream." Besides endocrine organs in the conventional sense like the hypothalamus, pituitary gland, thyroid gland, and adipose tissue, the gut microbiome also fits this classic definition. But unlike host endocrine organs, which produce only a few key hormones, the gut microbial endocrine organ has the unique potential to produce hundreds if not thousands of humoral agents defined as metabolites of gut microbiota. These metabolites are sensed by highly selective host receptor systems that elicit diverse biological responses (39), and finally, alter the metabolic functions of distal organs.

3.2 Metabolites of Gut Microbiota

The gut microbiota produces a wide range of metabolites, such as vitamins and short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), BAs, trimethylamine (TMA), branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs), ammonia, and phenols (8). These metabolites are absorbed by intestinal epithelial cell and finally enter the circulation. In addition, structure components of microbiome like

lipopolysaccharide (LPS) could also enter the circulatory system of the host and become bioactive compounds (**Figure 2**). These microbiota-derived metabolites and LPS are agents of microbehost communication, which is essential to maintain vital functions of the healthy host (39).

3.2.1 Short-Chain Fatty Acids

SCFAs, also known as volatile fatty acids (VFA), are the end product of the gut microbiome's fermentation of indigestible carbohydrates (such as fructose-oligosaccharides, inulin, oligosaccharides, non-starch polysaccharides, and oat bran) (40). SCFAs are a group of organic fatty acids with carbon chains between 1 and 6. They mainly include acetic acid, propionic acid, butyric acid, isobutyric acid, valeric acid, isovaleric acid, iso-caproic acid, and hexanoic acid. The content of acetic acid, propionic acid and butyric acid is the highest in the intestinal tract: acetic acid (40-100 mmol/kg), propionic acid (15-40 mmol/kg), butyric acid (10-30 mmol/kg), the latter is the main SCFA in the intestinal tract (41). For healthy individuals, several factors affect the production of SCFAs, including the source and chemical properties of the substrate, the type and number of intestinal microorganisms, and the time of transportation in the intestine (42).

SCFAs have a variety of biochemical and physiological effects. First, SCFAs can be used for the biosynthesis of lipids, cholesterol, and proteins. Second, SCFAs act as signaling molecules to distant tissues and organs of the host. The effects of SCFAs are in part mediated by G-protein coupled receptors (GPR41, GPR43, and GPR109A) and histone deacetylase (HDAC), which are related to oxidative stress, the immune response, insulin resistance, and inflammatory responses (43, 44).

3.2.2 Bile Acids

BAs are a general term for a large group of cholic acids that exist in the form of sodium salts or potassium salts. Primary BAs are synthesized from cholesterol in hepatocytes through multiple reactions such as hydroxylation, side chain oxidation, isomerization and hydrogenation, and finally forms chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA) and cholic acid (CA). Further, primary BAs combine with glycine or taurine in the liver to form conjugated BAs, which enter the gallbladder. After food ingestion, the gallbladder releases these BAs into the duodenum, where they function in the small intestine and colon. After the BAs assist in the digestion of food, most are reabsorbed back into the liver in a process known as the enterohepatic circulation of BAs (45). A number of recent studies have found that unabsorbed BAs in the intestine can be used as substrates for microbial metabolism and further transformed into secondary BAs through hydrolase or dehydrogenase enzymes. These intestinal bacteria are mainly composed of Lactobacillus, Streptococcus, Enterobacter, Enterococcus, Clostridium, Lactobacillus, Veronococcus (46). They separate BAs from glycine or taurine to form mainly deoxycholic acid (DCA) and lithocholic acid (LCA), which in turn, may be further recirculated to the liver and, like primary BAs, combine with glycine or taurine and are excreted in small amounts in the feces (45).

BAs have many important physiological functions. Their function was first recognized as an emulsion to promote the absorption of fatty acids and fat-soluble vitamins in the human body. With their further study, BAs have attracted much attention as a signaling molecule for diverse endocrine and paracrine functions (47). BAs are able to bind to the G-protein coupled receptor sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor 2 (S1PR2)



FIGURE 2 | Gut microbiota metabolites and the associated metabolic signaling pathway. TMAO, BAs, SCFAs, BCAAs are the metabolites that are produced by the gut microbiota. Conversely, LPS is a component of the cell wall of gut bacteria. All are capable of activating specific signaling pathways. TMAO, Trimethylamine Oxide; BAs, bile acids; SCFAs, short-chain fatty acids; BCAAs, Branched-Chain Amino Acids; LPS, Lipopolysaccharides.

(48) and the Takeda G protein-coupled receptor-5 (TGR5) (49). BA can also activate farnesol nucleus receptor (FXR) (50), which induces fibroblast growth factor 15 (FGF15) expression and inhibits the expression of cholesterol 7α -hydroxylase (CYP7A1) in the liver, the rate-limiting step in BA synthesis, leading to decreased BA levels *via* a gut-microbiota-liver feedback loop. In addition, BAs have been reported to bind to vitamin D receptors and pregnane X receptors (PXR) *in vivo*. By activating these different signaling pathways, BAs play a role in regulating liver gluconeogenesis, glycogen synthesis, insulin sensitivity, and regulating the balance of energy metabolism in the body (51, 52).

3.2.3 Trimethylamine-N-Oxide

Trimethylamine-N-Oxide (TMAO) is a monoamine metabolite found in gut microbiota that has attracted much attention because of its relationship with CVD in recent years (53). Foods containing choline, phosphatidylcholine, and L-carnitine are sources of TMA (54, 55). Choline, and its precursor phosphatidylcholine, are an abundant chemical constituents in daily diets such as animal liver, milk, and egg yolks. L-carnitine is an abundant nutrient in meat, especially red meats. Both choline and carnitine within the gut are absorbed within the small bowel via specific transporters, but absorption is incomplete, particularly with large meals that can saturate the uptake systems. Consequently, both dietary choline and carnitine ingestion can lead to significant elevations in TMA in the intestine. When TMA is absorbed into the circulation, it can be further delivery to the liver *via* the portal circulation, is rapidly converted into TMAO by hepatic flavin monooxygenase (FMO) (56).

Since TMAO was discovered, increasing research data, including human and animal models, has shown significant associations with a variety of diseases. Current studies have found that TMAO is closely associated with CVD (57), nephropathy (58), and diabetes (59). Although the relationship between TMAO and the above diseases has been established, the precise receptor or chemical sensor that detects TMAO remains unknown. Several possible mechanisms of TMAO in the occurrence and development of CVDs have been reported. Mechanisms mainly include (1): the inhibition of the reverse transport of cholesterol, and altering of the metabolic pathways of cholesterol and lipoprotein in the intestinal tract, blood vessel wall, liver, and other important organs (55) (2); promotion of vascular dysfunction and the inflammatory response through MAPK, NF-KB and NLRP3 inflammasome pathways (60, 61); and (3) the promotion of the release of Ca2+ in platelets, and then direct improvement of the response hypersensitivity of platelets, and acceleration of thrombosis (62).

3.2.4 Lipopolysaccharides

LPS, known as a bacterial endotoxin, is a component of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria and is important for maintaining the structural integrity of the bacteria. LPS consists of three components, including O-specific polysaccharides, core polysaccharides, and lipid A, which is the toxic center of LPS. Strictly speaking, LPS is not a metabolite of the gut microbiota. However, LPS still exerts its effects as a metabolism-independent signaling molecule. Dysfunction of the host's gut such as following changes in permeability allows LPS to enter the circulation and activate several pathogenetic pathways (63).

First, LPS binds to the LPS binding protein (LBP), which transports LPS to the surface of immune cells and binds to the membrane protein receptor CD14. CD14 then transfers LPS to the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and myeloid differentiation protein 2 (MD2) protein complex. MD2 helps TLR4 recognize LPS, which activates intracellular signal transduction pathways and eventually activates the transcription factor NF- κ B, generating pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1b, and IL-6 (64).

3.2.5 Branched-Chain Amino Acids

BCAAs, including leucine, isoleucine, and valine, are essential amino acids and BCAAs or BCAA-rich diets usually have a positive effect on body weight regulation, muscle protein synthesis, and glucose homeostasis (65). The gut microbiota plays an important role in both *in vivo* synthesis and absorption of BCAAs. *Prevotella copri* and *Bacteroides vulgatus* were found significantly associated with increased BCAAs biosynthesis and decreased transport of genes at the fecal metagenomics level. *Butyrivibrio crossotus* and *Eubacterium siraeum* were found to be associated with the uptake of BCAAs (66).

It is now well established that there is a very close relationship between BCAAs and insulin resistance. BCAAs are considered to be sensitive biomarkers in plasma that can respond to the degree of insulin resistance. However, it is unclear whether BCAAs are involved in the development of insulin resistance or whether they are just indicators of the disease (65). Current studies have assumed that BCAAs are anabolic signals that alter the growth of energy-consuming tissues, mediated in part through their ability to activate the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) and protein kinase $C\epsilon$ (PKC ϵ) (67), which may explain the bioactivity of BCAA in insulin resistance (67).

3.3 Techniques Used in Microbial Analysis

Although the identification methods of gut bacteria and their metabolites are not the focus of this review, a brief description of the common methods is necessary. Initially, bacterial culture was the only method to identify and analyze the gut microbiota (68), but with the advent of new techniques, it is current use is in the isolation and cultivation of a single bacterium, which is still important in establishing a link between bacteria and diseases (69). In addition, culture of single bacterium allows researchers to edit genes of a specific bacteria and to analyze its characteristics (70).

3.3.1 Next Generation Sequencing

Emerging next generation sequencing (NGS) methods have replaced bacterial culture as the most efficient way to obtain information on all species of the human microbiome and even their respective genomes (71). To date, 2 common NGS strategies have been used in gut microbiota research: 16S ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) gene sequencing and whole genomic shotgun sequencing (72).

Sequencing of 16S rRNA genes is currently the most widely used sequence-based technique for bacterial taxonomic and phylogenetic studies. It involves sequencing of specified microbial amplicons (mainly 16S rRNA). 16S rRNA genes are present in all gut microbiomes, encoding RNAs composed of small bacterial ribosomal subunits of the 30S. The16S variable regions are specific to bacteria and 16S rRNA gene sequencing has great potential for determining genera or species. Although 16S rRNA gene sequencing has important applications in bacterial identification and classification, its low resolution limits its application. In addition, 16S rRNA generally provides information about the composition of the microbiome, but lacks functional annotation (73).

Whole-genome shotgun sequencing means using highthroughput genome sequencing combined with advanced computational bioinformatics to identify taxonomic and potentially functional microbiomes. Theoretically it can bypass microbiome culture and identify the function of microbial communities, but it still requires more experimental confirmation (74).

3.3.2 Mass Spectrometry Chromatography

In addition to the identification of the composition of the gut microbiota, the identification of the metabolites of the gut microbiota is equally very important. Mass spectrometry (MS), including tandem MS, is an important method for identifying metabolites of gut microbiota. Its high sensitivity allows us to analyze trace amounts of bacterial metabolites (75). MS is often coupled with chromatographic technology including gas chromatography (GC) and liquid chromatography (LC). This method combines the advantages of separation capabilities of chromatography and sensitivity of MS, reducing matrix effects and ion suppression that allows for a more accurate quantification and compound identification (76). This method is the most advanced technically, and most of the bacterial metabolites such as BA, SCFA, TMAO, LPS can be analyzed using this method (75, 77).

Furthermore, after identifying the metabolites of bacteria, functional omics techniques are used to link gut microbiota composition, metabolites, and diseases together. These techniques include transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics (78).

4 GUT MICROBIOTA IN ATD INDUCED CVDs

4.1 "Gut Dysbiosis"

As mentioned above, although the gut microbiota is relatively stable in healthy individuals, it constantly changes throughout the life in response to endogenous and exogenous factors. From the moment intestinal bacteria are established in the infant, its composition and abundance are constantly modified under the influence of various factors such as delivery method, food, age, and exposure to antibiotics (79). Although the gut microbiota is constantly changing, its function in the maintenance of host homeostasis remains stable within a certain range in healthy humans.

'Gut dysbiosis' refers to a morbid change in the composition of the gut microbiota and may be caused by several factors such as diet, increased stress, inflammation, and antibiotic use (80). Although there is not a clear cause-and-effect relationship between this change and disease, dysbiosis can be observed in a wide range of diseases. A classic example of gut dysbiosis is the change in Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio. As the two most abundant phylum of gut microbiota, changes in Firmicutes/ Bacteroidetes ratio have been associated with a variety of diseases, such as obesity, gallstone disease, hypertension (81). For example, Emoto et al. reported a characteristic change in microbial composition of patients with coronary artery disease in which there was a significant increase in Lactobacillales (Firmicutes) and a decrease in Bacteroidetes (82). Currently, emerging evidence has shown that gut dysbiosis is able to disturb homeostatic functions of many metabolic activities through alteration of its community structure and metabolites (83). Thus, gut dysbiosis is considered a basic process of gut microbiota influencing disease development such as adipose tissue dysfunction (84), insulin resistance (66) and CVD.

However, gut dysbiosis involves alterations in a wide range of bacteria and their metabolites, so its relationship with adipose tissue dysfunction induced CVD is intertwined (**Figure 3**). Below we will explain the role of gut dysbiosis in the development of each aspect of the disease.

4.2 Gut Dysbiosis and Adipose Inflammation

The relationship between high-energy diet and obesity is unquestionable, and moreover, there is evidence that the intake of specific substances, such as saturated fatty acids (sFAs), induces adipose tissue dysfunction. With increasing understanding of the gut microbiota, scientists found that ATD is not purely a consequence of specific diet, but rather, may require the disturbance of intestine-microbiota interaction (85).

As mentioned, adipose inflammation is the most important feature in ATD. It is upstream of systemic inflammation and systemic insulin intolerance which leads to CVDs. Tran et al. (86) demonstrated that gut dysbiosis induced by a western diet is responsible for adipose inflammation in mice: an increase in classic proinflammatory M1 macrophages, and a decrease in anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages in adipose tissue were observed. Ablation of the gut microbiome could reduce such inflammatory responses in adipose tissue. Moreover, gene depletion of Toll-like receptor (TLR)-signaling adaptor protein myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88) largely phenotyped microbiota ablation, supporting the notion that western diet-induced adipose inflammation did not result from lipid accumulation per se, but rather was promoted by microbiota or their products activating innate immune signaling pathways. Although the study did not examine the metabolites of gut microbiota, it confirmed that gut microbiota



and its metabolites induce adipose tissue inflammation through an inflammatory response related to TLRs. Previously, many researchers had long demonstrated that LPS was able to activate TLR (87) and LPS had been shown to be highly correlated with the development of obesity (88). The above findings could indicate a significant correlation between LPS produced by the gut microbiota and adipose tissue inflammation.

Moreover, recent studies are more supportive of the concept that dysbiosis of gut microbiota is an early event in inflammation and the development of obesity (84). When eating a high-fat diet (HFD), the first to be exposed to these nutrients is gastrointestinal system (89). A HFD induces gut dysbiosis and alters the secretory patterns of gut peptides. These changes can provoke an increase in the intestine mucosal inflammatory response, a disruption of the epithelial barrier, and a consequent enhanced transit of LPS into the systemic circulation.

LPS, as well as sFA consequent to a HFD intake may act in synergy to promote a harmful proinflammatory response as they are recognized as endogenous ligands for specialized TLRs, normally activated following the recognition of microbialassociated molecular patterns (MAMPS) by macrophages or intestinal epithelial cells (90), leading to a systemic low-grade inflammation. In recent years, researchers have found that TLR can also be expressed in adipose tissue, and have also found TLRbearing macrophages resident in adipose tissue (91). Upon activation of TLRs, macrophages in adipose tissue are induced to the M1 pro-inflammatory phenotype and subsequently generate various inflammatory mediators (92). Adipose tissue may also secrete pro-inflammatory adipokines such as TNF- α , IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1 in a TLR-dependent manner in response to LPS (93, 94). On initiation, this inflammatory environment may further recruit new inflammatory cells (neutrophils, macrophages), thus magnifying the inflammatory response in adipose tissue. Overall, systemic low-grade inflammation can promote adipose inflammation, leading to ATD, which in turn can further exacerbate systemic inflammation and insulin resistance, ultimately leading to CVDs.

4.3 Gut Dysbiosis and Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance refers to a condition where the pancreas produces insulin, while muscle, liver, and other cells fail to respond to insulin, which leads to glucose intolerance and eventually diabetes, which is the most important link between ATD and CVDs. In parallel to ATD, gut dysbiosis can also directly mediate insulin resistance. In humans with obesity, a 7day treatment with vancomycin, an antibiotic against Grampositive bacteria, can modulate the composition of the gut microbiota and decrease peripheral insulin sensitivity (95). Adjustment in the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio has been proposed in insulin-resistant patients by many researches (96). In addition, intestinal bacterial species producing SCFAs such as Roseburia, Eubacterium halii, and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii are generally decreased, while opportunistic pathogens such as Lactobacilli gasseri, Streptococcus mutans, and Escherichia coli are increased in subjects with T2D (97). Thus, the relationship between insulin resistance and changes in intestinal bacterial genera and metabolites, with a major focus on BCAAs and SCFAs, has been demonstrated in many studies.

As mentioned, BCAAs are well-known biomarkers of insulin resistance and predictors of incident diabetes and CVDs. The gut microbiota has a wide range of enzymatic functions that trigger BCAA biosynthesis and BCAA are also adsorbed and enter the
human circulation. Pedersen et al. (66) analyzed the gut microbiota and metabolites of 219 individuals without diabetes using non-targeted metabolomics and microbial genomic approaches. BCAAs were analyzed as important markers of insulin resistance. In addition, Prevotella copri and Bacteroides Vulgatus were found significantly associated with increased BCAAs biosynthesis in insulin resistance patients. Another study (98) also found that P. copri was the strongest driver species for the positive association between microbial BCAAs biosynthesis in the gut and insulin resistance, and P. copri was significantly increased in individuals receiving a HFD. Interestingly, Kovatcheva-Datchar Petia et al. (99) reported a contrasting conclusion between glucose intolerance and P. copri using a different dietary regimen, high in fiber and low in fat. Nevertheless, there is reason to believe that diet-induced gut dysbiosis influences the development of insulin resistance through changes in BCAA composition.

SCFAs, such as butyrate, acetate and propionate, display beneficial effects on peripheral tissues, such as adipose tissue, liver tissue, and skeletal muscle tissue, leading to an improvement in insulin sensitivity (100). SCFAs, as ligands, bind to FFAR2 and FFAR3 receptors distributed on enteroendocrine L-cells and play a role in regulating blood glucose. FFAR2 promote the secretion of insulin, GLP-1, GIP, and PYY secretion, promote the release of growth hormone, and reduce insulin signaling in fat. As for FFAR3, it promotes the secretion of GLP-1 and PYY, promote gluconeogenesis in the intestine, and decrease insulin secretion (101). In addition, increased permeability is associated with translocation of bacteria and their cell wall components which triggers an inflammatory cascade that has been associated with insulin resistance. SCFAs appear to play an important role in maintaining the integrity of the intestinal epithelial barrier through regulation of tight junction proteins, thus protecting the host from insulin resistance (102). When gut dysbiosis occurs, the SCFA-producing microbiome tends to decline, resulting in weaker regulation of blood glucose and reduction of insulin resistance by SCFAs, which in turn increases the risk of insulin resistance and even diabetes in the host (97).

BAs are also involved in glucose metabolism. Tauroursodeoxycholic acid is reported to have the potential to improve liver and muscle insulin sensitivity in obese hosts (103). Whist glycoursodeoxycholic acid (GUDCA) has the potential for treating hyperglycemia (104). Sun et al. (105) revealed that ablation of the gut microbiome alleviates HFD-induced glucose intolerance, hepatic steatosis, and inflammation by modulating the key enzyme CYP7A1 in the alternative BA synthesis pathway in hamsters, which indicates the dysbiosis of gut microbiota may contribute to insulin resistance by altering BA metabolism.

4.4 Gut Dysbiosis and Cardiovascular Diseases

Significant data has accumulated on the relationship between gut dysbiosis and CVDs. Extensive studies have demonstrated the role of gut dysbiosis in different CVDs, such as atherosclerosis (106), hypertension (107), and thrombosis (62). Numerous clinical trials have also demonstrated that many alterations in intestinal bacteria are significantly associated with the development of CVDs. Collinsella, Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Enterobacteriaceae, Lactobacillales, Escherichia coli, and Klebsiella spp, as well as the Firmicutes/Bateriodetes ratio, which has been reported to increase in CVD, as well as Butyrate-producing bacteria such as Roseburia intestinalis, while Faecalibacterium cf. prausnitzii has been reported to decrease in CVDs (82, 108-111). Notably, in ATD and insulin resistance, there is a clear causal relationship between gut dysbiosis and disease risk or severity, that is, such dysbiosis is the cause of disease onset. However, in heart failure, a CVD disease, there is evidence that the development of heart failure is responsible for the dysbiosis of gut bacteria (112). The mechanism might be the edema of the intestinal wall caused by systemic congestion secondary to heart failure systemic congestion. In turn, the highly permeable intestinal mucosa impaired the intestinal barrier function, leading structural components of microbiota (majorly LPS) to enter the circulation and to stimulate host immune responses and vascular inflammation, which causes gut dysbiosis to aggravate heart failure (113). Clinical trials have proven that enhanced abundance of pathogenic microbial were isolated from fecal samples of HF patients, especially in those with right ventricle heart failure and impaired intestinal barrier function (114).

Another common CVD, atherosclerosis, is also associated with gut dysbiosis. Koren et al. first reported the changes of gut microbiota were associated with atherosclerosis using 16S rRNA genes to survey bacterial taxa (115). At that time, whether these changes represented only microbial taxa associated with coronary heart disease or whether these alterations were risk factors that could promote the development of coronary heart disease has not been fully determined. With more contemporary studies to be reported, Jie et al. (116) observed an increased abundance of Enterobacteriaceae and oral cavity-associated bacteria and relatively depleted butyrate-producing bacteria in patients with atherosclerotic CVD versus those in healthy control subjects, suggesting that gut dysbiosis may be associated with the development of atherosclerosis. To date, the bulk of evidence suggests that gut dysbiosis is a significant risk factor for atherosclerosis.

TMAO, which links gut dysbiosis to atherogenesis, is one of the most important discoveries of recent years in the study of gut microbiota metabolites. In 2011, Wang et al. (53) identified a strong relationship between TMAO and the risk of CVD risks in a cohort study of approximately 2000 patients with atherosclerosis using a non-targeted metabolomics approach. This study suggested that level of plasma TMAO was strongly associated with future development of major adverse cardiovascular events (death, myocardial infarction, and stroke) in atherosclerosis patients. The mechanisms involved in TMAO-induced atherosclerosis have been described in previous sections. Notably, the value of TMAO is currently focused on prognostic value of circulating TMAO levels. Wang et al. (117). confirmed that TMAO predicted major adverse cardiac events in a 3-year follow-up cohort, even in the presence of elevated levels of non-microbial metabolites. Furthermore, the prognostic value of TMAO was also observed in patients with heart failure (118), diabetes (59), peripheral artery disease (119), and chronic kidney disease (58) independently of traditional risk factors.

Other metabolites such as BAs and SCFAs can also exert an effect on CVDs, but the role they play is that of physical modulators. These affect CVDs by modulating the upstream metabolic processes, as mentioned above, ATD, and insulin resistance. This also suggests that gut dysbiosis, by producing pathogenic effects and metabolic disorders at multiple points, permeates the development of CVDs due to ATD.

5 GUT MICROBIOME-BASED THERAPEUTICS IN ATD INDUCED CVDs

As research progresses, we discover that several traditional therapies are able to influence the distribution of the gut microbiota. Many pharmaceutical effects that are difficult to explain by conventional theories can also be explained by changes in the gut microbiota. In ATD-induced CVDs, several conventional therapies have proven to be strongly associated with the modulation of gut dysbiosis.

5.1 Diet as an Important Modulator of the Gut Microbiota

What we eat, no doubt, is associated with ATD, insulin resistance, and other metabolic diseases. A breadth of knowledge exists regarding the impact of dietary fat intake on metabolic diseases (120, 121). For instance, De Souza et al. reported that consumption of HFDs correlated with insulin resistance (122). Woods et al. reported that a high fat intake is associated with increased fat storage (123). The gut microbiota serves as a filter for the largest environmental exposure-the diet. There have been several studies attempting to explain the role of the gut microbiota in the diet causing ATD, insulin resistance, and CVDs. For instance, HFDs have been associated with low-grade systemic inflammation via increases in circulating microbially-derived LPS. In addition, HFDs have been linked to atherosclerosis through the microbial production of TMA from L-carnitine and phosphatidylcholine. All of these findings suggest that modification of food composition may be the best way to treat metabolic disorders induced by gut dysbiosis because of its simplicity and ease of implementation.

The effects of a diet rich in saturated fat is highly likely to induce an increase in body mass, liver triglyceride content, and insulin insensitivity than a diet rich in monounsaturated fat or polyunsaturated fat by increasing the proportion of Firmicutes *versus* Bacteroidetes in the gut (124). In addition, long-term exposure to diets rich in L-carnitine and phosphatidylcholine cause excessive production of TMAO and subsequent induction of CVDs (125). In turn, by adjusting the intake of these substances, including of sFAs and choline, exercising, as well as intermittent fasting, we are better able to adjust the risk of metabolic diseases and CVDs (126, 127).

In addition, the intake of substances such as fish oil and nondigestible oligosaccharides has been shown to reduce the risk of metabolic diseases induced by gut dysbiosis. Caesar et al. (128) found that mice consuming a fish oil diet were protected from inflammation mediated by gut dysbiosis. This effect may be correlated with enrichment of the gut microbial genera Akkermansia and Lactobacillus. In addition, a high-fish-oil diet was reported to prevent adiposity and modulate white adipose tissue inflammation pathways in mice (129). Nondigestible oligosaccharides act as "fertilizers" of the gut microbiota, enhancing the growth of beneficial commensal organisms (e.g., Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus species) (130). Cani et al. (131) found that oligofructose increased intestinal Bifidobacteria in HFD mice and that endotoxemia was significantly negatively correlated with bifidobacterial species. They also showed a significant positive correlation between bifidobacterial species and improved glucose tolerance and normalized inflammatory tone in high-fat oligofructose-treated mice. Neyrinck et al. (132) showed that wheat arabinoxylans in the diet counteracted high fat diet-induced gut dysbiosis with an improvement of obesity and lipid-lowering effects. In addition, the positive effects of wheat arabinoxylans including hypocholesterolemia, antiinflammatory activity, and anti-obesity, have been associated with changes in the gut microbiota. Thus, we propose that by modifying food composition and intake of probiotic agents, can we effectively decrease the risk of ATD induced CVDs.

5.2 Metformin Exerts Therapeutic Effects by Improving Gut Dysbiosis

Metformin is an agent commonly used in clinical practice to treat diabetes. Metformin has also been reported to correct ATD (133) and to improve prognosis of CVDs (134). Initially The antihyperglycemic effect of metformin was mainly attributed to the reduction of intrahepatic gluconeogenesis. However, as research continued, metformin was found to be inextricably linked to the biological activity of the intestine. Bailey et al. described elevated levels of metformin accumulating in the gut of diabetes patients that were 300 times that found in the plasma (135). Forslund et al. reported metformin as a key contributor to changes in the human gut microbiome composition in patients with diabetes (136). Currently, many mechanisms have been reported in metformin activity in the treatment of insulin resistance and diabetes *via* improvement of intestinal dysregulation.

First, metformin is able to shift the gut microbiota toward a SCFA-producing microbiome in T2D individuals (137). Relative abundance of more than 80 bacterial strains are altered by metformin compared to placebo, where most changes are observed in the Firmicutes and Proteobacteria phyla, leading to an increase in SCFAs. In addition, metformin was reported to enhance the abundance of *Akkermansia muciniphila* (138), a mucin-degrading bacterial strain, which has gained considerable attention because of the reduction in the abundance of this bacterium associated with obesity, insulin resistance, diabetes, and CVDs in rodents and humans (139). Second, metformin treatment increases the levels of the BA glycoursodeoxycholic acid by inhibiting *Bacteroides fragilis*, thus improving insulin

resistance by activating the FXR pathway (104). Third, metformin treatment is able to increase the abundance of Lactobacillus in the upper small intestine and restore the expression and thus increase the glucose sensitivity of the sodium glucose cotransporter-1 (SGLT1)-dependent pathway, which lowered glucose production in rodents (140).

5.3 Bariatric Surgery Alters Gut Microbiota in Metabolic Disease Patients

Bariatic surgeries (BSs) such as Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) or sleeve gastrectomy(SG) are increasingly being used and proven to be effective treatment for diabetes and morbid obesity (141). Evidence has shown that changes in the gut microbiota are believed to play a role in metabolic improvements after BS. However, due to the small sample size of studies of gut microbiota after BS in humans, changes in the composition of the microbiota have yielded very contradictory results (142). For example, the abundance of Firmicutes was reported to be decreased in two studies (143, 144) but increased in two others (145, 146). Besides, Murphy et al. described an increase in the microbial population for Bacteroidetes after SG and a decreased population for the same phylum after RYGB (145). Meanwhile, Aron-Wisnewsky et al. (147). reported GS failed to fully rescue decreased gut microbial gene richness induced by severe obesity, despite the improvement in microbial gene richness. In any case, these contradictory results at least suggest that GS is able to exert an impact on the composition and abundance of gut microbiota.

Interestingly, an observational line study of 13 patients undergoing RYGB suggested that changes in microbial functional potential are greater than changes in microbial species abundance of the gut microbiota (148). This result reminds us that besides studying compositional changes, it is more important to pay attention to function and even metabolomics output of gut microbiota. A recent meta-analysis suggested that BCAAs were significantly decreased after BS, whilst TMAO levels were elevated in post-operative measurements. Although these changes different from those we may expect, they also suggest that a change in the level of metabolites is associated with gut microbiota alterations after BS surgery. The mechanisms induced by such changes and the effects on the organism remain to be further explored.

6 DISCUSSION

We are exposed to an enormous variety of microorganisms residing in our gut, ranging from bacteria, viruses, fungi, and archaea to phages and protozoa. The gut microbiome can modulate nutrient metabolism upon dietary intake and produces many metabolites that interact with the host in a variety of ways. In this review, we have summarized the current knowledge on the gut microbiota in relation to ATDinduced CVDs in order to broaden our understanding in this field and to move towards establishing clinical applications, which may include a better understanding of etiology, pathology, and personalized interventions.

Nevertheless, additional studies are needed to clarify a number of issues regarding the relationship between the gut microbiota and ATD-induced CVDs. First, many of the relationships between gut microbiota and ATD-induced CVDs are based on findings from animal studies. The compositional differences of gut microbial communities between humans and rodents make animal study findings not directly translatable to humans (149). Observations or studies in human populations are lacking. Secondly, current studies have simply confirmed the presence of altered endocrine properties of the gut microbiota and its metabolites in patients with ATD, but whether such change is the cause or the consequence of ATD is still undetermined. Thirdly, current novel therapies for gut dysbiosis such as fecal transplantation (FMT) not only offers great potential for the treatment of a wide array of diseases, but are also a good model to study the causeeffect relationship between gut microbiota and metabolic disorders in humans. To date, animal FMT studies have demonstrated that the gut microbiota may modulate host metabolic diseases such as obesity and insulin resistance (150). In addition to FMT, transplantation of single probiotic species such as Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG has been shown to improve associated CVDs at the animal level (151). It cannot be denied that these therapies are very promising, but there is a lack of evidence for their effectiveness and safety in the population. A TMA-lyase inhibitor called 3,3-dimethyl-1butanol, which in microbial cell cultures and in vivo mouse models reduces TMA/TMAO production without compromising microbial cell survival is another promising therapeutic approach lacking clinical evidence (152). In addition, interactions between the gut microbiota and existing drugs for CVDs such as aspirin, clopidogrel, statins, and angiotensin inhibitors are also worth investigating. Therefore, future research is necessary to incorporate the wealth of information on gut microbiota into clinical decision pathways and personalized treatment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XY and XZ declare equal contribution to this work. QT and YW conceived the task. XY, QH, SL, and ZS performed the review and collected original studies. XY and XZ wrote the first draft of the manuscript. YW and QT revised the manuscript. WY, XG, HY, and HX contributed to language editing and final revision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The project was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81973290,82070362), Beijing Key Laboratory of Non-Clinical Drug Metabolism and PK/PD study (Z141102004414062), the Key Project of Beijing Natural Science Foundation (No. 7181007).

REFERENCES

- González-Muniesa P, Mártinez-González M-A, Hu FB, Després J-P, Matsuzawa Y, Loos RJF, et al. Obesity. Nat Rev Dis Primers (2017) 3:17034. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.34
- Berrington de Gonzalez A, Hartge P, Cerhan JR, Flint AJ, Hannan L, MacInnis RJ, et al. Body-Mass Index and Mortality Among 1.46 Million White Adults. N Engl J Med (2010) 363:2211-9. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1000367
- Mokdad AH, Ford ES, Bowman BA, Dietz WH, Vinicor F, Bales VS, et al. Prevalence of Obesity, Diabetes, and Obesity-Related Health Risk Factors, 2001. JAMA (2003) 289:76. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.1.76
- The GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators. Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries Over 25 Years. N Engl J Med (2017) 377:13–27. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1614362
- Wildman RP. The Obese Without Cardiometabolic Risk Factor Clustering and the Normal Weight With Cardiometabolic Risk Factor Clustering: Prevalence and Correlates of 2 Phenotypes Among the US Population (NHANES 1999-2004). Arch Intern Med (2008) 168:1617. doi: 10.1001/ archinte.168.15.1617
- Bays HE. Adiposopathy is "Sick Fat" a Cardiovascular Disease? J Am Coll Cardiol (2011) 57:2461–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.02.038
- Neeland IJ, Poirier P, Després J-P. Cardiovascular and Metabolic Heterogeneity of Obesity: Clinical Challenges and Implications for Management. *Circulation* (2018) 137:1391-406. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.117.029617
- Wu J, Wang K, Wang X, Pang Y, Jiang C. The Role of the Gut Microbiome and its Metabolites in Metabolic Diseases. *Protein Cell* (2021) 12:360–73. doi: 10.1007/s13238-020-00814-7
- Han P, Gu J-Q, Li L-S, Wang X-Y, Wang H-T, Wang Y, et al. The Association Between Intestinal Bacteria and Allergic Diseases—Cause or Consequence? Front Cell Infect Microbiol (2021) 11:650893. doi: 10.3389/ fcimb.2021.650893
- Xu H, Wang X, Feng W, Liu Q, Zhou S, Liu Q, et al. The Gut Microbiota and its Interactions With Cardiovascular Disease. *Microb Biotechnol* (2020) 13:637–56. doi: 10.1111/1751-7915.13524
- Zhou W, Cheng Y, Zhu P, Nasser MI, Zhang X, Zhao M. Implication of Gut Microbiota in Cardiovascular Diseases. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2020) 2020:5394096. doi: 10.1155/2020/5394096
- Frank AP, de Souza Santos R, Palmer BF, Clegg DJ. Determinants of Body Fat Distribution in Humans may Provide Insight About Obesity-Related Health Risks. J Lipid Res (2019) 60:1710–9. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R086975
- Karastergiou K, Smith SR, Greenberg AS, Fried SK. Sex Differences in Human Adipose Tissues – the Biology of Pear Shape. *Biol sex Dif* (2012) 3:13. doi: 10.1186/2042-6410-3-13
- Ibrahim MM. Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue: Structural and Functional Differences. *Obes Rev* (2010) 11:11–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00623.x
- Piché M-E, Tchernof A, Després J-P. Obesity Phenotypes, Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Diseases. *Circ Res* (2020) 126:1477–500. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.120.316101
- Wells JCK. Sexual Dimorphism of Body Composition. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 21:415–30. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2007.04.007
- Horber FF, Zürcher RM, Herren H, Crivelli MAC, Robotti G, Frey FJ. Altered Body Fat Distribution in Patients With Glucocorticoid Treatment and in Patients on Long-Term Dialysis. *Am J Clin Nutr* (1986) 43:758–69. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/43.5.758
- Malis C, Rasmussen EL, Poulsen P, Petersen I, Christensen K, Beck-Nielsen H, et al. Total and Regional Fat Distribution is Strongly Influenced by Genetic Factors in Young and Elderly Twins. *Obes Res* (2005) 13:2139–45. doi: 10.1038/oby.2005.265
- Hilton C, Karpe F, Pinnick KE. Role of Developmental Transcription Factors in White, Brown and Beige Adipose Tissues. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) -Mol Cell Biol Lipids* (2015) 1851:686–96. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2015.02.003
- Ross R, Aru J, Freeman J, Hudson R, Janssen I. Abdominal Adiposity and Insulin Resistance in Obese Men. Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab (2002) 282:E657–63. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00469.2001

- Abraham TM, Pedley A, Massaro JM, Hoffmann U, Fox CS. Association Between Visceral and Subcutaneous Adipose Depots and Incident Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors. *Circulation* (2015) 132:1639–47. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.015000
- Kouli G-M, Panagiotakos DB, Kyrou I, Georgousopoulou EN, Chrysohoou C, Tsigos C, et al. Visceral Adiposity Index and 10-Year Cardiovascular Disease Incidence: The ATTICA Study. *Nutrition Metab Cardiovasc Dis* (2017) 27:881–9. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2017.06.015
- Stanley WC, Recchia FA. Lipotoxicity and the Development of Heart Failure: Moving From Mouse to Man. *Cell Metab* (2010) 12:555–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2010.11.016
- Katsiki N G, Athyros V, P. Mikhailidis D. Abnormal Peri-Organ or Intra-Organ Fat (APIFat) Deposition: An Underestimated Predictor of Vascular Risk? CVP (2016) 14:432–41. doi: 10.2174/1570161114666160722112738
- 25. Cinti S, Mitchell G, Barbatelli G, Murano I, Ceresi E, Faloia E, et al. Adipocyte Death Defines Macrophage Localization and Function in Adipose Tissue of Obese Mice and Humans. J Lipid Res (2005) 46:2347– 55. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M500294-JLR200
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity Induces a Phenotypic Switch in Adipose Tissue Macrophage Polarization. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:175–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- Nakamura K, Fuster JJ, Walsh K. Adipokines: A Link Between Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease. J Cardiol (2014) 63:250–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.jjcc.2013.11.006
- Katsiki N, Mikhailidis DP, Banach M. Leptin, Cardiovascular Diseases and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2018) 39:1176–88. doi: 10.1038/aps.2018.40
- Guarner F, Malagelada J-R. Gut Flora in Health and Disease. *Lancet* (2003) 361:512–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12489-0
- Human Microbiome Project Consortium. Structure, Function and Diversity of the Healthy Human Microbiome. *Nature* (2012) 486:207–14. doi: 10.1038/nature11234
- 31. Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, et al. A Human Gut Microbial Gene Catalogue Established by Metagenomic Sequencing. *Nature* (2010) 464:59–65. doi: 10.1038/nature08821
- Gilbert JA, Blaser MJ, Caporaso JG, Jansson JK, Lynch SV, Knight R. Current Understanding of the Human Microbiome. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:392–400. doi: 10.1038/nm.4517
- Yatsunenko T, Rey FE, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Dominguez-Bello MG, Contreras M, et al. Human Gut Microbiome Viewed Across Age and Geography. *Nature* (2012) 486:222–7. doi: 10.1038/nature11053
- 34. Turnbaugh PJ, Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Knight R, Gordon JI. The Effect of Diet on the Human Gut Microbiome: A Metagenomic Analysis in Humanized Gnotobiotic Mice. *Sci Transl Med* (2009) 1:6ra14. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3000322
- Cerf-Bensussan N, Gaboriau-Routhiau V. The Immune System and the Gut Microbiota: Friends or Foes? Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:735–44. doi: 10.1038/nri2850
- 36. Santacroce L, Man A, Charitos IA, Haxhirexha K, Topi S. Current Knowledge About the Connection Between Health Status and Gut Microbiota From Birth to Elderly. A Narrative Review. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) (2021) 26:135–48. doi: 10.52586/4930
- Sonnenburg JL, Bäckhed F. Diet-Microbiota Interactions as Moderators of Human Metabolism. *Nature* (2016) 535:56–64. doi: 10.1038/nature18846
- Nicholson JK, Holmes E, Kinross J, Burcelin R, Gibson G, Jia W, et al. Host-Gut Microbiota Metabolic Interactions. *Science* (2012) 336:1262–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1223813
- Schroeder BO, Bäckhed F. Signals From the Gut Microbiota to Distant Organs in Physiology and Disease. Nat Med (2016) 22:1079–89. doi: 10.1038/nm.4185
- Serino M. SCFAs the Thin Microbial Metabolic Line Between Good and Bad. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2019) 15:318–9. doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0205-7
- Bianchi F, Dall'Asta M, Del Rio D, Mangia A, Musci M, Scazzina F. Development of a Headspace Solid-Phase Microextraction Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometric Method for the Determination of Short-Chain Fatty Acids From Intestinal Fermentation. *Food Chem* (2011) 129:200–5. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.04.022

- 42. Sanna S, van Zuydam NR, Mahajan A, Kurilshikov A, Vich Vila A, Võsa U, et al. Causal Relationships Among the Gut Microbiome, Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Metabolic Diseases. *Nat Genet* (2019) 51:600–5. doi: 10.1038/ s41588-019-0350-x
- Levy M, Thaiss CA, Elinav E. Metabolites: Messengers Between the Microbiota and the Immune System. *Genes Dev* (2016) 30:1589–97. doi: 10.1101/gad.284091.116
- 44. Dong W, Jia Y, Liu X, Zhang H, Li T, Huang W, et al. Sodium Butyrate Activates NRF2 to Ameliorate Diabetic Nephropathy Possibly via Inhibition of HDAC. J Endocrinol (2017) 232:71–83. doi: 10.1530/JOE-16-0322
- Boyer JL, Soroka CJ. Bile Formation and Secretion: An Update. J Hepatol (2021) 75:190–201. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.02.011
- 46. Ovadia C, Perdones-Montero A, Spagou K, Smith A, Sarafian MH, Gomez-Romero M, et al. Enhanced Microbial Bile Acid Deconjugation and Impaired Ileal Uptake in Pregnancy Repress Intestinal Regulation of Bile Acid Synthesis. *Hepatology* (2019) 70:276–93. doi: 10.1002/ hep.30661
- Keitel V, Kubitz R, Häussinger D. Endocrine and Paracrine Role of Bile Acids. World J Gastroenterol (2008) 14:5620–9. doi: 10.3748/wjg.14.5620
- Nagahashi M, Takabe K, Liu R, Peng K, Wang X, Wang Y, et al. Conjugated Bile Acid-Activated S1P Receptor 2 is a Key Regulator of Sphingosine Kinase 2 and Hepatic Gene Expression. *Hepatology* (2015) 61:1216–26. doi: 10.1002/hep.27592
- Kawamata Y, Fujii R, Hosoya M, Harada M, Yoshida H, Miwa M, et al. A G Protein-Coupled Receptor Responsive to Bile Acids. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:9435–40. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209706200
- Makishima M, Okamoto AY, Repa JJ, Tu H, Learned RM, Luk A, et al. Identification of a Nuclear Receptor for Bile Acids. *Science* (1999) 284:1362– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5418.1362
- Trauner M, Claudel T, Fickert P, Moustafa T, Wagner M. Bile Acids as Regulators of Hepatic Lipid and Glucose Metabolism. *Dig Dis* (2010) 28:220–4. doi: 10.1159/000282091
- Yang Q, Vijayakumar A, Kahn BB. Metabolites as Regulators of Insulin Sensitivity and Metabolism. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2018) 19:654–72. doi: 10.1038/s41580-018-0044-8
- Wang Z, Klipfell E, Bennett BJ, Koeth R, Levison BS, DuGar B, et al. Gut Flora Metabolism of Phosphatidylcholine Promotes Cardiovascular Disease. *Nature* (2011) 472:57–63. doi: 10.1038/nature09922
- Rath S, Heidrich B, Pieper DH, Vital M. Uncovering the Trimethylamine-Producing Bacteria of the Human Gut Microbiota. *Microbiome* (2017) 5:54. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0271-9
- Koeth RA, Wang Z, Levison BS, Buffa JA, Org E, Sheehy BT, et al. Intestinal Microbiota Metabolism of L-Carnitine, a Nutrient in Red Meat, Promotes Atherosclerosis. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:576–85. doi: 10.1038/nm.3145
- Bennett BJ, Vallim TQ de A, Wang Z, Shih DM, Meng Y, Gregory J, et al. Trimethylamine-N-Oxide, a Metabolite Associated With Atherosclerosis, Exhibits Complex Genetic and Dietary Regulation. *Cell Metab* (2013) 17:49– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.12.011
- 57. Li XS, Obeid S, Klingenberg R, Gencer B, Mach F, Räber L, et al. Gut Microbiota-Dependent Trimethylamine N-Oxide in Acute Coronary Syndromes: A Prognostic Marker for Incident Cardiovascular Events Beyond Traditional Risk Factors. *Eur Heart J* (2017) 38:814–24. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw582
- Tang WHW, Wang Z, Kennedy DJ, Wu Y, Buffa JA, Agatisa-Boyle B, et al. Gut Microbiota-Dependent Trimethylamine N -Oxide (TMAO) Pathway Contributes to Both Development of Renal Insufficiency and Mortality Risk in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Circ Res* (2015) 116:448–55. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.305360
- 59. Tang WHW, Wang Z, Li XS, Fan Y, Li DS, Wu Y, et al. Increased Trimethylamine N-Oxide Portends High Mortality Risk Independent of Glycemic Control in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Clin Chem* (2017) 63:297–306. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2016.263640
- 60. Seldin MM, Meng Y, Qi H, Zhu W, Wang Z, Hazen SL, et al. Trimethylamine N-Oxide Promotes Vascular Inflammation Through Signaling of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase and Nuclear Factor-κb. JAHA (2016) 5:e002767. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002767
- Chen M, Zhu X, Ran L, Lang H, Yi L, Mi M. Trimethylamine-N-Oxide Induces Vascular Inflammation by Activating the NLRP3 Inflammasome

Through the SIRT3-SOD2-mtROS Signaling Pathway. JAHA (2017) 6: e006347. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.006347

- Zhu W, Gregory JC, Org E, Buffa JA, Gupta N, Wang Z, et al. Gut Microbial Metabolite TMAO Enhances Platelet Hyperreactivity and Thrombosis Risk. *Cell* (2016) 165:111–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.011
- Neves AL, Coelho J, Couto L, Leite-Moreira A, Roncon-Albuquerque R. Metabolic Endotoxemia: A Molecular Link Between Obesity and Cardiovascular Risk. J Mol Endocrinol (2013) 51:R51–64. doi: 10.1530/ JME-13-0079
- Medzhitov R. Recognition of Microorganisms and Activation of the Immune Response. *Nature* (2007) 449:819–26. doi: 10.1038/nature06246
- Lynch CJ, Adams SH. Branched-Chain Amino Acids in Metabolic Signalling and Insulin Resistance. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2014) 10:723–36. doi: 10.1038/ nrendo.2014.171
- Pedersen HK, Gudmundsdottir V, Nielsen HB, Hyotylainen T, Nielsen T, Jensen BAH, et al. Human Gut Microbes Impact Host Serum Metabolome and Insulin Sensitivity. *Nature* (2016) 535:376–81. doi: 10.1038/nature18646
- Dodd KM, Tee AR. Leucine and Mtorc1: A Complex Relationship. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 302:E1329-42. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00525.2011
- Lagier J-C, Hugon P, Khelaifia S, Fournier P-E, La Scola B, Raoult D. The Rebirth of Culture in Microbiology Through the Example of Culturomics To Study Human Gut Microbiota. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2015) 28:237–64. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00014-14
- Segre JA. What Does It Take to Satisfy Koch's Postulates Two Centuries Later?: Microbial Genomics and Propionibacteria Acnes. J Invest Dermatol (2013) 133:2141–2. doi: 10.1038/jid.2013.260
- Piñero-Lambea C, Ruano-Gallego D, Fernández LÁ. Engineered Bacteria as Therapeutic Agents. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* (2015) 35:94–102. doi: 10.1016/ j.copbio.2015.05.004
- Cheng M, Cao L, Ning K. Microbiome Big-Data Mining and Applications Using Single-Cell Technologies and Metagenomics Approaches Toward Precision Medicine. *Front Genet* (2019) 10:972. doi: 10.3389/ fgene.2019.00972
- Lefterova MI, Suarez CJ, Banaei N, Pinsky BA. Next-Generation Sequencing for Infectious Disease Diagnosis and Management. J Mol Diagnostics (2015) 17:623–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jmoldx.2015.07.004
- Malla MA, Dubey A, Kumar A, Yadav S, Hashem A. Abd_Allah EF. Exploring the Human Microbiome: The Potential Future Role of Next-Generation Sequencing in Disease Diagnosis and Treatment. *Front Immunol* (2019) 9:2868. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02868
- 74. Pasolli E, Asnicar F, Manara S, Zolfo M, Karcher N, Armanini F, et al. Extensive Unexplored Human Microbiome Diversity Revealed by Over 150,000 Genomes From Metagenomes Spanning Age, Geography, and Lifestyle. *Cell* (2019) 176:649–662.e20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.01.001
- Zhang A, Sun H, Wang P, Han Y, Wang X. Modern Analytical Techniques in Metabolomics Analysis. *Analyst* (2012) 137:293–300. doi: 10.1039/ C1AN15605E
- Lei Z, Huhman DV, Sumner LW. Mass Spectrometry Strategies in Metabolomics. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:25435–42. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R111.238691
- Zhang S, Wang H, Zhu M-J. A Sensitive GC/MS Detection Method for Analyzing Microbial Metabolites Short Chain Fatty Acids in Fecal and Serum Samples. *Talanta* (2019) 196:249–54. doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2018.12.049
- Petriz BA, Franco OL. Metaproteomics as a Complementary Approach to Gut Microbiota in Health and Disease. *Front Chem* (2017) 5:4. doi: 10.3389/ fchem.2017.00004
- Dominguez-Bello MG, Blaser MJ, Ley RE, Knight R. Development of the Human Gastrointestinal Microbiota and Insights From High-Throughput Sequencing. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 140:1713–9. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2011.02.011
- Carding S, Verbeke K, Vipond DT, Corfe BM, Owen LJ. Dysbiosis of the Gut Microbiota in Disease. *Microbial Ecol Health Dis* (2015) 26:26191. doi: 10.3402/mehd.v26.26191
- Grigor'eva IN. Gallstone Disease, Obesity and the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes Ratio as a Possible Biomarker of Gut Dysbiosis. J Pers Med (2020) 11:13. doi: 10.3390/jpm11010013
- Emoto T, Yamashita T, Sasaki N, Hirota Y, Hayashi T, So A, et al. Analysis of Gut Microbiota in Coronary Artery Disease Patients: A Possible Link

Between Gut Microbiota and Coronary Artery Disease. J Atheroscler Thromb (2016) 23:908–21. doi: 10.5551/jat.32672

- Al Khodor S, Reichert B, Shatat IF. The Microbiome and Blood Pressure: Can Microbes Regulate Our Blood Pressure? *Front Pediatr* (2017) 5:138. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00138
- 84. Bleau C, Karelis AD, St-Pierre DH, Lamontagne L. Crosstalk Between Intestinal Microbiota, Adipose Tissue and Skeletal Muscle as an Early Event in Systemic Low-Grade Inflammation and the Development of Obesity and Diabetes: High-Fat Diet and Inflammation. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2015) 31:545–61. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2617
- Cani PD, Bibiloni R, Knauf C, Waget A, Neyrinck AM, Delzenne NM, et al. Changes in Gut Microbiota Control Metabolic Endotoxemia-Induced Inflammation in High-Fat Diet-Induced Obesity and Diabetes in Mice. *Diabetes* (2008) 57:1470–81. doi: 10.2337/db07-1403
- Tran HQ, Bretin A, Adeshirlarijaney A, Yeoh BS, Vijay-Kumar M, Zou J, et al. "Western Diet"-Induced Adipose Inflammation Requires a Complex Gut Microbiota. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2020) 9:313–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2019.09.009
- Erridge C. Endogenous Ligands of TLR2 and TLR4: Agonists or Assistants? J Leukoc Biol (2010) 87:989–99. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1209775
- Cani PD, Amar J, Iglesias MA, Poggi M, Knauf C, Bastelica D, et al. Metabolic Endotoxemia Initiates Obesity and Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* (2007) 56:1761–72. doi: 10.2337/db06-1491
- de La Serre CB, Ellis CL, Lee J, Hartman AL, Rutledge JC, Raybould HE. Propensity to High-Fat Diet-Induced Obesity in Rats is Associated With Changes in the Gut Microbiota and Gut Inflammation. Am J Physiol-Gastrointestinal Liver Physiol (2010) 299:G440–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00098.2010
- Davis JE, Gabler NK, Walker-Daniels J, Spurlock ME. Tlr-4 Deficiency Selectively Protects Against Obesity Induced by Diets High in Saturated Fat. *Obesity* (2008) 16:1248–55. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.210
- Ahmad R, Al-Mass A, Atizado V, Al-Hubail A, Al-Ghimlas F, Al-Arouj M, et al. Elevated Expression of the Toll Like Receptors 2 and 4 in Obese Individuals: Its Significance for Obesity-Induced Inflammation. *J Inflamm* (2012) 9:48. doi: 10.1186/1476-9255-9-48
- Martinez FO. Macrophage Activation and Polarization. Front Biosci (2008) 13:453. doi: 10.2741/2692
- Talukdar S, Oh DY, Bandyopadhyay G, Li D, Xu J, McNelis J, et al. Neutrophils Mediate Insulin Resistance in Mice Fed a High-Fat Diet Through Secreted Elastase. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1407–12. doi: 10.1038/nm.2885
- 94. Creely SJ, McTernan PG, Kusminski CM, Fisher ff M, Da Silva NF, Khanolkar M, et al. Lipopolysaccharide Activates an Innate Immune System Response in Human Adipose Tissue in Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2007) 292:E740-747. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00302.2006
- Vrieze A, Out C, Fuentes S, Jonker L, Reuling I, Kootte RS, et al. Impact of Oral Vancomycin on Gut Microbiota, Bile Acid Metabolism, and Insulin Sensitivity. *J Hepatol* (2014) 60:824–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.11.034
- Komaroff AL. The Microbiome and Risk for Obesity and Diabetes. JAMA (2017) 317:355–6. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.20099
- Federici M. Gut Microbiome and Microbial Metabolites: A New System Affecting Metabolic Disorders. J Endocrinol Invest (2019) 42:1011–8. doi: 10.1007/s40618-019-01022-9
- Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Jin C, Hao L, Mehal WZ, Strowig T, et al. Inflammasome-Mediated Dysbiosis Regulates Progression of NAFLD and Obesity. *Nature* (2012) 482:179–85. doi: 10.1038/nature10809
- Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Nilsson A, Akrami R, Lee YS, De Vadder F, Arora T, et al. Dietary Fiber-Induced Improvement in Glucose Metabolism Is Associated With Increased Abundance of Prevotella. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22:971–82. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.10.001
- 100. Canfora EE, Jocken JW, Blaak EE. Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Control of Body Weight and Insulin Sensitivity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2015) 11:577–91. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2015.128
- 101. Priyadarshini M, Wicksteed B, Schiltz GE, Gilchrist A, Layden BT. SCFA Receptors in Pancreatic β Cells: Novel Diabetes Targets? *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 27:653–64. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.03.011
- 102. Wang H-B, Wang P-Y, Wang X, Wan Y-L, Liu Y-C. Butyrate Enhances Intestinal Epithelial Barrier Function via Up-Regulation of Tight Junction Protein Claudin-1 Transcription. Dig Dis Sci (2012) 57:3126–35. doi: 10.1007/s10620-012-2259-4

- 103. Kars M, Yang L, Gregor MF, Mohammed BS, Pietka TA, Finck BN, et al. Tauroursodeoxycholic Acid may Improve Liver and Muscle But Not Adipose Tissue Insulin Sensitivity in Obese Men and Women. *Diabetes* (2010) 59:1899–905. doi: 10.2337/db10-0308
- 104. Sun L, Xie C, Wang G, Wu Y, Wu Q, Wang X, et al. Gut Microbiota and Intestinal FXR Mediate the Clinical Benefits of Metformin. *Nat Med* (2018) 24:1919–29. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0222-4
- 105. Sun L, Pang Y, Wang X, Wu Q, Liu H, Liu B, et al. Ablation of Gut Microbiota Alleviates Obesity-Induced Hepatic Steatosis and Glucose Intolerance by Modulating Bile Acid Metabolism in Hamsters. Acta Pharm Sin B (2019) 9:702–10. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2019.02.004
- 106. Gregory JC, Buffa JA, Org E, Wang Z, Levison BS, Zhu W, et al. Transmission of Atherosclerosis Susceptibility With Gut Microbial Transplantation. J Biol Chem (2015) 290:5647–60. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.618249
- 107. Li J, Zhao F, Wang Y, Chen J, Tao J, Tian G, et al. Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis Contributes to the Development of Hypertension. *Microbiome* (2017) 5:14. doi: 10.1186/s40168-016-0222-x
- 108. Yin J, Liao S, He Y, Wang S, Xia G, Liu F, et al. Dysbiosis of Gut Microbiota With Reduced Trimethylamine-N-Oxide Level in Patients With Large-Artery Atherosclerotic Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack. *JAHA* (2015) 4:e002699. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002699
- 109. Karlsson FH, Fåk F, Nookaew I, Tremaroli V, Fagerberg B, Petranovic D, et al. Symptomatic Atherosclerosis is Associated With an Altered Gut Metagenome. Nat Commun (2012) 3:1245. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2266
- 110. Dinakaran V, Rathinavel A, Pushpanathan M, Sivakumar R, Gunasekaran P, Rajendhran J. Elevated Levels of Circulating DNA in Cardiovascular Disease Patients: Metagenomic Profiling of Microbiome in the Circulation. *PloS One* (2014) 9:e105221. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0105221
- 111. Feng Q, Liu Z, Zhong S, Li R, Xia H, Jie Z, et al. Integrated Metabolomics and Metagenomics Analysis of Plasma and Urine Identified Microbial Metabolites Associated With Coronary Heart Disease. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:22525. doi: 10.1038/srep22525
- 112. Sandek A, Bauditz J, Swidsinski A, Buhner S, Weber-Eibel J, von Haehling S, et al. Altered Intestinal Function in Patients With Chronic Heart Failure. J Am Coll Cardiol (2007) 50:1561–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.07.016
- 113. Sandek A, Bjarnason I, Volk H-D, Crane R, Meddings JB, Niebauer J, et al. Studies on Bacterial Endotoxin and Intestinal Absorption Function in Patients With Chronic Heart Failure. *Int J Cardiol* (2012) 157:80–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2010.12.016
- 114. Pasini E, Aquilani R, Testa C, Baiardi P, Angioletti S, Boschi F, et al. Pathogenic Gut Flora in Patients With Chronic Heart Failure. JACC Heart Fail (2016) 4:220–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2015.10.009
- 115. Koren O, Spor A, Felin J, Fåk F, Stombaugh J, Tremaroli V, et al. Human Oral, Gut, and Plaque Microbiota in Patients With Atherosclerosis. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci USA (2011) 108(Suppl 1):4592–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1011383107
- 116. Jie Z, Xia H, Zhong S-L, Feng Q, Li S, Liang S, et al. The Gut Microbiome in Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:845. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00900-1
- 117. Wang Z, Tang WHW, Buffa JA, Fu X, Britt EB, Koeth RA, et al. Prognostic Value of Choline and Betaine Depends on Intestinal Microbiota-Generated Metabolite Trimethylamine-N-Oxide. *Eur Heart J* (2014) 35:904–10. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu002
- 118. Tang WHW, Wang Z, Fan Y, Levison B, Hazen JE, Donahue LM, et al. Prognostic Value of Elevated Levels of Intestinal Microbe-Generated Metabolite Trimethylamine-N-Oxide in Patients With Heart Failure: Refining the Gut Hypothesis. J Am Coll Cardiol (2014) 64:1908–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.02.617
- 119. Senthong V, Wang Z, Fan Y, Wu Y, Hazen SL, Tang WHW. Trimethylamine N-Oxide and Mortality Risk in Patients With Peripheral Artery Disease. J Am Heart Assoc (2016) 5:e004237. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004237
- 120. Harford KA, Reynolds CM, McGillicuddy FC, Roche HM. Fats, Inflammation and Insulin Resistance: Insights to the Role of Macrophage and T-Cell Accumulation in Adipose Tissue. *Proc Nutr Soc* (2011) 70:408– 17. doi: 10.1017/S0029665111000565
- 121. Duan Y, Zeng L, Zheng C, Song B, Li F, Kong X, et al. Inflammatory Links Between High Fat Diets and Diseases. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2649. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02649

- 122. De Souza CT, Araujo EP, Bordin S, Ashimine R, Zollner RL, Boschero AC, et al. Consumption of a Fat-Rich Diet Activates a Proinflammatory Response and Induces Insulin Resistance in the Hypothalamus. *Endocrinology* (2005) 146:4192–9. doi: 10.1210/en.2004-1520
- 123. Woods SC, D'Alessio DA, Tso P, Rushing PA, Clegg DJ, Benoit SC, et al. Consumption of a High-Fat Diet Alters the Homeostatic Regulation of Energy Balance. *Physiol Behav* (2004) 83:573-8. doi: 10.1016/ j.physbeh.2004.07.026
- 124. de Wit N, Derrien M, Bosch-Vermeulen H, Oosterink E, Keshtkar S, Duval C, et al. Saturated Fat Stimulates Obesity and Hepatic Steatosis and Affects Gut Microbiota Composition by an Enhanced Overflow of Dietary Fat to the Distal Intestine. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol (2012) 303:G589–599. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00488.2011
- 125. Miller MJ, Bostwick BL, Kennedy AD, Donti TR, Sun Q, Sutton VR, et al. Chronic Oral L-Carnitine Supplementation Drives Marked Plasma TMAO Elevations in Patients With Organic Acidemias Despite Dietary Meat Restrictions. *JIMD Rep* (2016) 30:39–44. doi: 10.1007/8904_2016_539
- 126. Erickson M, Malin S, Wang Z, Brown J, Hazen S, Kirwan J. Effects of Lifestyle Intervention on Plasma Trimethylamine N-Oxide in Obese Adults. *Nutrients* (2019) 11:179. doi: 10.3390/nu11010179
- 127. Washburn R, Cox J, Muhlestein J, May H, Carlquist J, Le V, et al. Pilot Study of Novel Intermittent Fasting Effects on Metabolomic and Trimethylamine N-Oxide Changes During 24-Hour Water-Only Fasting in the FEELGOOD Trial. *Nutrients* (2019) 11:246. doi: 10.3390/nu11020246
- 128. Caesar R, Tremaroli V, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Cani PD, Bäckhed F. Crosstalk Between Gut Microbiota and Dietary Lipids Aggravates WAT Inflammation Through TLR Signaling. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22:658–68. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.07.026
- 129. Bargut TCL, Mandarim-de-Lacerda CA, Aguila MB. A High-Fish-Oil Diet Prevents Adiposity and Modulates White Adipose Tissue Inflammation Pathways in Mice. J Nutr Biochem (2015) 26:960-9. doi: 10.1016/ j.jnutbio.2015.04.002
- Roberfroid MB. Functional Foods: Concepts and Application to Inulin and Oligofructose. Br J Nutr (2002) 87 Suppl 2:S139–43. doi: 10.1079/BJNBJN/ 2002529
- 131. Cani PD, Neyrinck AM, Fava F, Knauf C, Burcelin RG, Tuohy KM, et al. Selective Increases of Bifidobacteria in Gut Microflora Improve High-Fat-Diet-Induced Diabetes in Mice Through a Mechanism Associated With Endotoxaemia. *Diabetologia* (2007) 50:2374–83. doi: 10.1007/s00125-007-0791-0
- 132. Neyrinck AM, Possemiers S, Druart C, Van de Wiele T, De Backer F, Cani PD, et al. Prebiotic Effects of Wheat Arabinoxylan Related to the Increase in Bifidobacteria, Roseburia and Bacteroides/Prevotella in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *PloS One* (2011) 6:e20944. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020944
- 133. Auger C, Knuth CM, Abdullahi A, Samadi O, Parousis A, Jeschke MG. Metformin Prevents the Pathological Browning of Subcutaneous White Adipose Tissue. *Mol Metab* (2019) 29:12–23. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2019.08.011
- 134. Campbell JM, Bellman SM, Stephenson MD, Lisy K. Metformin Reduces All-Cause Mortality and Diseases of Ageing Independent of its Effect on Diabetes Control: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Ageing Res Rev* (2017) 40:31–44. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2017.08.003
- Bailey CJ, Wilcock C, Scarpello JHB. Metformin and the Intestine. Diabetologia (2008) 51:1552–3. doi: 10.1007/s00125-008-1053-5
- 136. Forslund K, Hildebrand F, Nielsen T, Falony G, Le Chatelier E, Sunagawa S, et al. Disentangling Type 2 Diabetes and Metformin Treatment Signatures in the Human Gut Microbiota. *Nature* (2015) 528:262–6. doi: 10.1038/nature15766
- 137. Prattichizzo F, Giuliani A, Mensà E, Sabbatinelli J, De Nigris V, Rippo MR, et al. Pleiotropic Effects of Metformin: Shaping the Microbiome to Manage Type 2 Diabetes and Postpone Ageing. Ageing Res Rev (2018) 48:87–98. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2018.10.003
- Vallianou NG, Stratigou T, Tsagarakis S. Metformin and Gut Microbiota: Their Interactions and Their Impact on Diabetes. *Hormones (Athens)* (2019) 18:141–4. doi: 10.1007/s42000-019-00093-w
- 139. Cani PD, Van Hul M, Lefort C, Depommier C, Rastelli M, Everard A. Microbial Regulation of Organismal Energy Homeostasis. *Nat Metab* (2019) 1:34–46. doi: 10.1038/s42255-018-0017-4
- 140. Bauer PV, Duca FA, Waise TMZ, Rasmussen BA, Abraham MA, Dranse HJ, et al. Metformin Alters Upper Small Intestinal Microbiota That Impact a

Glucose-SGLT1-Sensing Glucoregulatory Pathway. *Cell Metab* (2018) 27:101–117.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.09.019

- 141. Nguyen NT, Varela JE. Bariatric Surgery for Obesity and Metabolic Disorders: State of the Art. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol (2017) 14:160– 9. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.170
- 142. Magouliotis DE, Tasiopoulou VS, Sioka E, Chatedaki C, Zacharoulis D. Impact of Bariatric Surgery on Metabolic and Gut Microbiota Profile: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Obes Surg* (2017) 27:1345–57. doi: 10.1007/s11695-017-2595-8
- 143. Furet J-P, Kong L-C, Tap J, Poitou C, Basdevant A, Bouillot J-L, et al. Differential Adaptation of Human Gut Microbiota to Bariatric Surgery-Induced Weight Loss: Links With Metabolic and Low-Grade Inflammation Markers. *Diabetes* (2010) 59:3049–57. doi: 10.2337/db10-0253
- 144. Kong L-C, Tap J, Aron-Wisnewsky J, Pelloux V, Basdevant A, Bouillot J-L, et al. Gut Microbiota After Gastric Bypass in Human Obesity: Increased Richness and Associations of Bacterial Genera With Adipose Tissue Genes. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2013) 98:16–24. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.058743
- 145. Murphy R, Tsai P, Jüllig M, Liu A, Plank L, Booth M. Differential Changes in Gut Microbiota After Gastric Bypass and Sleeve Gastrectomy Bariatric Surgery Vary According to Diabetes Remission. Obes Surg (2017) 27:917– 25. doi: 10.1007/s11695-016-2399-2
- 146. Tremaroli V, Karlsson F, Werling M, Ståhlman M, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Olbers T, et al. Roux-En-Y Gastric Bypass and Vertical Banded Gastroplasty Induce Long-Term Changes on the Human Gut Microbiome Contributing to Fat Mass Regulation. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22:228–38. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2015.07.009
- 147. Aron-Wisnewsky J, Prifti E, Belda E, Ichou F, Kayser BD, Dao MC, et al. Major Microbiota Dysbiosis in Severe Obesity: Fate After Bariatric Surgery. *Gut* (2019) 68:70–82. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-316103
- 148. Palleja A, Kashani A, Allin KH, Nielsen T, Zhang C, Li Y, et al. Roux-En-Y Gastric Bypass Surgery of Morbidly Obese Patients Induces Swift and Persistent Changes of the Individual Gut Microbiota. *Genome Med* (2016) 8:67. doi: 10.1186/s13073-016-0312-1
- 149. Nguyen TLA, Vieira-Silva S, Liston A, Raes J. How Informative Is the Mouse for Human Gut Microbiota Research? *Dis Model Mech* (2015) 8:1–16. doi: 10.1242/dmm.017400
- 150. Bäckhed F, Manchester JK, Semenkovich CF, Gordon JI. Mechanisms Underlying the Resistance to Diet-Induced Obesity in Germ-Free Mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2007) 104:979–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605374104
- 151. Xu H, Wang J, Cai J, Feng W, Wang Y, Liu Q, et al. Protective Effect of Lactobacillus Rhamnosus GG and its Supernatant Against Myocardial Dysfunction in Obese Mice Exposed to Intermittent Hypoxia is Associated With the Activation of Nrf2 Pathway. *Int J Biol Sci* (2019) 15:2471–83. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.36465
- 152. Wang Z, Roberts AB, Buffa JA, Levison BS, Zhu W, Org E, et al. Non-Lethal Inhibition of Gut Microbial Trimethylamine Production for the Treatment of Atherosclerosis. *Cell* (2015) 163:1585–95. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2015.11.055

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Yang, Zhang, Yang, Yu, He, Xu, Li, Shang, Gao, Wang and Tong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Association of Pericardiac Adipose Tissue With Coronary Artery Disease

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexandre A. da Silva, University of Mississippi Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Ana Omoto, University of Mississippi Medical Center, United States Naresh Chandra Bal, KIIT University, India

*Correspondence:

Kailei Shi shikailei@fudan.edu.cn Maoqing Ye yemaoqing@fudan.edu.cn Junfeng Cai lonlon_cn@hotmail.com Xinkai Qu qxkchest@126.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and

share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 14 June 2021 Accepted: 03 August 2021 Published: 06 September 2021

Citation:

Li M, Qi L, Li Y, Zhang S, Lin L, Zhou L, Han W, Qu X, Cai J, Ye M and Shi K (2021) Association of Pericardiac Adipose Tissue With Coronary Artery Disease. Front. Endocrinol. 12:724859. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.724859 Mingxuan Li^{1†}, Lin Qi^{2†}, Yanglei Li¹, Shuyi Zhang¹, Lei Lin³, Lijin Zhou³, Wanlin Han¹, Xinkai Qu^{1*}, Junfeng Cai^{3*}, Maoqing Ye^{1,4*} and Kailei Shi^{1*}

¹ Department of Cardiology, Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Computed Tomography, Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ³ Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ Shanghai Key Laboratory of Clinical Geriatric Medicine, Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ Shanghai Key Laboratory of Clinical Geriatric Medicine, Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Background and Aim: Coronary artery disease (CAD) poses a worldwide health threat. Compelling evidence shows that pericardial adipose tissue (PAT), a brown-like adipose adjacent to the external surface of the pericardium, is associated with CAD. However, the specific molecular mechanisms of PAT in CAD are elusive. This study aims to characterize human PAT and explore its association with CAD.

Methods: We acquired samples of PAT from 31 elective cardiac surgery patients (17 CAD patients and 14 controls). The transcriptome characteristics were assessed in 5 CAD patients and 4 controls *via* RNA-sequencing. Cluster profile R package, String database, Cytoscape were applied to analyze the potential pathways and PPI-network key to DEGS, whereas the hubgenes were predicted *via* Metascape, Cytohubba, and MCODE. We use Cibersort, ENCORI, and DGIDB to predict immunoinfiltration, mRNA-miRNA target gene network, and search potential drugs targeting key DEGs. The predictable hubgenes and infiltrating inflammatory cells were validated in 22 patients (12 CAD samples and 10 control samples) through RT-qPCR and immunohistochemistry.

Results: A total of 147 different genes (104 up-regulated genes and 43 down-regulated genes) were identified in CAD patients. These different genes were associated with immunity and inflammatory dysfunction. Cibersort analysis showed monocytes and macrophages were the most common subsets in immune cells, whereas immunohistochemical results revealed there were more macrophages and higher proportion of M1 subtype cells in PAT of CAD patients. The PPI network and module analysis uncovered several crucial genes, defined as candidate genes, including Jun, ATF3, CXCR4, FOSB, CCl4, which were validated through RT-qPCR. The miRNA-mRNA network implicated hsa-miR-185-5p as diagnostic targets and drug-gene network showed colchicine, fenofibrate as potential therapeutic drugs, respectively.

79

Conclusion: This study demonstrates that PAT is mainly associated with the occurrence of CAD following the dysfunction of immune and inflammatory processes. The identified hubgenes, predicted drugs and miRNAs are promising biomarkers and therapeutic targets for CAD.

Keywords: CAD (Coronary artery disease), PAT (pericardial adipose tissue), inflammation, macrophage cell, bioinformation

INTRODUCTION

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is a global health threat, particularly due to its high level of morbidity, which poses an enormous socioeconomic and medical burden (1). Obesity, a type of metabolic syndrome characterized by abnormal deposition of body fat with chronic inflammation of adipose tissue, is associated with multiple cardiovascular diseases, including CAD (2). According to the Framingham Heart Study, the risk factors for CAD are more associated with omental adipose tissue than subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) (3). These observations may be plausible owing to the differences in adipose tissue endocrine and metabolism. White adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT) are the two major types of adipose tissues. Briefly, WAT comprises adipocytes with a large, single fat droplet and is presumed as the main depot for lipid storage, whereas BAT comprises several smaller fat droplets and numerous mitochondria and plays a role in heat production (4). In humans, BAT was thought to rapidly involute and essentially disappear within the first years after birth, only a small amount is found in the scapula, paraspinal, and around the heart and aorta in adulthood (5).

Pericardial adipose tissue (PAT), which refers to the fat surrounding the external surface of the pericardium, is supplied by the internal mammary artery (6). PAT covers the pericardium which is closely adjacent to the epicardial adipose tissue (EAT), coronary artery, and the heart. Scholars have suggested that PAT may play a vital role in cardiovascular disease (7-9). Previous reports in humans indicate that PAT may appear brown-like adipocyte in morphology, with distinct features different from WAT and BAT (10-12). Elsewhere, PAT, as a metabolically active endocrine local adipocyte depot, was found to be associated with coronary artery disease (CAD) through the production of free fatty acids and pro-and antiinflammatory adipocytokines (13). Elevated PAT volume is known to be associated with coronary atherosclerosis, hypoadiponectinemia, inflammation and represents the highest risk factor for atherosclerosis (14). Other reports have further demonstrated the association of PAT with cardiovascular events and left ventricular remodeling (15, 16). However, whether the transcriptome of PAT changes during CAD, the molecular mechanism by which PAT mediates CAD progress, and the possibility to improve the function of PAT in CAD treatment remains elusive.

In the present study, we employed the RNA-sequencing (RNA-Seq) approach to explore the transcriptome characteristic shift in PAT from humans undergoing cardiac surgery with or

without CAD. This was followed by the analysis of the functional enrichment, protein-protein interaction (PPI) network, hubgenes, and microRNA (miRNA)-mRNA regulatory network. We further predicted the potential drugs that target the key differentially expressed genes (DEGs). This study will deepen our understanding of PAT in the pathogenesis of CAD.

STUDY PATIENTS

Subject Recruitment

This study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the ethics committee of Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai, China (2020K082). All patients signed written informed consent, and underwent preoperative coronary angiography. Control patients were referred for elective valve surgery and exhibited no significant CAD (a single lesion >50%) on preoperative coronary angiograms. Besides, CAD patients were referred for coronary artery bypass (CABG) surgery because of significant stenosis and surgical indications. Eventually, 31 patients, including 17 CAD patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) and 14 control patients undergoing valve replacement or valve repair were enrolled for analysis.

Sample Collection and Preparation

We took a sample of PAT (1.0 g) adjacent to the pericardial surface during surgery (**Figure 1A**). The adipose sections collected from 5 CAD and 4 control patients were kept in 10% formalin for histological analysis. The other adipose tissues were immediately snap-frozen and stored at liquid nitrogen (-196°C). Five CAD and 4 control adipose tissue samples underwent RNA sequencing, while the rest were used in RT-PCR analyses.

Histology and Immunohistochemistry

Formalin-fixed adipose tissues were embedded in paraffin and sectioned (8µm thick) and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). H&E-stained sections revealed the adipocyte size. To quantify M1 or M2 macrophages, cryosections were stained with rabbit anti-human CD11b (1:1000 dilution) (Abcam, UK) and rabbit anti-human CD68 (1:1000 dilution) (Abcam, UK) antibodies after which a goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody was conjugated to horseradish peroxidase. Immunohistochemical images were captured using a Zeiss LSM 5 Pascal microscope (M205FA, Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Image-Pro Plus software (version6.0, MEDIA CYBERNETICS, USA) was employed to analyze the images.



FIGURE 1 | (A) Localization of pericardial fat; (B) Heatmap results of DEGs; (C) Volcano plot results of DEGs; (D, E) The significantly enriched KEGG and GO terms that correspond to coding gene functions of upregulated and downregulated DEGs.

mRNA Isolation and Real-Time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from adipose tissue biopsies using an RNA rapid extraction kit (TR205-200, Tianmo biotech, Beijing, China) following the manufacturer's protocol. RT-PCR was performed using a cDNA reverse transcription kit (RR047A, TAKARA, Japan), Premix Ex Taq (RR420A, TAKARA, Japan) in 7500 Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, San Francisco, CA, USA). Standard and melting curves were generated in every plate for each gene to ensure that the reaction is efficient and specific. The cycle threshold value of β -actin acted as the internal control. The relative expression levels of different genes were analyzed *via* the 2– $\Delta\Delta$ CT method.

Primer sequences were obtained from PrimerBank (http://pga. mgh.harvard.edu/ primerbank) as follows (**Table 1**): JUN forward TCCAAGTGCCGAAAAAGGAAG, JUN reverse CGAGTTCTGAGCTTTCAAGGT; ATF3 forward CGAGTTCTGAGCTTTCAAGGT, ATF3 reverse TTCTTTCTCGTCGCCTCTTTTT; CXCR4 forward ACTACACCGAGGAAATGGGCT, CXCR4 reverse CCCACAATGCCAGTTAAGAAGA; FOSB forward GCTGCAAGATCCCCTACGAAG, FOSB reverse ACGAAGAAGTGTACGAAGGGTT; CCL4 forward CTGTGCTGATCCCAGTGAATC, CCL4 reverse TCAGTTCAGTTCCAGGTCATACA; CXCL2 forward

TABLE 1 | The primer sequences about hub genes.

Gene symbal	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
JUN	TCCAAGTGCCGAAAAAGGAAG	CGAGTTCTGAGCTTTCAAGGT
ATF3	CGAGTTCTGAGCTTTCAAGGT	TTCTTTCTCGTCGCCTCTTTT
CXCR4	ACTACACCGAGGAAATGGGCT	CCCACAATGCCAGTTAAGAAGA
FOSB	GCTGCAAGATCCCCTACGAAG	ACGAAGAAGTGTACGAAGGGTT
CCL4	CTGTGCTGATCCCAGTGAATC	TCAGTTCAGTTCCAGGTCATACA
CXCL2	CTCAAGAATGGGCAGAAAGC	CTCCTAAGTGATGCTCAAAC

CTCAAGAATGGGCAGAAAGC, CXCL2 reverse CTCCTAAGTGATGCTCAAAC (17).

RNA Sequencing

Paired-end libraries were synthesized using the TruSeqTM RNA Sample Preparation Kit (Illumina, USA) following the TruSeqTM RNA sample preparation guide. Briefly, the poly-A containing mRNA molecules were purified using poly-T oligo-attached magnetic beads. Thereafter, the mRNA was fragmented into small pieces using divalent cations under 94°C for 8 min. The cleaved RNA fragments were copied into first-strand cDNA using reverse transcriptase and random primers. Subsequently, the second strand cDNA was synthesized using DNA Polymerase I and RNase H. These cDNA fragments then underwent an end repair process, the addition of a single 'A' base, and ligation of the adapters. The products were purified and enriched with PCR to generate the final cDNA library. Clean libraries were quantified using a Qubit[®] 2.0 Fluorometer (Life Technologies, USA), and validated by Agilent 2100 bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, USA) to confirm the insert size and evaluate the mole concentration. Cluster was generated using cBot with the library diluted to 10 pM and then was sequenced on the Illumina NovaSeq 6000 (Illumina, USA). Library construction and sequencing were performed by Sinotech Genomics Co., Ltd (Shanghai, China).

Data Processing of DEGs

Gene abundance was expressed as fragments per kilobase of exon per million reads mapped (FPKM). We employed the Stringtie software to count the fragments within each gene. TMM algorithm was applied for normalization. The DEGs between CAD and control patients were detected in the Illumina data collection software, whereby the P-value and $|log_2FC|$ were calculated. Genes that met the cutoff criteria, P value<0.05 and $|log_2FC|>1.0$, considered as significantly modulated, were retained for subsequent analysis.

Enrichment Analysis

The Gene Ontology (GO) analysis and a Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathways analysis were performed in the R package cluster Profiler (version 3.18.0) (18). GO enrichment analysis included biological processes (BP), cellular components (CC), and molecular functions (MF).

PPI Network Construction, Significant Module, and Hub Genes Analysis

The PPI network was first analyzed using Cytoscape (version 3.7.2, www.cytoscape.org) software after which the key genes in

the PPI networks were identified using cytohubba (version 1.4.2), a plug-in of the Cytoscape software (19, 20). The Molecular Complex Detection tool (MCODE) (version 1.5.1) and Metascape (http://metascape.org/gp/) were employed to screen the significant module (21, 22).

Identification and Analysis of Significant Genes

A Venn diagram was delineated to identify significant common genes across "Metascape_MCODE", "Cytoscape_MCODE", and "Cytoscape_cytoHubba" by Veeny2.1 (https://bioinfogp.cnb. csic.es/tools/venny/). Summarized functions of significant genes were obtained *via* GeneCards (https://www.genecards. org/) (23).

Analyses of miRNA-mRNA Targets

We applied the miRNA-target tool ENCORI to predict the miRNA of DEGs (24). There were nine databases about miRNA-mRNA prediction. miRNAs predicted in at least two databases were selected as the potential target miRNAs of hubgenes. Then, the Cytoscape software was employed to assess the regulatory networks of the miRNA-mRNA pairs.

Immune Cell Infiltration

The immune cell components in adipose tissue were analyzed *via* CIBERSORT (25).

Prediction of Drugs Targeting DEGs

The Drug–Gene Interaction Database (DGIdb, www.dgidb.org) is a web resource that organizes and presents gene druggability information and drug-gene interactions from databases, articles, and web resources (26). Herein, we used DGIdb (version 3.0.2) to predict the potential drugs that target key DEGs confirmed *via* network module analysis. The following parameters were used: Preset filter, Food, and Drug Administration approved; advanced filters, source databases: all; gene categories, all; and interaction types, all. The interaction network was constructed using Cytoscape.

Statistics

Comparison of the clinical characteristics was achieved using the 2tailed Student's t-test for continuous variables or the $\chi 2$ test for dichotomous variables. A p-value is less than 0.05 denoted significance. Adipocyte size and positive cell numbers were compared *via* a 2-tailed Student's t-test. For the qRT-PCR experiment, expression values relative to β -actin were compared using 2-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

RESULTS

Clinical Characteristics of Subjects

Table 2 outlines the clinical characteristics of 31 subjects. The mean age of the CAD group and control group were 66.06 ± 7.94 years and 60.93 ± 12.03 years, respectively (P = 0.165). Except for a trend towards more female patients in the control group (17.6% *vs* 42.9%, P = 0.124) and diabetes history in the CAD group (7/17 *vs* 2/14, P=0.101), we reported no difference in age, gender, BMI, comorbid conditions, and clinical biochemical characteristics. As such, our study groups were well matched. The clinical features of 9 cases who underwent RNA sequencing are outlined in **Supplemental Table 1**. Discriminant multivariate analysis demonstrated that the two groups were well matched.

Depot-Specific Transcriptomic Profiles of PAT in CAD and Control Groups

RNA-seq was performed in 9 patients (CAD=5, Control=4), we first sought to identify depot-specific gene signatures in a pairwise manner. Using threshold criteria of fold change (FC) greater than or equal to 2 or less than or equal to –2 and p-value less than or equal to 0.05, 147 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) (104 upregulated and 43 downregulated) were identified in the CAD group relative to the control group (i.e., CAD vs. control groups) (**Figures 1B, C**). In addition, the top significantly changing genes were IL6, FOSB, CSF3, IGLC7, and PPP1R14C; these genes were associated with inflammation, nuclear transcription, cell differentiation, immunity, and neuronal activity.

Function and Pathway Enrichment Analyses

To explore the relative functions and pathways of DEGs in CAD *vs.* control groups, we performed Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) analysis on those

DEGs. The DEGs were significantly enriched in regulation of acute inflammatory response, regulation of complement activation, and complement activation classical pathway associated biological process (BP) terms, circulating immunoglobulin complex, immunoglobulin complex, and external side of plasma membrane associated component cell (CC) terms, antigen binding, RNA polymerase II-specific immunoglobulin receptor binding, and DNA-binding transcription activator activity associated molecule function (MF) terms (**Figure 1E**). KEGG pathway analysis demonstrated the enrichment of DEGs in cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction, IL-17 signaling pathway, and COVID-19 (**Figure 1D**).

PPI Network Construction and Module Analysis of DEGs

We systematically analyzed the biological functions of the obtained DEGs between the two groups using a PPI network of DEGs constructed via the STRING database and visualized using Cytoscape. The PPI network comprised 77 nodes (proteins) and 271 edges (interactions; Figure 2A). The 77 nodes included 71 up-regulated genes and 6 down-regulated genes. According to the topology score, Interleukin-6 (IL-6), Jun proto-oncogene (JUN), and prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (PTGS2) activating transcription factor 3 (ATF3), chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 4 (CXCR4) were the top five genes (Figure 2B). Additionally, five MCODE modules were identified from the PPI network via cytoscape_CMODE; however, one submodule with a score >5 was extracted from the PPI network, which comprised 8 nodes and 26 edges (Figure 2C). In this module, IL-6, chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 2 (CXCL2), selectin E (SELE), C-C motif chemokine ligand 4 (CCL4), PTGS2 were the top five genes (Figure 2C). Three MCODE modules were extracted through Metascape analysis (Figure 2D).

TABLE 2 | Clinical characteristics of the subjects.

Parameters	CAD (n=17)	NCAD (n=14)	p value
Sex (male/female)	14/3	8/6	0.124
Age (years), mean±SD	66.06 ± 7.94	60.93 ±12.03	0.165
BMI (kg/m2), mean±SD	24.7 ± 3.48	25.69 ± 4.26	0.489
Hypertension (Yes/No)	10/7	7/7	0.623
Diabetes (Yes/No)	7/10	2/12	0.101
Stroke (Yes/No)	4/13	1/13	0.217
Smoking (Yes/No)	4/13	1/13	0.217
Total-cholesterol (mM), mean±SD	4.15 ± 1.19	4.55 ± 1.12	0.350
Triglycerides (mM), mean±SD	1.90 ± 1.36	1.50 ± 0.58	0.293
HDL-cholesterol (mM), mean±SD	1.10 ± 0.18	1.31 ± 0.42	0.200
LDL-cholesterol (mM), mean±SD	2.62 ± 1.24	2.45 ± 0.76	0.725
ESR (mm/h), mean±SD	13.44 ± 12.39	14.31 ± 6.77	0.835
CRP (mg/L), mean±SD	10.33 ± 14.55	6.49 ± 5.64	0.368
WBC (10^9/L), mean±SD	6.71 ± 1.39	6.41 ± 2.31	0.662
N (%), mean±SD	66.06 ± 10.09	66.53 ± 13.42	0.913
Hb (g/L), mean±SD	135.88 ± 14.73	132.57 ± 21.58	0.617
ALT (mM), mean±SD	29.61 ± 22.70	29.10 ± 15.10	0.944
AST (mM), mean±SD	25.91 ± 12.02	24.91 ±9.77	0.805
BUN (mM), mean±SD	6.36 ± 1.64	5.84 ± 2.13	0.446
CR (mM), mean±SD	79.04 ± 15.47	81.99 ± 30.72	0.748
eGFR, mean±SD	88.69 ± 14.90	84.67 ± 23.50	0.579
UA (mM), mean±SD	364.46 ± 93.92	386.91 ± 137.50	0.594



FIGURE 2 | (A) The protein-protein interaction network constructed based on the DEGs. The green heart represents the downregulated genes, the red parallelogram represents the upregulated genes. (B–D) The hubgenes predicted by cytohubba, Mcode, and metascape Mcode, respectively. (E) Overlap of hubgenes identified via the three methods; (F) The Pathway analysis results showing the six enriched hubgenes.

Identification and Analysis of **Significant Genes**

To reveal the most important hub gene, we filtered these genes using the VENN diagram. The VENN diagram revealed six significant common genes, including JUN, ATF3, CXCR4, FOSB, CCL4, and CXCL2 (Figure 2E). The functions of the six significant genes are summarized in Table 3. We shifted our focus to explore the potential function of these six key genes. Pathway analysis demonstrated that the six genes were mainly enriched in the chemokine-mediated signaling pathway, inflammatory response, transcription from RNA polymerase II promoter, G-protein coupled receptor signaling pathway, and positive regulation of transcription from RNA polymerase II promoter (Figure 2F). RT-qPCR analysis revealed that the relative expression levels of JUN (Figure 3A), FOSB (Figure 3B), ATF3 (Figure 3C), CCL4 (Figure 3D), and CXCR4 (Figure 3E) were significantly higher in the CAD group adipose tissue than in control group.

miRNA-mRNA Interaction Network

We explored the effect of PAT on CAD progression and its potential gene regulation mechanism. miRNA-target gene interaction pairs of reverse association were predicted via ENCORI according to the hub genes identified previously. Considering the identified miRNA-mRNA pairs, we compared the interaction network containing 70 miRNA-mRNA pairs and visualized them via the Cytoscape software. Through comparison of the targets of hub genes, we found CXCR4 to be a potential target of 23 miRNAs, including hsa-miR-185-5p. Also, FUN and FOSB were the potential targets of 15 miRNAs. The miRNA-gene regulation network is illustrated in Table 4 and Figure 4, respectively.

Macrophages Are the Major Immune Infiltrating Cell Subset

GO and KEGG enrichment analysis has shown inflammatory response is the major procession in PAT of CAD patients. However, the component of immune cells in the pericardial adipose deposit is unknown. We employed CIBERSORT, a bioinformatics tool used to infer immune cell composition from RNA-seq datasets, to compute the relative frequency of 22 infiltrating immune cell subsets in the 9 cases. Results revealed that monocytes and macrophages were the most common immune cell subsets with mean fractions of 0.098 and 0.325,

respectively (Figure 5). Further, we verified the inflammatory phenotype of human PAT from both CAD and control patients through immunohistochemistry analysis of markers of T cell (CD3), macrophage (CD68), and its M1 subtype (CD11b). We found that PAT from CAD patients had significantly more T cells (CD3+) and macrophages (CD68+) than that of control patients (Figure 6). Semi-quantification analysis revealed that the IOD/Area of macrophages and T-cells in PAT of CAD patients was significantly different (Table 5). These findings further proved that PAT exerts a potential inflammatory effect in the regulation of CAD.

Drug Predictable Results

The search for potential drugs that can improve the function of PAT to intervene in the disease process of CAD propelled us to analyze the six key genes for potential drugs via DGIdb. Finally, five genes were considered as druggable genes, including JUN, CXCL2, and CXCR4; also we obtained 77 possible drugs. An interaction network including 82 nodes and 77 edges was constructed based on the five druggable genes (Figure 7).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we have sequenced the transcriptome of PAT from five patients with CAD and four patients without CAD and analyzed the DEGs between two groups. A total of 147 DEGs (104 up-regulated genes and 43 down-regulated genes) were identified. We subjected the DEGs to GO functional and KEGG pathway enrichment analyses via Clusterprofile package, and obtained 40 significant GO terms and 55 significant KEGG pathways. GO term also demonstrated the interaction of these genes with immune and inflammatory cells, and we, therefore, employed the Cibersort online tool (https://cibersort.stanford. edu/) to analyze 22 types of immune cells infiltration. Based on the results, monocytes and macrophages were the most common immune cell subsets. Further immunohistochemical staining demonstrated that more macrophages were present in PAT from CAD patients, and the proportion of M1 subtype cells was higher. These findings imply that PAT inflammation potentially plays a crucial role in CAD progression.

Moreover, GO and KEGG pathway analysis results revealed the significant enrichment of DEGs in cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction, IL-17 signaling pathway, and COVID-19,

Category	Term	P value
GO	chemokine activity	0.000104
	chemokine receptor binding	0.000213
	cytokine activity	0.002367
	cytokine receptor binding	0.003134
	G protein-coupled receptor binding	0.003652
KEGG	IL-17 signaling pathway	1.49E-05
	Viral protein interaction with cytokine and cytokine receptor	1.79E-05
	Chemokine signaling pathway	0.000126
	Cocaine addiction	0.000354
	Cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction	0.000452



Gene symbol	Count		miRNA	
JUN	15	hsa-miR-92b-3p	hsa-miR-524-5p	hsa-miR-200c-3p
		hsa-miR-758-3p	hsa-miR-522-3p	hsa-miR-200b-3p
		hsa-miR-5688	hsa-miR-495-3p	hsa-miR-200a-3p
		hsa-miR-542-3p	hsa-miR-429	hsa-miR-141-3p
		hsa-miR-216b-5p	hsa-miR-340-5p	hsa-miR-139-5p
ATF3	9	hsa-miR-1224-5p	hsa-miR-135b-5p	hsa-miR-224-5p
		hsa-miR-135a-5p	hsa-miR-155-5p	hsa-miR-27a-3p
		hsa-miR-27b-3p	hsa-miR-513a-5p	hsa-miR-7-5p
CXCR4	24	hsa-miR-9-5p	hsa-miR-494-3p	hsa-miR-302d-3p
		hsa-miR-655-3p	hsa-miR-4306	hsa-miR-302c-3p
		hsa-miR-613	hsa-miR-410-3p	hsa-miR-302b-3p
		hsa-miR-588	hsa-miR-374c-5p	hsa-miR-302a-3p
		hsa-miR-520e	hsa-miR-338-3p	hsa-miR-300
		hsa-miR-204-5p	hsa-miR-302e	hsa-miR-211-5p
		hsa-miR-185-5p	hsa-miR-1-3p	hsa-miR-206
		hsa-miR-139-5p	hsa-miR-27a-4p	
FOSB	15	hsa-miR-613	hsa-miR-27a-3p	hsa-miR-200a-3p
		hsa-miR-342-3p	hsa-miR-23b-3p	hsa-miR-185-5p
		hsa-miR-27b-3p	hsa-miR-23a-3p	hsa-miR-182-5p
		hsa-miR-141-3p	hsa-miR-130a-5p	hsa-miR-144-3p
		hsa-miR-1-3p	hsa-miR-128-3p	hsa-miR-212-5p
CCL4	8	hsa-miR-620	hsa-miR-4784	hsa-miR-3150b-3p
		hsa-miR-496	hsa-miR-324-5p	hsa-miR-185-5p
		hsa-miR-143-3p	hsa-miR-1270	
CXCL2	12	hsa-miR-641	hsa-miR-532-5p	hsa-miR-217
		hsa-miR-582-5p	hsa-miR-495-3p	hsa-miR-215-5p
		hsa-miR-5688	hsa-miR-376c-3p	hsa-miR-193b-3p
		hsa-miR-193a-3p	hsa-miR-192-5p	hsa-miR-128-3p



all of which are inflammatory processes. Compelling evidence implicates the IL-17 signaling pathway in the pathogenesis of many inflammatory-driven conditions, including atherosclerosis (27-30). A study found that IL-17 maintained plaque stability through induction of proliferation of SMCs and collagen content in atherosclerotic plaques (29). Also, IL-17 had been revealed to potentially lower the expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 in endothelial cells and prevent monocyte adherence and block T cell infiltration into plaques (31). Other reports show that IL-17 can induce the release of chemokines, including CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL8, CXCL10. Subsequently, these chemokines can recruit neutrophils and monocytes to the atherosclerotic lesion (32, 33). Furthermore, IL-17 can stimulate macrophages to produce inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, TNF-a, and IL-1b (34-36), and induce apoptosis of vascular endothelial cells through activation of caspase-3 and caspase-9. These observations affirm that the IL-17 signaling pathway mediates atherosclerosis (37). We also found that other signaling pathways such as NF-kappa B signaling pathway, TNF signaling pathway, JAK-STAT signaling pathway, and Toll-like receptor signaling pathway were enriched in PAT of CAD patients. Of note, some proteins in these pathways can interplay with each other, thereby increasing the severity of inflammation and apoptosis (38). These results imply that the management of inflammation in CAD may require nonspecific inflammatory inhibitors.

The PPI network-integrated three modules in the analysis of six significant and reproducible genes (JUN, ATF3, CXCR4, FOSB, CCL4, CXCL2), and revealed differential expression between the CAD and control groups. Three core genes (CXCR4, CXCL2, and CCL4) were markedly enriched in the chemokine signaling pathway, whereas the others (Jun, FosB, and ATF3) were transcription factors. Chemokines are cytokines that mediate cell chemotaxis and stagnation as they bind to their respective cell surface receptors (39). Chemokines induce the aggregation of inflammatory cells to the inflammatory site, which is the main factor that trigger vascular inflammatory injury (39, 40). Previous reports indicate that CCL4 is highly expressed in atherosclerotic patients (41), and it potentially exerts a crucial role in the progression of atherosclerotic plaque (42-44). In addition, inhibition of CCL4 can stabilize atherosclerotic plaques by decreasing the expression of MMPs, inflammatory cell infiltration, circulation of inflammatory factors, and regulation of blood lipid levels (43). The C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) is a cytokine receptor and mediates various biological processes (45). The ligand of CXCR4 is C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12) (46). CXCL12 and CXCR4 coordinatively play a pivotal role in atherosclerosis and arterial injury (47, 48). CXCR4 expression in leukocytes is closely associated with the vulnerability of atherosclerosis plaque (49). A recent study found that CXCR4-positive macrophages accumulated in tissue samples of human carotid plaques and,



CXCR4 was expressed in both smooth muscle cell progenitors and endothelial progenitor cells in atherosclerotic plaque progression (46). The study by Puca AA showed that upregulation of CXCR4 decreases the development of atherogenic process. This is because it can skew macrophages to acquire an M2-resolving phenotype, maintains maintain arterial integrity, preserves preserve endothelial cell integrity, and restore the normal contractile SMC phenotype (50, 51). In contrast to CXCR4, CCL4 inhibition reduced the adhesiveness of coronary endothelial cells, which is an early sign of atherogenesis (43). Herein, we found that CCL4, CXCR4 derived from PAT was highly expressed at the mRNA level in CAD patients. More exploration of CCL4 and CXCR4 secreted by PAT would enhance the understanding of the pathophysiological mechanism of atherosclerosis and facilitate its utilization as a biomarker and intervention target for atherosclerosis.

Activator protein-1 (AP-1) is an important class of nuclear transcription factors in the body. It is a homodimer or heterodimer composed of JUN, FOS, ATF, and MAF protein families which exert biological effects (52). AP-1 is largely



associated with cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and inflammation (53–55). Previously, the AP-1 cascade was found to potentially drive additional leukocyte recruitment to the developing atherosclerotic matrix (56). AP-1 could also promote the development of atherosclerosis by inducing endothelial cell death, the proliferation and migration of vascular smooth muscle cells (57, 58). In this study, we observed a significant increase in mRNA expression of AP-1 factors JUN, FOSB, and ATF3 from PAT in CAD patients. These results imply that PAT-derived AP-1 has potential effects on the

TABLE 5	The semi-quantification	analysis of	infiltrating	immune cell.
---------	-------------------------	-------------	--------------	--------------

Cell type	CHD	Contral
T cells (IOD/Area)	0.093	0.075
Macrophages (IOD/Area)	0.337	0.177

progression of the coronary artery through cell proliferation, inflammation, and extracellular matrix remodeling.

Based on bioinformatics, we constructed the miRNA-mRNA network of core genes through the ENCORI database to further elucidate the regulatory mechanism of core genes. Among the predicted miRNAs, only miRNA-185-5p bound to three of the six core genes (FOSB, CCL4, and CXCR4). Previous studies had confirmed that miRNA-185-5p is widely involved in the proliferation, metastasis, and inflammation of various tumors (59–61). However, its regulatory role in inflammation and the progression of CAD remains elusive.

Through the prediction of the Drug-Gene Interaction database, we revealed some drugs that potentially interact with the core genes. Some drugs were used in the clinic but not to manage CAD. For instance, colchicine, an anti-inflammatory alkaloid, has been mainly used in gout diseases (62); it exerts inhibitory effects on leukocyte chemotaxis and adhesion, microtubule assembly, and reduces the



production of inflammatory mediators (63, 64). Because of its antiinflammatory properties, the feasibility of the value of colchicine in CAD had been investigated in several clinical trials. Most clinical trials suggest that colchicine is beneficial in patients with CAD or myocardial infarction (65-67). However, some studies revealed that colchicine could reduce major cardiovascular events (68), however, the overall mortality did not decrease. As such, colchicine may increase the mortality of non-cardiovascular events and limit its application in CAD (69), which warrants more large-scale clinical trials. Fenofibrate is a broad-spectrum lipid-lowering drug, which acts on PPAR to potentially reduce cholesterol and triglyceride (70, 71). Elsewhere, a study found that fibrates have potential anti-inflammatory effects, protect endothelial cell function, and improve insulin resistance (72). However, these drugs are not recommended for the secondary prevention of CAD. In clinical trials such as HHS, VA-HIT, and BIP, fibrates have proved to exhibit significant benefits in subgroups of patients, including those with insulin resistance or metabolic syndrome (73-75). Recent studies have further outlined that fibrates can reduce the risk of cardiovascular events and the level of uric acid in diabetic patients with dyslipidemia (76, 77). Collectively, fibrates may have great clinical prospects in some specific groups of patients with CAD.

In summary, this work has allowed for the identification of the transcriptome characteristic shift in PAT from humans with or without CAD and revealed the upregulation in inflammatory processes of PAT in CAD patients. The crucial genes, pathways, and drug target genes closely associated with CAD have been revealed through bioinformatics analyses. Particularly, the critical genes are potential biomarkers and therapeutic targets in CAD. Also, colchicine and fenofibrate are the most promising drugs for coronary artery disease.

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The primary limitation of the research is that we did not analyze samples from healthy subjects; this could have been more interesting for the PAT physiology study. Besides, the analyzed samples from older patients with some comorbidity who came in for various cardiac surgeries rather than no comorbidity. We also acknowledge that we had a rather small RNA-Seq sample size, which could not allow us to analyze samples grouped by obesity, age, and gender. This may have contributed to the CAD-associated transcriptomic shifts.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in GEO (Gene Expression Ominbus), a public functional genomics data repository. The accession number(s) in the GEO can be found below: GSE179397.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai, China. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ML and LQ have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality (20140900600), National Natural Science Foundation of China (81770420, 91949126, 81970378), Shanghai Municipal Key Clinical Specialty (shslczdzk02801), National Key Research and Development Program of China (2020YFC2009001), and Center of geratic coronary artery disease.

REFERENCES

- Jemal A, Ward E, Hao Y, Thun M. Trends in the Leading Causes of Death in the United States, 1970-2002. *JAMA* (2005) 294(10):1255–9. doi: 10.1001/ jama.294.10.1255
- Van Gaal LF, Mertens IL, De Block CE. Mechanisms Linking Obesity With Cardiovascular Disease. *Nature* (2006) 444(7121):875–80. doi: 10.1038/ nature05487
- Fox CS, Massaro JM, Hoffmann U, Pou KM, Maurovich-Horvat P, Liu CY, et al. Abdominal Visceral and Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Compartments: Association With Metabolic Risk Factors in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* (2007) 116(1):39–48. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.675355
- Fruhbeck G, Becerril S, Sainz N, Garrastachu P, Garcia-Velloso MJ. BAT: A New Target for Human Obesity? *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2009) 30(8):387–96. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2009.05.003
- Nedergaard J, Bengtsson T, Cannon B. Unexpected Evidence for Active Brown Adipose Tissue in Adult Humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2007) 293(2):E444–52. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00691.2006
- Iacobellis G, Corradi D, Sharma AM. Epicardial Adipose Tissue: Anatomic, Biomolecular and Clinical Relationships With the Heart. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med (2005) 2(10):536–43. doi: 10.1038/ncpcardio0319
- Ding J, Hsu FC, Harris TB, Liu Y, Kritchevsky SB, Szklo M, et al. The Association of Pericardial Fat With Incident Coronary Heart Disease: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Am J Clin Nutr (2009) 90 (3):499–504. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.27358
- Kim TH, Yu SH, Choi SH, Yoon JW, Kang SM, Chun EJ, et al. Pericardial Fat Amount is an Independent Risk Factor of Coronary Artery Stenosis Assessed by Multidetector-Row Computed Tomography: The Korean Atherosclerosis Study 2. Obes (Silver Spring) (2011) 19(5):1028–34. doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.246
- Yang FS, Yun CH, Wu TH, Hsieh YC, Bezerra HG, Liu CC, et al. High Pericardial and Peri-Aortic Adipose Tissue Burden in Pre-Diabetic and Diabetic Subjects. BMC Cardiovasc Disord (2013) 13:98. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-13-98
- Cheung L, Gertow J, Werngren O, Folkersen L, Petrovic N, Nedergaard J, et al. Human Mediastinal Adipose Tissue Displays Certain Characteristics of Brown Fat. Nutr Diabetes (2013) 3:e66. doi: 10.1038/nutd.2013.6
- Sacks HS, Fain JN, Bahouth SW, Ojha S, Frontini A, Budge H, et al. Adult Epicardial Fat Exhibits Beige Features. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(9): E1448–55. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1265
- Sacks HS, Fain JN, Holman B, Cheema P, Chary A, Parks F, et al. Uncoupling Protein-1 and Related Messenger Ribonucleic Acids in Human Epicardial and Other Adipose Tissues: Epicardial Fat Functioning as Brown Fat. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2009) 94(9):3611–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-0571
- Yamada H, Sata M. Role of Pericardial Fat: The Good, the Bad and the Ugly. J Cardiol (2015) 65(1):2–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2014.07.004
- Greif M, Becker A, von Ziegler F, Lebherz C, Lehrke M, Broedl UC, et al. Pericardial Adipose Tissue Determined by Dual Source CT is a Risk Factor for Coronary Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2009) 29(5):781–6. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.180653
- Shah RV, Anderson A, Ding J, Budoff M, Rider O, Petersen SE, et al. Pericardial, But Not Hepatic, Fat by CT is Associated With CV Outcomes and Structure: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging* (2017) 10(9):1016–27. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2016.10.024
- Cai S, Wald R, Deva DP, Kiaii M, Ng MY, Karur GR, et al. Cardiac MRI Measurements of Pericardial Adipose Tissue Volumes in Patients on in-Centre Nocturnal Hemodialysis. *J Nephrol* (2020) 33(2):355–63. doi: 10.1007/ s40620-019-00665-4

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for the patients and their surgeons.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021. 724859/full#supplementary-material

- Wang X, Spandidos A, Wang H, Seed B. Primerbank: A PCR Primer Database for Quantitative Gene Expression Analysis, 2012 Update. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2012) 40(Database issue):D1144–9. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr1013
- Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. Clusterprofiler: An R Package for Comparing Biological Themes Among Gene Clusters. OMICS (2012) 16(5):284–7. doi: 10.1089/omi.2011.0118
- Shannon P, Markiel A, Ozier O, Baliga NS, Wang JT, Ramage D, et al. Cytoscape: A Software Environment for Integrated Models of Biomolecular Interaction Networks. *Genome Res* (2003) 13(11):2498–504. doi: 10.1101/gr.1239303
- Chin CH, Chen SH, Wu HH, Ho CW, Ko MT, Lin CY. Cytohubba: Identifying Hub Objects and Sub-Networks From Complex Interactome. BMC Syst Biol (2014) 8 Suppl 4:S11. doi: 10.1186/1752-0509-8-S4-S11
- Bader GD, Hogue CW. An Automated Method for Finding Molecular Complexes in Large Protein Interaction Networks. *BMC Bioinf* (2003) 4:2. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-4-2
- Zhou Y, Zhou B, Pache L, Chang M, Khodabakhshi AH, Tanaseichuk O, et al. Metascape Provides a Biologist-Oriented Resource for the Analysis of Systems-Level Datasets. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):1523. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-019-09234-6
- Rebhan M, Chalifa-Caspi V, Prilusky J, Lancet D. Genecards: A Novel Functional Genomics Compendium With Automated Data Mining and Query Reformulation Support. *Bioinformatics* (1998) 14(8):656–64. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/14.8.656
- 24. Li JH, Liu S, Zhou H, Qu LH, Yang JH. Starbase V2.0: Decoding MiRNA-CeRNA, MiRNA-NcRNA and Protein-RNA Interaction Networks From Large-Scale CLIP-Seq Data. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2014) 42(Database issue): D92–7. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1248
- Newman AM, Liu CL, Green MR, Gentles AJ, Feng W, Xu Y, et al. Robust Enumeration of Cell Subsets From Tissue Expression Profiles. *Nat Methods* (2015) 12(5):453–7. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3337
- Cotto KC, Wagner AH, Feng YY, Kiwala S, Coffman AC, Spies G, et al. Dgidb 3.0: A Redesign and Expansion of the Drug-Gene Interaction Database. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2018) 46(D1):D1068–D73. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1143
- Amara S, Lopez K, Banan B, Brown SK, Whalen M, Myles E, et al. Synergistic Effect of Pro-Inflammatory Tnfalpha and IL-17 in Periostin Mediated Collagen Deposition: Potential Role in Liver Fibrosis. *Mol Immunol* (2015) 64(1):26–35. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2014.10.021
- de Boer OJ, van der Meer JJ, Teeling P, van der Loos CM, Idu MM, van Maldegem F, et al. Differential Expression of Interleukin-17 Family Cytokines in Intact and Complicated Human Atherosclerotic Plaques. J Pathol (2010) 220(4):499–508. doi: 10.1002/path.2667
- Gistera A, Robertson AK, Andersson J, Ketelhuth DF, Ovchinnikova O, Nilsson SK, et al. Transforming Growth Factor-Beta Signaling in T Cells Promotes Stabilization of Atherosclerotic Plaques Through an Interleukin-17-Dependent Pathway. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(196):196ra00. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006133
- Yazdani MR, Khosropanah S, Doroudchi M. Interleukin-17 Production by CD4 +CD45RO+Foxp3+ T Cells in Peripheral Blood of Patients With Atherosclerosis. Arch Med Sci Atheroscler Dis (2019) 4:e215–e24. doi: 10.5114/amsad.2019.87525
- Taleb S, Romain M, Ramkhelawon B, Uyttenhove C, Pasterkamp G, Herbin O, et al. Loss of SOCS3 Expression in T Cells Reveals a Regulatory Role for Interleukin-17 in Atherosclerosis. J Exp Med (2009) 206(10):2067–77. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090545
- Rao DA, Eid RE, Qin L, Yi T, Kirkiles-Smith NC, Tellides G, et al. Interleukin (IL)-1 Promotes Allogeneic T Cell Intimal Infiltration and IL-17 Production in a Model of Human Artery Rejection. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(13):3145–58. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081661

- Weaver CT, Hatton RD. Interplay Between the TH17 and Treg Cell Lineages: A (Co-)Evolutionary Perspective. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(12):883–9. doi: 10.1038/nri2660
- Erbel C, Chen L, Bea F, Wangler S, Celik S, Lasitschka F, et al. Inhibition of IL-17A Attenuates Atherosclerotic Lesion Development in Apoe-Deficient Mice. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(12):8167–75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901126
- Chen S, Crother TR, Arditi M. Emerging Role of IL-17 in Atherosclerosis. J Innate Immun (2010) 2(4):325–33. doi: 10.1159/000314626
- Ng HP, Burris RL, Nagarajan S. Attenuated Atherosclerotic Lesions in Apoe-Fcgamma-Chain-Deficient Hyperlipidemic Mouse Model is Associated With Inhibition of Th17 Cells and Promotion of Regulatory T Cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(11):6082–93. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1004133
- Zhu F, Wang Q, Guo C, Wang X, Cao X, Shi Y, et al. IL-17 Induces Apoptosis of Vascular Endothelial Cells: A Potential Mechanism for Human Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 141(2):152–60. doi: 10.1016/ j.clim.2011.07.003
- McKellar GE, McCarey DW, Sattar N, McInnes IB. Role for TNF in Atherosclerosis? Lessons From Autoimmune Disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2009) 6(6):410–7. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2009.57
- Blanchet X, Langer M, Weber C, Koenen RR, von Hundelshausen P. Touch of Chemokines. Front Immunol (2012) 3:175. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00175
- Mikolajczyk TP, Szczepaniak P, Vidler F, Maffia P, Graham GJ, Guzik TJ. Role of Inflammatory Chemokines in Hypertension. *Pharmacol Ther* (2020) 223:107799. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2020.107799
- Cagnin S, Biscuola M, Patuzzo C, Trabetti E, Pasquali A, Laveder P, et al. Reconstruction and Functional Analysis of Altered Molecular Pathways in Human Atherosclerotic Arteries. *BMC Genomics* (2009) 10:13. doi: 10.1186/ 1471-2164-10-13
- Osonoi Y, Mita T, Azuma K, Nakajima K, Masuyama A, Goto H, et al. Defective Autophagy in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells Enhances Cell Death and Atherosclerosis. *Autophagy* (2018) 14(11):1991–2006. doi: 10.1080/ 15548627.2018.1501132
- Chang TT, Yang HY, Chen C, Chen JW. CCL4 Inhibition in Atherosclerosis: Effects on Plaque Stability, Endothelial Cell Adhesiveness, and Macrophages Activation. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21(18):6567. doi: 10.3390/ijms21186567
- Munjal A, Khandia R. Atherosclerosis: Orchestrating Cells and Biomolecules Involved in its Activation and Inhibition. *Adv Protein Chem Struct Biol* (2020) 120:85–122. doi: 10.1016/bs.apcsb.2019.11.002
- Hattermann K, Mentlein R. An Infernal Trio: The Chemokine CXCL12 and its Receptors CXCR4 and CXCR7 in Tumor Biology. *Ann Anat* (2013) 195 (2):103–10. doi: 10.1016/j.aanat.2012.10.013
- 46. Merckelbach S, van der Vorst EPC, Kallmayer M, Rischpler C, Burgkart R, Doring Y, et al. Expression and Cellular Localization of CXCR4 and CXCL12 in Human Carotid Atherosclerotic Plaques. *Thromb Haemost* (2018) 118 (1):195–206. doi: 10.1160/TH17-04-0271
- Sun K, Xiang X, Li N, Huang S, Qin X, Wu Y, et al. Gene-Diet Interaction Between SIRT6 and Soybean Intake for Different Levels of Pulse Wave Velocity. *Int J Mol Sci* (2015) 16(7):14338–52. doi: 10.3390/ijms160714338
- Guo Y, Garcia-Barrio MT, Wang L, Chen YE. Experimental Biology for the Identification of Causal Pathways in Atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* (2016) 30(1):1–11. doi: 10.1007/s10557-016-6644-7
- Doring Y, Jansen Y, Cimen I, Aslani M, Gencer S, Peters LJF, et al. B-Cell-Specific CXCR4 Protects Against Atherosclerosis Development and Increases Plasma Igm Levels. *Circ Res* (2020) 126(6):787–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119.316142
- 50. Puca AA, Carrizzo A, Spinelli C, Damato A, Ambrosio M, Villa F, et al. Single Systemic Transfer of a Human Gene Associated With Exceptional Longevity Halts the Progression of Atherosclerosis and Inflammation in Apoe Knockout Mice Through a CXCR4-Mediated Mechanism. *Eur Heart J* (2020) 41 (26):2487–97. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz459
- Doring Y, Noels H, van der Vorst EPC, Neideck C, Egea V, Drechsler M, et al. Vascular CXCR4 Limits Atherosclerosis by Maintaining Arterial Integrity: Evidence From Mouse and Human Studies. *Circulation* (2017) 136(4):388– 403. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.027646
- Eferl R, Wagner EF. AP-1: A Double-Edged Sword in Tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer (2003) 3(11):859–68. doi: 10.1038/nrc1209
- Lee JG, Heur M. Interleukin-1beta Enhances Cell Migration Through AP-1 and NF-KappaB Pathway-Dependent FGF2 Expression in Human Corneal Endothelial Cells. *Biol Cell* (2013) 105(4):175–89. doi: 10.1111/boc.201200077

- 54. Jeon Y, Jung Y, Kim MC, Kwon HC, Kang KS, Kim YK, et al. Sargahydroquinoic Acid Inhibits Tnfalpha-Induced AP-1 and NF-Kappab Signaling in Hacat Cells Through Pparalpha Activation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2014) 450(4):1553–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.026
- Hellweg CE, Spitta LF, Henschenmacher B, Diegeler S, Baumstark-Khan C. Transcription Factors in the Cellular Response to Charged Particle Exposure. *Front Oncol* (2016) 6:61. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00061
- Adhikari N, Charles N, Lehmann U, Hall JL. Transcription Factor and Kinase-Mediated Signaling in Atherosclerosis and Vascular Injury. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* (2006) 8(3):252–60. doi: 10.1007/s11883-006-0081-1
- Ji R, Gu Y, Zhang J, Gao C, Gao W, Zang X, et al. TRIM7 Promotes Proliferation and Migration of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells in Atherosclerosis Through Activating C-Jun/AP-1. *IUBMB Life* (2020) 72(2):247–58. doi: 10.1002/iub.2181
- Valente AJ, Irimpen AM, Siebenlist U, Chandrasekar B. Oxldl Induces Endothelial Dysfunction and Death *via* TRAF3IP2: Inhibition by HDL3 and AMPK Activators. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2014) 70:117–28. doi: 10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2014.02.014
- Zhao J, Jiang Y, Zhang H, Zhou J, Chen L, Li H, et al. The SRSF1/Circatp5b/ MiR-185-5p/HOXB5 Feedback Loop Regulates the Proliferation of Glioma Stem Cells via the IL6-Mediated JAK2/STAT3 Signaling Pathway. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2021) 40(1):134. doi: 10.1186/s13046-021-01931-9
- 60. Liu JQ, Deng M, Xue NN, Li TX, Guo YX, Gao L, et al. LncRNA KLF3-AS1 Suppresses Cell Migration and Invasion in ESCC by Impairing Mir-185-5p-Targeted KLF3 Inhibition. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2020) 20:231–41. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2020.01.020
- Sun CC, Zhang L, Li G, Li SJ, Chen ZL, Fu YF, et al. The Lncrna PDIA3P Interacts With MiR-185-5p to Modulate Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma Progression by Targeting Cyclin D2. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2017) 9:100–10. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2017.08.015
- Dudkiewicz I, Brosh T, Perelman M, Salai M. Colchicine Inhibits Fracture Union and Reduces Bone Strength-*In Vivo* Study. J Orthop Res (2005) 23 (4):877–81. doi: 10.1016/j.orthres.2004.11.014
- Deftereos S, Giannopoulos G, Papoutsidakis N, Panagopoulou V, Kossyvakis C, Raisakis K, et al. Colchicine and the Heart: Pushing the Envelope. J Am Coll Cardiol (2013) 62(20):1817–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.08.726
- Imazio M, Andreis A, Brucato A, Adler Y, De Ferrari GM. Colchicine for Acute and Chronic Coronary Syndromes. *Heart* (2020) 106(20):1555–60. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2020-317108
- Roubille F, Tardif JC. Colchicine for Secondary Cardiovascular Prevention in Coronary Disease. *Circulation* (2020) 142(20):1901–4. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.120.051240
- Slomski A. Colchicine Reduces Cardiovascular Events in Chronic Coronary Disease. JAMA (2020) 324(16):1599. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.20646
- Bates ER. In Patients With CAD, Adding Colchicine to Evidence-Based Therapies Reduces MACE Without Increasing Adverse Outcomes. Ann Intern Med (2021) 174(3):JC30. doi: 10.7326/ACPJ202103160-030
- Tong DC, Quinn S, Nasis A, Hiew C, Roberts-Thomson P, Adams H, et al. Colchicine in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome: The Australian COPS Randomized Clinical Trial. *Circulation* (2020) 142(20):1890–900. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.050771
- Fiolet ATL, Opstal TSJ, Mosterd A, Eikelboom JW, Jolly SS, Keech AC, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Low-Dose Colchicine in Patients With Coronary Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Trials. *Eur Heart J* (2021) 42(28):2765–75. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab115
- Maciejewski S, Hilleman D. Effectiveness of a Fenofibrate 145-Mg Nanoparticle Tablet Formulation Compared With the Standard 160-Mg Tablet in Patients With Coronary Heart Disease and Dyslipidemia. *Pharmacotherapy* (2008) 28(5):570–5. doi: 10.1592/phco.28.5.570
- 71. Packard CJ. Overview of Fenofibrate. Eur Heart J (1998) 19 Suppl A:A62-5.
- 72. Balakumar P, Sambathkumar R, Mahadevan N, Muhsinah AB, Alsayari A, Venkateswaramurthy N, et al. Molecular Targets of Fenofibrate in the Cardiovascular-Renal Axis: A Unifying Perspective of its Pleiotropic Benefits. *Pharmacol Res* (2019) 144:132–41. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.03.025
- Rubins HB, Robins SJ, Collins D, Fye CL, Anderson JW, Elam MB, et al. Gemfibrozil for the Secondary Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease in Men With Low Levels of High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol. Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Intervention Trial Study Group. *N Engl* J Med (1999) 341(6):410–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199908053410604

- 74. Frick MH, Elo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P, et al. Helsinki Heart Study: Primary-Prevention Trial With Gemfibrozil in Middle-Aged Men With Dyslipidemia. Safety of Treatment, Changes in Risk Factors, and Incidence of Coronary Heart Disease. N Engl J Med (1987) 317(20):1237–45. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198711123172001
- Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention (BIP) Study. Secondary Prevention by Raising HDL Cholesterol and Reducing Triglycerides in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation* (2000) 102(1):21-7. doi: 10.1161/ 01.cir.102.1.21
- 76. Waldman B, Ansquer JC, Sullivan DR, Jenkins AJ, McGill N, Buizen L, et al. Effect of Fenofibrate on Uric Acid and Gout in Type 2 Diabetes: A Post-Hoc Analysis of the Randomised, Controlled FIELD Study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2018) 6(4):310–8. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30029-9
- 77. Kim NH, Han KH, Choi J, Lee J, Kim SG. Use of Fenofibrate on Cardiovascular Outcomes in Statin Users With Metabolic Syndrome: Propensity Matched Cohort Study. *BMJ* (2019) 366:15125. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.15125

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Li, Qi, Li, Zhang, Lin, Zhou, Han, Qu, Cai, Ye and Shi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Sick Adipose Tissue: New Insights Into Defective Signaling and Crosstalk With the Myocardium

Valmore Bermúdez^{1*}, Pablo Durán², Edward Rojas³, María P. Díaz², José Rivas⁴, Manuel Nava², Maricarmen Chacín¹, Mayela Cabrera de Bravo⁵, Rubén Carrasquero², Clímaco Cano Ponce², José Luis Górriz⁶ and Luis D'Marco⁶

¹ Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad Simón Bolívar, Barranquilla, Colombia, ² Endocrine and Metabolic Diseases Research Center, School of Medicine, University of Zulia, Maracaibo, Venezuela, ³ Cardiovascular Division, University Hospital, University of Virginia School of Medicine, Charlottesville, VA, United States, ⁴ Department of Medicine, Cardiology Division, University of Florida-College of Medicine, Jacksonville, FL, United States, ⁵ City of Houston Health Department, Houston, TX, United States, ⁶ Servicio de Nefrología, Hospital Clínico Universitario, INCLIVA, Universidad de Valencia, Valencia, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cheng-Chao Ruan, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Tao Nie, Jinan University, China Masumi Inoue, University of Occupational and Environmental Health Japan, Japan

*Correspondence: Valmore Bermúdez v.bermudez@unisimonbolivar.edu.co

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 02 July 2021 Accepted: 30 August 2021 Published: 15 September 2021

Citation:

Bermúdez V, Durán P, Rojas E, Díaz MP, Rivas J, Nava M, Chacín M, Cabrera de Bravo M, Carrasquero R, Ponce CC, Górriz JL and D'Marco L (2021) The Sick Adipose Tissue: New Insights Into Defective Signaling and Crosstalk With the Myocardium. Front. Endocrinol. 12:735070. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.735070 Adipose tissue (AT) biology is linked to cardiovascular health since obesity is associated with cardiovascular disease (CVD) and positively correlated with excessive visceral fat accumulation. AT signaling to myocardial cells through soluble factors known as adipokines, cardiokines, branched-chain amino acids and small molecules like microRNAs, undoubtedly influence myocardial cells and AT function via the endocrineparacrine mechanisms of action. Unfortunately, abnormal total and visceral adiposity can alter this harmonious signaling network, resulting in tissue hypoxia and monocyte/ macrophage adipose infiltration occurring alongside expanded intra-abdominal and epicardial fat depots seen in the human obese phenotype. These processes promote an abnormal adipocyte proteomic reprogramming, whereby these cells become a source of abnormal signals, affecting vascular and myocardial tissues, leading to metainflammation, atrial fibrillation, coronary artery disease, heart hypertrophy, heart failure and myocardial infarction. This review first discusses the pathophysiology and consequences of adipose tissue expansion, particularly their association with metainflammation and microbiota dysbiosis. We also explore the precise mechanisms involved in metabolic reprogramming in AT that represent plausible causative factors for CVD. Finally, we clarify how lifestyle changes could promote improvement in myocardiocyte function in the context of changes in AT proteomics and a better gut microbiome profile to develop effective, non-pharmacologic approaches to CVD.

Keywords: adipose tissue, myocardiocytes, microbiota, obesity, inflammation

1 INTRODUCTION

Obesity is a chronic and multifactorial metabolic disease described in most scientific literature as the epidemic of the 21st century. In fact, by 2016, this condition affected 650 million adults, equivalent to 13% of the adult population worldwide, while in 2019, 38.3 million children under the age of 5 were overweight or obese (1). In the United States, obesity accounts for approximately 21% of

The Sick Adipose Tissue

annual national health care costs (\$190 billion) (2). In addition, this entity is frequently clustered to other comorbidities such as metabolic syndrome (MetS), insulin resistance (IR), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), chronic kidney disease (CKD), gout, and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (3). CVD is the leading cause of death worldwide, with approximately 17.9 million deaths each year, of which 85% are attributable to myocardial infarction (MI) and stroke (4).

Research has centered on evaluating the causality of obesity in CVD in recent years, focusing on areas such as the potential role of adipose tissue (AT) on cardiac tissue (5, 6). AT is a highly functional and complex endocrine organ, characterized by the release of adipokines, batokines, microRNAs, prostaglandins, bioactive lipids and other regulators of metabolic homeostasis, which interact with vascular, hepatic, renal, digestive, cerebral, skeletal muscle and myocardial tissue through paracrine and endocrine mechanisms (5, 7–10).

One hallmark feature in obesity is the ectopic and visceral adipose tissue (VAT) accumulation leading to AT transcriptome and secretome modification due to adipocyte hypertrophy and hyperplasia. This condition is related to tissue's hypoxia and fibrosis, immune cell infiltration, stimulating the release of proinflammatory, pro-atherogenic and anti-angiogenic substances that affect AT biology and communication with other target tissues (11). In addition, myocardial cells are also affected by signaling molecules from the dysfunctional or "sick" AT (SickAT), given their link with heart hypertrophy and fibrosis, atrial fibrillation (AF), MI, among other CVD (12–15).

These data highlight the importance of establishing therapeutic tools to help combat obesity and, by extension, CVD. In a nutshell, obesity etiology is derived from an energy imbalance produced in the context of an obesogenic lifestyle (16) characterized by a hypercaloric diet and insufficient physical activity (PA) to counteract the SickAT expansion and subsequent defective signaling processes (10, 17, 18). Hence, PA and nutritional interventions (NI) might improve the SickAT profile and, consequently, enhance adipose tissue and myocardiocyte crosstalk. Therefore, this review discusses both AT and SickAT distribution and biology and their relationship with myocardial tissue. We will also address the molecular mechanisms by which exercise, food supplementation, and changes in eating habits can counteract obesity, taking as a pivotal point the role of the gut microbiota (GM) in SickAT pathogenesis to establish the non-pharmacological treatment of CVD.

2 THE SICK ADIPOSE TISSUE: FROM DISTRIBUTION TO INTERACTION

The AT is a dynamic and anatomically heterogeneous organ acting as connective tissue throughout our organism. Beyond its particular vasculature, innervation and predominant adipocyte content, its microenvironment includes numerous immune cells, endothelial and stromal cells, fibroblasts, preadipocytes, and abundant extracellular matrix (ECM) (19–21). Each component possesses characteristic properties and can secrete various hormones, growth factors, microRNAs (miRNAs), cytokines, and chemokines coordinated, with autocrine, endocrine, and paracrine action on neighboring and remote organs/or cells (12, 22, 23). AT can also be classified by anatomical location, embryonic origin, morphology or function, the latter which can be grouped into white (WAT), brown adipose tissue (BAT) (24).

WAT is responsible for storing energy as fatty acids (FA) within triacylglycerides (TAG), supplying energy and controlling metabolic homeostasis through the white adipocyte endocrine functions (25). The main fat deposit in mammals is widely distributed throughout the subcutaneous adipose tissue (SCAT), gonadal and inguinal adipose depots. Adipose tissue located in the abdominal cavity, including intrahepatic and mesenteric, omental, and retroperitoneal fat, can be considered VAT (18, 19). Other intrathoracic AT depots identified include epicardial adipose tissue (EAT), occupying the space between the pericardium and myocardium, with a direct relationship with the coronary arteries; pericardial (PAT), located between the visceral and parietal pericardium, and perivascular (PVAT), which surrounds the remaining blood vessels (22, 26). It should be noted that both VAT and cardiovascular system (CVS)-based depots are considered a risk factor for cardiometabolic diseases, an association that has been widely reported (11, 26).

Unlike WAT, BAT has adipocytes with smaller lipid droplets, more abundant mitochondria and substantial vascularization, which provide its characteristic brown color (27). Likewise, BAT has high levels of uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1), which confer thermogenic properties by uncoupling between respiration and ATP synthesis during the FA oxidation in adipocytes (28, 29); hence, UCP1 is recently considered as a potential therapeutic target against obesity (30). In humans, BAT is found in specific areas (supraclavicular fossa, interscapular and paravertebral regions, in the axilla and nape) and represents only 4.3% of the total fat mass (31, 32). Notably, another type of adipocyte has been characterized within WAT deposits, and it has shown mixed characteristics of both white and brown adipocytes. For that reason, this new type of adipocyte has been coined as beige adipose tissue (BeAT). As stated above, BeAT reside within the WAT and can be mainly found within the inguinal WAT (33).

Abbreviations: AF, atrial fibrillation; AMI, acute myocardial infarction; AT, adipose tissue; BAT, brown adipose tissue; BeAT, beige or brite adipose tissue; BMI, body mass index; BCAAs, Branched-chain amino acids; BW body weight; C/ EBP, CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins; CKD, chronic kidney disease; CVD, cardiovascular disease; CVS, cardiovascular system; EAT, epicardial adipose tissue; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; FFA, free fatty acid; GD, gut dysbiosis; GM, gut microbiota; HCD, hypercaloric diet; IF, intermittent fasting; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; IR, insulin resistance; LPS, lipopolysaccharides; MetS, metabolic syndrome; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NI, nutritional intervention; NP, natriuretic peptide; OS, oxidative stress; PA, physical activity; PAT, pericardial adipose tissue; SCFA, short-chain fatty acids; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; WAT, white adipose tissue; VAT, visceral adipose tissue.

Also, BeAT express the UCP1 gene and, by extension, thermogenic properties (34). Note that this browning process occurs through exposure to cold, β -adrenergic stimulation and pharmacological modulation of WAT (35).

2.1 Changes in Adipose Tissue Microenvironment and Meta-Inflammation: The Sick Forgotten

According to the WHO, obesity is defined as excessive or abnormal fat accumulation with negative health repercussions, determined by a body mass index (BMI) \geq of 30 kg/m² (36). Although its etiology includes genetic, social, environmental and/or cultural factors, in most cases, it is characterized by an imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure, attributed to poor eating habits and sedentary lifestyles (16). This hypercaloric or overnourished state leads to more significant fat accumulation in AT, mainly in the form of ectopic or visceral depots (37). AT can increase in abundance through two different processes: hypertrophy and hyperplasia or new adipocytes formation.

Hyperplasia is considered a beneficial and adaptive process by which new functional adipocytes can be formed from fibroblastic preadipocytes without altering their secretory profile and maintaining vascularization of the AT microenvironment (37, 38), which is associated with better metabolic health (39). A transcriptional cascade regulates this cell line differentiation carried out by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) and CCAAT enhancer-binding proteins (C/ EBP), in conjunction with pro-adipogenic factors such as bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) (40, 41). However, hypertrophy and subsequent adipocyte dysfunction disrupt these signaling processes and preserve the pro-inflammatory phenotype characteristic of obese individuals (**Figure 1**) (42, 43).

The pre-existing adipocytes gain volume via increased fat accumulation, experiencing heightened mechanical stress by contact with adjacent cells and other extracellular matrix components (ECM) (44). Over time, AT expansion results in reduced regional blood flow, altered oxygen diffusion and finally tissue hypoxia, all of that related to both oxidative stress activation (OS) (45) and increased transcriptional activity of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF1 α), nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB), and cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) genes, whose transcripts, in turn, drives to adipokines, chemokines, metalloproteases and growth factors gene expression, all of these related to a pro-inflammatory peptidic secretome (46). Concurrently, these hypoxia-induced factors downregulate anti-inflammatory and metabolism-regulatory adipokines such as adiponectin, which occurs alongside reduced transcription of antioxidant and thermoregulationrelated genes, particularly catalase encoders UCP2, PPARy and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator 1α (PGC- 1α) (47–49). Consequently, transcriptomic and proteomic changes in AT lead to a low-grade inflammatory environment characterized by functionally-altered fibroblasts,



FIGURE 1 | Sick adipose tissue microenvironment and its interactions. Hypertrophic adipocytes and immune cells infiltration characterize the adipose tissue of obese individuals in response to a hypoxic environment as a signal for cell death and inflammation. This phenomenon leads to proteomic dysregulation and deflective peripheral signals promoting metabolic alterations in other tissues like muscle cells, particularly the myocardiocytes. In addition, obesogenic habits in overweighed people cause changes in the intestinal microbiota triggering adipose tissue chronic inflammation and cellular senescence. UCP2, uncoupling protein 2; PGC-1α, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1α; PPARγ, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; VEGF-A, vascular endothelial growth factor A; MMP, metalloproteinases; HIF1α, hypoxia-inducible factor 1α; LPS, lipopolysaccharides; SCFA, short-chain fatty acids; CB1, cannabinoid receptor 1; ECM, extracellular matrix.

96

endothelial cells and immune cells niche (50, 51). Regarding the latter, macrophages have been identified as the predominant cells of this system in AT, showing a pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype in obese individuals compared to the anti-inflammatory M2 in lean individuals (52). In this scenario, the hypoxic inflammatory state of AT promotes the release of interferon- γ (IF- γ) by T helper 1 (Th1) lymphocytes, inducing M1 macrophage recruitment and polarization, which causes increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), interleukin (IL) -6, IL-12, IL-1 β and IL-23 (53–56).

Obese patients exhibit clusters of lipid-binding macrophages from dead adipocytes, a phenomenon well-correlated with AT inflammation and insulin resistance (57, 58). In addition, obesity promotes CD8 + and CD4 + T lymphocytes infiltration together with effector B-cells, heightening pro-inflammatory factors release and consequently AT dysfunction with defective extracellular signaling (59, 60). Similarly, myeloid cells, mast cells (50, 51) and neutrophils are also present in SickAT, showing that they contribute to tissue damage through elastase secretion and thus promote macrophage recruitment (61, 62).

Among the essential SickAT characteristics in obese patients are altered angiogenesis and endothelial dysfunction (ED). Although SickAT upregulates vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) and HIF1 α expression (both linked to angiogenesis), production is insufficient to generate neovascularization and counteract hypoxia, inflammation and necrosis characteristic of obese patients (63–66). Furthermore, SickAT leads to reactivity in the endothelium of the surrounding vessels, inducing the synthesis of intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1), P-selectin and E-selectin, which in turn promotes macrophage infiltration worsening the proinflammatory milieu (67). Additionally, adipocyte-endothelial crosstalk can contribute to vasomotor alterations, deteriorating the oxygen bioavailability in EAT, PVAT and PAT (68, 69).

Likewise, HIF1 α upregulation, immune cell infiltration and hyperactivity are associated with AT fibrosis. Remarkably, the increased synthesis of ECM components, mainly type-VI collagen and its cleavage products such as endotrophin, have been associated with metabolic dysfunction in obese mice *via* mechanical stress caused by limits on AT expansion (44, 70–72). Interestingly, HIF1 α expression is correlated with metalloproteinases (MMP) -2 and MMP-9 in EAT, which are considered necessary for expansion and secretome alterations (69).

On a different plane, adipocyte metabolic activity is substantially modified in a hypoxic state. In fact, some glycolytic enzyme genes such as hexokinase 2 (HK2), phosphofructokinase (PFKP) and GLUT1 exhibit an increased expression in adipocyte cell cultures under hypoxic conditions (73, 74). Furthermore, although GLUT4 is the main isoform found in adipocytes, GLUT1 is the most efficient glucose transporter at low-oxygen levels (75). As expected in hypoxic states, the above changes suggest adipocytes have increased glucose uptake and metabolism (76), as confirmed by their increased lactate secretion (77).

In summary, lipid metabolism proteomics tends towards lipolytic extreme under hypoxic conditions (78). The SickAT microenvironment is characterized by multiple agents influencing insulin signaling, like IL-6, TNF- α , resistin, and IL-1 β (79). Under normal conditions, insulin inhibits lipolysis through the mTORC1-Egr1-ATGL pathway, so inhibition of insulin's second messengers cascade increases lipolytic activity (80). Furthermore, fatty acid uptake by adipocytes is blunted under hypoxic conditions (74), leading to plasma free fatty acids increase worsening insulin signaling (81) and contributing to the pro-inflammatory state (82). It should be highlighted that intrathoracic and visceral AT, BAT, BeAT and SCAT depots are affected in obesity (83), the thermogenic properties of BAT can be disturbed by mild inflammatory cells infiltration in severely obese individuals (84), leading to diminished glucose and FFA oxidative metabolism, and therefore contribute to IR and dyslipidemia development (84–86). In contrast, BeAT occurs less frequently owing to the dysfunctional state of WAT in obese patients (87).

2.2 Microbiota Dysbiosis

The gastrointestinal tract contains a complex population of microorganisms, the gut microbiota (GM), which exerts a marked influence on human health and disease (88). Multiple factors contribute to establishing the intestinal microbiota during early childhood and as it evolves into adulthood, but it is not hard to imagine that one of the main factors that shape the gut microbiota structure throughout our lives is our diet. In addition, gut bacteria play a crucial role in maintaining and proper function of the immune system and intermediary metabolism. Abnormalities in the intestinal bacterial composition (dysbiosis) have been associated with many inflammatory, infectious, autoimmune and metabolic diseases.

GM is constituted by bacteria, *archaea*, viruses and fungi, interacting symbiotically with the host (88). However, hypercaloric diet (HCD) and obesogenic habits alter the microbiota-host relationship, affecting its composition and interaction with the organism (89). A growing body of evidence in this area has centered on comparing energy and body fat storage in germ-free mice with transplanted microbiota of wild mice or obese individuals. The findings were that although the mice maintained the same diet in both cases, there was a substantial increase in adiposity and IR development after microbial transplantation, which could be attributed to the role of the microbiota in calorie extraction and absorption (90–92). Although the possible mechanisms triggered by HCD and obesity involved in the GM-AT axis interaction have not been fully elucidated yet, specific hypotheses have been proposed to explain these findings.

Significant among these theories is the influence of microbial products on AT. In physiological situations, the intestinal wall has selective permeability due to the tight junction proteins between enterocytes; however, an HCD can decrease expression of these proteins and allow passage of lipopolysaccharides (LPS), bacterial products of gram-negative bacteria (93–95). Once in circulation, LPS spread throughout the body and act on type 4 toll receptors (TLRs) located in AT adipocytes and immune cells (96), activating pathways dependent on myeloid differentiation factor 88- (MyD88-) and TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β (TRIF). This process activates the nuclear translocation of NF-kB and the subsequent release of pro-inflammatory substances,

contributing to the typic low-grade inflammation seen in SickAT (97, 98). Furthermore, it has been reported that LPS/TLR4 pathway activation can decrease WAT browning (99) and adaptive thermogenesis (100). Another interesting observation is that GD can increase permeability by activating the intestinal endocannabinoid system, acting on its CB1 receptors associated with obesogenic habits (101).

Likewise, several commensal bacteria species of the GM ferment indigestible carbohydrates and fiber to obtain energy by forming short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) (102-104), mainly acetate, butyrate and propionate. These metabolites have key roles in energy metabolism (105) and immunomodulation (106), by acting on the family of free fatty acid receptors (FFAR), especially FFAR2 (GPR43) and FFAR3 (GPR41), located in gastrointestinal, nervous, and AT tissue (107). Therefore, GD present in obese individuals may lead to changes in SCFA levels and, by extension, SickAT-related metabolic alterations. Higher SCFA production has been reported to promote lipogenesis by activating carbohydrate responsive element-binding protein (ChREBP) and sterol regulatory element-binding transcription factor 1 (SREBP1), favoring weight gain in animals models (108, 109). Similarly, studies have shown that SCFAs can inhibit fasting-induced adipocyte factor (FIAF), which can suppress enzyme lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity and thus increase triacylglycerol (TAG) storage and accumulation in AT (90, 91).

Additionally, SCFAs stimulates peptide YY (PYY) and glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) secretion, which in turn slow down the intestinal transit time and thus increase nutrient absorption (109, 110), influencing appetite control (111). Other GT-AT axis-related mechanisms such as the TMA/FMO3/TMAO signaling pathway (112), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing 1 (NOD1) and NOD2 (113) proteins, and modulation of the miRNA-181 family (114) have also been explored in the context of obesity and its possible implications in the switch to SickAT. However, given the lack of a proven causal link between microorganisms, their products and specific mechanisms in humans, together with the heterogeneity of GT and the fact that *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* are predominant in both obese and healthy individuals (115), further research is warranted in this area.

3 INTERCELLULAR SIGNALING BETWEEN ADIPOCYTES AND MYOCARDIAL CELLS

3.1 Adipokines

3.1.1 Leptin

Leptin is a peptidic hormone secreted by AT, so peripheral leptin levels tend to remain directly proportional to AT volume (116). Consistent with this finding, obese patients show elevated leptin levels, but signaling defects mean that appetite suppression is reduced or nullified (117). Thus, obesity-related hyperleptinemia has been suggested as an important factor in CVD genesis (118). From a molecular perspective, leptin plays a role in atherosclerosis initiation by the hyper-production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in endothelial cells (119). The explanation of this phenomenon relies on increased fatty acid oxidation *via* protein kinase A stimulation, which increases MCP-1 production, facilitating macrophage infiltration into the sub-endothelial (120). Furthermore, *in vitro* studies have shown that leptin increases cholesterol uptake in macrophages by ACAT1 modulation (121). These results match with clinical findings obtained in other studies; indeed, leptin levels are correlated with markers of atherosclerosis such as the intima-media thickness of the carotid artery (122) and likewise with the severity of coronary artery disease (CAD) (123).

It has also been hypothesized that leptin can induce cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (124). This effect seems mediated by multiple mechanisms, such as increased endothelin 1 (ET-1) and ROS production in cardiomyocytes in response to leptin levels (125). Another theory is that leptin activates the mTOR (126) and PPAR- α signaling pathways (127). Consistent with the above, clinical studies have shown a positive correlation between serum leptin levels and left ventricular thickness in obese or insulin-resistant patients (128). In contrast, another study conducted in a murine model proposes that leptin exhibits antihypertrophic properties. Based on these findings, mice with left ventricular hypertrophy reverted to normal ventricular function when normal leptin levels were restored (129).

Nonetheless, rather than a direct consequence of restored leptin levels, these findings may stem from reversing metabolic alterations inherent to leptin deficiency, so these results should be interpreted cautiously. On the other hand, the antihypertrophic properties associated with leptin levels have been reported in some studies (130–132). In conclusion, it remains uncertain whether cardiac hypertrophy is due to leptin pro-hypertrophic action or is instead an effect of resistance to leptin antihypertrophic action on cardiac remodeling.

3.1.2 Interleukin 6

As AT produces around a third of circulating IL-6, it can be considered an adipokine (133); however, its role in cardiomyocyte function is somewhat controversial. In acute phases, IL-6 signaling has been attributed a cardioprotective effect by inducing antiapoptotic pathways and conferring protection against OS (134). However, IL-6 also decreases myocardial contractility and eventually increases nitric oxide (NO) production may be through inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) activation (135, 136). Likewise, a study in animals reported no significant effects of treatment with IL-6 on left ventricular remodeling (137), while another study found that IL-6 signaling blockade suppresses myocardial inflammation and ventricular remodeling (137). Since human and murine IL-6 show only 41% similarity, animal studies should be approached with caution. Regarding human studies, elevated IL-6 levels have been correlated with ventricular dysfunction (138), heart failure, arrhythmias and worse clinical outcomes (139), indicating a need for further study to clarify the role of IL-6 in CVD.

3.1.3 Adiponectin

Under SickAT conditions, adiponectin secretion is considerably reduced, impacting negatively on cardiovascular function (140). On the other hand, normal adiponectin levels have been shown to improve cardiomyocyte dysfunction in animal models, probably due to mechanisms related to IRS-1 and the c-Jun pathway (141). Furthermore, adiponectin is necessary to activate PPARγ signaling, which confers protection against myocardial hypertrophy and cardiac remodeling (142). Likewise, adiponectin inhibits iNOS and NADPH oxidase expression, decreasing OS under ischemic conditions (143). On a different level, adiponectin stimulates COX-2 expression and prostaglandin E2 synthesis, conferring cardioprotective and anti-inflammatory properties (144).

Clinically, hypoadiponectinemia is independently associated with ED (145), while normal adiponectin levels are associated with a lower risk of ischemic events in men (146). Conversely, low adiponectin levels positively correlate with left ventricular hypertrophy, regardless of age or other metabolic factors (147). However, a systematic review found no significant relationship between adiponectin levels and cardiovascular mortality, and a 10% increased risk of death from any cause was reported (148). This finding requires considering concurrent situations such as kidney failure and age-related adiponectin resistance, leading to bias when analyzing different populations (149, 150). Nonetheless, the prevailing view in the literature is that adiponectin confers cardioprotection at normal concentrations, while hypoadiponectinemia is related to an increased risk of developing ED as well as myocardial dysfunction.

3.2 BCAAs

Branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs), valine, leucine and isoleucine, are essential amino acids playing a critical energetic role in different tissues, including myocardial cells and adipocytes (151). For example, in physiological circumstances, adipocytes oxidize BCAAs as an important energy substrate; however, different stimuli or organic conditions such as insulin resistance, obesity or cardiovascular disease cause adipose cells reprogramming, reducing BCAA metabolism in the heart, AT and liver (152–154).

The mechanisms underlying these changes have not been fully elucidated yet; however, epigenetic changes such as PP2Cm, KLF15, or GRK2 gene expression during heart disease could modify the cells' metabolic profile. Subsequently, alterations in BCAA catabolism and use caused by these metabolic changes could lead to rising arterial amino acid levels (27, 153). Likewise, AT inflammation has been linked to tricarboxylic acid cycle modifications, resulting in reduced BCAA catabolism and use, which provides an alternative explanation for the accumulation of amino acids in plasma (155, 156) (Figure 2). These variations in local and organic BCAA concentrations lead to chronic mTOR receptor expression in myocardial cells, and thus, autophagy suppression pathways induction, alterations in insulin sensitivity and tissue transport, as well as protein synthesis pathway activation, promoting the inhibition of autophagy protective functions, by modifying the bioenergetic heart homeostasis and cardiac hypertrophy stimulation, respectively (157).

Given these findings, it is not surprising that a correlation between heart failure and elevated BCAA levels has been found in numerous studies (152, 158). For example, a clinical trial conducted by Peterson et al. evaluated total amino acid concentrations in patients with heart failure, finding them to be abnormally high (159). Similarly, results reported by Kato et al. indicated elevated plasma amino acid levels as a consequence of metabolic changes in sodium-sensitive hypertensive rodents (160). In contrast, a clinical trial conducted by Aquilani et al. reports a decreased BCAA levels in patients with chronic heart failure compared to healthy individuals. Although these results could seem contradictory, factors such as the site of amino acid quantification and the variability in BCAA levels due to both duration and severity of pre-existing disease could explain the differences between findings (161). In this regard, AT and cardiac tissue exert a reciprocal influence on each other in various pathological scenarios *via* modifications in BCAA catabolism and consumption (154–156, 162).

3.3 Cardiokines

The heart is conventionally viewed as a contractile organ acting as a muscular pump to provide nutrients to the body (163). Beyond these functions, however, it can exert regulatory actions on other organs, such as the kidney, liver or AT (164). These modulatory activities are carried out mainly through molecules synthesized and secreted by the heart, known as cardiokines (165–168).

To date, it has identified up to 16 cardiokines, which are thought to exert homeostatic functions related to growth, cell death, fibrosis, hypertrophy and cardiac remodeling. In addition, although these molecules have predominantly paracrine and autocrine functions, certain cardiokines show endocrine mechanisms of action, allowing them to act on distant tissues (169). Such is the case of the firsts cardiokines identified, known as atrial (ANP) and brain (BNP) natriuretic peptides (NPs) (164, 170). Besides their participation as blood pressure regulators, both peptides play a critical role in modulating AT energy metabolism (171).

In this way, different stimuli such as ischemia, reperfusion, OS, hemodynamic stress, and cardiac hypertrophy can trigger NP synthesis and release by different cardiac cells into the circulation and ultimately reaching the AT (172). In this tissue, NPs bind to the NPR-A receptors, activating the guanylyl cyclase and cGMP formation. This process, in turn, activates the PKG, an enzyme responsible for phosphorylating key factors such as UCP-1, PPARGC1A, CYCS, PRD1-BF 1 and RIZ1, inducing white adipocyte browning, increasing lipogenesis, mitochondrial biogenesis and lipid oxidation (171, 173).

Collectively, these phenomena have a double effect. Fatty acids are released into the bloodstream as energy substrates to compensate for the low heart contractility observed during the abovementioned pathological scenarios (174), while increased mitochondrial production, thermogenesis, and fatty acid oxidation promote weight loss (175, 176). These reports were verified by other studies showing abnormally elevated NP concentrations during CVD and decreased levels of these peptides in obese individuals (164, 177). For example, in one study carried out by Kovacova et al. (29), the NPRR expression was significantly lower in obese than normal-weight individuals. These findings replicated those obtained in studies carried out in humans and murine, wherein plasma and cardiac levels of both BNPs and ANPs were significantly lower in obese than normal-weight subjects (175, 178).



FIGURE 2 | Heart and Adipose Tissue Crosstalk: Key Messengers. Cardiokines: stimuli such as cardiac ischemia, reperfusion, oxidative and hemodynamic stress stimulate the production of cardiokines, which signaling in an endocrine and paracrine mechanism to the adipose tissue promoting weight loss by increasing thermogenesis and both the release and oxidation of fatty acids. Adipose tissue dysfunction is a stimulus for miRNAs release, which travel through the bloodstream to the myocardial tissue inside exosomes, exerting cardioprotective against myocardial infarction, coronary artery disease and atrial fibrillation. On the other hand, obesity, IR and cardiovascular diseases decrease BCAAs oxidation in adipose tissue, which decreases autophagy with heart hypertrophy and, finally, the alteration of the bioenergetic homeostasis of the heart. FA, Fatty Acids; AT, Adipose Tissue; CV, Cardiovascular; IR, Insulin resistance.

3.4 miRNAs and EVs

miRNAs are small, non-coding RNA molecules functioning as regulatory agents in numerous physiological and pathological processes by participating in post-transcriptional mRNA and translation into protein processes (179, 180). These molecules are synthesized in response to a wide range of stimuli by different tissues (181), among which AT and EAT are responsible for the production and release of multiple miRNA varieties (14, 182).

Most miRNAs on EAT operate through autocrine fashion and have been implicated in various AT processes such as adipocyte differentiation, fatty acid metabolism, cholesterol homeostasis, adipogenesis, browning and inflammation (183–185). Other miRNAs are released into the circulation *via* exosomes, from where they travel to and penetrate the heart or other distant organs (186). Although it has been established that EAT releases different miRNAs towards the heart in response to tissue dysfunction or certain specific stimuli (13), but the functions and underlying mechanisms of action have not been fully characterized. Nonetheless, recent studies have identified new miRNAs and their potential role in the pathogenesis and development of heart diseases (12, 187, 188).

In this vein, miRNAs have been implicated in atrial fibrillation (AF), as demonstrated in the study carried out by Liu et al. (189), wherein miR-320d were transported *in vitro* by exosomes to FA cardiomyocytes, revealing enhanced cell viability and decreased post-transfection cardiomyocytes apoptosis, reversing several FA characteristic effects by inhibiting factor STAT3. Likewise,

a possible cardioprotective role has been suggested to miR-146a due to an inhibitory effect on early growth response factor-1 (EGRF1) in suppressing typical post-MI phenomena such as apoptosis, inflammatory responses and cardiac fibrosis (190). Similar results were obtained by Luo et al., in which miR-126 overexpression in hypoxic H9c2 cells led to reduced local inflammation, profibrotic protein expression, and microvasculature and cell migration, thus mitigating the effects of cardiac injury in the infarcted area (191).

Numerous miRNAs play a positive role in some cardiac pathologies beyond acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and AF, including CAD. For example, it has been shown that during CAD progression, miRNA-3614 expression is downregulated in EAT, which produces an inhibitory effect on factors such as TRAF6, which regulates immune cell recruitment and activation as apoptosis and cardiac remodeling during myocardial ischemia (189, 192). In this context, a study by Zou et al. identified miR-410-5p and its promoting effects on cardiac fibrosis in mice with regular diets by silencing Smad7; concurrently, miR-410-5p demonstrated anti-fibrotic effects in mice fed high-fat diets (193). These results suggest a dual role for miRNAs in cardiovascular pathologies; besides the cardioprotective role of some miRNAs, these molecules can exert harmful effects on cardiac tissue, promoting effects such as local inflammation, hypertrophy, remodeling and cardiac fibrosis in different CVDs (183, 194–198).

4 NON-PHARMACOLOGICAL APPROACH TO ADIPOCYTE-MYOCARDIOCYTE DEFECTIVE SIGNALING: IMPACT OF LIFESTYLE

Preclinical and clinical evidence suggests that positive lifestyle changes derived from increased PA and NI could improve the above-described pro-inflammatory metabolic status of obese patients, highlighting their utility as possible non-pharmacological therapeutic strategies to manage obesity and cardiovascular risk.

In this regard, studies suggest that PA reduces circulating levels of insulin, leptin, and pro-inflammatory cytokines and raise adiponectin and apelin concentrations (199–202). In addition, increasing PA has been linked to heightened endothelial NOS (eNOS) expression and iNOS expression reduction (199, 203). These findings suggest that PA as a strategy helps restore a healthy metabolic state at the preclinical level.

Additionally, clinical studies have reported an antiinflammatory, cardioprotective and slimming effect of PA. For example, a study in obese men showed that exercise was more effective than diet in reducing body weight (BW), improving the systemic inflammatory profile and IR and circulating levels of adipokines (204). Likewise, a study conducted in obese patients with T2DM subjected to dietary restriction and aerobic exercise reported that after a 3-month intervention, adiponectin levels rose while BMI and TNF- α , IL-6 and leptin levels fell significantly (205).

Concerning the different intensities of PA, a clinical trial demonstrated that moderate exercise combined with calorie restriction aided in normalizing adiponectin, leptin and resistin levels in obese adolescents (206). Furthermore, a meta-analysis performed by Maillard et al. (207) reported that high-intensity interval training effectively reduced SCAT and VAT. Similarly, another meta-analysis found that both moderate and high-intensity PA have a similar effect on weight reduction and body composition; however, results were seen more quickly when performing high-intensity exercise (208). Therefore, besides its anti-inflammatory properties, exercise can reduce BW, indirectly counteracting SickAT defective signaling by modifying its composition.

Studies have also demonstrated that PA has a regulatory effect on circulating microRNAs in individuals with cardiometabolic abnormalities. In this context, a clinical trial showed that circulating levels of miR-192 and miR-193b (associated with a prediabetic state) were modified after 16-week exercise intervention (209). Along similar lines, a combined aerobic and resistance exercise program in obese patients for three months was associated with significantly decreased levels of the inflammatory miRNA miR-146a-5p (210).

Aside from the weight loss achieved with exercise, dietary interventions have also been shown to positively impact AT and CVS crosstalk. In this regard, it has been proven that caloric restriction in the rat diet causes significantly reduced expression of iNOS, TNF- α and IL-1 β in PVAT (211). Furthermore, another study conducted in rats showed that calorie control-induced weight loss was associated with improved endothelial NOS function, reduced TNF- α levels and normalized plasma adipokines y hormones levels such as leptin and insulin (212).

Therefore, diet is a rationale tool to improve the cardiovascular functionality of the PVAT.

In another study, Kim et al. showed that intermittent fasting (IF) with an isocaloric diet increased VEGF expression in WAT, favoring macrophage polarization towards the M2 phenotype, which is linked to increased thermogenesis and AT browning (213). In this regard, a clinical trial in obese patients reported that IF combined with caloric restriction and liquid meals promotes significant BW loss and improves risk indicators for CAD (214). Furthermore, other studies conducted by the same research group (215) and Trepanowski et al. (216) were able to show that in addition to reducing BW, the abovementioned diet decreases levels of leptin IL-6, TNF- α and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1). These results point to IF and low-calorie diets as a possible strategy to manage AT visceral adiposity and secretory profile, owing to their cardioprotective effect.

Regarding the role of the nutritional maneuvers approach on circulating microRNAs, Hsieh et al. (217) showed through a preclinical study that a low-fat diet could reverse obesity-associated inflammatory miRNA profiles *via* BW reduction. Consistent with this finding, evidence in humans suggests that BW loss achieved by very-low-calorie NI in obese women (218) or protein-rich diets in obese men (219) allow positive modulation of circulating levels of different miRNAs such as miR-34a, miR-208, miR-193a, miR-223, miR-320, miR-433, miR-568 and miR-181a.

Likewise, preclinical and clinical studies have shown the prebiotic and probiotic effects in reducing cardiovascular risk by leptin resistance (220) and leptin level reductions (221, 222). In addition, an adiponectin increase (223, 224) and lowering both apelin (225) and ANP levels (226) have been consistently reported, a fact attributed to HCD-induced GD correction and thus a reduced LPS-induced endotoxemia and SCFA levels. Likewise, 3-n PUFA supplementation has been associated with recovery of the adipokine and cardiokine profile, resulting in a healthier cardio-metabolic state. In this context, studies in animal models and humans have linked supplements administration with a significant reduction in leptin (227, 228), follistatin-like 1 (229) and BNP levels (230), and adiponectin increase (231). Finally, polyphenols such as lycopene, resveratrol and curcumin have also been linked to improved inflammatory and adipokine profile, body composition and cardiac fibrosis/ hypertrophy in study subjects (232-235).

These data suggest that PA and different NI, either alone or in combination, are associated with the upregulation of adipokines, cardiokines, miRNAs and other components associated with crosstalk between AT and CVS. Therefore, these strategies are beneficial in reducing cardiovascular risk in obese patients due to their mechanisms capable of counteracting the characteristic pro-inflammatory state of SickAT.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Adipose tissue is a multifunctional exhibiting well-characterized inter-organ paracrine and endocrine networking, including myocardial tissue communication. Obesity is characterized by metabolic changes in SickAT caused by a hypoxic microenvironment due to adipocyte hypertrophy driving to immune cell infiltration and a systemic pro-inflammatory state affecting target cells such as cardiomyocytes. Excessive adipokines, microRNA, BCAAs characterize SickAT defective signaling, and other pro-inflammatory substances release altering myocardial cells function and, consequently, CVD development. Likewise, heart cells can also alter AT signals, thereby causing a vicious cycle that fuels meta-inflammation. Under this premise, lifestyle changes such as PA, low-calorie diets, IF, and food supplementation are fundamental nonpharmacological therapeutic tools to combat obesity and CVD due to their identified regulatory mechanisms in AT and CVS signaling.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. *Obesity and Overweight*. Available at: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight (Accessed cited 2021 May 6).
- Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C. The Medical Care Costs of Obesity: An Instrumental Variables Approach. J Health Econ (2012) 31(1):219–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2011.10.003
- Fruh SM. Obesity: Risk Factors, Complications, and Strategies for Sustainable Long-Term Weight Management. J Am Assoc Nurse Pract (2017) 29(S1):S3-14. doi: 10.1002/2327-6924.12510
- World Health Organization. Cardiovascular Diseases (CVDs). Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds) (Accessed cited 2021 May 6).
- Oikonomou EK, Antoniades C. The Role of Adipose Tissue in Cardiovascular Health and Disease. Nat Rev Cardiol (2019) 16(2):83–99. doi: 10.1038/s41569-018-0097-6
- Antoniades C. "Dysfunctional" Adipose Tissue in Cardiovascular Disease: A Reprogrammable Target or an Innocent Bystander? *Cardiovasc Res* (2017) 113(9):997–8. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx116
- Rodríguez A, Becerril S, Ezquerro S, Méndez-Giménez L, Frühbeck G. Crosstalk Between Adipokines and Myokines in Fat Browning. *Acta Physiol* (*Oxf*) (2017) 219(2):362–81. doi: 10.1111/apha.12686
- Arner P, Kulyté A. MicroRNA Regulatory Networks in Human Adipose Tissue and Obesity. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2015) 11(5):276–88. doi: 10.1038/ nrendo.2015.25
- Ahima RS, Lazar MA. Adipokines and the Peripheral and Neural Control of Energy Balance. *Mol Endocrinol* (2008) 22(5):1023–31. doi: 10.1210/ me.2007-0529
- Bohan R, Tianyu X, Tiantian Z, Ruonan F, Hongtao H, Qiong W, et al. Gut Microbiota: A Potential Manipulator for Host Adipose Tissue and Energy Metabolism. J Nutr Biochem (2019) 64:206–17. doi: 10.1016/ j.jnutbio.2018.10.020
- Matsuzawa Y, Shimomura I, Nakamura T, Keno Y, Kotani K, Tokunaga K. Pathophysiology and Pathogenesis of Visceral Fat Obesity. *Obes Res* (1995) 3(Suppl 2):187S–94S. doi: 10.1002/j.1550-8528.1995.tb00462.x
- Vacca M, Di Eusanio M, Cariello M, Graziano G, D'Amore S, Petridis FD, et al. Integrative miRNA and Whole-Genome Analyses of Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Patients With Coronary Atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res* (2016) 109(2):228–39. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvv266
- Gao L, Mei S, Zhang S, Qin Q, Li H, Liao Y, et al. Cardio-Renal Exosomes in Myocardial Infarction Serum Regulate Proangiogenic Paracrine Signaling in Adipose Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Theranostics* (2020) 10(3):1060–73. doi: 10.7150/thno.37678
- 14. Tran K-V, Majka J, Sanghai S, Sardana M, Lessard D, Milstone Z, et al. Micro-RNAs Are Related to Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Participants With Atrial Fibrillation: Data From the MiRhythm Study. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2019) 6:115. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2019.00115

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: PD, MN, CC, and VB. Investigation: LD'M, MD, RC, MN, and MC. Writing – original draft: PD, MD, RC, MC, MB, JG, and ER. Writing – review and editing: VB, CC, JR, MB, and LD'M, JG. Funding acquisition: VB and JG. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by research grant no. CC-0437-10-21-09-10 from Consejo de Desarrollo Científico, Humanístico y Tecnológico (CONDES), University of Zulia, and the research grant no. FZ-0058-2007 from Fundacite-Zulia.

- Gan XT, Zhao G, Huang CX, Rowe AC, Purdham DM, Karmazyn M. Identification of Fat Mass and Obesity Associated (FTO) Protein Expression in Cardiomyocytes: Regulation by Leptin and Its Contribution to Leptin-Induced Hypertrophy. *PloS One* (2013) 8(9):e74235. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0074235
- Hruby A, Hu FB. The Epidemiology of Obesity: A Big Picture. *Pharmacoeconomics* (2015) 33(7):673–89. doi: 10.1007/s40273-014-0243-x
- Moreira JBN, Wohlwend M, Wisløff U. Exercise and Cardiac Health: Physiological and Molecular Insights. Nat Metab (2020) 2(9):829–39. doi: 10.1038/s42255-020-0262-1
- Chait A, den Hartigh LJ. Adipose Tissue Distribution, Inflammation and Its Metabolic Consequences, Including Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2020) 7:22. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020. 00022
- Cinti S. The Adipose Organ at a Glance. *Dis Model Mech* (2012) 5(5):588–94. doi: 10.1242/dmm.009662
- Mariman ECM, Wang P. Adipocyte Extracellular Matrix Composition, Dynamics and Role in Obesity. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2010) 67(8):1277–92. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0263-4
- Badimon L, Cubedo J. Adipose Tissue Depots and Inflammation: Effects on Plasticity and Resident Mesenchymal Stem Cell Function. *Cardiovasc Res* (2017) 113(9):1064–73. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx096
- Romacho T, Elsen M, Röhrborn D, Eckel J. Adipose Tissue and Its Role in Organ Crosstalk. Acta Physiol (Oxf) (2014) 210(4):733–53. doi: 10.1111/ apha.12246
- Gaborit B, Venteclef N, Ancel P, Pelloux V, Gariboldi V, Leprince P, et al. Human Epicardial Adipose Tissue Has a Specific Transcriptomic Signature Depending on Its Anatomical Peri-Atrial, Peri-Ventricular, or Peri-Coronary Location. *Cardiovasc Res* (2015) 108(1):62–73. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvv208
- Lanthier N, Leclercq IA. Adipose Tissues as Endocrine Target Organs. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol (2014) 28(4):545–58. doi: 10.1016/j.bpg. 2014.07.002
- 25. Kajimura S. Advances in the Understanding of Adipose Tissue Biology. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2017) 13(2):69–70. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2016.211
- Iozzo P. Myocardial, Perivascular, and Epicardial Fat. *Diabetes Care* (2011) 34(Suppl 2):S371–9. doi: 10.2337/dc11-s250
- 27. Ferrero KM, Koch WJ. Metabolic Crosstalk Between the Heart and Fat. *Korean Circ J* (2020) 50(5):379. doi: 10.4070/kcj.2019.0400
- Heeren J, Münzberg H. Novel Aspects of Brown Adipose Tissue Biology. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2013) 42(1):89–107. doi: 10.1016/ j.ecl.2012.11.004
- Gaspar RC, Pauli JR, Shulman GI, Muñoz VR. An Update on Brown Adipose Tissue Biology: A Discussion of Recent Findings. Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab (2021) 320(3):E488–95. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00310.2020
- Saito M. Human Brown Adipose Tissue: Regulation and Anti-Obesity Potential Review. *Endocr J* (2014) 61(5):409–16. doi: 10.1507/ endocrj.EJ13-0527

- Leitner BP, Huang S, Brychta RJ, Duckworth CJ, Baskin AS, McGehee S, et al. Mapping of Human Brown Adipose Tissue in Lean and Obese Young Men. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2017) 114(32):8649–54. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1705287114
- Frühbeck G, Becerril S, Sáinz N, Garrastachu P, García-Velloso MJ. BAT: A New Target for Human Obesity? *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2009) 30(8):387–96. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2009.05.003
- 33. Gaspar RC, Muñoz VR, Azevêdo Macêdo AP, Lins Vieira R, Pauli JR. A Palette of Adipose Tissue: Multiple Functionality and Extraordinary Plasticity. *Trends Anat Physiol* (2021) 4:013. doi: 10.24966/TAP-7752/ 100013
- Rosenwald M, Wolfrum C. The Origin and Definition of Brite Versus White and Classical Brown Adipocytes. Adipocyte (2014) 3(1):4–9. doi: 10.4161/ adip.26232
- Wu J, Cohen P, Spiegelman BM. Adaptive Thermogenesis in Adipocytes: Is Beige the New Brown? *Genes Dev* (2013) 27(3):234–50. doi: 10.1101/ gad.211649.112
- World Health Organization. Health Topics. *Obesity* (2021). Available at: https://www.who.int/health-topics/obesity#tab=tab_1.
- Rutkowski JM, Stern JH, Scherer PE. The Cell Biology of Fat Expansion. J Cell Biol (2015) 208(5):501–12. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201409063
- Ghaben AL, Scherer PE. Adipogenesis and Metabolic Health. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2019) 20(4):242–58. doi: 10.1038/s41580-018-0093-z
- Kusminski CM, Holland WL, Sun K, Park J, Spurgin SB, Lin Y, et al. MitoNEET-Driven Alterations in Adipocyte Mitochondrial Activity Reveal a Crucial Adaptive Process That Preserves Insulin Sensitivity in Obesity. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(10):1539–49. doi: 10.1038/nm.2899
- Xue R, Wan Y, Zhang S, Zhang Q, Ye H, Li Y. Role of Bone Morphogenetic Protein 4 in the Differentiation of Brown Fat-Like Adipocytes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 306(4):E363–372. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00119.2013
- Rosen ED, MacDougald OA. Adipocyte Differentiation From the Inside Out. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2006) 7(12):885–96. doi: 10.1038/nrm2066
- Gustafson B, Hammarstedt A, Hedjazifar S, Smith U. Restricted Adipogenesis in Hypertrophic Obesity: The Role of WISP2, WNT, and BMP4. *Diabetes* (2013) 62(9):2997–3004. doi: 10.2337/db13-0473
- Karastergiou K, Mohamed-Ali V. The Autocrine and Paracrine Roles of Adipokines. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) 318(1–2):69–78. doi: 10.1016/ j.mce.2009.11.011
- 44. Halberg N, Khan T, Trujillo ME, Wernstedt-Asterholm I, Attie AD, Sherwani S, et al. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1alpha Induces Fibrosis and Insulin Resistance in White Adipose Tissue. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29 (16):4467–83. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00192-09
- Carrière A, Carmona M-C, Fernandez Y, Rigoulet M, Wenger RH, Pénicaud L, et al. Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Control the Transcription Factor CHOP-10/GADD153 and Adipocyte Differentiation: A Mechanism for Hypoxia-Dependent Effect. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(39):40462–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M407258200
- Trayhurn P. Hypoxia and Adipose Tissue Function and Dysfunction in Obesity. *Physiol Rev* (2013) 93(1):1–21. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00017.2012
- Wang B, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. PCR Arrays Identify Metallothionein-3 as a Highly Hypoxia-Inducible Gene in Human Adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2008) 368(1):88–93. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.01.036
- Mazzatti D, Lim F-L, O'Hara A, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. A Microarray Analysis of the Hypoxia-Induced Modulation of Gene Expression in Human Adipocytes. Arch Physiol Biochem (2012) 118(3):112–20. doi: 10.3109/ 13813455.2012.654611
- Engin A. Adipose Tissue Hypoxia in Obesity and Its Impact on Preadipocytes and Macrophages: Hypoxia Hypothesis. Adv Exp Med Biol (2017) 960:305–26. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-48382-5_13
- Cildir G, Akıncılar SC, Tergaonkar V. Chronic Adipose Tissue Inflammation: All Immune Cells on the Stage. *Trends Mol Med* (2013) 19 (8):487–500. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2013.05.001
- Guzik TJ, Skiba DS, Touyz RM, Harrison DG. The Role of Infiltrating Immune Cells in Dysfunctional Adipose Tissue. *Cardiovasc Res* (2017) 113 (9):1009–23. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx108
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW. Obesity Is Associated With Macrophage Accumulation in Adipose Tissue. J Clin Invest (2003) 112(12):1796–808. doi: 10.1172/JCI200319246

- Amano SU, Cohen JL, Vangala P, Tencerova M, Nicoloro SM, Yawe JC, et al. Local Proliferation of Macrophages Contributes to Obesity-Associated Adipose Tissue Inflammation. *Cell Metab* (2014) 19(1):162–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.11.017
- Fujisaka S, Usui I, Bukhari A, Ikutani M, Oya T, Kanatani Y, et al. Regulatory Mechanisms for Adipose Tissue M1 and M2 Macrophages in Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *Diabetes* (2009) 58(11):2574–82. doi: 10.2337/db08-1475
- 55. Kratz M, Coats BR, Hisert KB, Hagman D, Mutskov V, Peris E, et al. Metabolic Dysfunction Drives a Mechanistically Distinct Pro-Inflammatory Phenotype in Adipose Tissue Macrophages. *Cell Metab* (2014) 20(4):614–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.08.010
- Patsouris D, Li P-P, Thapar D, Chapman J, Olefsky JM, Neels JG. Ablation of CD11c-Positive Cells Normalises Insulin Sensitivity in Obese Insulin Resistant Animals. *Cell Metab* (2008) 8(4):301–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2008.08.015
- 57. Sun K, Kusminski CM, Scherer PE. Adipose Tissue Remodeling and Obesity. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121(6):2094–101. doi: 10.1172/JCI45887
- Cinti S, Mitchell G, Barbatelli G, Murano I, Ceresi E, Faloia E, et al. Adipocyte Death Defines Macrophage Localisation and Function in Adipose Tissue of Obese Mice and Humans. J Lipid Res (2005) 46 (11):2347–55. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M500294-JLR200
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Eto K, Yamashita H, Ohsugi M, et al. CD8+ Effector T Cells Contribute to Macrophage Recruitment and Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Obesity. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(8):914–20. doi: 10.1038/ nm.1964
- Winer DA, Winer S, Shen L, Wadia PP, Yantha J, Paltser G, et al. B Cells Promote Insulin Resistance Through Modulation of T Cells and Production of Pathogenic IgG Antibodies. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(5):610–7. doi: 10.1038/ nm.2353
- Mansuy-Aubert V, Zhou QL, Xie X, Gong Z, Huang J-Y, Khan AR, et al. Imbalance Between Neutrophil Elastase and Its Inhibitor α1-Antitrypsin in Obesity Alters Insulin Sensitivity, Inflammation, and Energy Expenditure. *Cell Metab* (2013) 17(4):534–48. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.005
- Talukdar S, Oh DY, Bandyopadhyay G, Li D, Xu J, McNelis J, et al. Neutrophils Mediate Insulin Resistance in Mice Fed a High-Fat Diet Through Secreted Elastase. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(9):1407–12. doi: 10.1038/ nm.2885
- Pasarica M, Sereda OR, Redman LM, Albarado DC, Hymel DT, Roan LE, et al. Reduced Adipose Tissue Oxygenation in Human Obesity: Evidence for Rarefaction, Macrophage Chemotaxis, and Inflammation Without an Angiogenic Response. *Diabetes* (2009) 58(3):718–25. doi: 10.2337/db08-1098
- Sun K, Wernstedt Asterholm I, Kusminski CM, Bueno AC, Wang ZV, Pollard JW, et al. Dichotomous Effects of VEGF-A on Adipose Tissue Dysfunction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2012) 109(15):5874–9. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1200447109
- 65. Villaret A, Galitzky J, Decaunes P, Estève D, Marques M-A, Sengenès C, et al. Adipose Tissue Endothelial Cells From Obese Human Subjects: Differences Among Depots in Angiogenic, Metabolic, and Inflammatory Gene Expression and Cellular Senescence. *Diabetes* (2010) 59(11):2755–63. doi: 10.2337/db10-0398
- Kikuchi R, Nakamura K, MacLauchlan S, Ngo DT-M, Shimizu I, Fuster JJ, et al. An Anti-Angiogenic Isoform of VEGF-A Contributes to Impaired Vascularization in Peripheral Artery Disease. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(12):1464– 71. doi: 10.1038/nm.3703
- Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Seo K, Yamashita H, Hosoya Y, et al. *In Vivo* Imaging in Mice Reveals Local Cell Dynamics and Inflammation in Obese Adipose Tissue. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118(2):710–21. doi: 10.1172/JCI33328
- Greenstein AS, Khavandi K, Withers SB, Sonoyama K, Clancy O, Jeziorska M, et al. Local Inflammation and Hypoxia Abolish the Protective Anticontractile Properties of Perivascular Fat in Obese Patients. *Circulation* (2009) 119 (12):1661–70. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.821181
- Berg G, Miksztowicz V, Morales C, Barchuk M. Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Cardiovascular Disease. Adv Exp Med Biol (2019) 1127:131–43. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-030-11488-6_9
- Spencer M, Unal R, Zhu B, Rasouli N, McGehee RE, Peterson CA, et al. Adipose Tissue Extracellular Matrix and Vascular Abnormalities in Obesity

and Insulin Resistance. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96(12):E1990–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1567

- Sun K, Park J, Gupta OT, Holland WL, Auerbach P, Zhang N, et al. Endotrophin Triggers Adipose Tissue Fibrosis and Metabolic Dysfunction. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3485. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4485
- Khan T, Muise ES, Iyengar P, Wang ZV, Chandalia M, Abate N, et al. Metabolic Dysregulation and Adipose Tissue Fibrosis: Role of Collagen VI. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29(6):1575–91. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01300-08
- Geiger K, Leiherer A, Muendlein A, Stark N, Geller-Rhomberg S, Saely CH, et al. Identification of Hypoxia-Induced Genes in Human SGBS Adipocytes by Microarray Analysis. *PloS One* (2011) 6(10):e26465. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0026465
- 74. Yin J, Gao Z, He Q, Zhou D, Guo Z, Ye J. Role of Hypoxia in Obesity-Induced Disorders of Glucose and Lipid Metabolism in Adipose Tissue. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2009) 296(2):E333-42. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.90760.2008
- Hayashi M, Sakata M, Takeda T, Yamamoto T, Okamoto Y, Sawada K, et al. Induction of Glucose Transporter 1 Expression Through Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1alpha Under Hypoxic Conditions in Trophoblast-Derived Cells. J Endocrinol (2004) 183(1):145–54. doi: 10.1677/joe. 1.05599
- Park HS, Kim JH, Sun BK, Song SU, Suh W, Sung J-H. Hypoxia Induces Glucose Uptake and Metabolism of Adipose–Derived Stem Cells. *Mol Med Rep* (2016) 14(5):4706–14. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2016.5796
- 77. Pérez de Heredia F, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. Hypoxia Stimulates Lactate Release and Modulates Monocarboxylate Transporter (MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4) Expression in Human Adipocytes. *Pflugers Arch* (2010) 459(3):509– 18. doi: 10.1007/s00424-009-0750-3
- Mylonis I, Simos G, Paraskeva E. Hypoxia-Inducible Factors and the Regulation of Lipid Metabolism. *Cells* (2019) 8(3):214. doi: 10.3390/ cells8030214
- Barchetta I, Cimini FA, Ciccarelli G, Baroni MG, Cavallo MG. Sick Fat: The Good and the Bad of Old and New Circulating Markers of Adipose Tissue Inflammation. J Endocrinol Invest (2019) 42(11):1257–72. doi: 10.1007/ s40618-019-01052-3
- Chakrabarti P, Kim JY, Singh M, Shin Y-K, Kim J, Kumbrink J, et al. Insulin Inhibits Lipolysis in Adipocytes via the Evolutionarily Conserved Mtorc1-Egr1-ATGL-Mediated Pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* (2013) 33(18):3659–66. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01584-12
- Arner P, Rydén M. Fatty Acids, Obesity and Insulin Resistance. Obes Facts (2015) 8(2):147–55. doi: 10.1159/000381224
- Böni-Schnetzler M, Boller S, Debray S, Bouzakri K, Meier DT, Prazak R, et al. Free Fatty Acids Induce a Pro-Inflammatory Response in Islets *via* the Abundantly Expressed Interleukin-1 Receptor I. *Endocrinology* (2009) 150 (12):5218–29. doi: 10.1210/en.2009-0543
- Karastergiou K, Fried SK. Multiple Adipose Depots Increase Cardiovascular Risk via Local and Systemic Effects. Curr Atheroscler Rep (2013) 15(10):361. doi: 10.1007/s11883-013-0361-5
- Villarroya F, Cereijo R, Gavaldà-Navarro A, Villarroya J, Giralt M. Inflammation of Brown/Beige Adipose Tissues in Obesity and Metabolic Disease. J Intern Med (2018) 284(5):492–504. doi: 10.1111/joim.12803
- Ferré P, Burnol AF, Leturque A, Terretaz J, Penicaud L, Jeanrenaud B, et al. Glucose Utilisation *In Vivo* and Insulin-Sensitivity of Rat Brown Adipose Tissue in Various Physiological and Pathological Conditions. *Biochem J* (1986) 233(1):249–52. doi: 10.1042/bj2330249
- Orava J, Nuutila P, Noponen T, Parkkola R, Viljanen T, Enerbäck S, et al. Blunted Metabolic Responses to Cold and Insulin Stimulation in Brown Adipose Tissue of Obese Humans. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2013) 21(11):2279– 87. doi: 10.1002/oby.20456
- Estève D, Boulet N, Volat F, Zakaroff-Girard A, Ledoux S, Coupaye M, et al. Human White and Brite Adipogenesis Is Supported by MSCA1 and Is Impaired by Immune Cells. *Stem Cells* (2015) 33(4):1277–91. doi: 10.1002/ stem.1916
- Hills RD, Pontefract BA, Mishcon HR, Black CA, Sutton SC, Theberge CR. Gut Microbiome: Profound Implications for Diet and Disease. *Nutrients* (2019) 11(7):1613. doi: 10.3390/nu11071613
- 89. Rampelli S, Guenther K, Turroni S, Wolters M, Veidebaum T, Kourides Y, et al. Pre-Obese Children's Dysbiotic Gut Microbiome and Unhealthy Diets

may Predict the Development of Obesity. *Commun Biol* (2018) 1(1):222. doi: 10.1155/2016/1629236

- Backhed F, Ding H, Wang T, Hooper LV, Koh GY, Nagy A, et al. The Gut Microbiota as an Environmental Factor That Regulates Fat Storage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2004) 101(44):15718–23. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407076101
- Bäckhed F, Manchester JK, Semenkovich CF, Gordon JI. Mechanisms Underlying the Resistance to Diet-Induced Obesity in Germ-Free Mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2007) 104(3):979–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0605374104
- Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Cheng J, Duncan AE, Kau AL, et al. Gut Microbiota From Twins Discordant for Obesity Modulate Metabolism in Mice. *Science* (2013) 341(6150):1241214. doi: 10.1126/science.1241214
- Ghosh SS, Wang J, Yannie PJ, Ghosh S. Intestinal Barrier Dysfunction, LPS Translocation, and Disease Development. J Endocr Soc (2020) 4(2):bvz039. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvz039
- Rohr MW, Narasimhulu CA, Rudeski-Rohr TA, Parthasarathy S. Negative Effects of a High-Fat Diet on Intestinal Permeability: A Review. Adv Nutr (2020) 11(1):77–91. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmz061
- 95. Guo S, Al-Sadi R, Said HM, Ma TY. Lipopolysaccharide Causes an Increase in Intestinal Tight Junction Permeability *In Vitro* and *In Vivo* by Inducing Enterocyte Membrane Expression and Localisation of TLR-4 and CD14. *Am J Pathol* (2013) 182(2):375–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.10.014
- Cani PD, Amar J, Iglesias MA, Poggi M, Knauf C, Bastelica D, et al. Metabolic Endotoxemia Initiates Obesity and Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* (2007) 56(7):1761–72. doi: 10.2337/db06-1491
- Song MJ, Kim KH, Yoon JM, Kim JB. Activation of Toll-Like Receptor 4 Is Associated With Insulin Resistance in Adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2006) 346(3):739–45. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.05.170
- Caesar R, Tremaroli V, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Cani PD, Bäckhed F. Crosstalk Between Gut Microbiota and Dietary Lipids Aggravates WAT Inflammation Through TLR Signaling. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22(4):658–68. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.07.026
- 99. Cao W, Huang H, Xia T, Liu C, Muhammad S, Sun C. Homeobox A5 Promotes White Adipose Tissue Browning Through Inhibition of the Tenascin C/Toll-Like Receptor 4/Nuclear Factor Kappa B Inflammatory Signaling in Mice. Front Immunol (2018) 9:647. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00647
- 100. Okla M, Wang W, Kang I, Pashaj A, Carr T, Chung S. Activation of Toll-Like Receptor 4 (TLR4) Attenuates Adaptive Thermogenesis via Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress. J Biol Chem (2015) 290(44):26476–90. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M115.677724
- 101. Muccioli GG, Naslain D, Bäckhed F, Reigstad CS, Lambert DM, Delzenne NM, et al. The Endocannabinoid System Links Gut Microbiota to Adipogenesis. *Mol Syst Biol* (2010) 6:392. doi: 10.1038/msb.2010.46
- 102. Myhrstad MCW, Tunsjø H, Charnock C, Telle-Hansen VH. Dietary Fiber, Gut Microbiota, and Metabolic Regulation-Current Status in Human Randomized Trials. *Nutrients* (2020) 12(3):859. doi: 10.3390/nu12030859
- 103. Blachier F, Mariotti F, Huneau JF, Tomé D. Effects of Amino Acid-Derived Luminal Metabolites on the Colonic Epithelium and Physiopathological Consequences. Amino Acids (2007) 33(4):547–62. doi: 10.1007/s00726-006-0477-9
- 104. Kim CH. Microbiota or Short-Chain Fatty Acids: Which Regulates Diabetes? Cell Mol Immunol (2018) 15(2):88–91. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.57
- 105. Postler TS, Ghosh S. Understanding the Holobiont: How Microbial Metabolites Affect Human Health and Shape the Immune System. *Cell Metab* (2017) 26(1):110–30. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.05.008
- 106. Ratajczak W, Rył A, Mizerski A, Walczakiewicz K, Sipak O, Laszczyńska M. Immunomodulatory Potential of Gut Microbiome-Derived Short-Chain Fatty Acids (SCFAs). Acta Biochim Pol (2019) 66(1):1–12. doi: 10.18388/ abp.2018_2648
- 107. On behalf of the Obesity Programs of nutrition, Education, Research and Assessment (OPERA) group, Muscogiuri G, Cantone E, Cassarano S, Tuccinardi D, Barrea L, et al. Gut Microbiota: A New Path to Treat Obesity. *Int J Obes Supp* (2019) 9(1):10–9. doi: 10.1038/s41367-019-0011-7
- 108. Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Mahowald MA, Magrini V, Mardis ER, Gordon JI. An Obesity-Associated Gut Microbiome With Increased Capacity for Energy Harvest. *Nature* (2006) 444(7122):1027–31. doi: 10.1038/nature05414
- 109. Samuel BS, Shaito A, Motoike T, Rey FE, Backhed F, Manchester JK, et al. Effects of the Gut Microbiota on Host Adiposity Are Modulated by the

Short-Chain Fatty-Acid Binding G Protein-Coupled Receptor, Gpr41. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2008) 105(43):16767–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808567105

- 110. Musso G, Gambino R, Cassader M. Interactions Between Gut Microbiota and Host Metabolism Predisposing to Obesity and Diabetes. *Annu Rev Med* (2011) 62:361–80. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-012510-175505
- 111. Grasset E, Puel A, Charpentier J, Collet X, Christensen JE, Tercé F, et al. A Specific Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis of Type 2 Diabetic Mice Induces GLP-1 Resistance Through an Enteric NO-Dependent and Gut-Brain Axis Mechanism. *Cell Metab* (2017) 26(1):278. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.013
- 112. Schugar RC, Shih DM, Warrier M, Helsley RN, Burrows A, Ferguson D, et al. The TMAO-Producing Enzyme Flavin-Containing Monooxygenase 3 Regulates Obesity and the Beiging of White Adipose Tissue. *Cell Rep* (2017) 19(12):2451–61. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.05.077
- 113. Cavallari JF, Fullerton MD, Duggan BM, Foley KP, Denou E, Smith BK, et al. Muramyl Dipeptide-Based Postbiotics Mitigate Obesity-Induced Insulin Resistance via IRF4. Cell Metab (2017) 25(5):1063–74.e3. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2017.03.021
- 114. Virtue AT, McCright SJ, Wright JM, Jimenez MT, Mowel WK, Kotzin JJ, et al. The Gut Microbiota Regulates White Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Obesity *via* a Family of microRNAs. *Sci Transl Med* (2019) 11(496): eaav1892. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aav1892
- 115. Patterson E, Ryan PM, Cryan JF, Dinan TG, Ross RP, Fitzgerald GF, et al. Gut Microbiota, Obesity and Diabetes. *Postgrad Med J* (2016) 92(1087):286– 300. doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2015-133285
- Martínez-Sánchez N. There and Back Again: Leptin Actions in White Adipose Tissue. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21(17):6039. doi: 10.3390/ijms21176039
- 117. Izquierdo AG, Crujeiras AB, Casanueva FF, Carreira MC. Leptin, Obesity, and Leptin Resistance: Where Are We 25 Years Later? *Nutrients* (2019) 11 (11):2704. doi: 10.3390/nu11112704
- 118. Fuster JJ, Ouchi N, Gokce N, Walsh K. Obesity-Induced Changes in Adipose Tissue Microenvironment and Their Impact on Cardiovascular Disease. *Circ Res* (2016) 118(11):1786–807. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306885
- 119. Teixeira TM, da Costa DC, Resende AC, Soulage CO, Bezerra FF, Daleprane JB. Activation of Nrf2-Antioxidant Signaling by 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol Prevents Leptin-Induced Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in Human Endothelial Cells. J Nutr (2017) 147(4):506–13. doi: 10.3945/jn.116.239475
- 120. Yamagishi SI, Edelstein D, Du XL, Kaneda Y, Guzmán M, Brownlee M. Leptin Induces Mitochondrial Superoxide Production and Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 Expression in Aortic Endothelial Cells by Increasing Fatty Acid Oxidation via Protein Kinase a. J Biol Chem (2001) 276(27):25096–100. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M007383200
- 121. Hongo S, Watanabe T, Arita S, Kanome T, Kageyama H, Shioda S, et al. Leptin Modulates ACAT1 Expression and Cholesterol Efflux From Human Macrophages. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2009) 297(2):E474–82. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90369.2008
- 122. Singh S, Lohakare AC. Association of Leptin and Carotid Intima-Media Thickness in Overweight and Obese Individuals: A Cross-Sectional Study. J Assoc Physicians India (2020) 68(8):19–23. doi: 10.1155/2018/4285038
- 123. Rahmani A, Toloueitabar Y, Mohsenzadeh Y, Hemmati R, Sayehmiri K, Asadollahi K. Association Between Plasma Leptin/Adiponectin Ratios With the Extent and Severity of Coronary Artery Disease. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord* (2020) 20(1):474. doi: 10.1186/s12872-020-01723-7
- 124. Gan XT, Zhao G, Huang CX, Rowe AC, Purdham DM, Karmazyn M. Identification of Fat Mass and Obesity Associated (FTO) Protein Expression in Cardiomyocytes: Regulation by Leptin and Its Contribution to Leptin-Induced Hypertrophy. *PloS One* (2013) 8(9):e74235. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0074235
- 125. Xu F-P, Chen M-S, Wang Y-Z, Yi Q, Lin S-B, Chen AF, et al. Leptin Induces Hypertrophy via Endothelin-1-Reactive Oxygen Species Pathway in Cultured Neonatal Rat Cardiomyocytes. *Circulation* (2004) 110(10):1269– 75. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000140766.52771.6D
- 126. Zeidan A, Hunter JC, Javadov S, Karmazyn M. mTOR Mediates RhoA-Dependent Leptin-Induced Cardiomyocyte Hypertrophy. *Mol Cell Biochem* (2011) 352(1):99–108. doi: 10.1007/s11010-011-0744-2
- 127. Hou N, Luo M-S, Liu S-M, Zhang H-N, Xiao Q, Sun P, et al. Leptin Induces Hypertrophy Through Activating the Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor α Pathway in Cultured Neonatal Rat Cardiomyocytes. *Clin Exp*

Pharmacol Physiol (2010) 37(11):1087–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.2010. 05442.x

- 128. Perego L, Pizzocri P, Corradi D, Maisano F, Paganelli M, Fiorina P, et al. Circulating Leptin Correlates With Left Ventricular Mass in Morbid (Grade III) Obesity Before and After Weight Loss Induced by Bariatric Surgery: A Potential Role for Leptin in Mediating Human Left Ventricular Hypertrophy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90(7):4087–93. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2004-1963
- 129. Barouch Lili A, Berkowitz Dan E, Harrison Robert W, O'Donnell Christopher P, Hare Joshua M. Disruption of Leptin Signaling Contributes to Cardiac Hypertrophy Independently of Body Weight in Mice. *Circulation* (2003) 108(6):754–9. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000083716.82622.FD
- Martin SS, Blaha MJ, Muse ED, Qasim AN, Reilly MP, Blumenthal RS, et al. Leptin and Incident Cardiovascular Disease: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Atherosclerosis* (2015) 239(1):67–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2014.12.033
- 131. Hall ME, Maready MW, Hall JE, Stec DE. Rescue of Cardiac Leptin Receptors in Db/Db Mice Prevents Myocardial Triglyceride Accumulation. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 307(3):E316–25. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00005.2014
- 132. Lieb W, Xanthakis V, Sullivan LM, Aragam J, Pencina MJ, Larson MG, et al. Longitudinal Tracking of Left Ventricular Mass Over the Adult Life Course: Clinical Correlates of Short- and Long-Term Change in the Framingham Offspring Study. *Circulation* (2009) 119(24):3085–92. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.108.824243
- 133. Mohamed-Ali V, Goodrick S, Rawesh A, Katz DR, Miles JM, Yudkin JS, et al. Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Releases Interleukin-6, But Not Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha, *In Vivo. J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1997) 82 (12):4196–200. doi: 10.1210/jcem.82.12.4450
- 134. Yamauchi-Takihara K, Kishimoto T. Cytokines and Their Receptors in Cardiovascular Diseases–Role of Gp130 Signaling Pathway in Cardiac Myocyte Growth and Maintenance. *Int J Exp Pathol* (2000) 81(1):1–16. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2613.2000.00139.x
- 135. Yu X-W, Chen Q, Kennedy RH, Liu SJ. Inhibition of Sarcoplasmic Reticular Function by Chronic Interleukin-6 Exposure via iNOS in Adult Ventricular Myocytes. J Physiol (2005) 566(Pt 2):327–40. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2005.086686
- 136. Fontes JA, Rose NR, Čiháková D. The Varying Faces of IL-6: From Cardiac Protection to Cardiac Failure. *Cytokine* (2015) 74(1):62–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.cyto.2014.12.024
- 137. Fuchs M, Hilfiker A, Kaminski K, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Guener Z, Klein G, et al. Role of Interleukin-6 for LV Remodeling and Survival After Experimental Myocardial Infarction. *FASEB J* (2003) 17(14):2118–20. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0331fje
- 138. Yan AT, Yan RT, Cushman M, Redheuil A, Tracy RP, Arnett DK, et al. Relationship of Interleukin-6 With Regional and Global Left-Ventricular Function in Asymptomatic Individuals Without Clinical Cardiovascular Disease: Insights From the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Eur Heart J* (2010) 31(7):875–82. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp454
- 139. Markousis-Mavrogenis G, Tromp J, Ouwerkerk W, Devalaraja M, Anker SD, Cleland JG, et al. The Clinical Significance of Interleukin-6 in Heart Failure: Results From the BIOSTAT-CHF Study. *Eur J Heart Failure* (2019) 21 (8):965–73. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.1482
- 140. Hui X, Lam KSL, Vanhoutte PM, Xu A. Adiponectin and Cardiovascular Health: An Update. Br J Pharmacol (2012) 165(3):574–90. doi: 10.1111/ j.1476-5381.2011.01395.x
- 141. Dong F, Ren J. Adiponectin Improves Cardiomyocyte Contractile Function in Db/Db Diabetic Obese Mice. Obes (Silver Spring) (2009) 17(2):262–8. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.545
- 142. Amin RH, Mathews ST, Alli A, Leff T. Endogenously Produced Adiponectin Protects Cardiomyocytes From Hypertrophy by a Pparγ-Dependent Autocrine Mechanism. Am J Physiol-Heart Circ Physiol (2010) 299(3): H690-8. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01032.2009
- 143. Tao L, Gao E, Jiao X, Yuan Y, Li S, Christopher Theodore A, et al. Adiponectin Cardioprotection After Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Involves the Reduction of Oxidative/Nitrative Stress. *Circulation* (2007) 115(11):1408–16. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.666941
- 144. Ikeda Y, Ohashi K, Shibata R, Pimentel DR, Kihara S, Ouchi N, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 Induction by Adiponectin Is Regulated by a Sphingosine

Kinase-1 Dependent Mechanism in Cardiac Myocytes. FEBS Lett (2008) 582 (7):1147-50. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.03.002

- 145. Cao Y, Tao L, Yuan Y, Jiao X, Lau WB, Wang Y, et al. Endothelial Dysfunction in Adiponectin Deficiency and Its Mechanisms Involved. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2009) 46(3):413–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008.10.014
- 146. Pischon T. Plasma Adiponectin Levels and Risk of Myocardial Infarction in Men. JAMA (2004) 291(14):1730. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.14.1730
- 147. Kozakova M, Muscelli E, Flyvbjerg A, Frystyk J, Morizzo C, Palombo C, et al. Adiponectin and Left Ventricular Structure and Function in Healthy Adults. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93(7):2811–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2580
- 148. Sook Lee E, Park S, Kim E, Sook Yoon Y, Ahn H-Y, Park C-Y, et al. Association Between Adiponectin Levels and Coronary Heart Disease and Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Int J Epidemiol* (2013) 42 (4):1029–39. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt087
- 149. Van Berendoncks AM, Garnier A, Beckers P, Hoymans VY, Possemiers N, Fortin D, et al. Functional Adiponectin Resistance at the Level of the Skeletal Muscle in Mild to Moderate Chronic Heart Failure. *Circ Heart Fail* (2010) 3 (2):185–94. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.109.885525
- 150. Menon V, Li L, Wang X, Greene T, Balakrishnan V, Madero M, et al. Adiponectin and Mortality in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2006) 17(9):2599–606. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006040331
- 151. Sun H, Wang Y. Branched Chain Amino Acid Metabolic Reprogramming in Heart Failure. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) Mol Basis Dis* (2016) 1862 (12):2270–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.09.009
- 152. Wang W, Zhang F, Xia Y, Zhao S, Yan W, Wang H, et al. Defective Branched Chain Amino Acid Catabolism Contributes to Cardiac Dysfunction and Remodeling Following Myocardial Infarction. *Am J Physiol-Heart Circ Physiol* (2016) 311(5):H1160–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00114.2016
- 153. Li T, Zhang Z, Kolwicz SC, Abell L, Roe ND, Kim M, et al. Defective Branched-Chain Amino Acid Catabolism Disrupts Glucose Metabolism and Sensitises the Heart to Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. *Cell Metab* (2017) 25 (2):374–85. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.11.005
- Pisarenko OI. Mechanisms of Myocardial Protection by Amino Acids: Facts and Hypotheses. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (1996) 23(8):627–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.1996.tb01748.x
- 155. Halama A, Horsch M, Kastenmüller G, Möller G, Kumar P, Prehn C, et al. Metabolic Switch During Adipogenesis: From Branched Chain Amino Acid Catabolism to Lipid Synthesis. Arch Biochem Biophysics (2016) 589:93–107. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2015.09.013
- 156. Herman MA, She P, Peroni OD, Lynch CJ, Kahn BB. Adipose Tissue Branched Chain Amino Acid (BCAA) Metabolism Modulates Circulating BCAA Levels*. J Biol Chem (2010) 285(15):11348–56. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M109.075184
- 157. Huang Y, Zhou M, Sun H, Wang Y. Branched-Chain Amino Acid Metabolism in Heart Disease: An Epiphenomenon or a Real Culprit? *Cardiovasc Res* (2011) 90(2):220–3. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr070
- 158. Tobias DK, Lawler PR, Harada PH, Demler OV, Ridker PM, Manson JE, et al. Circulating Branched-Chain Amino Acids and Incident Cardiovascular Disease in a Prospective Cohort of US Women. *Circ Genom Precis Med* (2018) 11(4):e002157. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGEN.118.002157
- Peterson MB, Mead RJ, Welty JD. Free Amino Acids in Congestive Heart Failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol (1973) 5(2):139–47. doi: 10.1016/0022-2828(73) 90047-3
- 160. Kato T, Niizuma S, Inuzuka Y, Kawashima T, Okuda J, Tamaki Y, et al. Analysis of Metabolic Remodeling in Compensated Left Ventricular Hypertrophy and Heart Failure. *Circ Heart Fail* (2010) 3(3):420–30. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.109.888479
- 161. Aquilani R, La Rovere M, Corbellini D, Pasini E, Verri M, Barbieri A, et al. Plasma Amino Acid Abnormalities in Chronic Heart Failure. Mechanisms, Potential Risks and Targets in Human Myocardium Metabolism. *Nutrients* (2017) 9(11):1251. doi: 10.3390/nu9111251
- 162. Green CR, Wallace M, Divakaruni AS, Phillips SA, Murphy AN, Ciaraldi TP, et al. Branched-Chain Amino Acid Catabolism Fuels Adipocyte Differentiation and Lipogenesis. *Nat Chem Biol* (2016) 12(1):15–21. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1961
- 163. Thoonen R, Hindle AG, Scherrer-Crosbie M. Brown Adipose Tissue: The Heat Is on the Heart. Am J Physiol-Heart Circ Physiol (2016) 310(11):H1592– 605. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00698.2015

- 164. Gruden G, Landi A, Bruno G. Natriuretic Peptides, Heart, and Adipose Tissue: New Findings and Future Developments for Diabetes Research. *Dia Care* (2014) 37(11):2899–908. doi: 10.2337/dc14-0669
- 165. Saito Y, Nakao K, Itoh H, Yamada T, Mukoyama M, Arai H, et al. Brain Natriuretic Peptide Is a Novel Cardiac Hormone. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1989) 158(2):360–8. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(89)80056-7
- 166. Planavila A, Fernández-Solà J, Villarroya F. Cardiokines as Modulators of Stress-Induced Cardiac Disorders. In: Advances in Protein Chemistry and Structural Biology. Elsevier (2017). Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S1876162317300020 (Accessed cited 2021 Mar 18).
- 167. Shimano M, Ouchi N, Walsh K. Cardiokines: Recent Progress in Elucidating the Cardiac Secretome. *Circulation* (2012) 126(21):e327–e32. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCGEN.118.002157
- 168. Hosoda K, Nakao K, Mukoyama M, Saito Y, Jougasaki M, Shirakami G, et al. Expression of Brain Natriuretic Peptide Gene in Human Heart. Production in the Ventricle. *Hypertension* (1991) 17(6_pt_2):1152–5. doi: 10.1161/ 01.hyp.17.6.1152
- Jahng JWS, Song E, Sweeney G. Crosstalk Between the Heart and Peripheral Organs in Heart Failure. *Exp Mol Med* (2016) 48(3):e217–7. doi: 10.1038/ emm.2016.20
- 170. Sarzani P, Dessi-Fulgheri P, Paci VM, Espinosa E, Rappelli A. Expression of Natriuretic Peptide Receptors in Human Adipose and Other Tissues. *J Endocrinol Invest* (1996) 19(9):581–5. doi: 10.1007/BF03349021
- 171. Bordicchia M, Liu D, Amri E-Z, Ailhaud G, Dessi-Fulgheri P, Zhang C, et al. Cardiac Natriuretic Peptides Act via P38 MAPK to Induce the Brown Fat Thermogenic Program in Mouse and Human Adipocytes. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(3):1022–36. doi: 10.1172/JCI59701
- 172. Nakamura M, Sadoshima J. Heart Over Mind: Metabolic Control of White Adipose Tissue and Liver. *EMBO Mol Med* (2014) 6(12):1521–4. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201404749
- 173. Dewey CM, Spitler KM, Ponce JM, Hall DD, Grueter CE. Cardiac-Secreted Factors as Peripheral Metabolic Regulators and Potential Disease Biomarkers. JAHA (2016) 5(6):e003101. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.003101
- 174. Sengenes C, Stich V, Berlan M, Hejnova J, Lafontan M, Pariskova Z, et al. Increased Lipolysis in Adipose Tissue and Lipid Mobilisation to Natriuretic Peptides During Low-Calorie Diet in Obese Women. *Int J Obes* (2002) 26 (1):24–32. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0801845
- 175. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Levy D, Benjamin EJ, Leip EP, Wilson PWF, et al. Impact of Obesity on Plasma Natriuretic Peptide Levels. *Circulation* (2004) 109(5):594–600. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000112582.16683.EA
- 176. Plante E, Menaouar A, Danalache BA, Broderick TL, Jankowski M, Gutkowska J. Treatment With Brain Natriuretic Peptide Prevents the Development of Cardiac Dysfunction in Obese Diabetic Db/Db Mice. *Diabetologia* (2014) 57(6):1257–67. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3201-4
- Silva M. The Role of BNP on Adipose Tissue Adaptations. Eur J Heart Fail (2017) 19:5–601. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.833
- 178. Kovacova Z, Tharp WG, Liu D, Wei W, Xie H, Collins S, et al. Adipose Tissue Natriuretic Peptide Receptor Expression Is Related to Insulin Sensitivity in Obesity and Diabetes: Natriuretic Peptide Receptors in Metabolic Disease. Obesity (2016) 24(4):820–8. doi: 10.1002/oby.21418
- 179. Huang Y, Yan Y, Xv W, Qian G, Li C, Zou H, et al. A New Insight Into the Roles of MiRNAs in Metabolic Syndrome. *BioMed Res Int* (2018) 2018:1–15. doi: 10.1155/2018/7372636
- 180. Aleksandrova K, Mozaffarian D, Pischon T. Addressing the Perfect Storm: Biomarkers in Obesity and Pathophysiology of Cardiometabolic Risk. *Clin Chem* (2018) 64(1):142–53. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2017.275172
- 181. Bang C, Antoniades C, Antonopoulos AS, Eriksson U, Franssen C, Hamdani N, et al. Intercellular Communication Lessons in Heart Failure: Communication in Heart Failure. *Eur J Heart Fail* (2015) 17(11):1091–103. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.399
- Mazurek T, Opolski G. Pericoronary Adipose Tissue: A Novel Therapeutic Target in Obesity-Related Coronary Atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Nutr (2015) 34(3):244–54. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2014.933685
- 183. Song Y, Song F, Wu C, Hong Y-X, Li G. The Roles of Epicardial Adipose Tissue in Heart Failure. *Heart Fail Rev* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s10741-020-09997-x
- 184. Lambert C, Arderiu G, Bejar MT, Crespo J, Baldellou M, Juan-Babot O, et al. Stem Cells From Human Cardiac Adipose Tissue Depots Show Different

Gene Expression and Functional Capacities. Stem Cell Res Ther (2019) 10 (1):361. doi: 10.1186/s13287-019-1460-1

- 185. Vienberg S, Geiger J, Madsen S, Dalgaard LT. MicroRNAs in Metabolism. Acta Physiol (2017) 219(2):346–61. doi: 10.1111/apha.12681
- 186. Huang-Doran I, Zhang C-Y, Vidal-Puig A. Extracellular Vesicles: Novel Mediators of Cell Communication In Metabolic Disease. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28(1):3–18. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.10.003
- 187. Zhang Y-F, Xu H-M, Yu F, Wang M, Li M-Y, Xu T, et al. Crosstalk Between MicroRNAs and Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors and Their Emerging Regulatory Roles in Cardiovascular Pathophysiology. *PPAR Res* (2018) 2018:1–11. doi: 10.1155/2018/8530371
- Ocłoń E, Latacz A, Zubel–Łojek J, Pierzchała–Koziec K. Hyperglycemia-Induced Changes in miRNA Expression Patterns in Epicardial Adipose Tissue of Piglets. J Endocrinol (2016) 229(3):259–66. doi: 10.1530/JOE-15-0495
- 189. Liu Y, Fu W, Lu M, Huai S, Song Y, Wei Y. Role of miRNAs in Epicardial Adipose Tissue in CAD Patients With T2DM. *BioMed Res Int* (2016) 2016:1–7. doi: 10.1155/2016/2816056
- 190. Pan J, Alimujiang M, Chen Q, Shi H, Luo X. Exosomes Derived From miR-146a-Modified Adipose-Derived Stem Cells Attenuate Acute Myocardial Infarction–Induced Myocardial Damage via Downregulation of Early Growth Response Factor 1. J Cell Biochem (2019) 120(3):4433–43. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27731
- 191. Luo Q, Guo D, Liu G, Chen G, Hang M, Jin M. Exosomes From MiR-126-Overexpressing Adscs Are Therapeutic in Relieving Acute Myocardial Ischaemic Injury. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2017) 44(6):2105–16. doi: 10.1159/ 000485949
- 192. Zhai Y, Yang J, Zhang J, Yang J, Li Q, Zheng T. miRNA-3614 Derived From Epicardial Adipose Tissue: A Novel Target for Ischemic Heart Diseases. Int J Cardiol (2021) 326:157. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2020.10.076
- 193. Zou T, Zhu M, Ma Y-C, Xiao F, Yu X, Xu L, et al. MicroRNA-410-5p Exacerbates High-Fat Diet-Induced Cardiac Remodeling in Mice in an Endocrine Fashion. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):8780. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-26646-4
- 194. Bork-Jensen J, Thuesen A, Bang-Bertelsen C, Grunnet L, Pociot F, Beck-Nielsen H, et al. Genetic Versus Non-Genetic Regulation of miR-103, miR-143 and miR-483-3p Expression in Adipose Tissue and Their Metabolic Implications—A Twin Study. Genes (2014) 5(3):508–17. doi: 10.3390/ genes5030508
- 195. Scheja L, Heeren J. The Endocrine Function of Adipose Tissues in Health and Cardiometabolic Disease. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2019) 15(9):507–24. doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0230-6
- 196. Akoumianakis I, Antoniades C. The Interplay Between Adipose Tissue and the Cardiovascular System: Is Fat Always Bad? *Cardiovasc Res* (2017) 113 (9):999–1008. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx111
- 197. Mormile R. The Obesity Paradox in Heart Failure: A miR-26b Affair? Int J Colorectal Dis (2017) 32(4):595–6. doi: 10.1007/s00384-017-2762-3
- 198. Marí-Alexandre J, Barceló-Molina M, Sanz-Sánchez J, Molina P, Sancho J, Abellán Y, et al. Thickness and an Altered miRNA Expression in the Epicardial Adipose Tissue Is Associated With Coronary Heart Disease in Sudden Death Victims. *Rev Española Cardiol (English Ed)* (2019) 72(1):30–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rec.2017.12.007
- 199. Araujo HN, Victório JA, Valgas da Silva CP, Sponton ACS, Vettorazzi JF, de Moraes C, et al. Anti-Contractile Effects of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Thoracic Aorta From Rats Fed a High-Fat Diet: Role of Aerobic Exercise Training. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2018) 45(3):293–302. doi: 10.1111/ 1440-1681.12882
- 200. Kang S, Kim KB, Shin KO. Exercise Training Improves Leptin Sensitivity in Peripheral Tissue of Obese Rats. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2013) 435 (3):454–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.007
- 201. Su M, Bai Y-P, Song W-W, Wang M, Shen R-R, Du K-J, et al. Effect of Exercise on Adiponectin in Aged Obese Rats. *Zhongguo Ying Yong Sheng Li Xue Za Zhi* (2018) 34(4):345–9. doi: 10.12047/j.cjap.5660.2018.079
- 202. Kazemi F, Zahediasl S. Effects of Exercise Training on Adipose Tissue Apelin Expression in Streptozotocin-Nicotinamide Induced Diabetic Rats. *Gene* (2018) 662:97–102. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2018.04.003
- 203. Meziat C, Boulghobra D, Strock E, Battault S, Bornard I, Walther G, et al. Exercise Training Restores eNOS Activation in the Perivascular Adipose

Tissue of Obese Rats: Impact on Vascular Function. Nitric Oxide (2019) 86:63-7. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2019.02.009

- 204. Khoo J, Dhamodaran S, Chen D-D, Yap S-Y, Chen RY-T, Tian RH-H. Exercise-Induced Weight Loss Is More Effective Than Dieting for Improving Adipokine Profile, Insulin Resistance, and Inflammation in Obese Men. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab* (2015) 25(6):566–75. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem.2015-0025
- 205. Abd El-Kader SM, Al-Jiffri OH, Neamatallah ZA, AlKhateeb AM, AlFawaz SS. Weight Reduction Ameliorates Inflammatory Cytokines, Adipocytokines and Endothelial Dysfunction Biomarkers Among Saudi Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *Afr Health Sci* (2020) 20(3):1329–36. doi: 10.4314/ahs.v20i3.39
- 206. Elloumi M, Ben Ounis O, Makni E, Van Praagh E, Tabka Z, Lac G. Effect of Individualised Weight-Loss Programmes on Adiponectin, Leptin and Resistin Levels in Obese Adolescent Boys. *Acta Paediatr* (2009) 98 (9):1487–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01365.x
- 207. Maillard F, Pereira B, Boisseau N. Effect of High-Intensity Interval Training on Total, Abdominal and Visceral Fat Mass: A Meta-Analysis. Sports Med (2018) 48(2):269–88. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0807-y
- 208. Wewege M, van den Berg R, Ward RE, Keech A. The Effects of High-Intensity Interval Training vs. Moderate-Intensity Continuous Training on Body Composition in Overweight and Obese Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Obes Rev (2017) 18(6):635–46. doi: 10.1111/obr.12532
- 209. Párrizas M, Brugnara L, Esteban Y, González-Franquesa A, Canivell S, Murillo S, et al. Circulating miR-192 and miR-193b Are Markers of Prediabetes and Are Modulated by an Exercise Intervention. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(3):E407–415. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2574
- 210. Russo A, Bartolini D, Mensà E, Torquato P, Albertini MC, Olivieri F, et al. Physical Activity Modulates the Overexpression of the Inflammatory miR-146a-5p in Obese Patients. *IUBMB Life* (2018) 70(10):1012–22. doi: 10.1002/ iub.1926
- 211. Amor S, Martín-Carro B, Rubio C, Carrascosa JM, Hu W, Huang Y, et al. Study of Insulin Vascular Sensitivity in Aortic Rings and Endothelial Cells From Aged Rats Subjected to Caloric Restriction: Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue. *Exp Gerontol* (2018) 109:126–36. doi: 10.1016/j.exger. 2017.10.017
- 212. Bussey CE, Withers SB, Aldous RG, Edwards G, Heagerty AM. Obesity-Related Perivascular Adipose Tissue Damage Is Reversed by Sustained Weight Loss in the Rat. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2016) 36(7):1377– 85. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.307210
- 213. Kim K-H, Kim YH, Son JE, Lee JH, Kim S, Choe MS, et al. Intermittent Fasting Promotes Adipose Thermogenesis and Metabolic Homeostasis *via* VEGF-Mediated Alternative Activation of Macrophage. *Cell Res* (2017) 27 (11):1309–26. doi: 10.1038/cr.2017.126
- 214. Klempel MC, Kroeger CM, Bhutani S, Trepanowski JF, Varady KA. Intermittent Fasting Combined With Calorie Restriction Is Effective for Weight Loss and Cardio-Protection in Obese Women. *Nutr J* (2012) 11:98. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-11-98
- 215. Kroeger CM, Klempel MC, Bhutani S, Trepanowski JF, Tangney CC, Varady KA. Improvement in Coronary Heart Disease Risk Factors During an Intermittent Fasting/Calorie Restriction Regimen: Relationship to Adipokine Modulations. *Nutr Metab (Lond)* (2012) 9(1):98. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-9-98
- 216. Trepanowski JF, Kroeger CM, Barnosky A, Klempel M, Bhutani S, Hoddy KK, et al. Effects of Alternate-Day Fasting or Daily Calorie Restriction on Body Composition, Fat Distribution, and Circulating Adipokines: Secondary Analysis of a Randomised Controlled Trial. *Clin Nutr* (2018) 37(6 Pt A):1871–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2017.11.018
- 217. Hsieh C-H, Rau C-S, Wu S-C, Yang JC-S, Wu Y-C, Lu T-H, et al. Weight-Reduction Through a Low-Fat Diet Causes Differential Expression of Circulating microRNAs in Obese C57BL/6 Mice. BMC Genomics (2015) 16(1):699. doi: 10.1186/s12864-015-1896-3
- 218. Manning P, Munasinghe PE, Bellae Papannarao J, Gray AR, Sutherland W, Katare R. Acute Weight Loss Restores Dysregulated Circulating MicroRNAs in Individuals Who Are Obese. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2019) 104(4):1239– 48. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-00684
- 219. Tabet F, Cuesta Torres LF, Ong KL, Shrestha S, Choteau SA, Barter PJ, et al. High-Density Lipoprotein-Associated miR-223 Is Altered After Diet-Induced Weight Loss in Overweight and Obese Males. *PloS One* (2016) 11 (3):e0151061. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151061
- 220. Bagarolli RA, Tobar N, Oliveira AG, Araújo TG, Carvalho BM, Rocha GZ, et al. Probiotics Modulate Gut Microbiota and Improve Insulin Sensitivity in DIO Mice. J Nutr Biochem (2017) 50:16–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio. 2017.08.006
- 221. Behrouz V, Jazayeri S, Aryaeian N, Zahedi MJ, Hosseini F. Effects of Probiotic and Prebiotic Supplementation on Leptin, Adiponectin, and Glycemic Parameters in Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Randomised Clinical Trial. *Middle East J Dig Dis* (2017) 9(3):150–7. doi: 10.15171/ mejdd.2017.66
- 222. Al-Muzafar HM, Amin KA. Probiotic Mixture Improves Fatty Liver Disease by Virtue of Its Action on Lipid Profiles, Leptin, and Inflammatory Biomarkers. BMC Complement Altern Med (2017) 17(1):43. doi: 10.1186/ s12906-016-1540-z
- 223. Bernini LJ, Simão ANC, de Souza CHB, Alfieri DF, Segura LG, Costa GN, et al. Effect of Bifidobacterium Lactis HN019 on Inflammatory Markers and Oxidative Stress in Subjects With and Without the Metabolic Syndrome. Br J Nutr (2018) 120(6):645–52. doi: 10.1017/S0007114518001861
- 224. Sabico S, Al-Mashharawi A, Al-Daghri NM, Wani K, Amer OE, Hussain DS, et al. Effects of a 6-Month Multi-Strain Probiotics Supplementation in Endotoxemic, Inflammatory and Cardiometabolic Status of T2DM Patients: A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Clin Nutr* (2019) 38(4):1561–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.08.009
- 225. Karimi E, Moini A, Yaseri M, Shirzad N, Sepidarkish M, Hossein-Boroujerdi M, et al. Effects of Synbiotic Supplementation on Metabolic Parameters and Apelin in Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: A Randomised Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled Trial. Br J Nutr (2018) 119(4):398–406. doi: 10.1017/S0007114517003920
- 226. Gan XT, Ettinger G, Huang CX, Burton JP, Haist JV, Rajapurohitam V, et al. Probiotic Administration Attenuates Myocardial Hypertrophy and Heart Failure After Myocardial Infarction in the Rat. *Circ Heart Fail* (2014) 7 (3):491–9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.113.000978
- 227. Huang F, Del-Río-Navarro BE, Leija-Martinez J, Torres-Alcantara S, Ruiz-Bedolla E, Hernández-Cadena L, et al. Effect of Omega-3 Fatty Acids Supplementation Combined With Lifestyle Intervention on Adipokines and Biomarkers of Endothelial Dysfunction in Obese Adolescents With Hypertriglyceridemia. J Nutr Biochem (2019) 64:162–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.10.012
- 228. Mostowik M, Gajos G, Zalewski J, Nessler J, Undas A. Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Increase Plasma Adiponectin to Leptin Ratio in Stable Coronary Artery Disease. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* (2013) 27(4):289– 95. doi: 10.1007/s10557-013-6457-x
- 229. Jafari Salim S, Alizadeh S, Djalali M, Nematipour E, Hassan Javanbakht M. Effect of Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Supplementation on Body Composition and Circulating Levels of Follistatin-Like 1 in Males With Coronary Artery Disease: A Randomised Double-Blind Clinical Trial. Am J Mens Health (2017) 11(6):1758–64. doi: 10.1177/1557988317720581

- 230. Wang C, Xiong B, Huang J. The Role of Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids in Heart Failure: A Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. *Nutrients* (2016) 9(1):18. doi: 10.3390/nu9010018
- 231. Redondo Useros N, Gheorghe A, Perez de Heredia F, Díaz LE, Baccan GC, de la Fuente M, et al. 2-OHOA Supplementation Reduced Adiposity and Improved Cardiometabolic Risk to a Greater Extent Than N-3 PUFA in Obese Mice. Obes Res Clin Pract (2019) 13(6):579–85. doi: 10.1016/ j.orcp.2019.10.009
- 232. Luvizotto R de AM, Nascimento AF, Imaizumi E, Pierine DT, Conde SJ, Correa CR, et al. Lycopene Supplementation Modulates Plasma Concentrations and Epididymal Adipose Tissue mRNA of Leptin, Resistin and IL-6 in Diet-Induced Obese Rats. *Br J Nutr* (2013) 110(10):1803–9. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513001256
- 233. Clark CCT, Ghaedi E, Arab A, Pourmasoumi M, Hadi A. The Effect of Curcumin Supplementation on Circulating Adiponectin: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* (2019) 13(5):2819–25. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2019.07.045
- 234. Shamsi-Goushki A, Mortazavi Z, Mirshekar MA, Mohammadi M, Moradi-Kor N, Jafari-Maskouni S, et al. Comparative Effects of Curcumin Versus Nano-Curcumin on Insulin Resistance, Serum Levels of Apelin and Lipid Profile in Type 2 Diabetic Rats. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes (2020) 13:2337– 46. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S247351
- 235. Mohammadi-Sartang M, Mazloom Z, Sohrabi Z, Sherafatmanesh S, Barati-Boldaji R. Resveratrol Supplementation and Plasma Adipokines Concentrations? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. *Pharmacol Res* (2017) 117:394–405. doi: 10.1016/ j.phrs.2017.01.012

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Bermúdez, Durán, Rojas, Díaz, Rivas, Nava, Chacín, Cabrera de Bravo, Carrasquero, Ponce, Górriz and D'Marco. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Sestrin2 as a Potential Target for Regulating Metabolic-Related Diseases

Linan Gong[†], Zanzan Wang[†], Zhenggui Wang and Zhiguo Zhang^{*}

Center for Cardiovascular Medicine, First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China

Sestrin2 is a highly conserved protein that can be induced under a variety of stress conditions, including DNA damage, oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, and metabolic stress. Numerous studies have shown that the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway has a crucial role in the regulation of metabolism. Sestrin2 regulates metabolism *via* a number of pathways, including activation of AMPK, inhibition of the mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1), activation of mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2), inhibition of ER stress, and promotion of autophagy. Therefore, modulation of Sestrin2 activity may provide a potential therapeutic target for the prevention of metabolic diseases such as insulin resistance, diabetes, obesity, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, and myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. In this review, we examined the regulatory relationship between Sestrin2 and the AMPK/mTOR signaling pathway and the effects of Sestrin2 on energy metabolism.

Keywords: Sestrin2, AMPK, mTOR, metabolism, metabolic diseases

INTRODUCTION

Sestrins, a family of evolutionarily highly conserved stress-induced proteins, are upregulated under oxidative stress, genotoxic stress, hypoxia, and other stress conditions (1). As stress-induced metabolic modulators, Sestrins help cells adapt to diverse stress stimuli by activating catabolic reactions, stopping anabolic activities, and initiating cell repair mechanisms, to maintain cell homeostasis (2). In mammals, there are three members of the sestrin family, Sestrins1-3, which are encoded by three independent genes, while only one Sestrin ortholog has been identified in invertebrates (3-5). Sestrin1, also referred to as p53-activated gene 26 (PA26), was first identified by Velasco-Miguel et al. and is a growth arrest and DNA damage-inducing gene (5). In 2002, Sestrin2, also known as hypoxia-inducible gene 95 (Hi95), was reported by Budanov et al., is highly homologous to Sestrin1, and can be induced by prolonged hypoxia and DNA damage (6, 7). Sestrin3 is directly activated by forkhead box O (FOXO) transcriptional factors (8). These three Sestrin proteins have some shared mechanisms of action, including, but not limited to, inhibiting the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), activating AMPK, and inhibiting mTORC1 (4, 9). However, there is growing evidence that the three Sestrins behave differently and promote different biological effects via AMPK/mTOR signaling because they are distributed differently in different organs (10, 11). To our knowledge, Sestrin1 has an antioxidant function that can activate the AMPK signal pathway while inhibiting the mechanistic target of the mTORC1 signal pathway (12).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiaodong Sun, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Zhen Wang, University of Mississippi Medical Center School of Dentistry, United States Yonggang Ma, University of South Florida, United States

*Correspondence:

Zhiguo Zhang zhangzhig@jlu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 31 July 2021 Accepted: 11 October 2021 Published: 03 November 2021

Citation:

Gong L, Wang Z, Wang Z and Zhang Z (2021) Sestrin2 as a Potential Target for Regulating Metabolic-Related Diseases. Front. Endocrinol. 12:751020. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.751020

109

Furthermore, Sestrin1 can be activated in a p53-dependent manner under oxidative stress in skeletal muscle, kidney, brain, and lung (7). Recent studies suggest that Sestrin1 inhibits oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced activation of NODlike receptor protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome in macrophages in a murine atherosclerosis model (12). What is even more interesting is that in multiple mouse models, Sestrin1 influences plasma cholesterol and regulates cholesterol biosynthesis (13). Among these members, Sestrin2 is the most intensively studied since its discovery in 2002. As a p53 target gene, Sestrin2 (SESN2) can exert cytoprotective functions in the lung, heart, liver, adipose, and kidney through activation of AMPK and inhibition of mTORC1 (6, 11, 14, 15). Furthermore, Sestrin2 is able to suppress nitric oxide release and the production of classical pro-inflammatory cytokines in cardiomyocytes (16). Sestrin3 can inhibit mTORC1 and maintain the activity of protein kinase B (AKT) via activating the AMPK/TSC1/2 signaling pathway (8). Sestrin3 is largely expressed in skeletal muscle, intestine, adipose, colon, and brain (17).

Increasing evidence suggests that that Sestrin2 has two main biological functions. Through its own oxidoreductase activity or activation of antioxidant damage related pathways, Sestrin2 can reduce the damage of oxidative stress to protect cells and tissues and maintain redox homeostasis (18, 19). In addition to its redox activity, Sestrin2 can also inhibit the mammalian target of mTORC1 through AMPK-dependent or -independent pathways (20). These two activities of human Sestrin2 (hSestrin2) are supported through its two separate domains, which were determined from X-ray crystallographic studies. A recent study of the X-ray crystal structure of hSestrin2 showed that it consists of well-conserved Sesn-A, Sesn-B, and Sesn-C domains (11). Sesn-A and Sesn-C are structurally similar but functionally distinct from each other (21). Sestrin2 controls ROS and mTOR signaling through two separate functional domains (22). While Sesn-A reduces alkyl hydroperoxide radicals through its helix-turn-helix oxidoreductase motif, Sesn-C modifies this motif to accommodate physical interactions with GAP activity towards Rags 2 (GATOR2) and subsequent inhibition of mTORC1 (21, 23). Sestrin2 has a significant role in the inhibition of ER stress and the activation of autophagy and is considered to improve obesity-induced and age-related pathologies by inhibiting mTORC1 (15, 24). Therefore, Sestrin2 may represent a novel class of potential targets for the therapeutic intervention of metabolic diseases. In this review, we discuss the regulatory relationship between Sestrin2 and AMPK/mTOR signaling and the effects of Sestrin2 on energy metabolism.

REGULATION OF SESTRIN2 EXPRESSION IN RESPONSE TO DIVERSE STRESS CONDITIONS

Human beings exist in a constantly changing environment and face frequent challenges that threaten our survival and health. In response to stress, the body undergoes very subtle changes at the cellular and molecular level. Understanding how Sestrin2 is regulated under different stress conditions is very helpful for us in studying Sestrin2. Therefore, it is of great significance to study the regulatory mechanism of Sestrin2 expression under different types of stress conditions.

Sestrin2 and Oxidative Stress

Reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are generated continuously in the body through oxidative metabolism, biological functions of mitochondria, and immunologic functions (25). Physiological ROS are crucially important for intracellular and extracellular signal transduction (26). However, it is well-known that overloaded ROS and RNS can bind with and destroy most cellular biomolecules (lipids, enzymes, sugars, proteins, nucleic acids, and other small molecules) under oxidative stress (27-29). Oxidative stress is considered to be an imbalance in redox properties in certain cellular environments (30), and plays a crucial role in the development of numerous human diseases, including diabetes, obesity, and myocardial injury (31-33). Resistance to oxidative stress injury is one of the important functions of Sestrin2. In response to oxidative stress, the expression of Sesrin2 is regulated at the mRNA and protein level by various transcription factors, including nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-KB), activator protein-1 (AP-1), CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein beta (C/EBPβ), forkhead box O3 (FOXO3), and p53 (19, 24, 34-36). Sestrin2 has been suggested to maintain the balance of oxidative metabolism through two main biological functions. First, as an antioxidant enzyme, Sestrin2 is capable of directly reducing the accumulation of ROS (37). However, the intrinsic catalytic antioxidant activity of Sestrin2 remains elusive and limited. Second, recent studies have demonstrated that Sestrin2 inhibits ROS production and defends cells against oxidative stress, which is likely to be mainly attributed to its regulation of several signaling pathways related to oxidative stress: the Kelch-like Ech-associated protein 1 (KEAP1)/NF-E2 related factor-2 (NRF2) antioxidant signaling pathway (2) (Figure 1) and the AMPK and mTORC1 pathways (which will be described in detail later) (38). NRF2 is a transcription factor that can bind to antioxidant-responsive elements (AREs) to promote the expression of many antioxidant molecules to protect cells from oxidative insults (36). NRF2 is constitutively expressed in the cytoplasm under physiological conditions (39). Under normal conditions, KEAP1 binds to NRF2, preventing NRF2 translocation to the nucleus, promoting its ubiquitination and proteasome degradation, and maintaining free NRF2 in the cytoplasm at a low level (19). Under oxidative stress, NRF2 dissociates from KEAP1 and translocates to the nucleus. NRF2 binding to ARE activates the transcription of target genes PRX, SRX, superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), heme oxygenase 1 (HO1), and glutathione peroxidase 1 (GPX1) (40, 41). In cellular studies, it was found that Sestrin2 binds to unC-51-like kinase 1 (ULK1) and p62 to form functional complexes, and that Sestrin2 promotes the phosphorylation of p62, which further promotes KEAP1 degradation and NRF2 activation (42). In addition, in studies of liver damage caused by oxidative stress, Sestrin2 was shown to act as a scaffold protein to enhance the



weak binding of KEAP1 to p62, thereby promoting KEAP1 autophagy degradation and preventing oxidative liver injury (43). More interestingly, NRF2 regulates the expression of Sestrin2 by binding to the ARE promoter of *SESN2* under oxidative stress (37). A positive feedback loop is formed between Sestrin2 and NRF2 to promote the transcription and translation of antioxidant-related genes downstream of NRF2 and to protect cells from oxidative damage (36). Therefore, during oxidative stress, Sestrin2 is crucial to maintaining cellular homeostasis.

Sestrin2 and Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress

ER stress occurs when unfolded or misfolded proteins accumulate in the endoplasmic network lumen due to adverse physiological conditions (44). During ER stress, cells can improve their protein folding ability, inhibit protein production and accumulation, induce ER stress-related gene transcription, and strengthen the self-repair ability of ER to restore protein-folding homeostasis and regulate ER homeostasis through a series of transduction pathways, including protein kinase R-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase-eukaryotic translation-initiation factor 2α (PERK-eIF2 α), inositol-requiring enzyme 1a-X-box-binding protein 1 (IRE1-XBP1), and activating transcription factor 6-CREBH (ATF6-CREBH). These reactions are called the unfolded protein reaction (UPR) (45). If ER stress is too strong or lasts too long, these responses are not enough to restore ER homeostasis, and apoptosis is eventually induced (46). A growing body of research has demonstrated that expression of Sestrin2 can be upregulated under ER stress conditions (15, 35, 47). For instance, Park et al. (15) found that upregulated Sestrin2 is associated with an ER stressactivated transcription factor, CCAAT enhancer-binding protein beta (c/EBPb). Once induced, Sestrin2 in turn stops protein synthesis by inhibiting mTORC1. Recently, a study by H. Jeong Kim et al. (48) revealed that induction of Sestrin2-regulated genes can be connected via activation of the PERK/eIF2a/ATF4 pathway. Consistent with these findings, Jegal et al. (35) demonstrated that under ER stress, expression of Sestrin2 can be enhanced *via* activating transcription factor 6 in hepatocytes, and Sestrin2 decreases the phosphorylation of JNK and p38 as well as PARP cleavage, and blocks the cytotoxic effect of excessive ER stress so as to play a hepatoprotective role both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Furthermore, Ding et al. (49) elucidated that upregulation of Sestrin2 expression is dependent on ATF4 and NRF2 but not p53 under ER stress induced by glucose starvation. To summarize, Sestrin2 might serve as an important regulator that exerts cell and tissue protection functions under excessive ER stress. However, the exact mechanism by which ER stress induces Sestrin2 expression remains poorly understood and requires further exploration.

Sestrin2 and Obesity

Obesity is traditionally considered to be the excessive accumulation of fat in the body, which is a serious hazard to human health, and in clinical practice, obesity is usually assessed by the body mass index (BMI) (50). With the improvements in the general standard of living, the incidence of obesity has risen sharply (51). Obesity is a major contributor to the development of metabolic syndromes, including type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and cardiovascular disease (52). Studies have shown that overnutrition and a sedentary lifestyle are the main causes of obesity (53). mTORC1 is a nutrientsensitive protein kinase that has a fundamental role in maintaining metabolic homeostasis (54). Recent research has clarified that overnutrition can result in chronic mTORC1 activation (55). In response to persistent overnutrition, chronic mTORC1 activation can enhance protein and lipid biosynthesis and inhibit autophagic catabolism (56). Several studies confirmed that chronic mTORC1 activation mediated by stress responses such as overnutrition ultimately leads to overexpression of Sestrin2 (24, 57). Lee et al. (24) found that the expression of Drosophila Sestrin (dSesn) is upregulated upon chronic mTORC1 activation via the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and FOXO signaling pathways. Loss of dSesn results in triglyceride accumulation and mitochondrial dysfunction. Furthermore, another study by Lee et al. (57) demonstrated that Sestrin2 is the only Sestrin protein that is induced by overnutrition and obesity and attenuates chronic mTORC1 activation *via* the mTORC1/S6K axis in mouse liver. In agreement with these conclusions, Kimball et al. (58) revealed that Sestrin2 expression was upregulated in the livers of rats fed with a high-fat diet. Thus, in a nutshell, Sestrin2 exerts important metabolic homeostatic functions.

SESTRIN2 AND THE AMPK/MTOR SIGNALING PATHWAY

mTOR is an evolutionally conserved protein that is a critical regulator of cell proliferation, proliferation, metabolism, and autophagy (37). mTOR promotes anabolic processes such as ribosome biogenesis and synthesis of proteins, nucleotides, fatty acids, and lipids, and inhibits catabolic processes such as autophagy (54). It is composed of two structurally and functionally distinct complexes, mTORC1 and mTORC2, which are characterized by the presence of Raptor and Rictor, respectively (59). mTORC1 consists of mTOR Raptor, PRAS40, and mLST8, while mTORC2 is composed of mTOR, Rictor, Sin1, Protor, and mLST8 (54). mTORC1 promotes protein and lipid synthesis through the phosphorylation of its distinctive substrates, such as ribosomal protein S6 kinase (S6K) and eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1 (4EBP1) (2). In addition, mTORC1 may also regulate adipogenesis through the regulation of the sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (60). Furthermore, mTORC1 can phosphorylate and suppress autophagy-initiating protein kinases unc-51-like kinase 1 (ULK1) to inhibit cellular autophagic catabolism (61). mTORC2 regulates metabolism and cytoskeletal tissue in response to growth factors through the activation of AGC family kinases, including AKT, SGK1, and PKCa (62). Recent studies have shown that mTORC2 in particular is a crucial controller of lipid metabolism that regulates adipogenesis in the liver (60).

AMPK, an important nutrient-sensing protein kinase, has a critical role in increased catabolism and decreased anabolism (63). AMPK can inhibit the phosphorylation of the acetyl-CoA carboxylases ACC1 and ACC2, HMG-CoA reductase, and the glycogen synthases GYS1 and GYS2 to regulate the biosynthesis of glycogen and lipids (63). It can also inhibit mTORC1 activity through the phosphorylation of its regulatory subunit Raptor (64) or through the phosphorylation of tuberous sclerosis complex 2 and inhibition of mTORC1-activating guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase) Rheb (4). In addition, AMPK restrains the transcriptional activity of sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) through direct phosphorylation to decrease the expression of lipogenic genes (65).

Once induced by stress, Sestrin2 affects a variety of signaling pathways, thus upregulating stress adaptation mechanisms (23). When induced in response to oxidative stress, Sestrin2 inhibits

mTORC1 through the activation of AMPK (66). Consequently, Sestrin2-deficient cells and tissues exhibit lower AMPK and higher mTORC1 activity under both normal and stressed conditions (6, 24, 66). It has been reported that Sestrin2 acts as a scaffold protein, promoting the binding of LKB1 to AMPK and subsequent AMPK phosphorylation and activation, and controls mTORC1 signaling as an inhibitor of guanine nucleotide dissociation in Rag GTPases (6, 67, 68). Sestrin2 can also activate AMPK through direct interaction with the α subunit of the AMPK complex (66).Recent studies have shown that Sestrin2 can inhibit mTORC1 through AMPK-dependent or -independent pathways (15, 20, 57, 68) (Figure 1). Sestrin2 can also modulate amino acid-stimulated mTORC1 activation through direct interactions with Rag A/B GTPases or GATOR2 complexes (68, 80). Sestrin2 binds to GATOR2 and releases GATOR1 from GATOR2-mediated inhibition. Released GATOR1 subsequently binds to and inactivates RagB, ultimately resulting in mTORC1 suppression (81) (Figure 1). In addition, Sestrin2 plays a critical role in the activation of autophagy through multiple mechanisms including activation of AMPK, inhibition of mTORC1, and activation of ULK1 (82) (Figure 1). Therefore, the AMPK/mTORC1 signaling pathway is critical for Sestrin2 in controlling cell metabolism and survival under stress conditions (Figure 1).

ROLE OF SESTRIN2 IN DIABETES, NON-ALCOHOLIC FATTY LIVER DISEASE, AND MYOCARDIAL ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION (I/R) INJURY

Mounting evidence has demonstrated that Sestrin2 is upregulated in response to diverse stress conditions, including oxidative stress, ER stress, and metabolic stress. Sestrin2 exerts a significant influence on the protection of human cells and tissues *via* related signal transduction pathways, and was shown to play a critical role against metabolic diseases, such as diabetes, obesity-related non-alcoholic fatty live, and myocardial I/R injury (**Table 1**).

Sestrin2 and Diabetes

Diabetes is the most common metabolic disease, and is a chronic disease characterized by persistent hyperglycemia (83). More than 90% of diabetics have type 2 diabetes, and insulin resistance is consistently found in patients with type 2 diabetes (84). Insulin resistance is an impaired biological response to insulin stimulation in target tissues, primarily liver, muscle, and adipose tissue (85). Insulin resistance impairs glucose processing, leading to a compensatory increase in beta cell insulin production and hyperinsulinemia. Sestrin2 is highly expressed in the liver (86). According to literature reports, two pathways of Sestrin2 affect cell signaling pathway transduction: one activates the AMPK pathway and the other downregulates the mTOR pathway (2, 87). AMPK is an enzyme activated in energy-deficient conditions (2). Sestrin2 is induced by oxidative stress through activation of the NRF2 and JNK/AP-1 signaling

Disease	Signaling pathway	Effect	Reference
Diabetes	AMPK/mTOR	Improves insulin resistance	(57, 69)
		Increases insulin-sensitivity	
Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease	AMPK/mTORC1	Reduces lipid synthesis	(24, 70)
		Attenuates ER stress	(15)
	Nrf2/ Keap1	Promotes autophagy	(2)
	Nrf2/HO-1	Prevents oxidative liver damage	(43)
	JNKs	Keeps redox balance	(71)
		Attenuates lipotoxicity	(72)
Myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury	AMPK/PGC-1a	Reduces the area of myocardial injury	(73)
		Attenuates the sensitivity of myocardium to ischemia	
	AMPK/LKB1	Protects mitochondrial biogenesis	(74)
		Inhibits myocardial cell apoptosis	(75)
	MAPK signaling pathway	Diminishes myocardial infarct size	(76)
	Antioxidant protein	Improves function of infarcted myocardium	(77)
	AMPK/mTOR	Refines myocardial substrate metabolism	(78)
		Modulates cardiac inflammation	(79)
		Restrains ROS production	
		Improves contractile function	
		Attenuates myocardial hypertrophy	
		Improves cardiac function	

axes (4, 43, 88). In bacteria, AhpD is a critical member of the antioxidant defense system and regenerates peroxide AhpC, a bacterial peroxidant protein (Prx), through catalytic reduction. In mammalian cells, Sestrins interact with overoxidized PRX and promote its regeneration. Here, Sestrins act similarly to AhpD in bacteria (77). Sestrins have no direct catalytic activity leading to the reduction of PRX, but may regenerate PRX by promoting the activity of other oxidoreductases, such as thioredoxin (SRX) (4). Sestrins can increase SRX expression by activating NRF2 (6, 43) (Figure 1). Increased glucose downregulates Sestrin2 expression, thereby increasing mTOR activity and inhibiting AMPK (87, 89). Moreover, when treated with high levels of glucose, such as metformin (an AMPK agonist and mitochondrial respiratory inhibitor), Sestrin2 was upregulated, mTOR activity was significantly increased, and AMPK activity was decreased (6, 87). S6K is an effector of the mTOR pathway (90). By activating S6K, mTORC1 promotes insulin resistance by inhibiting phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrates (IRS) (Figure 1) and attenuating the insulin-induced phosphatidylinositol 3kinase (PI3K)/AKT signaling pathway (6). mTORC1/S6K activity leads to serine phosphorylation and protein degradation of IRS, forming a negative feedback loop in which insulin signaling attenuates subsequent insulin action (89). Lack of amino acids, especially leucine, leads to rapid dephosphorylation of the mTORC1 effectors S6K and 4EBP1, which depend on mTORC1 for amino acid resynthesis (91). Sestrin2 is required to maintain insulin sensitivity in the liver in high-fat diet (HFD)-induced dietary obesity and Lepob mutation-induced inherited obesity (57). AMPK and mTORC1 are important protein kinases with complete antagonistic functions in metabolic homeostasis (92). Sestrin1 and Sestrin2 activate AMPK through direct interaction with the α subunit of the AMPK complex (66). Sestrin2 acts by activating AMPK and inhibiting various mechanisms of mTORC1. We know that AMPK and mTORC1 play critical roles in metabolism, and Sestrin2 is involved in many biological processes as an upstream

regulator of AMPK and mTORC1 kinases (57) (Figure 1). Previous experiments in liver-specific *Sesn3* transgenic mice and knockout mice showed that the transgenic mice were protected against insulin resistance induced by a high-fat diet, while the *Sesn3* knockout mice showed metabolic defects such as insulin resistance and glucose intolerance (93, 94). Therefore, we can recognize that Sestrin2 is a potential insulin sensitizer, and that Sestrin deficiency and/or dysfunction may lead to insulin resistance, which can lead to the development of diabetes. Sestrin2 may be a potential therapeutic target for metabolic diseases such as diabetes (82).

Sestrin2 and Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

With the global trend in obesity and its related metabolic syndromes, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) has become an important cause of chronic liver disease in developed countries (95). NAFLD is the hepatic manifestation of metabolic syndrome characterized by intracellular excessive accumulation of lipids in hepatocytes, excluding alcohol and other damaging factors (95). NAFLD involves a range of liver pathological changes, including steatosis, steatohepatitis, advanced fibrosis, and cirrhosis (96). Existing studies have shown that NAFLD is closely associated with persistent ER stress, inhibition of autophagy, mitochondrial dysfunction, insulin resistance, lipotoxicity, and overnutrition (15, 71, 96, 97). Overnutrition and obesity give rise to excessive lipid accumulation in hepatocytes, known as hepatic steatosis (98). We have previously shown that overnutrition can lead to chronic mTORC1 activation (53). mTORC1 can intensify the transcriptional activity of sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) and the expression of lipogenic genes to enhance lipid synthesis (Figure 1). It is evident that chronic mTORC1 activation along with persistent inhibition of autophagy attenuates clearance of liver lipid droplets, ultimately leading to hepatosteatosis (99). As a feedback

inhibitor of mTORC1, Sestrin2 can partially ease the effect of chronic mTORC1 activation. For instance, loss of dSesn leads to moderate downregulation of AMPK and upregulation of dTORC1 in Drosophila, which contributes to the increased expression of liposomal enzyme genes and ultimately to the accumulation of triglycerides (24). Similarly, a study has confirmed that hepatosteatosis is more serious, and that the primary cause of hepatosteatosis is reduced lipid β-oxidation due to reduced autophagy or mitochondrial biogenesis, rather than increased adipogenesis in Sestrin2-deficient liver (57). Furthermore, Sestrin2 also reduces the susceptibility of the liver to oxidative damage via the NRF2/KEAP1 signaling pathway (43). In mice with Sestrin2 deficiency, cells continue to translate large amounts of proteins during ER stress, which subsequently leads to extensive liver damage, inflammation, and fibrosis (15). Accordingly, once induced by ER stress, Sestrin2 maintains endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis by inhibiting the AMPK/mTORC1 signaling pathway (Figure 1), thereby protecting against hepatosteatosis (15). Kim et al. found that carbon monoxide can induce Sestrin2 upregulation, and Sestrin2 protects against hepatosteatosis by activating autophagy through the AMPK/mTORC1 axis in a cellular model of NAFLD (48). More interestingly, Sestrin2 plays an important role in the protection against lipotoxicity-associated oxidative stress in the liver via suppression of JNKs (72). In summary, Sestrin2 has a significant impact on lipid metabolism and represents a potential therapeutic strategy for NAFLD.

Sestrin2 and Myocardial Ischemia/ Reperfusion Injury

Coronary heart disease, also known as ischemic heart disease (IHD), refers to the interruption of blood flow to the heart muscle due to atherosclerosis, coronary thrombosis, and narrowing of the small arteries of the heart, which remains the leading cause of death worldwide because the incidence of IHD increases with age (100, 101). After an acute myocardial infarction, although early and successful myocardial reperfusion through thrombolytic or percutaneous coronary intervention is the most effective way to rescue the ischemic heart and improve the clinical outcome, the recovery of blood flow can result in myocardial injury, which reduces the efficacy of myocardial reperfusion, namely ischemia/ reperfusion (I/R) injury (78, 102). Myocardial I/R injury is closely related to ROS, calcium overload, energy metabolism disorders, acidosis, and inflammation (102). Some studies have reported that the I/R process usually results in elevated levels of ROS production, especially in the early stages of reperfusion, directly causing myocardial injury (103). Moreover, excessive ROS leads to programmed cell death through the activation of the mitogenactivated protein kinase signaling pathway (104). Mitochondria have an important role in ROS degradation, and dysfunctional mitochondria are the main sources of pathological ROS (105, 106). AMPK can protect mitochondria and play an antioxidant role during the I/R process (78). Furthermore, AMPK has an essential role in the activation of glucose uptake in the ischemic heart (107-109). AMPK also activates 6-phosphofructo 2-kinase, which leads to the production of fructose 2, 6-bisphosphate, further promoting

glucose utilization in the ischemic heart (75, 110, 111). Therefore, AMPK is a protein kinase with significant cardiac protection against myocardial I/R injury (74). Sestrin2 has been shown to increase the activation of AMPK via interactions with LKB1 to improve myocardial substrate metabolism under I/R stress (75). Sestrin2 was originally characterized as a critical antioxidant protein that contributes to cycling of peroxiredoxins (77). Independent of this redox-regulating activity, Sestrin2 can modulate the activation of AMPK to maintain the integrity of mitochondrial function and reduce the generation of ROS (14, 66, 74, 112). A study by Quan et al. (76) revealed that Sestrin2 greatly reduces myocardial damage by modulating inflammation and redox homeostasis in mouse hearts during I/R stress. Hence, Sestrin2 provides cardioprotection by repressing ROS during I/R injury. Furthermore, Quan et al. (73) found that the decreased Sestrin2 levels in aging and Sesn2-knockout mice led to increased sensitivity to ischemic insults and areas of myocardial injury, which aggravated worsened cardiac dysfunction. Sestrin2 protects mitochondrial function by activating the AMPK/PGC-1a signaling pathway during myocardial ischemia (73). Sestrin2 has been shown to be upregulated under anoxic and ischemic conditions and has a protective role against myocardial ischemia (7, 74, 78). The loss of Sestrin2 aggravates the accumulation of fatty acids, thereby altering substrate metabolism in the heart and increasing the production of ROS (37, 78). Inactivation of the SESN gene in invertebrates can lead to a variety of metabolic diseases such as muscle degeneration, oxidative damage, fat accumulation, and mitochondrial dysfunction (4). Existing studies have reported that Sestrin2 is involved in the protection of cardiovascular disease by regulating the AMPK signaling pathway (38). Sestrin2 protein accumulates in the heart during myocardial ischemia (17), and the myocardial infarction area in Sesn2 knockout mice was significantly larger than that in wild-type mice when myocardial ischemia reperfusion occurred (74). In conclusion, Sestrin2 has an influential role in cardioprotection during myocardial I/R injury. Therefore, Sestrin2 may be a therapeutic target for cardiovascular disease, potentially revealing a new avenue of investigation for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases.

PROBLEMS AND PROSPECTS

Sestrin2 is a critical intracellular sensor that activates AMPK and inhibits mTORC1 to regulate autophagy, ER stress, inflammation, metabolic homeostasis, and oxidative stress. Clearly, the AMPK/ mTORC1 axis is regulated by Sestrin2 and it provides the main channel for its function. Sestrin2 regulates metabolism-related signaling pathways, as summarized in **Figure 1**. However, despite their physiological relevance, the exact mechanism by which Sestrin2 promotes AMPK activation remains unclear. Therefore, further studies are needed to determine the detailed molecular function of Sestrin2.

Evidence suggests that Sestrin2 has an important clinical function in responding to a variety of metabolic diseases, such as diabetes mellitus, insulin resistance, and lipid metabolism disorders. In recent studies, serum Sestrin2 levels were significantly reduced in obese children and patients with diabetic nephropathy (113, 114). This suggests that the expression or secretion of Sestrin2 is somewhat obstructed in the disease state. Furthermore, a study by Kim et al. revealed that in NAFLD cell models, carbon monoxide protects the liver against steatosis by inducing upregulation of Sestrin2, which activates autophagy through the AMPK/mTORC1 axis (48). Consistent with this view, as a glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) analog, liraglutide could reverse NAFLD by enhancing the level of Sestrin2 protein and the Sestrin2-mediated NRF2/HO-1 pathway (71). Therefore, we hypothesized that upregulation of Sestrin2 expression could ameliorate metabolism-related diseases. Sestrin2 shows great potential as a good prognostic marker and a viable therapeutic target in a variety of diseases. However, how to induce Sestrin2 upregulation remains elusive under different disease conditions.

REFERENCES

- Kumar A, Dhiman D, Shaha C. Sestrins: Darkhorse in the Regulation of Mitochondrial Health and Metabolism. *Mol Biol Rep* (2020) 47(10):8049– 60. doi: 10.1007/s11033-020-05769-w
- Pasha M, Eid AH, Eid AA, Gorin Y, Munusamy S. Sestrin2 as a Novel Biomarker and Therapeutic Target for Various Diseases. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2017) 2017:3296294. doi: 10.1155/2017/3296294
- Budanov AV. Stress-Responsive Sestrins Link P53 With Redox Regulation and Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Signaling. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2011) 15(6):1679–90. doi: 10.1089/ars.2010.3530
- Lee JH, Budanov AV, Karin M. Sestrins Orchestrate Cellular Metabolism to Attenuate Aging. Cell Metab (2013) 18(6):792–801. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2013.08.018
- Velasco-Miguel S, Buckbinder L, Jean P, Gelbert L, Talbott R, Laidlaw J, et al. PA26, a Novel Target of the P53 Tumor Suppressor and Member of the GADD Family of DNA Damage and Growth Arrest Inducible Genes. Oncogene (1999) 18(1):127–37. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202274
- Sun W, Wang Y, Zheng Y, Quan N. The Emerging Role of Sestrin2 in Cell Metabolism, and Cardiovascular and Age-Related Diseases. *Aging Dis* (2020) 11(1):154–63. doi: 10.14336/AD.2019.0320
- Budanov AV, Shoshani T, Faerman A, Zelin E, Kamer I, Kalinski H, et al. Identification of a Novel Stress-Responsive Gene Hi95 Involved in Regulation of Cell Viability. Oncogene (2002) 21(39):6017–31. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1205877
- Chen CC, Jeon SM, Bhaskar PT, Nogueira V, Sundararajan D, Tonic I, et al. FoxOs Inhibit Mtorc1 and Activate Akt by Inducing the Expression of Sestrin3 and Rictor. *Dev Cell* (2010) 18(4):592–604. doi: 10.1016/ j.devcel.2010.03.008
- Parmigiani A, Budanov AV. Sensing the Environment Through Sestrins: Implications for Cellular Metabolism. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol* (2016) 327:1–42. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2016.05.003
- Wang LX, Zhu XM, Yao YM. Sestrin2: Its Potential Role and Regulatory Mechanism in Host Immune Response in Diseases. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2797. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02797
- Ro SH, Fay J, Cyuzuzo CI, Jang Y, Lee N, Song HS, et al. SESTRINs: Emerging Dynamic Stress-Sensors in Metabolic and Environmental Health. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2020) 8:603421. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.603421
- Keping Y, Yunfeng S, Pengzhuo X, Liang L, Chenhong X, Jinghua M. Sestrin1 Inhibits Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein-Induced Activation of NLRP3 Inflammasome in Macrophages in a Murine Atherosclerosis Model. *Eur J Immunol* (2020) 50(8):1154–66. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948427
- Li Z, Votava JA, Zajac GJM, Nguyen JN, Leyva Jaimes FB, Ly SM, et al. Integrating Mouse and Human Genetic Data to Move Beyond GWAS and Identify Causal Genes in Cholesterol Metabolism. *Cell Metab* (2020) 31 (4):741–54.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.02.015

To design therapeutic strategies to upregulate Sestrin2, it is important to further study the upstream and downstream pathways of the multipotent beneficial effects of Sestrin2. Future studies should use transgenic animal models with conditional organ-specific knockout of *Sesn2* and attempt to link Sestrin2 levels to disease progression, which will help us identify biochemical pathways regulated by Sestrin2 in specific diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LG and ZZW worked out the theme and content of the article. ZGW completed the production of charts. ZZ reviewed and revised the full text. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Shi X, Xu L, Doycheva DM, Tang J, Yan M, Zhang JH. Sestrin2, as a Negative Feedback Regulator of mTOR, Provides Neuroprotection by Activation AMPK Phosphorylation in Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy in Rat Pups. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2017) 37(4):1447–60. doi: 10.1177/ 0271678X16656201
- Park HW, Park H, Ro SH, Jang I, Semple IA, Kim DN, et al. Hepatoprotective Role of Sestrin2 Against Chronic ER Stress. Nat Commun (2014) 5:4233. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5233
- Yang JH, Kim KM, Kim MG, Seo KH, Han JY, Ka SO, et al. Role of Sestrin2 in the Regulation of Proinflammatory Signaling in Macrophages. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2015) 78:156–67. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.11.002
- Peeters H, Debeer P, Bairoch A, Wilquet V, Huysmans C, Parthoens E, et al. PA26 is a Candidate Gene for Heterotaxia in Humans: Identification of a Novel PA26-Related Gene Family in Human and Mouse. *Hum Genet* (2003) 112(5-6):573–80. doi: 10.1007/s00439-003-0917-5
- Budanov AV, Lee JH, Karin M. Stressin' Sestrins Take an Aging Fight. EMBO Mol Med (2010) 2(10):388–400. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201000097
- Liu Y, Li M, Du X, Huang Z, Quan N. Sestrin 2, a Potential Star of Antioxidant Stress in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2021) 163:56–68. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.11.015
- Quan N, Li X, Zhang J, Han Y, Sun W, Ren D, et al. Substrate Metabolism Regulated by Sestrin2-Mtorc1 Alleviates Pressure Overload-Induced Cardiac Hypertrophy in Aged Heart. *Redox Biol* (2020) 36:101637. doi: 10.1016/ j.redox.2020.101637
- Kim H, An S, Ro SH, Teixeira F, Park GJ, Kim C, et al. Janus-Faced Sestrin2 Controls ROS and mTOR Signalling Through Two Separate Functional Domains. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:10025. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10025
- Saxton RA, Knockenhauer KE, Wolfson RL, Chantranupong L, Pacold ME, Wang T, et al. Structural Basis for Leucine Sensing by the Sestrin2-Mtorc1 Pathway. Science (2016) 351(6268):53–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aad2087
- Kim M, Kowalsky AH, Lee JH. Sestrins in Physiological Stress Responses. Annu Rev Physiol (2021) 83:381–403. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-031620-092317
- Lee JH, Budanov AV, Park EJ, Birse R, Kim TE, Perkins GA, et al. Sestrin as a Feedback Inhibitor of TOR That Prevents Age-Related Pathologies. *Science* (2010) 327(5970):1223–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1182228
- Tan BL, Norhaizan ME, Liew WP. Nutrients and Oxidative Stress: Friend or Foe? Oxid Med Cell Longev (2018) 2018:9719584. doi: 10.1155/2018/9719584
- Zhang J, Wang X, Vikash V, Ye Q, Wu D, Liu Y, et al. ROS and ROS-Mediated Cellular Signaling. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2016) 2016:4350965. doi: 10.1155/2016/4350965
- Liguori I, Russo G, Curcio F, Bulli G, Aran L, Della-Morte D, et al. Oxidative Stress, Aging, and Diseases. *Clin Interv Aging* (2018) 13:757–72. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S158513
- Negre-Salvayre A, Auge N, Ayala V, Basaga H, Boada J, Brenke R, et al. Pathological Aspects of Lipid Peroxidation. *Free Radic Res* (2010) 44 (10):1125–71. doi: 10.3109/10715762.2010.498478

- Roberts RA, Smith RA, Safe S, Szabo C, Tjalkens RB, Robertson FM. Toxicological and Pathophysiological Roles of Reactive Oxygen and Nitrogen Species. *Toxicology* (2010) 276(2):85-94. doi: 10.1016/ j.tox.2010.07.009
- Marrocco I, Altieri F, Peluso I. Measurement and Clinical Significance of Biomarkers of Oxidative Stress in Humans. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2017) 2017:6501046. doi: 10.1155/2017/6501046
- Yaribeygi H, Sathyapalan T, Atkin SL, Sahebkar A. Molecular Mechanisms Linking Oxidative Stress and Diabetes Mellitus. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2020) 2020:8609213. doi: 10.1155/2020/8609213
- McMurray F, Patten DA, Harper ME. Reactive Oxygen Species and Oxidative Stress in Obesity-Recent Findings and Empirical Approaches. Obes (Silver Spring) (2016) 24(11):2301–10. doi: 10.1002/oby.21654
- 33. Münzel T, Camici GG, Maack C, Bonetti NR, Fuster V, Kovacic JC. Impact of Oxidative Stress on the Heart and Vasculature: Part 2 of a 3-Part Series. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2017) 70(2):212–29. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.05.035
- 34. Kim MG, Yang JH, Kim KM, Jang CH, Jung JY, Cho IJ, et al. Regulation of Toll-Like Receptor-Mediated Sestrin2 Induction by AP-1, Nrf2, and the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System in Macrophages. *Toxicol Sci* (2015) 144 (2):425–35. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfv012
- Jegal KH, Park SM, Cho SS, Byun SH, Ku SK, Kim SC, et al. Activating Transcription Factor 6-Dependent Sestrin 2 Induction Ameliorates ER Stress-Mediated Liver Injury. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res* (2017) 1864(7):1295–307. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2017.04.010
- Shin BY, Jin SH, Cho IJ, Ki SH. Nrf2-ARE Pathway Regulates Induction of Sestrin-2 Expression. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2012) 53(4):834–41. doi: 10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2012.06.026
- Liu Y, Du X, Huang Z, Zheng Y, Quan N. Sestrin 2 Controls the Cardiovascular Aging Process via an Integrated Network of Signaling Pathways. Ageing Res Rev (2020) 62:101096. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101096
- Gao A, Li F, Zhou Q, Chen L. Sestrin2 as a Potential Therapeutic Target for Cardiovascular Diseases. *Pharmacol Res* (2020) 159:104990. doi: 10.1016/ j.phrs.2020.104990
- Kaspar JW, Niture SK, Jaiswal AK. Nrf2:INrf2 (Keap1) Signaling in Oxidative Stress. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2009) 47(9):1304–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2009.07.035
- Silva-Palacios A, Königsberg M, Zazueta C. Nrf2 Signaling and Redox Homeostasis in the Aging Heart: A Potential Target to Prevent Cardiovascular Diseases? *Ageing Res Rev* (2016) 26:81–95. doi: 10.1016/ j.arr.2015.12.005
- Zhang DD, Lo SC, Cross JV, Templeton DJ, Hannink M. Keap1 is a Redox-Regulated Substrate Adaptor Protein for a Cul3-Dependent Ubiquitin Ligase Complex. *Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 24(24):10941–53. doi: 10.1128/ MCB.24.24.10941-10953.2004
- Ro SH, Semple IA, Park H, Park H, Park HW, Kim M, et al. Sestrin2 Promotes Unc-51-Like Kinase 1 Mediated Phosphorylation of P62/ Sequestosome-1. FEBS J (2014) 281(17):3816–27. doi: 10.1111/febs.12905
- Bae SH, Sung SH, Oh SY, Lim JM, Lee SK, Park YN, et al. Sestrins Activate Nrf2 by Promoting P62-Dependent Autophagic Degradation of Keap1 and Prevent Oxidative Liver Damage. *Cell Metab* (2013) 17(1):73–84. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.12.002
- Hetz C, Saxena S. ER Stress and the Unfolded Protein Response in Neurodegeneration. Nat Rev Neurol (2017) 13(8):477-91. doi: 10.1038/ nrneurol.2017.99
- 45. Pluquet O, Pourtier A, Abbadie C. The Unfolded Protein Response and Cellular Senescence. A Review in the Theme: Cellular Mechanisms of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Signaling in Health and Disease. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol (2015) 308(6):C415–25. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00334.2014
- Szegezdi E, Logue SE, Gorman AM, Samali A. Mediators of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-Induced Apoptosis. *EMBO Rep* (2006) 7(9):880–5. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400779
- Saveljeva S, Cleary P, Mnich K, Ayo A, Pakos-Zebrucka K, Patterson JB, et al. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-Mediated Induction of SESTRIN 2 Potentiates Cell Survival. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(11):12254–66. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7601
- 48. Kim HJ, Joe Y, Kim SK, Park SU, Park J, Chen Y, et al. Carbon Monoxide Protects Against Hepatic Steatosis in Mice by Inducing Sestrin-2 via the

PERK-Eif2α-ATF4 Pathway. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2017) 110:81–91. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.05.026

- Ding B, Parmigiani A, Divakaruni AS, Archer K, Murphy AN, Budanov AV. Sestrin2 is Induced by Glucose Starvation *via* the Unfolded Protein Response and Protects Cells From non-Canonical Necroptotic Cell Death. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:22538. doi: 10.1038/srep22538
- Piché ME, Tchernof A, Després JP. Obesity Phenotypes, Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Diseases. *Circ Res* (2020) 126(11):1477–500. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.120.316101
- Polyzos SA, Kountouras J, Mantzoros CS. Obesity and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: From Pathophysiology to Therapeutics. *Metabolism* (2019) 92:82–97. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.11.014
- Kahn BB, Alquier T, Carling D, Hardie DG. AMP-Activated Protein Kinase: Ancient Energy Gauge Provides Clues to Modern Understanding of Metabolism. *Cell Metab* (2005) 1(1):15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2004.12.003
- Caballero B. Humans Against Obesity: Who Will Win? Adv Nutr (2019) 10 (suppl_1):S4–s9. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmy055
- Mossmann D, Park S, Hall MN. mTOR Signalling and Cellular Metabolism are Mutual Determinants in Cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2018) 18(12):744–57. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0074-8
- 55. Saxton RA, Sabatini DM. mTOR Signaling in Growth, Metabolism, and Disease. *Cell* (2017) 168(6):960–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.02.004
- Zoncu R, Efeyan A, Sabatini DM. mTOR: From Growth Signal Integration to Cancer, Diabetes and Ageing. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 12(1):21–35. doi: 10.1038/nrm3025
- Lee JH, Budanov AV, Talukdar S, Park EJ, Park HL, Park HW, et al. Maintenance of Metabolic Homeostasis by Sestrin2 and Sestrin3. *Cell Metab* (2012) 16(3):311–21. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.08.004
- Kimball SR, Gordon BS, Moyer JE, Dennis MD, Jefferson LS. Leucine Induced Dephosphorylation of Sestrin2 Promotes Mtorc1 Activation. *Cell Signal* (2016) 28(8):896–906. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2016.03.008
- Yoon MS. The Role of Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) in Insulin Signaling. Nutrients (2017) 9(11):1176. doi: 10.3390/nu9111176
- Lamming DW, Sabatini DM. A Central Role for mTOR in Lipid Homeostasis. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18(4):465–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2013.08.002
- Zhu Z, Yang C, Iyaswamy A, Krishnamoorthi S, Sreenivasmurthy SG, Liu J, et al. Balancing mTOR Signaling and Autophagy in the Treatment of Parkinson's Disease. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(3):728. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20030728
- Herzig S, Shaw RJ. AMPK: Guardian of Metabolism and Mitochondrial Homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2018) 19(2):121–35. doi: 10.1038/ nrm.2017.95
- Han J, Wang Y. Mtorc1 Signaling in Hepatic Lipid Metabolism. Protein Cell (2018) 9(2):145–51. doi: 10.1007/s13238-017-0409-3
- Gwinn DM, Shackelford DB, Egan DF, Mihaylova MM, Mery A, Vasquez DS, et al. AMPK Phosphorylation of Raptor Mediates a Metabolic Checkpoint. *Mol Cell* (2008) 30(2):214–26. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2008.03.003
- 65. Li Y, Xu S, Mihaylova MM, Zheng B, Hou X, Jiang B, et al. AMPK Phosphorylates and Inhibits SREBP Activity to Attenuate Hepatic Steatosis and Atherosclerosis in Diet-Induced Insulin-Resistant Mice. *Cell Metab* (2011) 13(4):376–88. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011.03.009
- Budanov AV, Karin M. P53 Target Genes Sestrin1 and Sestrin2 Connect Genotoxic Stress and mTOR Signaling. *Cell* (2008) 134(3):451–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.06.028
- Sanli T, Linher-Melville K, Tsakiridis T, Singh G. Sestrin2 Modulates AMPK Subunit Expression and its Response to Ionizing Radiation in Breast Cancer Cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(2):e32035. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032035
- Peng M, Yin N, Li MO. Sestrins Function as Guanine Nucleotide Dissociation Inhibitors for Rag GTPases to Control Mtorc1 Signaling. *Cell* (2014) 159(1):122–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.038
- Liu X, Niu Y, Yuan H, Huang J, Fu L. AMPK Binds to Sestrins and Mediates the Effect of Exercise to Increase Insulin-Sensitivity Through Autophagy. *Metabolism* (2015) 64(6):658–65. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2015.01.015
- Caron A, Richard D, Laplante M. The Roles of mTOR Complexes in Lipid Metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr (2015) 35:321–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071714-034355

- Han X, Ding C, Zhang G, Pan R, Liu Y, Huang N, et al. Liraglutide Ameliorates Obesity-Related Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease by Regulating Sestrin2-Mediated Nrf2/HO-1 Pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2020) 525(4):895–901. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.03.032
- Fang Z, Kim HG, Huang M, Chowdhury K, Li MO, Liangpunsakul S, et al. Sestrin Proteins Protect Against Lipotoxicity-Induced Oxidative Stress in the Liver via Suppression of C-Jun N-Terminal Kinases. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol (2021) 12(3):921–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.04.015
- Quan N, Wang L, Chen X, Luckett C, Cates C, Rousselle T, et al. Sestrin2 Prevents Age-Related Intolerance to Post Myocardial Infarction via AMPK/ PGC-1α Pathway. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2018) 115:170–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.yjmcc.2018.01.005
- Morrison A, Chen L, Wang J, Zhang M, Yang H, Ma Y, et al. Sestrin2 Promotes LKB1-Mediated AMPK Activation in the Ischemic Heart. *FASEB J* (2015) 29(2):408–17. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-258814
- Quan N, Sun W, Wang L, Chen X, Bogan JS, Zhou X, et al. Sestrin2 Prevents Age-Related Intolerance to Ischemia and Reperfusion Injury by Modulating Substrate Metabolism. *FASEB J* (2017) 31(9):4153–67. doi: 10.1096/ fj.201700063R
- Ren D, Quan N, Fedorova J, Zhang J, He Z, Li J. Sestrin2 Modulates Cardiac Inflammatory Response Through Maintaining Redox Homeostasis During Ischemia and Reperfusion. *Redox Biol* (2020) 34:101556. doi: 10.1016/ j.redox.2020.101556
- Budanov AV, Sablina AA, Feinstein E, Koonin EV, Chumakov PM. Regeneration of Peroxiredoxins by P53-Regulated Sestrins, Homologs of Bacterial AhpD. *Science* (2004) 304(5670):596–600. doi: 10.1126/ science.1095569
- Liu Y, Li M, Sun M, Zhang Y, Li X, Sun W, et al. Sestrin2 is an Endogenous Antioxidant That Improves Contractile Function in the Heart During Exposure to Ischemia and Reperfusion Stress. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2021) 165:385–94. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.01.048
- 79. Sun X, Han F, Lu Q, Li X, Ren D, Zhang J, et al. Empagliflozin Ameliorates Obesity-Related Cardiac Dysfunction by Regulating Sestrin2-Mediated AMPK-mTOR Signaling and Redox Homeostasis in High-Fat Diet-Induced Obese Mice. *Diabetes* (2020) 69(6):1292–305.
- Chantranupong L, Wolfson RL, Orozco JM, Saxton RA, Scaria SM, Bar-Peled L, et al. The Sestrins Interact With GATOR2 to Negatively Regulate the Amino-Acid-Sensing Pathway Upstream of Mtorc1. *Cell Rep* (2014) 9 (1):1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.014
- Kim JS, Ro SH, Kim M, Park HW, Semple IA, Park H, et al. Sestrin2 Inhibits Mtorc1 Through Modulation of GATOR Complexes. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:9502. doi: 10.1038/srep09502
- Dong XC. The Potential of Sestrins as Therapeutic Targets for Diabetes. Expert Opin Ther Targets (2015) 19(8):1011–5. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2015.1044976
- Goyal R, Jialal I. "Diabetes Mellitus Type 2". In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL: StatPearls Publishing Copyright © 2021, StatPearls Publishing LLC (2021).
- Cline GW, Petersen KF, Krssak M, Shen J, Hundal RS, Trajanoski Z, et al. Impaired Glucose Transport as a Cause of Decreased Insulin-Stimulated Muscle Glycogen Synthesis in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med (1999) 341 (4):240–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199907223410404
- Freeman AM, Pennings N. "Insulin Resistance. In: StatPearls". Treasure Island (FL: StatPearls Publishing Copyright © 2021, StatPearls Publishing LLC (2021).
- Kowalsky AH, Namkoong S, MettEtal E, Park HW, Kazyken D, Fingar DC, et al. The GATOR2-Mtorc2 Axis Mediates Sestrin2-Induced AKT Ser/Thr Kinase Activation. J Biol Chem (2020) 295(7):1769–80. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.RA119.010857
- Sundararajan S, Jayachandran I, Balasubramanyam M, Mohan V, Venkatesan B, Manickam N. Sestrin2 Regulates Monocyte Activation Through AMPK-mTOR Nexus Under High-Glucose and Dyslipidemic Conditions. J Cell Biochem (2018) 120(5):8201–13. doi: 10.1002/jcb.28102
- Chen M, Xi Y, Chen K, Xiao P, Li S, Sun X, et al. Upregulation Sestrin2 Protects Against Hydrogen Peroxide-Induced Oxidative Damage Bovine Mammary Epithelial Cells *via* a Keap1-Nrf2/ARE Pathway. *J Cell Physiol* (2021) 236(1):392–404. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29867
- Zick Y. Uncoupling Insulin Signalling by Serine/Threonine Phosphorylation: A Molecular Basis for Insulin Resistance. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2004) 32(Pt 5):812–6. doi: 10.1042/BST0320812

- Tavares MR, Pavan IC, Amaral CL, Meneguello L, Luchessi AD, Simabuco FM. The S6K Protein Family in Health and Disease. *Life Sci* (2015) 131:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2015.03.001
- Wullschleger S, Loewith R, Hall MN. TOR Signaling in Growth and Metabolism. Cell (2006) 124(3):471–84. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.01.016
- Hardie DG, Ross FA, Hawley SA. AMPK: A Nutrient and Energy Sensor That Maintains Energy Homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2012) 13 (4):251–62. doi: 10.1038/nrm3311
- Tao R, Xiong X, Liangpunsakul S, Dong XC. Sestrin 3 Protein Enhances Hepatic Insulin Sensitivity by Direct Activation of the Mtorc2-Akt Signaling. *Diabetes* (2015) 64(4):1211–23. doi: 10.2337/db14-0539
- Lee JH, Cho US, Karin M. Sestrin Regulation of TORC1: Is Sestrin a Leucine Sensor? Sci Signal (2016) 9(431):re5. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aaf2885
- Rinella ME. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Systematic Review. JAMA (2015) 313(22):2263–73. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.5370
- Pierantonelli I, Svegliati-Baroni G. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Basic Pathogenetic Mechanisms in the Progression From NAFLD to NASH. *Transplantation* (2019) 103(1):e1–e13. doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000002480
- Ashraf NU, Sheikh TA. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Oxidative Stress in the Pathogenesis of Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Free Radic Res* (2015) 49(12):1405–18. doi: 10.3109/10715762.2015.1078461
- Sahini N, Borlak J. Recent Insights Into the Molecular Pathophysiology of Lipid Droplet Formation in Hepatocytes. *Prog Lipid Res* (2014) 54:86–112. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2014.02.002
- Martinez-Lopez N, Singh R. Autophagy and Lipid Droplets in the Liver. Annu Rev Nutr (2015) 35:215–37. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071813-105336
- 100. Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2019) 139(10):e56–e528. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000659
- Buja LM. Myocardial Ischemia and Reperfusion Injury. Cardiovasc Pathol (2005) 14(4):170-5. doi: 10.1016/j.carpath.2005.03.006
- 102. Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. Myocardial Reperfusion Injury. N Engl J Med (2007) 357(11):1121–35. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra071667
- Cadenas S. ROS and Redox Signaling in Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury and Cardioprotection. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2018) 117:76–89. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.01.024
- 104. Son Y, Kim S, Chung HT, Pae HO. Reactive Oxygen Species in the Activation of MAP Kinases. *Methods Enzymol* (2013) 528:27–48. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-405881-1.00002-1
- 105. Fan P, Xie XH, Chen CH, Peng X, Zhang P, Yang C, et al. Molecular Regulation Mechanisms and Interactions Between Reactive Oxygen Species and Mitophagy. DNA Cell Biol (2019) 38(1):10–22. doi: 10.1089/ dna.2018.4348
- Lambeth JD. NOX Enzymes and the Biology of Reactive Oxygen. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4(3):181–9. doi: 10.1038/nri1312
- 107. Russell RR3rd, Li J, Coven DL, Pypaert M, Zechner C, Palmeri M, et al. AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Mediates Ischemic Glucose Uptake and Prevents Postischemic Cardiac Dysfunction, Apoptosis, and Injury. J Clin Invest (2004) 114(4):495–503. doi: 10.1172/JCI19297
- Miller EJ, Li J, Leng L, McDonald C, Atsumi T, Bucala R, et al. Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor Stimulates AMP-Activated Protein Kinase in the Ischaemic Heart. *Nature* (2008) 451(7178):578–82. doi: 10.1038/nature06504
- 109. Ma H, Wang J, Thomas DP, Tong C, Leng L, Wang W, et al. Impaired Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor-AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Activation and Ischemic Recovery in the Senescent Heart. *Circulation* (2010) 122(3):282–92. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.953208
- 110. Marsin AS, Bertrand L, Rider MH, Deprez J, Beauloye C, Vincent MF, et al. Phosphorylation and Activation of Heart PFK-2 by AMPK has a Role in the Stimulation of Glycolysis During Ischaemia. *Curr Biol* (2000) 10(20):1247– 55. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00742-9
- 111. Hue L, Rider MH. The AMP-Activated Protein Kinase: More Than an Energy Sensor. Essays Biochem (2007) 43:121–37. doi: 10.1042/bse0430121
- 112. Seo K, Ki SH, Shin SM. Sestrin2-AMPK Activation Protects Mitochondrial Function Against Glucose Deprivation-Induced Cytotoxicity. *Cell Signal* (2015) 27(7):1533–43. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2015.03.003

113. Mohany KM, Al Rugaie O. Association of Serum Sestrin 2 and Betatrophin With Serum Neutrophil Gelatinase Associated Lipocalin Levels in Type 2 Diabetic Patients With Diabetic Nephropathy. J Diabetes Metab Disord (2020) 19(1):249–56. doi: 10.1007/s40200-020-00498-0

114. Nourbakhsh M, Sharifi R, Ghorbanhosseini SS, Javad A, Ahmadpour F, Razzaghy Azar M, et al. Evaluation of Plasma TRB3 and Sestrin 2 Levels in Obese and Normal-Weight Children. *Child Obes* (2017) 13(5):409–14. doi: 10.1089/chi.2017.0082

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Gong, Wang, Wang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





MIA SH3 Domain ER Export Factor 3 Deficiency Prevents Neointimal Formation by Restoring BAT-Like PVAT and Decreasing VSMC Proliferation and Migration

Yu Lei^{1,2,5†}, Jianfei Xu^{3†}, Mengju Li^{4†}, Ting Meng², Meihua Chen², Yongfeng Yang², Hongda Li³, Tao Zhuang^{2,5*} and Junli Zuo^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiaodong Sun, Affiliated Hospital of Weifang Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Yihua Bei, Shanghai University, China Lingyan Xu, East China Normal University, China

*Correspondence:

Junli Zuo zuo-junli@163.com Tao Zhuang zhuangtao5217@163.com

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 27 July 2021 Accepted: 30 September 2021 Published: 10 November 2021

Citation:

Lei Y, Xu J, Li M, Meng T, Chen M, Yang Y, Li H, Zhuang T and Zuo J (2021) MIA SH3 Domain ER Export Factor 3 Deficiency Prevents Neointimal Formation by Restoring BAT-Like PVAT and Decreasing VSMC Proliferation and Migration. Front. Endocrinol. 12:748216. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.748216 ¹ Department of Geriatrics and Geriatrics Center, Ruijin Hospital, Jiaotong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Physiology and Pathophysiology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ³ Key Laboratory of Arrhythmias of the Ministry of Education of China, Research Center for Translational Medicine, Shanghai East Hospital, Tongji University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ⁴ Department of Anesthesiology, Anting Hospital, Jiading District, Shanghai, China, ⁵ Jinshan Hospital Centre for Tumor Diagnosis and Therapy, Jinshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Abnormal proliferation and migration of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) and excessive accumulation of dysfunctional PVAT are hallmarks of pathogenesis after angioplasty. Recent genome-wide association studies reveal that single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in MIA3 is associated with atherosclerosis-relevant VSMC phenotypes. However, the role of MIA3 in the vascular remodeling response to injury remains unknown. Here, we found that expression of MIA3 is increased in proliferative VSMCs and knockdown of MIA3 reduces VSMCs proliferation, migration, and inflammation, whereas MIA3 overexpression promoted VSMC migration and proliferation. Moreover, knockdown of MIA3 ameliorates femoral artery wire injury-induced neointimal hyperplasia and increases brown-like perivascular adipocytes. Collectively, the data suggest that MIA3 deficiency prevents neointimal formation by decreasing VSMC proliferation, migration, and inflammation and maintaining BAT-like perivascular adipocytes in PVAT during injury-induced vascular remodeling, which provide a potential therapeutic target for preventing neointimal hyperplasia in proliferative vascular diseases.

Keywords: PVAT, MIA3, VSMCs, neointima, adipocytes

INTRODUCTION

Coronary stents are routinely placed in the treatment of coronary artery disease (CAD). Though application of drug-eluting stents (DES) that release antiproliferative drugs, such as paclitaxeleluting stents and sirolimus-eluting stents, has dramatically increased success rate compared to regular bare-metal stents (BMS), in-stent re-stenosis (ISR) remains to be problematic in coronary interventional treatment (1, 2).

The underlying molecular mechanism of in-stent neointimal formation has not been fully understood. VSMCs are the major cell types of the medial layer arteries and normally adopt a quiescent, contractile phenotype to regulate vascular tone. However, VSMCs retain phenotypic plasticity and can dedifferentiate into a proliferative, synthetic state, which associated with altered contractile marker expression such as smooth muscle myosin II (SM-myosin II), smoothelin, calponin, and smooth muscle-actin (3-5). Vascular injury caused by angioplasty, stenting, or bypass surgery triggers phenotypic switch of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) and subsequent abnormal proliferation and migration of VSMCs, leading to excessive formation of neointima, which contributes to occlusive vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis, intimal hyperplasia associated with restenosis, and vein graft stenosis (6-9). Therefore, unraveling the molecular mechanisms involved in regulating VSMC phenotypic switch, proliferation, and migration is a vital step toward understanding the pathology of restenosis.

Adipose tissues are present at multiple locations in the body. Most blood vessels are surrounded with adipose tissue, which is referred to as perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT). PVAT shows characteristics of beige adipose tissue (BeAT) in human and brown adipose tissue (BAT)-like in mice. PVAT is not always BAT in mice and humans. It depends on the anatomic location and environmental/metabolic context. While endovascular injury originates in the endothelium, its impact is felt throughout the blood vessel wall, including the adventitia and perivascular adipocytes (10). Phenotypic changes in PVAT after vascular injury promote release of adipocytokines that can regulate inflammation, VSMC proliferation, and neovascularization, thereby contributing to neointimal formation.

MIA3 (also named TANGO1) protein is localized to the endoplasmic reticulum exit site, where it loads cargo molecules, such as collagen VII, into COPII carriers to promote their secretion out of the endoplasmic reticulum (11, 12). Several large-scale meta-genome-wide association studies (GWAS) identified significant association between SNP rs17465637 in the MIA3/TANGO1 gene and CAD in the European ancestry populations and also Chinese populations (13, 14). A recent GAWS for 12 atherosclerosis-relevant phenotypes identified that the risk of single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) rs67180937 in the chromosome 1q41 locus was associated with lower VSMC MIA3 expression and lower proliferation (15). However, the role of MIA3 during neointimal formation is unknown.

Here, the present study showed that MIA3 was upregulated during SMC phenotypic modulation, which was induced by FBS administration. Conversely, the knockdown of MIA3 expression led to impaired proliferation and migration of SMCs, while MIA3 overexpression induced SMC proliferation. Knockdown of MIA3 ameliorates femoral artery wire injury-induced neointimal hyperplasia and increases brown-like perivascular adipocytes. This preliminary study provides new insights into the role and molecular mechanisms of MIA3 controlling function of VSMC and PVAT and identifies a novel potential target for suppression of neointimal formation.The authors declare that all supporting data are available within the article and its online supplementary file.

Murine Model of Femoral Artery Wire Injury

Femoral artery wire injury was established in male C57BL/6 mice, as previously described (16). Briefly, mice were subjected to left femoral artery injury using a diameter angioplasty guidewire (0.35-mm diameter; Cook Inc, Bloomington, IN) under ketamine HCl (100 mg/kg, intraperitoneal injection) and xylazine HCl (10 mg/kg, intraperitoneal injection) anesthesia and aseptic conditions. Wire-injured femoral arteries were harvested at 28 days postsurgery, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, embedded in paraffin wax, and sectioned at 8- μ m intervals for histology analysis. The cross-sections of the injured arteries were obtained at 500 to 1500 μ m distant from the ligation at 100- μ m intervals.

Sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (Servicebio, China) and Masson trichrome (Servicebio, China) stain kit and the images were acquired with Leica DM750 microscope. Five levels of hematoxylin and eosin staining images at 200-µm intervals were used for quantification of neointimal formation per mice. Measurements were made for lumen circumference, the internal elastic lamina circumference, and the circumference of the external elastic lamina. Measurements were quantified using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Maryland, USA). The neointimal area was determined by subtracting the luminal area from the area bound by the internal elastic lamina. The media area was determined by subtracting the area bound by the internal elastic lamina from the area bound by the external elastic lamina. The intima-to-media ratio was determined by the intimal area divided by the medial area. Percentage of stenosis was calculated as the ratio of the intimal area to the area inside the original internal elastic lamina. Measurements were performed with the observer blinded to experimental group.

The animal procedures were performed in accordance with the Institutional Animal Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Animal Care Committee of Shanghai Jiao Tong University.

Histology

The tissue sections were immersed in sodium citrate buffer (10 mM, pH 6.0) and heat retrieved for 20 min in a 100°C water bath to perform antigen retrieval. The slices were permeabilized and blocked in PBS-T (0.02% Triton X-100) with 1% goat serum for 1 h. Immunostaining was performed using the following antibodies diluted in PBS-T (0.02% Triton X-100) at 4°C overnight: anti-MIA3 (1:200, 17481-1-AP; WUHAN SANYING; China), Rabbit anti-Ki67 (1:200, Abcam, ab16667), Goat anti-Perilipin-1 (1:200, Abcam, ab61682), and Rabbit anti-UCP1 (1:200, Abcam, ab234430). Slides were mounted with Vectashield mounting medium containing DAPI (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). After washing with PBS, sections were incubated with secondary antibodies (488 nm conjugated anti-rabbit or goat secondary antibody and 594 nm conjugated anti-rabbit) diluted in PBS-T (0.02% Triton X-100) for 1 h at room temperature. Following wash with PBS for three times, slides were mounted with

vectashield mounting medium containing DAPI (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) and imaged using fluorescent microscope.

Cell Culture

Human aortic VSMCs were purchased from ATCC company (PCS-100-012, USA) and cultured in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Growth Kit (PCS-100-042, USA) supplemented with 10% FBS (Hyclone, USA).

Knockdown of MIA3 In Vitro

The siRNA were purchased from Genepharma company and transfected into cells using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) for knockdown of MIA3.The sequence of the MIA3 oligos was 5'-CCAGGUAGUUCAUGAAUAU-3'.

Overexpression of MIA3 In Vitro

The human MIA3 full-length cDNA was subcloned into pCMV3 vector and transfected into cells using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) for knockdown of MIA3. The plasmid is confirmed by full-length sequencing.

Real-Time Quantitative–Polymerase Chain Reaction

Real-time polymerase chain reaction was performed according to our laboratory workflow. The expression of the involved genes was normalized to GAPDH, and experiment was repeated in triplicate. The primer sequences were listed as follows (forward, reverse): MIA3-homo: 5'-AAGTTCCAACAGATGAGACGGA-3', 5'-GGTTCAGGTTCCCTTTCCTTAG-3'; α-SMA-homo: 5'-GAGAGGAGCAAAATCTGTCCG-3', 5'-GGGGGAATTATCT TTCCTGGTCC-3'; Cyclin D1-homo: 5'-TGGAGCCCGTGAAA AAGAGC-3', 5'-TCTCCTTCATCTTAGAGGCCAC-3'; IL-1βhomo: 5'-AGCTACGAATCTCCGACCAC-3', 5'-CGTTATCCC ATGTGTCGAAGAA-3'; IL18-homo: 5'-TCTTCATTGACCAA GGAAATCGG-3', 5'-TCCGGGGTGCATTATCTCTAC-3'; CCL7-homo: 5'-TGCTCAGCCAGTTGGGATTA-3', 5'-GGACAGTGGCTACTGGTGGT-3'; CxCL8-homo: 5'-TTTTG CCAAGGAGTGCTAAAGA-3', 5'-AACCCTCTGCACCCA GTTTTC-3'; GAPDH-homo: 5'-CACCAGGGCTGCTTTTAA CT-3', 5'-TGGGATTTCCATTGATGACA-3'; MIA3-mus: 5'-GTGAGGATGAAGGTGACGA-3', 5'-CTTGCTACCCTGAAG ACGA-3'; GAPDH-mus: 5'-TGTTTCCTCGTCCCGTAGA-3', 5'-ATCTCCACTTTGCCACTGC-3'.

Western Blot Analysis

We used RIPA Lysis Buffer (P0013C; Beyotime Biotechnology, China) to extract protein from SMCs. Twenty micrograms of protein was loaded in 8% sodium dodecyl sulfate– polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis gel. Antibodies used were as follows: anti-MIA3 (1:1,000, 17481-1-AP; WUHAN SANYING; China), anti- α -SMA (1:1,000, ab7817; Abcam; USA), and anti-Cyclin D (1:1,000, ab16663; Abcam; USA). A horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti–rabbit secondary antibody (1:1,000, A0277; Beyotime Biotechnology, China) was then added to the membranes at room temperature for 2 h. Subsequently, ImageJ analysis software was used to quantify the bands of Western blot images, and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as internal reference. Each experiment was repeated three times.

Immunofluorescence Staining

Cells were seeded on glass coverslips placed in 24-well plates and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min and then permeabilized with 0.25% Triton X-100 in PBS for 10 min. Then, cells were washed three times with PBS and blocked with 5% goat serum in PBS for 30 min. Next, the primary antibodies were used to incubate VSMCs overnight at 4°C. Appropriate secondary antibodies were incubated with VSMCs for 1 h at room temperature. DAPI was used to stain the nuclei. The images were acquired using a fluorescent microscope (Zeiss LSM780, Carl Zeiss).

Cell Proliferation Assay

Cell viability was measured using the cell counting, MTT assay, and EdU staining assay. In the cell counting assay, VSMCs transfected with MIA3 siRNA or overexpressing vector and scramble siRNA or control empty vector were seeded at an initial density of 2×10^4 per well in a 12-well plate in VSMC culture medium with 10% FBS, and the cells were harvested and counted at the designated time points. For MTT assay, VSMCs were seeded in a 96-well plate in VSMC culture medium with 10% FBS, and 50 µl of MTT solution [5 mg/ml; A600799, Sangon Biotech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.] was added to each well and incubated for 4 h at the designated time points. To dissolve the formazan crystals, 80 µl of mixture of 40 ml of isopropanol plus 44 μ l of 37% HCl was added to each well after the media were removed. Absorbance was measured at 570 nm using a microplate reader (Bio-Rad). EdU staining assay was performed using the EdU Staining Proliferation Kit (iFluor 647) according to the protocol booklet. Briefly, equal VSMCs were seeded in a six-well plate after starved for 24 h and allowed to grow in VSMC with 10% FBS culture medium, and the EdU solution was added to VSMCs for 2 h under growth conditions. VSMCs were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, permeated, and stained with reaction mix to fluorescently label EdU for 30 min. The samples were mounted on glass slides and were visualized using an inverted fluorescent microscope (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

For propidium iodide cell cycle analysis, VSMCs were starved for 24 h and grown in culture medium for 24 h. VSMCs were then harvested and immersed in 70% ethanol at the designated time point. Cell DNA was stained with 50 μ g/ml propidium iodide and 20 μ g/ml RNase at 37°C for 30 min. Cell cycle was analyzed using a flow cytometry with a FACS canTM flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, Mansfield, MA, USA).

Cell Migration Assay

For the wound healing assay, VSMCs $(2 \times 10^5$ cells) transfected with MIA3 siRNA or overexpressing vector and scramble siRNA or control empty vector were plated onto six-well plates and serum-starved for 24 h. An artificial wound (scratch) was generated using a 200-µl pipette tip and cultured for 24 h in serum-starved medium. SMCs were visualized using a microscope and captured images were assessed using Image-Pro Plus software.

For the Transwell migration assay, VSMCs were cultured on the microporous membrane (8.0 μ m) in the upper chamber of the Transwell (Costar 3422; Corning Incorporated, NY, USA) in serum-free medium for 12 h, and VSMC culture medium with 10% FBS was added into the lower chamber. After 24 h, SMCs were allowed to migrate from the upper chamber to the underside of the membrane. The unmigrated cells in the upper chamber were gently removed using a cotton swab. Cells migrated through the membrane to the lower chamber were fixed in paraformaldehyde and stained with 0.05% crystal violet. Migrated SMCs on the lower membrane were counted using an Olympus light microscope and analyzed using the Image J software.

Lentivirus Generation and Transduction

Lentivirus was produced using pLV10N-U6-shRNA vector and mouse MIA3 shRNA was cloned into the vector, and generated in the 293T viral packaging cell line. Femoral arteries were transduced locally with 10⁹ IU per mouse in the presence of 10 μ g/ml DEAE-dextran after wire injury. The efficiency of MIA3 knockdown was estimated by real-time quantitative-polymerase chain reaction. The sequence of MIA3 shRNA was GCAACCAGACTGGTCACTTCA.

RNA Extraction and RNA High-Throughput Sequencing

RNA-sequencing was conducted on MIA3 knockdown and control scramble human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMCs). Total RNA was extracted using TRIzol (Invitrogen, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. The total RNA concentration, the RIN value, 285/185, and the fragment size were measured using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent, USA). Oligo(dT)-attached magnetic beads were used to purify mRNA. The BGISEQ-500 (Shenzhen Huada Gene, China) platform was used for high-throughput sequencing to obtain a 50-bp sequencing read. The raw data were subjected to quality control to obtain effective reads. SOAPnuke (v 1.5.2) and Trimmomatic (v0.36) were used to perform statistical analysis and filter out reads of low to moderate quality, polluted connectors, and unknown nucleotides with high N content before data analysis to ensure reliability. The clean reads were mapped to the reference genome using HISAT2 (v2.0.4). Ericscript (v0.5.5) and rMATS (V3.2.5) were used to fusion genes and differential splicing genes (DSGs).

Statistical Analysis

All values in the graphs represent the mean \pm SEM. Comparison between two groups were compared using an unpaired Student's *t*-test. Statistical analyses were performed in SPSS version 13.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL). *p* < 0.05 was considered to indicate a statistically significant difference.

RESULTS

MIA3 Expression Is Increased in Proliferative Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells

FBS is a potent mediator of the SMC phenotypic modulation from a contractile to a synthetic state by promoting SMC proliferation as well as repressing SMC marker gene expression. To investigate whether MIA3 is associated with VSMC proliferation, we treated the cultured HASMC with FBS, and our data revealed that MIA3 is expressed in VSMCs and the mRNA and protein level of MIA3 in cultured proliferating HASMCs are significantly increased compared with the serum-starved quiescent HASMCs, whereas SMC contractile gene α -SMA was significantly reduced (**Figures 1A–C**). Proliferation gene Cyclin D expression was enhanced in parallel with MIA3 expression. Immunofluorescence staining showed that the expression of MIA3 in cultured HASMCs was induced by FBS (**Figure 1D**). These data suggest that upregulation of MIA3 is positively correlated with the synthetic SMC phenotype and MIA3 may regulate VSMC proliferation.

As FBS-induced VSMC proliferation contributes to neointimal hyperplasia, we detected MIA3 expression changes during neointimal formation in a mouse femoral artery wire injury model. Compared with the control sham group, MIA3 mRNA level in femoral arteries at 28 days after wire injury was markedly increased (**Figure 1E**). Consistent with quantitative real-time reserve transcription polymerase chain reaction, MIA3 protein expression was increased in the femoral arteries at 28 days after wire injury by immunofluorescent staining (**Figure 1F**). Taken together, our results demonstrate that the increase of MIA3 in the femoral arteries after wire injury may be involved in neointimal hyperplasia

Knockdown of MIA3 Inhibits Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation *In Vitro*

Proliferation of VSMCs plays a vital role in the development of neointimal formation. To investigate whether MIA3 participated in the proliferation of VSMCs, we used siRNA targeting MIA3 to silence its expression in VSMCs. As shown in Figures 2A, B, significantly reduced expression of MIA3 was observed in HASMCs infected with MIA3 siRNA compared with control scramble siRNA. As expected, cell counting, MTT assay, and EdU incorporation assay showed that MIA3 knockdown attenuated VSMC proliferation (Figures 2C-E). Furthermore, flow cytometry analysis of cell cycle status showed that MIA3 knockdown caused a significant increase in the percentage of cells in G1 phase (from $42.1\% \pm 2.0\%$ to $46.1\% \pm 1.5\%$ in FBSstimulated cells) but decreased the percentage of cells in S phase (from 42.2% \pm 0.4% to 35.1% \pm 1.6% in FBS-stimulated cells) (Figure 2F). Collectively, these results demonstrate that knockdown of MIA3 attenuates VSMC proliferation in vitro.

Knockdown of MIA3 Inhibits Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Migration *In Vitro*

VSMC migration from the medial layer is another key event to build neointima. Wound healing and Boyden chamber assay



expression. (C) Quantification of protein expression normalized to the levels of GAPDH. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. *p < 0.05, t-test. (D) Immunofluorescent staining of MIA3 in VSMCs after treatment with medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum for 24 h and the control FBS-starve VSMCs. DAPI represents indicates 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole throughout the article; scale bar: 50 µm. (E) mRNA levels of MIA3 by quantitative real-time reserve transcription polymerase chain reaction in femoral artery after wire injury for 28 days. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. *p < 0.01, t-test. (F) Immunofluorescent staining of MIA3 in the femoral artery following wire injury for 28 days; scale bar: 100 µm.

were used to test the role of MIA3 in the VSMC migration. Consistent with the role of MIA3 in VSMC proliferation, MIA3specific siRNA efficiently attenuated VSMC migration by wound healing (**Figure 3A**) and Boyden chamber assay (**Figure 3B**). The above data suggested that MIA3 knockdown in VSMC decreases cell migration *in vitro*.

Overexpression of MIA3 Promotes Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation and Migration *In Vitro*

Our above data showed that knockdown of MIA3 blocked VSMC proliferation and migration. We next investigated the effect of MIA3 overexpression on VSMC proliferation and migration. The



FIGURE 2 | Knockdown of MIA3 inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) proliferation. (A) MIA3 mHNA levels in human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) with small interfering RNA (siRNA) MIA3 and scramble siRNA. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p < 0.01, *t*-test. (B) MIA3/TANGO1 protein levels in human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) with small interfering RNA (siRNA) MIA3 and scramble siRNA. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p < 0.01, *t*-test. (B) MIA3/TANGO1 protein levels in human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) with small interfering RNA (siRNA) MIA3 and scramble siRNA with quantitative data at right. GAPDH served as loading control expression. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. *p < 0.05, *t*-test. (C, D) VSMC proliferation was determined by cell counts (C) and 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay (D) in VSMCs with or without transfection of MIA3-specific siRNAs. All data were indicated as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. *p < 0.01, *t*-test. (E) VSMC proliferation was determined by 5-ethynyl-2'deoxyuridine (EdU) incorporation in VSMCs with or without transfection of MIA3-specific siRNAs. Percentage of EdU staining-positive cells was quantified on the right. Scale bar: 50 µm. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. *p < 0.01, *t*-test. (F) VSMC proliferation was determined by PI-cell cycle analysis in VSMCs with or without transfection of MIA3/TANGO1-specific siRNAs. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. *p < 0.01, *t*-test. (F) VSMC proliferation was determined by PI-cell cycle analysis in VSMCs with or without transfection of MIA3/TANGO1-specific siRNAs. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3, *t*-test.

efficiency of Foxp1 overexpression was confirmed by RT-qPCR and Western blot (**Figures 4A, B**). Importantly, VSMC proliferation was increased upon overexpression of MIA3 determined by cell counting, MTT assay, and EdU incorporation assay (**Figures 4C– E**). The wound healing and Boyden chamber assay further demonstrated that MIA3 overexpression increased VSMC migration (**Figures 4F, G**). Together, upregulation of MIA3 itself promotes cell proliferation and migration of VSMCs.

Knockdown of MIA3 Attenuates Femoral Artery Wire Injury–Induced Neointimal Formation in Mice

To investigate the function of MIA3 in femoral artery wire injury–induced neointimal formation in mice, lentiviral control shRNA or lentiviral MIA3 shRNA was perivascularly applied to femoral arteries immediately after wire injury, as described in the previous studies (16, 17). The decrease of MIA3 expression in wire-injured femoral artery applied with lentiviral MIA3 shRNA was confirmed by real-time quantitative–polymerase chain reaction (**Figure 5A**). Consequently, at 28 days after femoral

artery wire injury, knockdown of MIA3 significantly attenuated neointimal formation, as shown by the decreased neointimal area, neointima/media ratio, and percentage of stenosis in the lentiviral MIA3 shRNA-treated injured artery, but has no influence on vessel media area (**Figures 5B, C**). Masson trichrome staining showed that knockdown of MIA3 significantly reduced ECM deposition after vascular injury (**Figure 5D**). Immunostaining showed a significant reduction of Ki67-positive cells (**Figure 5E**) in the neointima of MIA3 knockdown mice, suggesting that knockdown of MIA3 inhibits the cell proliferation contributing to decreased neointimal hyperplasia after wire injury of femoral artery. These results indicate that MIA3 knockdown markedly suppresses neointimal formation in mice.

Knockdown of MIA3 Maintains BAT-Like Perivascular Adipocytes in PVAT

Extensive inflammatory cell infiltration around the vasculature in response to vascular injury induces histological and phenotypic changes of perivascular adipocytes. Dysfunctional



PVAT secretes disease-promoting factors that exacerbate pathogenesis of neointimal formation. So, we investigated whether MIA3 deficiency altered PVAT features from BATlike to WAT-like contributing to neointimal formation. Immunostaining showed a significant increase of UCP-1positive cells (**Figure 6A**) in the neointima of MIA3 knockdown mice, suggesting that MIA3 deficiency increased brown-like perivascular adipocytes.

PVAT dysfunction is characterized by its inflammatory character, and VSMCs are a significant source of chemokines and cytokines (18). To investigate the mechanism of MIA3 in maintaining BAT-like perivascular adipocytes in PVAT, we performed RNA-sequencing of MIA3 shRNA-treated VSMC and scramble VSMC, and found that knockdown MIA3 in VSMC decreased IL-1 β , IL18, CCL7, and CxCL8 expression (Online uploaded excel file), which were confirmed by quantitative realtime reserve transcription polymerase chain reaction (**Figure 6B**). The above results illustrate that knockdown MIA3 in VSMC maintains BAT-like perivascular adipocytes in PVAT *via* inhibiting expression of inflammatory factors.

DISCUSSION

Here, we discovered that MIA3 is a novel regulator in promoting VSMC proliferation and migration during neointimal formation.

Knockdown of MIA3 reduces proliferation and migration of SMC. In contrast, MIA3 overexpression promoted VSMC migration and proliferation. Furthermore, administration of MIA3 shRNA lentivirus attenuated femoral artery wire injury-induced neointima in mice. In addition, knockdown MIA3 maintains BAT-like perivascular adipocytes in PVAT *via* inhibiting expression of inflammatory factors following femoral artery wire injury. Our findings identified MIA3 as a novel target for developing antineointima drugs during vascular repair.

VSMCs are the major cell types of medial layer arteries and play a pivotal role in regulating the remodeling process of the vessel wall (19). Fully differentiated SMCs are almost quiescent with little proliferation and are programmed for contraction with relatively high expression of SM myosin heavy chain (SMMHC), SM22a, and calponin. However, in response to local vascular injury, SMCs dedifferentiate from contractile phenotype toward a synthetic state, which was characterized by a decreased expression of contractile SMC marker genes and increased rates of migration and proliferation (19, 20). Subsequent excess proliferation and migration result in an accumulation of synthetic SMCs in the stented artery, which contributes to the in-stent restenosis. Thus, inhibiting the proliferation and migration of intravascular SMC is the predominant therapeutic strategy to prevent the excessive formation of neointima (21, 22).

MIA SH3 Domain ER Export Factor 3 (MIA3) is an evolutionarily conserved endoplasmic reticulum-resident



FIGURE 4 | MIA3 overexpression promotes vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) proliferation and migration. (A) MIA3 mRNA levels in human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) transfected with MIA3 overexpressing vector (OE) and control empty vector. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p < 0.01, *t*-test. (B) MIA3 protein levels in human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) transfected with MIA3 overexpressing vector and control empty vector. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p < 0.01, *t*-test. (B) MIA3 protein levels in human aortic smooth muscle cells (HASMCs) transfected with MIA3 overexpressing vector and control empty vector with quantitative data on the right. GAPDH served as loading control expression. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p < 0.05, *t*-test. (C, D) VSMC proliferation was determined by cell counts (C) and 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay (D) in VSMCs with or without transfection of MIA3 overexpressing vector. All data were indicated as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p < 0.01, *t*-test. (E) VSMC proliferation was determined by 5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EdU) incorporation in VSMCs with or without transfection of MIA3 overexpressing vector. Percentage of EdU staining-positive cells was quantified on the right. Scale bar: 50 µm. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p < 0.01, *t*-test. (F) The wound-induced cell migration assay was performed in VSMCs with or without transfection of MIA3 overexpressing vector. The relative blank wound areas in the left were quantified on the right. Scale bar: 50 µm. Data are represented and stained cells were counted on the right. Scale bar: 50 µm. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p < 0.01, *t*-test. (G) The transwell assay in VSMCs transfected with MIA3 overexpressing vector or empty vector. The transferred and stained cells were counted on the right. Scale bar: 50 µm. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. **p <

transmembrane protein and is required for the export of collagen VII (COL7A1) from the endoplasmic reticulum. Mice lacking MIA3 are defective for the secretion of numerous collagens, including collagens I, II, III, IV, VII, and IX, from chondrocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and mural cells (23). Our study demonstrated that knockdown of MIA3 significantly reduced ECM deposition after vascular injury (**Figure 5D**), indicating that MIA3 may regulate vascular remodeling in response to injury through regulating extracellular matrix secretion.

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have described an association between MIA3 rs17465637 A/C polymorphisms and CAD and myocardial infarction (24–26). A recent study



quantification data (right; n = 5 for each group). Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 5. *p < 0.05. *t*-test.

observed a significant reduction of MIA3 protein in VSMCs in thin fibrous caps of late-stage atherosclerotic plaques compared to early fibroatheroma with thick and protective fibrous caps in mice and humans (15), indicating that high MIA3 expression may promote atheroprotective VSMC phenotypic transitions. However, the detailed role of MIA3 in VSMC phenotypic transitions is unclear. FBS is a key stimulus for VSMC proliferation, migration, and phenotypic switch contributing to neointimal formation (27). In this study, the increase of MIA3 in FBS-induced VSMC may contribute to the development of injury-induced neointimal formation. The knockdown of MIA3 results indicated that VSMC proliferation and migration, which are the critical cellular events in vascular neointimal lesion formation, were regulated, at least in part, by MIA3. We showed that local transfer of lentiviral MIA3 shRNA onto the injured arteries could significantly reduce VSMC proliferation and decreased neointimal formation at the 28th day post-injury, providing a basis for preventing or inhibiting instent restenosis *via* MIA3 siRNA-coated stents.

A previous study demonstrated that overexpression of endothelial MIA3 significantly increased EC proliferation, migration, and EC tube formation, which suggest that EC-



significant increase of PLIN and UCP-1 double-positive cells in the neontrima at 28 days after femoral artery wire injury, with representative images (left) and quantification data (right; n = 5 for each group). Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM. *p < 0.05. *t*-test. (B) Knockdown MIA3 with siRNA in VSMCs significantly decreased expression of IL-1 β , IL-18, CCL7, and CxCL8 by quantitative real-time reserve transcription polymerase chain reaction. Data are represented as the mean \pm SEM, n = 3. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, t-test.

MIA3 might alleviate neointimal formation (24). We will pursue the role and mechanism of endothelial MIA3 in vascular injury neointimal formation in the future.

PVAT surrounds most large blood vessels and plays important roles in vascular homeostasis and excessive accumulation of dysfunctional PVAT leads to vascular disorders by targeting VSMCs and endothelial cells (10, 28). PVAT displays heterogeneity according to species and locations. Reversing the white features of PVAT to brown characteristics or maintaining PVAT beige features might be a crucial strategy to maintain a healthy vasculature (28). Our study revealed that MIA3 deficiency increased the expression of uncoupling protein-1 (UCP-1), the brown fat marker, in perivascular adipocytes, which indicated that MIA3 deficiency in VSMCs reversed the white features of PVAT to brown characteristics. RNAsequencing bioinformatic analysis indicated 694 upregulated genes and 628 downregulated genes in MIA3-shRNA- and scramble-shRNA-treated VSMCs (Online uploaded excel file). The differentially expressed genes between scramble and MIA3 knockdown VSMCs were enriched for protein processing in endoplasmic reticulum, Hippo signaling pathway, TGF- β

signaling pathway, etc. Knockdown MIA3 in VSMC decreased IL-1 β , IL18, CCL7, and CxCL8 expression according to the RNA-sequencing bioinformatic analysis, which implies the important roles of inflammatory factors derived from VSMCs in injury-induced neointimal formation.

In summary, we present compelling evidence that MIA3 deficiency in VSMCs prevents neointimal formation by decreasing VSMC proliferation and migration and restoring BAT-like PVAT during injury-induced vascular remodeling. Our study found for the first time that inhibition of MIA3 in the injured arteries can prevent postangioplasty restenosis, supporting a potential role for MIA3 and its target genes in a variety of proliferative vascular diseases. These findings may have extensive implications for the treatment of occlusive vascular diseases.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data presented in the study is deposited in the GEO repository, accession number GSE186951.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal procedures were performed in accordance with the Institutional Animal Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Animal Care Committee of Shanghai Jiao Tong University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ conceived and designed the study. TZ organized and supervised the study. YL and JX conducted the experiments of this study. ML, TM, MC, YY, and HL conducted the statistical analysis. JZ and TZ drafted the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Raber L, Yamaji K, Kelbaek H, Engstrom T, Baumbach A, Roffi M, et al. Five-Year Clinical Outcomes and Intracoronary Imaging Findings of the COMFORTABLE AMI Trial: Randomized Comparison of Biodegradable Polymer-Based Biolimus-Eluting Stents With Bare-Metal Stents in Patients With Acute ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. *Eur Heart J* (2019) 40(24):1909–19. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz074
- Baan JJr, Claessen BE, Dijk KB, Vendrik J, van der Schaaf RJ, Meuwissen M, et al. A Randomized Comparison of Paclitaxel-Eluting Balloon Versus Everolimus-Eluting Stent for the Treatment of Any In-Stent Restenosis: The DARE Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv (2018) 11(3):275–83. doi: 10.1016/ j.jcin.2017.10.024
- Alexander MR, Owens GK. Epigenetic Control of Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation and Phenotypic Switching in Vascular Development and Disease. Annu Rev Physiol (2012) 74:13–40. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-012110-142315
- Owens GK. Molecular Control of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation and Phenotypic Plasticity. *Novartis Found Symp* (2007) 283:174–91; discussion 191-3, 238-41. doi: 10.1002/9780470319413.ch14
- Rzucidlo EM, Martin KA, Powell RJ. Regulation of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Differentiation. J Vasc Surg (2007) 45 Suppl A:A25–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs. 2007.03.001
- Marx SO, Totary-Jain H, Marks AR. Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation in Restenosis. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* (2011) 4(1):104–11. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.110.957332
- Lacolley P, Regnault V, Nicoletti A, Li Z, Michel JB. The Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell in Arterial Pathology: A Cell That can Take on Multiple Roles. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 95(2):194–204. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs135
- Mitra AK, Gangahar DM, Agrawal DK. Cellular, Molecular and Immunological Mechanisms in the Pathophysiology of Vein Graft Intimal Hyperplasia. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2006) 84(2):115–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1711.2005.01407.x
- Newby AC, Zaltsman AB. Molecular Mechanisms in Intimal Hyperplasia. J Pathol (2000) 190(3):300–9. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9896(200002) 190:3<300::AID-PATH596>3.0.CO;2-I
- Horimatsu T, Kim HW, Weintraub NL. The Role of Perivascular Adipose Tissue in Non-Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease. *Front Physiol* (2017) 8:969. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00969
- 11. Saito K, Chen M, Bard F, Chen S, Zhou H, Woodley D, et al. TANGO1 Facilitates Cargo Loading at Endoplasmic Reticulum Exit Sites. *Cell* (2009) 136(5):891–902. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.12.025
- Saito K, Yamashiro K, Ichikawa Y, Erlmann P, Kontani K, Malhotra V, et al. Ctage5 Mediates Collagen Secretion Through Interaction With TANGO1 at Endoplasmic Reticulum Exit Sites. *Mol Biol Cell* (2011) 22(13):2301–8. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E11-02-0143
- Wang AZ, Li L, Zhang B, Shen GQ, Wang QK. Association of SNP Rs17465637 on Chromosome 1q41 and Rs599839 on 1p13.3 With

FUNDING

This study was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 82070456 and 81800253), the Shanghai Municipal Hospital New Frontier Technology Joint Project (Grant no. SHDC12019X20), the Shanghai Municipal Commission of Health and Family Planning (Grant no. 2020YJZX0124), and Shanghai Rising-Star Program (Grant no. 21QA1401400).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021.748216/ full#supplementary-material

Myocardial Infarction in an American Caucasian Population. *Ann Hum Genet* (2011) 75(4):475–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-1809.2011.00646.x

- Li X, Huang Y, Yin D, Wang D, Xu C, Wang F, et al. Meta-Analysis Identifies Robust Association Between SNP Rs17465637 in MIA3 on Chromosome 1q41 and Coronary Artery Disease. *Atherosclerosis* (2013) 231(1):136–40. doi: 10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2013.08.031
- Aherrahrou R, Guo L, Nagraj VP, Aguhob A, Hinkle J, Chen L, et al. Genetic Regulation of Atherosclerosis-Relevant Phenotypes in Human Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. *Circ Res* (2020) 127(12):1552–65. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.120.317415
- Zhuang T, Liu J, Chen X, Pi J, Kuang Y, Wang Y, et al. Cell-Specific Effects of GATA (GATA Zinc Finger Transcription Factor Family)-6 in Vascular Smooth Muscle and Endothelial Cells on Vascular Injury Neointimal Formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2019) 39(5):888–901. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.312263
- Zhang J, Zou F, Tang J, Zhang Q, Gong Y, Wang Q, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2-Derived Prostaglandin E(2) Promotes Injury-Induced Vascular Neointimal Hyperplasia Through the E-Prostanoid 3 Receptor. *Circ Res* (2013) 113 (2):104–14. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301033
- Nosalski R, Guzik TJ. Perivascular Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Vascular Disease. Br J Pharmacol (2017) 174(20):3496–513. doi: 10.1111/bph.13705
- Jaminon A, Reesink K, Kroon A, Schurgers L. The Role of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells in Arterial Remodeling: Focus on Calcification-Related Processes. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(22):5694. doi: 10.3390/ijms20225694
- Bennett MR, Sinha S, Owens GK. Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells in Atherosclerosis. Circ Res (2016) 118(4):692–702. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306361
- Costa MA, Simon DI. Molecular Basis of Restenosis and Drug-Eluting Stents. Circulation (2005) 111(17):2257–73. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000163587.36485.A7
- Inoue T, Node K. Molecular Basis of Restenosis and Novel Issues of Drug-Eluting Stents. Circ J (2009) 73(4):615–21. doi: 10.1253/circj.cj-09-0059
- Wilson DG, Phamluong K, Li L, Sun M, Cao TC, Liu PS, et al. Global Defects in Collagen Secretion in a Mia3/TANGO1 Knockout Mouse. J Cell Biol (2011) 193(5):935–51. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201007162
- 24. Luo C, Wang F, Ren X, Ke T, Xu C, Tang B, et al. Identification of a Molecular Signaling Gene-Gene Regulatory Network Between GWAS Susceptibility Genes ADTRP and MIA3/TANGO1 for Coronary Artery Disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis* (2017) 1863(6):1640–53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2017.03.010
- Garcia-Bermudez M, Lopez-Mejias R, Gonzalez-Juanatey C, Corrales A, Castaneda S, Miranda-Filloy JA, et al. Association Study of MIA3 Rs17465637 Polymorphism With Cardiovascular Disease in Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients. DNA Cell Biol (2012) 31(8):1412–7. doi: 10.1089/dna.2012.1672
- Koch W, Schatke A, Wolferstetter H, Mueller JC, Schomig A, Kastrati A. Extended Evidence for Association Between the Melanoma Inhibitory Activity 3 Gene and Myocardial Infarction. *Thromb Haemost* (2011) 105(4):670–5. doi: 10.1160/TH10-10-0641
- Dhume AS, Agrawal DK. Inability of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells to Proceed Beyond S Phase of Cell Cycle, and Increased Apoptosis in Symptomatic Carotid Artery Disease. J Vasc Surg (2003) 38(1):155–61. doi: 10.1016/s0741-5214(02)75463-3

 Chang L, Garcia-Barrio MT, Chen YE. Perivascular Adipose Tissue Regulates Vascular Function by Targeting Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2020) 40(5):1094–109. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA. 120.312464

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of

the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Lei, Xu, Li, Meng, Chen, Yang, Li, Zhuang and Zuo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

